
     

    


        
 

 

  
   
   

 

  

    

     
     

       
     
      

      
    

   
   

    
     
   

 

         

     


  
  

   

   
   

   
 

  
  

   

   
  
    

 

  
  

   
 



       


    

       

       

        

    

        
       

       
     

        

          
        

        
         

         
        

          
       

          

         
        

      
      

      
       

        
         

 	         
        

        
        

       
     

       
       

     

 



 	       

        


         

         


        

           

               

 	       
           

 	       
      

       
       
     

 	          
        

       
       

         
      

    

        
     

       
      

       
       

      
     

              

 	        
        

      
          

        

 	         
        

        
                     

 



 	        
        

       
      

 	        
       

        
       

       

        


      
       

     
       

     
    

     
    

            	     

 	        
      

          
       

        
        

         

 	          
        

      
        

         

 	          
      

       



    

      
     
      
     

       
         

      

    

      
       

       
      

    

       
       

         
       

    

       
       

     
       

       
       

       
    

    

     
    
     

       

 



        
      

      
      

     
      

     
      

       

     

       
       

     
   

       
        

      
       

       
      

       


      
     

       
      

     
       

     


 



    

      
     
        

      
         

  


                     

        
       

     
       

        
      

      
     

                     

       
     

        
      

      

    

        
     

       
      

     
       

       

 



        
      

        
      
       

        
      

      
       

     
        

       
     
      

       
      
      

      
       

        

        

     


       

       


       

    


    

         
       

        
      

         

    

      
       

      
      

     
        

         

 



    

      
      

      
        

         
       

      
      

     
       

       
       

      
       

       
       

      
       

      
           

       
       

    
      

      
        
         

  

        
       

      

      


       

       


 



        
      

     
      

      
         

      

    

       
     

       
       

     
       

        
     

    

      
      

       
      

        
      

        
       

        
         

       
           

    

        
     
      

       
      

       
        

       
        

 



    

         
        

       
       

       
       

        
       

        

      
      

  


 

      
    

    
      

       
       

          
                  

   

       

       


       

        

       


            


    

    
         
        
      

       
     




    

      
      

        
        

         

      
       

        
     

     
      

         

   
      

      
        

      
       

        
       

       
       

      
      

       
   

    

      
      

       
        

         
      

        
       

         
     

        
           

 



      
        

       
      

        
        

       
       

        
  

     
      

     
      

       
       
       

       
        

       
       

        
       

                 

      
         

      
       

       
       

       
      

        
          

 



    

 

     
     

      
       

       
   

   

       
       

       
        

       
       

      
       

       
      

      
       

       
     

      
       

        
       

      
      
       

        

    

      
     
        

        
      

         



    

       
      

      
      

      
       

    

       
      

      
      

       
        

                 

    

      
     

      
     


                


     

       
      

      
    

      
       

      
       

       

    

        
       

       
     

    

 



   	  

 

      
       

     
      

      
        

        

      
       

     
      

     
         

         
      

        
      
       
        

       

       
     

      
       

        
       

       
 	         

            
      

        
    	   


   

      
     

      
     

       
    	     

 	     

 



    

       
      

      
        

    

      
         

    
       

                      

      
       

       
     

    

        
        

     
     

       
       

       
        

        
                          

 



    

      
      

      
       

          
       

      
      

     
        

       
       

      
       

       
       

      
       

      
      

         

 



     

    


       
 

 	     

       
        

          
 	      

      
     
    

   
   

    
     
   

 

         

     


   
 

        

            

   

           

           

           
         

           
         

           
          

          
              

            
     

   



           

        

            

          

          

          

         

          

         

         

         

           

          

             

         

            

   

         

          

          

         

        

        

 




          

           

           

    

           

         

           

        

         

           

           

           

          

        

         

 

         

          

          

             

        

         

             

             

 




         

          

       

        

       

         

            

           

         

          

          

        

           

           

          

            

           

          

           

          

            

            

         

         

 




          

             

          

           

         

         

       

            

         

           

           

           

        

         

         

           

 

          

          

           

         

          

          

          

 




           

            

           

   

         

            

           

          

       

      

         

              

             

           

           

          

        

           

         

          

    

      

           

          

 




Assault). {R. at Charge Sheet.) Almost immediately following

the attack, Sergeant (SGT) Hassan Akbar was grabbed, and as a

weapon was pointed at his head, was asked if he *did it."

Sergeant Akbar responded: "Yes." (R. at 1690.)

SGT Akba.r was a suspect because, among other things, he had

exhibited bizarre behavior and made odd statements for the

entire time he was deployed to Kuwait. (n. at 30f7-3023.)

Sergeant Akbar, of the Musfim fai-th, had heard numerous

statements such as "You're dark like them. You're Muslim like

them. You might die like them. " (R. at 303B) He also heard

references such as "towel-hedd," "camel jockeyr" "sand niqgerr"

and "screwing camels five times a day" to describe lraqis. (R.

at 1595, 3038.) He also heard jokes about raping Muslim women.

(R. at 1596. ) When SGT Akbar approached his unit leadership

about the statements, they down played his concerns. fd.

Unfortunately, they were unaware that SGT Akbar suffered from

mental illness, and that his perception of reality was much

different than theirs. (DAE Z, AA, LL; DA 224-35, 413-517.)

The first Trial Defense Counsel representative on the scene

was Major (MAJ) (DAE S; DA 94-96. ) Upon his

arrival, MAJ I learned that appellant was suspected of

killing two Soldiers assigned to the l01ut Airborne Division, as

well as wounding fourteen other Soldiers, including Captain

a fellow Judge Advocate and colleague. (R. at
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Despite the horrible conditions of SGT Akbar's youth, he 

was remarkably bright and managed to attend and eventually 

graduate from college. However, the panel would have learned 

that during those college years, delusional thoughts and ideas 

began to affect SGT Akbar. Id. at 440-445; see also DAE Z, DAE 

AA; DA 224-28, 229-36.) The panel would have also learned about 

the impact of childhood trauma on adults. (DAE LL; DA 437-40.) 

Wracked by sleeplessness and delusional thinking, SGT Akbar 

struggled through college, becoming more withdrawn and disturbed 

as time went along. Id. 

The panel would have been informed through Dr. Woods that, 

as is usually the case for a schizophrenic, SGT Akbar began to 

suffer from that mental illness during his late teens and early 

twenties. (DAE AA; DA 229-36.) Coping only through the 

strength of his intelligence, SGT Akbar managed to graduate from 

college. 

Sergeant Akbar joined the Army, and for awhile the Army 

structure allowed SGT Akbar to cope. But that structure was 

fractured when he was deployed to Kuwait, awaiting the invasion 

of Iraq. Wracked by mental illness, faced with the reality of 

warfare against others of the Muslim faith, and haunted by 

statements of fellow soldiers threatening to rape Muslim women, 

SGT Akbar snapped. (DAE Z, LL; DA 224-28, 413-517.) 
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Dr. Wood's would have explained to the panel that SGT 

Akbar's irrational thoughts and subsequent conduct was a result 

of mental illness, fically schizophrenia. Dr. Woods would 

have further detail how SGT Akbar's history supports such a 

diagnosis, and that the family traumas and family s abuse 

det below and the Mitigation Report of Lori James Towns 

supports such a diagnosis. 

Additionally, a mitigation expert, such as James 

Towns, would inform the panel about who SGT Akbar really was, 

and tell his life story, explaining those factors that, while 

not excusing SGT Akbar's conduct, should be viewed in sparing 

him from execution. Ms. Townes would inform the panel of the 

horrible conditions of SGT Akbar's youth, and place context 

SGT Akbar's actions with that life s as backdrop, explaining 

why SGT Akbar did what he did - but also explaining why he 

should be spared. 

In fact, Ms. James-Townes dete post-tr 1 that there 

was no coherent picture presented of Hasan's life at his court-

martial, no mitigat rt on the team who engaged in 

information management, no mitigation alist on the team 

able or willing to testify about the findings, no defense rt 

was explain the many facets of SGT Akbar's life, no expert 

to scribe Hasan's issues (including severe sl 

disturbances), no indication at Hasan's court-martial regarding 
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the horrendous abuse suffered as a ld, no complete extens 

social history to feed her the mitigation investigation 

findings or t presentation at trial, and no ychological 

examination compl with the benefit of a complete social 

history. (DAE LL; DA 420 3.) 

Ms. James-Townes points to the cr ical importance of 

"execution impact testimony" in her report. I d . at DA 4 4 6 . 

"Execution impact testimony" is testimony by family members and 

friends that "allows t jury/panel to understand exactly 

how the h of the defendant will impact them." Id. 

absence of any family members testifying "speaks volumes to a 

panel member who to decide the life and death of SGT Akbar 

" Id. None of the evidence or additional testing t t Ms. 

James-Townes deemed crucial Hasan's case were presented or 

formed. 

Instead, SGT Akbar received thirt eight minutes to explain 

his life, and why that life should not be ended. 
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ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ARGUMENT 

Part Four: Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

Summary 

Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel at 

every stage of his court-martial. As explained below, 

appellant's tr 1 defense counsel were woefully prepared to 

defend appellant because they were inexperienced in capital 

litigation, their qualifications iling to even approach the 

ABA Guidelines for such representation. Thus hobbled, trial 

de counsel, failed to adequately prepare appellant's case 

court-martial. They iled to adequately investigate 

appellant's mental health and iled to provide appellant's 

psychiatric expert witness information necessary to prepare his 

diagnosis and testimony. Trial defense counsel also failed to 

properly utilize the mitigat experts provided by the 

convening authority, and failed to request additional funding 

for those experts. On the eve of trial, trial fense counsel 

ceas contact with these experts, effect ly foreclosing the 

presentation of any meaningful mitigation evidence during 

sentencing. 

Before dence was ever presented, trial defense counsel 

iled to challenge members that exhibited a clear bias, 

knowledge of appellant's case, and an inflexible attitude 

towards sentencing. During the sentation of evidence, t 
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defense couns presented no tactically coherent theme. 

Instead, they flail , presenting appellant's ary, which 

contained more aggravating than mitigating evidence, and 

essentially admitted appellant's guilt. Also, during mer s, 

trial de se counsel placed the appellant's ychiat c expert 

on the stand even though that witness had been unable, because 

of poor coordination on the part of de e counsel, to arrive 

at a complete mental health diagnosis for appellant. At 

sentencing, ead of presenting a mitigation expert or other 

witness to describe SGT Akbar's background and mental condition, 

as is ordinarily done in death penalty cases, trial defense 

counsel presented marginal value witnesses: a high school 

teacher, his company commander, and his First Sergeant, as is 

more akin to sentencing presentations in the ordinary court-

martial. 

Assignment of Error I. 

SERGEANT HASAN K. AKBAR WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT 
TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, AS 
GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE 
UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AT EVERY 
CRITICAL STAGE OF HIS COURT-MARTIAL. 

The Sixth Amendment to United States Constitution 

guarantees an accused the ght to the "effective assistance of 

counsel." United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 653 56 (1984). 

right to the ef ive assistance of couns is likewise 

guaranteed to every member of the United States armed forces 
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before, during, and after trial. See United States v. Scott, 24 

M.J. 186 (C.M.A. 1987); United States v. Russell, 48 M.J. 139, 

140 (C.A.A.F. 1998); United States v. Hicks, 47 M.J. 90, 92 

(C.A.A.F. 1997); see also Art 27, UCMJ; 10 U.S.C. § 827 

(2002). This right is not conf only to representation 

during the tr 1 on the merits, but equally to sentencing 

portion of a t al because it is also a critical of a 

criminal proceeding where substant rights of a criminal 

accused may affected. See Moore v. Michigan, 355 U.S. 155, 

160 (1957) i Mempa v. Rhay, 389 U.S. 128, 134, (1967) (citing 

Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963); Townsend v. Burke, 

334 U.S. 736 (1948)). When a se member is effective 

representation by counsel, he is entitled to a new tal. 

Scott, 24 M.J. at 193. 

Effect assistance occurs when counsel's r rmance, 

though not error free, constitutes a meaningful test of the 

prosecution's evidence. Cronic, 466 U.S. at 656; S ckland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690 (1984). The tools of s testing 

include the presentation of and probing cross 

examination. Cronic, 466 U.S. at 659. Investigation is a 

critical precursor to applicat of such tools and 

essential e ive assistance to the client. Unit States 

v. Polk, 32 M.J. 150, 153 (C.M.A. 1991); Scott, 24 M.J. at 188. 
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The law presumes counsel's competence. Courts are to 

accord heavy deference to avo second-guessing counsel's 

professional de sions and rformance. United States v. 

Morgan, 37 M.J. 407 (C.M.A. 1993); Scott, 24 M.J. at 188. An 

accused bears the burden of rebutting this presumption of 

competence. United States v. Crum, 38 M.J. 663, 665 (A.C.M.R. 

1993) . 

The standard of review r ineffective assistance of 

counsel is governed by the well known standards enunciated by 

the Supreme Court in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 

(1984), and that standard of review, unless otherwise noted, 

applies to all the aims of ineffective assistance of counsel 

that follow. 

The issue of ineffect assistance of counsel is a mixed 

question of law and fact. Unit States v. Wean, 45 M.J. 461, 

463 (C.A.A.F. 1997). Whether couns 's performance was 

deficient, and if so, whether it was pr udicial, are questions 

which the appellate courts review de novo. Id. at 463. 

To establish that a de e counsel was inef ctive, an 

appellant must first show that his defense counsel's performance 

was defic , and then show that he was prejudiced by the 

deficiency. St ckland, 466 U.S. at 687. The proper inquiry in 

the first prong is whether counsel's conduct fell below an 

objective standa of reasonableness, or was it outside the 

20 




"wide of professionally competent assistance." Id. at 

694. The second prong is satisfied by a showing "that there is 

a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional 

errors, result of the ng would have different." 

Id. 

under Strickland, appellant is not requi to make an 

"outcome rminative" showing that "counsel's f ient 

conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." 

United States v. Howard, 47 M.J. 104, 106 n.1 (C.A.A.F. 

1997) (quoting Strickland, 466 u.S. at 693). In addition to the 

test est lished in Strickland, a breakdown in adversarial 

process alone can violate the right to counsel, iring 

reversal without regard to udice. Cronic, 466 u.S. at 659. 

According to the Cronic, " right to effect assistance of 

counsel is thus the right of accused to require the 

prosecution's case to survive the crucible of mean ful 

adversarial testing." Id. at 657. 

The first-prong of the S ckland test s on whether 

counsel red a deficient rformance. Under this prong, an 

accused can rebut the presumpt of competency of counsel by 

pointing out specific errors made by his defense counsel which 

were unreasonable under prevailing professional norms. The fact 

that other attorneys might performed dif ly does not 

necessarily establish that counsel failed to r reasonably 
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ef ive assistance; rather, a claimant must show that the 

counsel's performance was outside "the wide range of reasonable 

professional assistance." Quartararo v. Fogg, 679 F. Supp. 212, 

239 (E.D.N.Y. 1988) (quoting St ckland, 466 U.S. at 689 (1984)). 

Reasonableness is to be eval from the counsel's 

perspective at the time of the alleged error and in light of all 

the circumstances, keeping in mind that the "counsel's function 

is to make the advers I testing process work in the 

particular case." Scott, 24 M.J. at 188 ( ting Cronic, 466 

U.S. at 690). Reviewing courts will be "highly deferential" 

their scrutiny of a counsel's rformance. c, 466 U.S. at 

689. 

As ously not , the Strickland test I s to 

ine ctiveness cIa both as to counsel's formance on the 

mer s and on sentencing. As to the ts, the examination is 

whether is a "reasonable probability that, absent the 

errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt 

respecting guilt." Cronic, 466 U.S. at 694. The test, as 

applied to sentencing, is "whether there is reasonable 

probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer cluding 

an appellate court, to the extent it independently re-weighs the 

evidence -- would have concluded that the balance of aggravating 

mitigating circumstances did not warrant death." Strickland, 

466 U.S. at 695 (emphasis added). 
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The status of this case as a capital case should have 

guided trial de se counsel's every action. While the trial 

defense counsel in this case were qualified in accordance with 

Article 27(b), UCMJ, and R.C.M. 1202(a), the detailed defense 

counsel were not qualified to represent Sergeant Akbar in his 

capital court-martial. Cf. United States v. Murphy, 50 M.J. 4, 

8-9 (C.A.A.F. 1998); see also Assignment of Error (AE) I: A, 

infra. 

In Cronic, the United States Supreme Court found "it [] 

entirely possible that many courts should exercise their 

supervisory powers to take great precautions to ensure that 

counsel in a serious criminal case are qualified." 466 U.S. at 

665 n.38 (citations omitted). 

Cronic was a non-capital mail fraud case. This is a 

capital murder case. The Unit States Supreme Court has 

required that capital appellate review "aspire to a heightened 

standa of reliability . This special concern is a 

natural consequence of the knowledge that execution is the most 

irremediable and unfathomable of penalt s; that death is 

different." Ford v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399, 412 (1986). 

Also, the Court has consistently required that capital 

proceedings be policed at all stages with especially vigilant 

concern for procedural fairness and for the accuracy of fact 

finding "and has [t]ime and again condemned procedures in 
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capital cases that might be completely acceptable in an ordinary 

case." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 704 (Brennan, J., concurring in 

rt and dissenting in part) (citing Bullington v. Missouri, 451 

U.S. 430 (1981); Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625 (1980); Green v. 

Georgia, 442 U.S. 95 (1979) curiam); Lockett v. Oh , 438 

U.S. 586 (1978); Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349 (1977); 

Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 u.s. 280, (1976)). 

Additionally, counsel is responsible all a s of the 

defense case, and must manage all s of the fense team. 

Couns may not simply rely on experts to a miti ion 

fense. In Wilson, the Circuit Court of Appeals held 

that, while counsel can rely to a certain extent on the expert, 

it is counsel's responsibility to conduct an investigation and 

to provide results of that investi ion to any expert 

witnesses: 

[C]ounse1 may not simply hire an expert 
and then abandon all further 
responsibility. As another court has 
stated: "an attorney ha[s) a 
responsibility to investigate and bring 
to the attention of mental health 
experts who are ning his ient, 

s that the s do not request." 
As in any managerial role, counsel must 
at a minimum continue to exercise 
supervisory authority over the rt, 
ensuring that the examines those 
sources of information that ABA has 
indicated are necessary for adequate 
preparation r the sentencing phase. 
Only once ther the or counsel 
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has consulted all readily available 
sources can counsel's reliance on 
expert's opinion be reasonable. 

536 F.3d at 1089-90 (quoting Wallace v. Stewart, 184 F.3d 1112, 

1116 (9th Cir.1999)). See also Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 532 

("counsel's sion to hire a psychologist sheds no light on 

the extent of their investigation into Petitioner's soc I 

background H 
) • 

Although the trial de se counsel in this case faced a 

daunting task, as do defense counsel in every capital case, the 

defense counsels' failure to ef ct y represent appellant at 

trial, including their failure to adequately investigate 

mitigation evidence, fell drastically ow the level expected 

competent attorneys. The errors or deficiencies set forth 

below and the combination of these failures worked to materially 

udice Sergeant Akbar's substantial rights. Sergeant Akbar's 

legal representation at trial was de cient when his trial 

de e counsel: (1) failed to adequate investigate at any 

stage; (2) followed an unreasonable strategy during trial on the 

merits; (3) conceded guilt to a capital 0 e without the 

consent of Sergeant Akbar; (4) followed an unreasonable strategy 

in seating the panel during voir dire; (5) failed to present 

extensive and significant mitigation evidence; (6) failed to 

adequately use the appointed experts; (7) allowed introduction 

of evidence they had properly suppressed; and (8) failed to 
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adequately explain SGT Akbar's in court demeanor as mental 

illness but allowed the panel members to witness SGT Akbar 

consistently fall asleep during t 1 with no explanation. 

Individually, each one of these failures by the trial 

defense counsel was so serious as to deprive Sergeant Akbar of 

the representation of counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment 

to the United States Constitution. These def iencies were of 

such a nature as to deprive Sergeant Akbar of a ir trial with 

a constitutionally "reliable u sentence. See Scott, 24 M.J. at 

188. Since he was denied the effective assistance of counsel, 

Sergeant Akbar is entitled to a new trial. Id. at 193. 

WHEREFORE, Sergeant Akbar respectfully requests this Court 

set asi the findings and sentence this capital case, and 

order a new trial. 

A. 	SERGEANT AKBAR WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO THE EFFECTIVE 

ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, AS GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH 

AMENDMENT AND DENIED HIS RIGHT TO REPRESENTATION BY 

COUNSEL QUALIFIED UNDER 18 U.S.C. § 3599 (2006), IN 

VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND 

EIGHTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 

36, UCMJ, WHEN HIS TRIAL DEFENSE COUNSEL FAILED TO 

SEEK THE APPOINTMENT OF QUALIFIED COUNSEL TO REPRESENT 

SERGEANT AKBAR IN THIS CAPITAL COURT-MARTIAL. 


The representation of SGT Akbar was doomed from the 

beginning because SGT Akbar's counsel were not qualified to 

represent him in this capital case. 3 None of the de se counsel 

3 While the trial defense counsel in this case were qualifi in 
accordance with Article 27(b), UCMJ, and Rule for Courts-Martial 
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at trial had any capital fense experience. (R. at 12-16.) 

The gloss of capital litigation inexperience tarnished trial 

de se counsel's performance and thus appellant's court 

martial. 

On 9 March 2004, the military judge in this case convened 

the first Article 39(a), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 839(a) (2002), 

session in this court-martial. (R. at 2.) The military judge 

requested trial defense counsel put their qualifications "for 

handling a case that has been referred as a capital court 

martial" on the record. (R. at 10-16.) Major  

was the lead defense counsel at trial and CPT   was 

the assistant trial fense counsel. 4 Id. Neither counsel had 

any experience defending a capital case, although both had 

attended a capital litigation course at some point their 

career. Id. The only capital experience between the two 

counsel was MAJ  experience at the Government 

Appellate Division when as branch chief "participated in 

strategy sessions for United States v. Murphy" and "reviewed and 

edited a number of issues raised" in United Stated v. Kreutzer, 

both on direct appeal. (R. at 13-14.) 

1202(a), the detailed defense counsel were not qualified to 
represent Sergeant Akbar in his capital court-martial. 
United States v. Murphy, 50 M.J. 4, 8-9 (1998). 
4 On 9 March 2004, civilian defense counsel, Mr.  
was lead trial fense counsel; however, he subsequently 
withdrew from representation before tr 1 began. (R. at 425, 6; 
App . Ex. 85.) 
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At no time did the mil ry judge advise SGT Akbar his 

assigned counsel had never fended anyone in a capital case, 

nor did the military judge la to Sergeant Akbar how his 

assigned counsel were " to represent him desp e t 

lack of any prior capital e experience. The military 

judge simply concluded with t standard boilerplate, stat 

"Counsel for both sides to have the requisite 

qualifications." (R. at 16, emphasis added.) 

Trial defense counsel failed to seek an order by the 

military judge for the appo of qualified defense counsel 

to represent appellant in this 1 case. Likewise, trial 

counsel failed to seek an order from a superior 

supervisory court for such an intment. As a result, SGT 

Akbar was represented by rienced and unqualified counsel 

in a capital murder trial whi resulted in a sentence of h. 

A military accused is ent 1 to the effective assistance 

counsel, regardless of whet the counsel is detailed or 

sonally selected by the accus United States v. Scott, 24 

M.J. 186 (C.M.A. 1987); Bates v. ackburn, 805 F.2d 569 

r. 1986). In 1989, the Amer Bar Association (ABA) 

promulgated Guidelines for intment and Performance of 

Counsel in Death Penalty Cases reinafter ABA Guidelines 

(1989)]. The ABA produced a sed edition in 2003 to provide 

"comprehensive, up-to-date for professionals who work 
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in this specialized and demanding field", specifically to help 

"ensure ef ive assistance of counsel for all persons" charged 

with capital crimes. ABA Gu lines (2003), Introduction. 

Guideline 5.1 sets forth the qualifications of defense counsel 

and emphasizes "high qual y legal representation" as the basis 

r qualifying counsel to undertake representation in death 

pena y cases, rather than the quantitative measures of attorney 

experience, such as years of litigat experience and number of 

jury t Is. Id. at 36. 

Guideline 5.1 Qualifications of Defense Counsel, states: 

In formulating quali cation standards, 
Responsible Agency should insure: 

1. That every attorney representing a 
capital defendant has: 

a. obtained a license or permission to 
practice the jurisdiction; 

b. demonstrated a commitment to providing 
zealous advocacy and high quality legal 
representation in defense of capital 
cases; and 

c. satisfied the training requirements set 
forth in Guideline 8.1. 

ABA Gui lines (2003) (emphasis added). Guideline 8.1 Training, 

states: 

Attorneys seeking to qualify to receive 
appointments should be required to 
satisfacto ly complete a comprehensive 
training program, approved by 
Responsible Agency, in the defense of 
capital cases. Such a program should 
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include, but not limi to, 
presentations and training in the following 
areas: 

1. relevant state, federal, and 

international law; 


2. pleading and motion practice; 

3. pretrial investigation, preparation, and 
theory development regarding guilt/innocence 
and penalty: 

4. jury selection; 

5. trial preparation and presentation, 
including the use of experts; 

6. ethical considerations particular to 
capital defense representation; 

7. preservation of the record and of issues 
for post-conviction review: 

8. counsel's relationship with the client 
and his family; 

9. post-conviction litigation in state and 
federal courts; 

10. the presentation and rebuttal of 
scientific evidence, and developments in 
mental health fields and other relevant 
areas of forensic and logical science; 

ABA Guidelines (2003) (emphasis added). Addi t lly, qualifi 

attorneys will have demonstrated substantial knowledge and skill 

in the above areas of expertise. . at deline 5.1 (B) (2) (a­

h). While the ABA Guidelines have not been formally adopted 

by the Uni States Department of Army, this Court should 

so require, at a minimum, ABA qualified counsel to represent an 
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appellant who may die as a consequence of a sentence of a court­

martial. 

The Army has long recognized the authoritative nature of 

ABA standards and guidelines, notably in the areas of ethical 

guidelines and standards for professional responsibility for 

attorneys, as was actually acknowledged when the United States 

Army largely adopted the ABA Model Rules of Professional 

Conduct. See Army Regulation 27-26, Rules of Pro sional 

Conduct for Lawyers, para. 7b. (1 May 1992) [hereinafter Army 

Reg. 27-26]. The ru s set forth in the ABA Model Rules of 

Pro sional Conduct are essent lly the Army rules of 

professional conduct (with minor variations significant to 

practicing law in the Army) by which every United States Army 

judge advocate must abide. See Army Reg. 27-26, Appendix B. 

The Army's recognition of the authoritative nature of ABA 

guidelines is also reflected by the Army's mandate that mil ary 

judges, counsel, and court-martial support personnel comply with 

the ABA Standards for Criminal Justice to the extent they are 

not inconsistent with the Uniform Code of Mil ary Justice, the 

Manual for Courts-Martial, and United States Army directives, 

regulations, or rules governing provision of legal services in 

the Army. See Army Regulation 27-10, Military Justice, para. 5 

8c. (24 June 1996) [hereinafter Army Reg. 27-10]. Furthermore, 

the Army has directed that the 1972 ABA Code of Judicial Conduct 
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be applicable to all judge advocates performing judicial 

functions. See Army Regulation 27-1, Judge Advocate Legal 

Services, 7-1 (30 Sept 1996) [here Army Reg. 

27-1]; Army Reg. 27-10, paras. 5 8(c). 

Additionally, the Army also defers to the ABA's standards 

and accreditation in determining the qualifications of active 

duty counsel, Funded Legal ion Program selectees, and 

professional consultants. See Army Reg. 27-1, . 13-2, 14­

5, 3-3, re ively. Final the Army recognizes that the 

rules and ions governing military legal ice are not 

all inc1us Judge advocates are encouraged to look to other 

recognized sources for guidance in interpreting States 

Army st and in resolving issues of profess 1 

responsibility, specifically, example, ABA eth 1 opinions. 

Army Reg. 27 10, para. 5-8di see also Army Reg. 27 26, para. 7d. 

According to Judge Advocate General of the Army: 

Military attorneys and counsel are bound by 
law and the hi t recognized standa 

of professional conduct. The O[epartment of 
] A[rmy] has made Army Rules of 

Pro ssional Conduct r Lawyers and 
of Judicial Conduct of the A.B.A. 

1icable to all attorneys who appear in 
courts-martial. Whenever recognized 

1ian counterparts of professional 
conduct can be used as a guide, consistent 
with military law, t litary pra ce 

d conform. 
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Army . 27-10, Appendix C, para. C-l, (emphasis added). 

Preceding the Attorney-CI Guidelines in Army Reg. 27-10, the 

following note was included: 

Note. These gui lines have been approved by T[he] 
J[udge] A[dvocate] G[eneral]. personnel who 
act in courts-martial, including I Army attorneys, 
will apply these principles insofar as practicable. 
However, the gui lines do not purport to encompass 
all matters of concern to defense counsel, either 
trial or appellate. As more problem areas are 
identified, TJAG will develop a common position and 
policies for guidance of all concerned. 

Army 27-10, Appendix C, Note, (emphasis ) . 

One professional requirement that the adopted directly 

from ABA is the requirement of "competence" of counsel. See 

Army 1.1. Competence is literally the first rule of 

professional conduct. Id. The text of this was drawn 

verbatim from the ABA Model Rule 1.1. See I Rule 1.1. 

Furt , the offic I comments to both Army Rule 1.1 and 

Model Ru 1.1 state: 

In determining whether a lawyer employs the 
requisite knowledge and skill in a 
particular matter, relevant factors include 
the relative compl ty and speciali 
nature of the mat the lawyer's 
experience, the lawyer's training 
experience in ld in question, the 
preparation and study the lawyer is e to 
give the matter and whether it is ible 
to refer the matter to, or consult with, a 
lawyer of establi competence in 
field in question. In most instances, the 
required profici is that generally 
afforded to clients by other lawyers in 
similar matters. tise in a particular 
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fi d of law may be required in some 
rcumstances. 

Army Rule 1.1, Comment (emphasis added); cf. Model Rule 1.1, 

Comment. The Army drawn from the authoritative experience 

of the ABA when recognized that "[e]xpertise in a particular 

eld law may be required in some circumstances. N Id. 

The ABA has identified capital lit ion as one of those 

particular fields of law which requires speci ized expertise 

and has defined the minimum level of expertise required to 

ethically fend a capit case, both at trial and on appeal. 

See ABA Guideline 1.1; ABA Guideline 1.1, Commentary; ABA 

Guideline 5.1; ABA Guideline 5.1. Commentary. These guidelines 

were fashioned a er the National Legal Aid and Defender 

Association, Standards for Appointment and Pe rmance of 

Counsel in Death Penalty Cases at Standa 5.1(11) (2001). The 

ABA Guideline 5.1, Quali cations of Defense Counsel, delineates 

the minimum qualifications r trial defense counsel. Both of 

the appointed t defense counsel in this case did not meet 

se minimum requirements set forth in the ABA Gui lines. 

In this case, fense counsel were the oppos e of 

qualified. Defense counsel's actions throughout the court­

marti demonstrated that they lacked the knowledge, 

understanding, and skills for de ng a capital client. 

Appellant has raised ineffect assistance of couns at all 

34 




stages, to include lure to stigate, failure to use 

experts, failure to present a reasonable theory at trial, 

ilure to sent mental health evidence, failure to withdraw 

representation because of several conflicts of interest, failure 

to conduct proper jury se ion, and ilure to present 

mitigation evidence. See AE I: B-G, and AE II. 

Following Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 188, reh'g 

ied, 429 U.S. 875 (1976), a highly specializ body of death 

penalty jurisprudence evolved. Since 1976, the United States 

Supreme Court, federal appel courts, and state appellate 

courts in thirty- "death pena y jurisdictions" within 

the Unit States have decided hundreds of tal cases. 

Attorneys who do not handle capital cases cannot expected to 

keep up with the ever-changing developments in these 

jurisdictions. Therefore, they do not the highly 

ialized knowledge and training necessary for the adequate 

representation of a defendant facing a death sentence. 

The extreme high of expertise required r counsel 

in capital cases has been widely recognized. Just Thurgood 

Marshall, noted that "death penalty litigation has become a 

specialized f of practice, and even t most well 

intentioned attorneys 0 en are unable to recognize, preserve, 

and defend their client's rights." Justice Thurgood Marshall, 

Remarks on the Death Penalty Made at the Judicial Conference of 
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the Second Circuit, 86 Colum. L. Rev. 1, 1 (1986). Consistent 

with this point, the commentary to ABA Guideline 1.1 states: 

[D]eath penalty cases have become so 
spec lized that fense couns has duties 
and functions finably di rent from those 
of counsel ordinary criminal cases. The 
quality of counsel's "guiding hand" 
modern capital cases is crucial. At every 
stage of a capit case, counsel must be 
aware of specialized and frequently changing 

princ s and rules, and be able to 
develop strategies applying them in 
pressure-filled environment of high-stakes, 
complex litigation. 

As a consequence of the complexity of issues, and because 

death penalty practice has become so speciali , Congress has 

provided that, those facing a death sentence in U.S. 

District Court, the tr 1 judge must assign, upon the 

defendant's request, two counsel "of whom 1 11 be learned in 

law appli e to cap al cases." 18 U.S.C. §3005. 5 Such 

legislation demonstrates the recognition by the United States 

Congress of the need for well seasoned and qualified 

representat for an llant faced with the death penalty. 

Additionally, the Supreme Court has recognized that t ABA 

Guidelines are applicable in rmining reasonable performance. 

Wiggins v. th, 539 U.S. 510, 524 (2003). As the Supreme 

5 Under the mil ry system, American Soldiers have less 
protection than civilians tried in federal court. The system 
used in t federal distr courts must be implemented in order 
to ensure the equal ection of law for American Soldiers. 
See also AE XV. 
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Court not in Wiggins, capital litigation involves not only the 

necess y for extens investigation of the facts underlying 

the alleged crime, but also requires an extens investigation 

into the background of the defendant and the preparation of an 

extensive case in mitigation, both which are beyond the 

normal ken of a defense counsel. Id. at 524-526. Wiggins "now 

stands the propos ion that the ABA standards for counsel in 

death penalty cases provide the guiding rules and standards to 

be used defining the 'prevailing pro ssional norms'u for 

representation and ffect assistance of counsel in death 

penalty cases. Hamblin v. Mitchell, 354 F.3d 482, 486 (6th Cir. 

2003) . 

The failure of the Army to detail experienced and qualified 

death penalty trial defense counsel to sent SGT Akbar 

resulted in the denial of his rights set forth in the fth, 

Sixth, and Eighth Amendments to the United States Constitution, 

as well as his rights arising from Articles 27(b) and 36 of the 

Uniform Code of Military Justice. 

The Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitut 

requires the di rent treatment of death penalty cases. Unit 

States v. Curtis, 32 M.J. 252, 255 (C.M.A. 1991), cert. denied, 

502 U.S. 952 (1991). An exception to a Guidel for attorney 

quali cation and competence is not warranted in this case, nor 

is a military exception to the Eighth Amendment of the United 
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States Constitution warranted. And there are no I timate 

rational or military cific concerns that would necessitate 

anything less than counsel fully quali ed by ABA Standards. 

Unfortunately, if detailed trial defense counsel are not 

experienced and qualified in the defense of capital cases, 

"competent" representation may not ever occur. In ~ited States 

v. Curtis, 48 M.J. 331 (1997) (Pet ion for Reconsideration 

Denied, Cox, Chief Judge (concurring)), Chief Judge Cox 

be eved that to ensure mil ary members who are sentenced to 

death have received a fa and impartial t al within the 

context of the death penalty doctrine of the United States 

Supreme Court, it should be expected that: (1) Each military 

service member has available a s lIed, trained, and expe enced 

attorney; (2) All the procedural safeguards required by law and 

the Manual for Courts-Martial have been followed; and, (3) 

military member gets full and consideration of all relevant 

evidence, for findings and r sentencing. United States v. 

Curtis, 48 M.J. 331, 332 (1997). 

Ineffect assistance of counsel capital litigation was 

addressed by the Court of Is for the Armed Forces (CAAF) 

United States v. Curtis, 46 M.J. 129 (1997). On reconsideration 

of that case, the Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces reversed 

the decis of the lower court as to sentence. Id. The CAAF 

concluded that trial de e counsel's performance during the 
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sentencing hearing was de cient and that there was a reasonable 

probability that there would have been a different result if all 

available igating evidence had been exploited by the defense. 

United States v. Curtis, 46 M.J. 129, 130 (1997). With that 

decision, the CAAF set a higher standard for counsel in capital 

cases. Capital fense should not be left to on-the-job­

training. As this Court has stat 

Just as soldiers who are as to lay down 
their 1 in battle deserve the very best 
training, weapons, and support, se facing 
the h penalty deserve no ss than the 
very best quality of representation 
available r our legal s em. 

United States v. 32 M.J. 730, 735-36 (A.C.M.R. 1991). 

CAAF also examined the capital qualifications of 

counsel in United States v. Murphy, 50 M.J. 4 (C.A.A.F. 1998). 

In Murphy, the CAAF found that Murphy "was defended by two 

attorneys who were neither educated nor experienced in fending 

capital cases, and they were either not provided the resources 

or expertise to overcome these iencies, or they did not 

request them." 50 M.J. at 9. The CAAF found the ABA Guidelines 

"instruct " but did not determine that the lack of 

qualifications was an "inherent ficiency." Id. at 9-10. 

However, the CAAF noted that both the Guidel sand 18 USC 

§3005 "implicitly suggest" that inexperienced counsel may 

provide inef ive representation. Id. at 10. 
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In this case, Sergeant Akbar's trial defense counsel were 

left to learn how to be capital defense litigators as they 

stumbled through his capital court-martial. Many of the errors 

made by counsel at Sergeant Akbar's court-martial are 

attributable to counsel's inexperience in defense of capital 

cases. Experience -- or the lack thereof -- is a primary factor 

for appellate courts to consider in assessing ineffectiveness 

claims. The average attorney is simply ill-equipped to 

understand the nuances of this intensely challenging specialty 

within the world of criminal jurisprudence. When assessing 

whether a defense counsel effectively and adequately represented 

a client, courts of appeals give greater deference to decisions 

made by experienced counsel. See Burger v. Kemp, 483 u.S. 776 

(1987); Darden v. Wainwright, 477 u.S. 168 (1986). However, an 

appellate court must be highly critical of an inexperienced 

counsel's failures when assessing whether that counsel's 

failures resulted in the deprivation of the fundamental fairness 

ensured to every capital accused. See, e.g., King v. 

Strickland, 748 F.2d 1462 (11 th Cir. 1984). 

In this case, the incredible burden of representing SGT 

Akbar in this capital court-martial initially fell upon a trial 

defense counsel who happened to be on the ground in the same 
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area where the 0 s happened. 6 The counsel who sented 

Sergeant Akbar no experience and inadequate tra ng to 

defend a capital defendant. While the trial de e counsel in 

this case may had some collective experience success in 

criminal defense litigation in ral, this was not enough in 

this capital case. In his treatise on the professi defense 

standards for capital defense representation, Pro ssor of Law 

Gary Goodpaster stated: 

Trials about life dif r radically in 
and issues addres those about the 
commission of a crime, and those cases must 
be t differently. differences are 
so fundamental that counsel quite able to 
try a complex criminal case may not be 
competent to handle a lty trial in a 
capital case. Capital cases require 
pe ions, attitudes, preparation, 

ng, and skills that ordinary criminal 
attorneys may lack. Indeed, counsel 

in a tal case who presents a seemingly 
skill ,but unsuccess ,defense at the 
guilt phase may have t and lost the 
issue of his client's worthiness to I 
be re the penalty t 1 has even begun. 

Gary Goodpaster, The Trial for Effective stance of 

Counsel in Dea Penalty Cases, 58 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 299 (1983). 

Consequently, Sergeant 's trial de counsel failed 

to recognize r lack of qualifications in the area of capital 

defense litigation. Likewise, those counsel sat silent when the 

Appellant also claims that trial defense counsel were 
operating under a conflict of interest, in part, because of 
their proximity to events. See AE II: B. 
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1 ary judge advised SGT r that his counsel were, in 

qualifi to represent him. ionally, and as asserted in 

Assignment of Error I: C, mit ion experts that were to 

work on the defense team counsel's inexper and 

for more time to conduct a proper mitigation invest ion 

and appropriate medical testing. 7 (R. at App. Ex. 140; DAE D, G, 

I, J, GG; DA 7 - 3 2, 331- 41. ) Defense counsel's failure to 

conduct a thorough mitigation stigation is a clear s that 

were simply not qualif to handle a case of this 

(DAE Z, AA, LL; DA 224-36.) 

As a result of "the la I-trained and exper 

se counsel in [this] al proceeding," the result of a 

sentence of death in Sergeant r case is "unreliable 

milit jurisprudence." See United States v. Curtis, 48 M.J. 

331, 333 (1997) (Petition Reconsideration Denied, Cox, ef 

(concurring)). Cons , Sergeant Akbar was i 

t ef ive assistance of counsel, and, therefore, is ent led 

to a new trial. See united States v. Scott, 24 M.J. 186 (C.M.A. 

1987). Sergeant Akbar was ent led to counsel "learned in the 

law applicable to capital cases," but he was denied 

entitlement, and thus was deni justice. 

7 lant has also raised five assistance of counsel for 
ilure to use defense experts in the case. See AE I: B. 
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WHEREFORE, Sergeant Akbar respectfully requests this Court 

set aside the findings and sentence in this capital case, and 

order a new trial. 

B. 	SERGEANT AKBAR WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE 

ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN HIS TRIAL DEFENSE COUNSEL 

FAILED TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE APPELLANT'S SOCIAL 

HISTORY, IGNORED VOLUMINOUS INFORMATION COLLECTED BY 

MITIGATION EXPERTS, CEASED USING MITIGATION EXPERTS, 

RESULTING IN AN INADEQUATE MENTAL HEALTH DIAGNOSIS 

BECAUSE THE DEFENSE "TEAM" FAILED TO PROVIDE NECESSARY 

INFORMATION TO THE DEFENSE PSYCHIATRIST WITNESS. 


Int ion 

Appellant was represented at his court-martial by a 

dysfunctional defense team. Whether because of fense 

counsel's error ignoring and ceasing substantive 

communication with their experts, or because of defense 

counsel's frustration with ffective experts, appellant was 

left with an inaccurate and insuffi ent mental health 

diagnosis, based on an incomplete and inaccurate mitigation 

investigation. Ultimately, the fense counsel are responsible, 

because the responsibility to ensure that appellant's mitigating 

facts were developed and presented to the panel was solely that 

of the defense counsel. 

Statement of Facts 

The defense team in appellant's case consisted of trial 

fense counsel, Dr. Woods, the defense psychiatric witness, and 

the mitigation experts. Originally, tr 1 defense counsel 
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requested and was granted Deborah Grey as a mitigation expert. 

(DAE Xi DA 210-15.) However, Ms. Grey Ie the team in June of 

2004 because of a conflict with appellant's mother. Id. In her 

memorandum to the defense team, Ms. estimated roughly 

between 151 and 208 hours of mitigation work remained in the 

case, but also cautioned that as the mitigation experts pursued 

the sources of information she identified "other avenues of 

exploration may open up him/her to pursue." Id. Ms. Grey 

also advised that the "mitigation specialist will need to 

consult with a psychologist and psychiatrist." Id. 

While serving as appellant's mitigation expert, Ms. Grey 

prepa fi y-five pages of social history, twenty-seven pages 

of cumulative records, and a seven-page social history summary, 

none of which were presented at trial and most of which were not 

found in trial defense counsel's files. (DAE EE, FFi DA 267 

330.) Nothing indicates that Ms. Grey ever consult with Dr. 

Woods in this case. The only work done by Ms. Grey that was 

presented to the panel consisted of a one-page, unexplained 

family tree, a four-page timeline of appellant's Ii (with some 

notes), and a twenty-seven-page summation of appellant's 

journal, containing mostly quotes from the journal with some 

minor notes from Ms. Grey. (R. at Def. Ex. C.) This was 

rgely cumulative with the submission by trial defense counsel 
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of appellant's entire journal. (R. at Def. Ex. A; see also AE 

I: G.) 

After Ms. Grey left the defense team, Ms. Scharlette 

Holdman and her team, consisting of Ms. Sca et Nerad and Mr. 

James Lohman, were appointed as appellant's mitigation experts 

on 1 July 2004. (R. at App. Ex. 129.) However, the convening 

authority only approved seventy-five hours of work and $10,000 

for the Holdman mitigation experts. Id. (Ms. Holdman indicated 

that there were actually one thousand hours of work necessary, 

with a fee of $100,000. (R. at App. Ex. 129, 132.) Ms. Holdman 

outlined many of the same areas of the mitigation investigation 

that had not been completed but had been considered necessary by 

Ms. (R. at App. Ex. 132.) In response, the defense 

counsel did not request additional funding from the convening 

authority or from the military judge. (R. at App. Ex. 140; DAE 

G, I, GG; DA 15 7, 331- 41. ) 

During sentencing, the t al defense counsel reached back 

to the files and submitted materials sent in by Ms. Grey on 15 

March 2005. (R. at Def. Ex. C.) Ms. Grey provided thirty-three 

pages of commentary on appellant's diary (Id.), along th four 

interviews of varied utility from three high school teachers of 

appellant and his Imam during some part of his childhood. (R. 

at Def. Ex. N, 0, P, and W.) Ms. Grey advised trial fense 

counsel that the analysis was not prepared for presentation to 
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the court, and that much of this information needed to be shaped 

for suitability in presenting to a jury. (DAE X; DA 210-215.) 

Another mitigation expert working with Ms. Holdman's team 

provided an interview of the wi of appellant's college 

roommate who had interacted with appellant during college. (R. 

at Def. Ex. T.) 

Additionally, trial defense counsel submitted a competing 

and somewhat less sympathetic view of appellant's diary from the 

Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). (R. at Def. Ex. B.) 

This FBI report was an internal government document, definitely 

not prepared for the defense. Id. Portions of the report 

portray appellant as "an extremely self-conscious individual 

struggling to understand and adapt to a myriad of social, 

personal, sexual, and financial issues." Id. Also mentioned is 

appellant's "impoverished, abus and loveless" home. Id. The 

report opines that any possible suicidal ideations were not made 

"seriously," and several paragraphs focus on appellant's 

"thoughts of violence and aggression," including his desire to 

kill white people and his belief that his "life is not complete 

until America is destroyed." Id. The report determined that 

"his [appellant's] actions come as no surprise" and compared 

appellant to a school or work shooter. Id. It concluded that 

"[N]one of this excuses what Akbar has done. Based on his 
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writings and pleas to Allah, Akbar clea y knew right from 

wrong.n Id. 

Doctor Woods had only a small fraction of the substantive 

contact with the trial fense attorne and mitigation experts 

that ordinarily has in a capital case. (DAE AAi DA 22 36.) 

Because of the insuf cient mitigation investigation, Dr. Woods 

was unaware of several important eces of tigation 

information, including an incident where appellant ate his own 

vomit, extens evidence of family mental health disease, and 

evidence of sexual and physical abuse of appellant by his step­

father. Id. at DA 233. In Dr. Wood's opinion, this evidence 

was collectively so powerful that would have been more than 

enough to solidi his forensic agnosis of Paranoid 

Schizophrenia and would have to an additional diagnosis of 

Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. Id. Doctor Woods 

repeatedly asked the trial defense attorneys to request 

additional expert assistance, particularly a forensic 

psychologist. (DAE B, DAE C, DAE AAi DA 3, 6, 233.) Doctor 

Woods, a clinical psychiat st, was retained to do 

neuropsychiatric testing but not to do some of the psychological 

testing professionally reserved psychologists. (R. at 

2323.) Trial defense counsel continually replied that Dr. Woods 

and the mitigation experts' requests were pointless because the 

government would never agree to the expenditures. (DAE AA, DAE 
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GG; DA 233, 337.) Trial defense counsel never asked the 

Convening Authority or the military judge for additional funding 

for investigation or experts. Additionally, Dr. Woods advis 

that the testing done by the Sanity Board was insufficient and 

requested additional testing be funded. (DAE AA; DA 7-8.) 

Again, those requests went without action by the trial fense 

attorneys. Id. 

Trial defense counsel did not call e her Dr. Woods or any 

mitigation expert to testify at sentencing. There were no 

discussions between trial defense counsel, Dr. Woods, or the 

mitigation team about the possibility of any of the experts 

testifying at sentencing. Id. In their internal files, t 

defense counsel, at the initial stages of investigation, 

apparently recognized the critical nature of sentencing 

evidence. (DAE CCi DA 257-64.) They identified that self-

defense was not viable. Id. They also examined lack of 

premeditation as a possible defense theory, but concluded it 

"most like will not work,u but also determined that it was the 

only method open since it would not "alienate the panel." Id. 

Trial fense counsel do not mention the defense of lack of 

mental responsibility in the memorandum. The memorandum also 

discusses mitigation evidence, and sixteen separate and 

important "possible mitigation themes." Id. Counsel recognized 

that under Supreme Court and military case law "any strategic 

48 


1 



choice to ignore or minimize this evidence would most li ly be 

considered ine ctive." Id. Yet, they did exactly that. 

Argument 

Deficient Performance: 

"It is the duty of the lawyer to conduct a prompt investigation 

of the circumstances of the case and to explore all avenues 

leading to facts relevant to the merits of the case and the 

penalty in the event conviction." Rompilla v. Beard, 545 

U.S. 374, 387 (2005) (quoting 1 ABA Standards for Criminal 

Justice 4-4.1 (2d ed. 1982 Supp.)). See also Wilson v. Sirmons, 

536 F.3d 1064, 1089-90 (while counsel can rely to a certain 

extent on the expert, it is counsel's responsibility to conduct 

an investigation and to provide the results of that 

investigation to any expert witnesses); See also Jacobs v. Horn, 

395 F.3d 92, 105 (3d Cir. 2005) (Jacobs counsel was inef ctive 

on findings when he failed to adequate investigate and present 

mental health evidence that may have resulted in jury 

determining that Jacobs could not premeditate). This duty 

outlined by the Supreme Court is the fundamental underpinning of 

capital trial practice, particular when the stakes are so 

absolute: the life or death of a Soldier. 

To establish deficient performance, a "defendant must show 

that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard 

of reasonableness." S ckland, 466 U.S. at 688. While 
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appellant will provide this Court extensive evidence of the 

failure of trial defense counsel in this case to reach a minimum 

objective standard reasonable representation, this Court must 

analyze counsels' performance within the framework of the ABA 

Guidelines. While CAAF has not mandat that the ABA Guidelines 

must be followed, repeatedly said that the ABA Guidelines are 

"instructive." United States v. Murphy, 50 M.J. 4, 9 (C.A.A.F. 

1998), see also United States v. Kreutzer, 61 M.J. 293 (C.A.A.F. 

2005) (repeatedly citing the ABA Guidelines in finding 

ineffective assistance of couns in that case). Whi not 

mandatory, the ABA Guidelines in place during the time frame of 

trial litigation in appellant's case (2003 005) are the 

framework that this Court must use to assess whether or not 

trial defense counsel's performance was "reasonable."B 

Turning to the requirements of the ABA Guidelines shows 

that one of the most important areas capital litigation is 

the Defense Team. See ABA Guideline 4.1. The Commentary to 

this Gui line makes clear that "[N]ational standards on fense 

services have consistently recognized that quality 

representation cannot be rendered unless assigned counsel have 

access to adequate . expert witnesses, as well as personnel 

8 Also raised as an assignment of error, trial defense counsel 
were not quali ed under the ABA Guidelines to represent 
appellant in this capital court-martial. See AE I: A. 
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skilled in soci work and related disciplines . " 

Commentary to ABA Guideline 4.1 at 30. The Commentary goes on 

to note that "analyzing and inte reting" the often unique and 

complex evidence in death penalty cases is "impossible without 

consulting experts." Id. In particular, the need for mental 

health experts is considered by the ABA as being "essential" in 

capital cases and counsel "can hardly be expected" to assess a 

client's mental state Schizophrenia or other mental 

illnesses that "could be of critical importance." Id at 31. 

The ABA Guidelines mandate "that at least one member of the 

defense team" be someone who is qualifi to "screen for ment 

or psychological disorders or fects." Id at 32. 

Commentary concludes by noting that a mitigation specialist is 

an "indispensable member of the fense team throughout all 

capital proceedings." Id. at 33. T al fense counsel in this 

case apparently recognized need for these experts, but 

either did not use them (in the case of Ms. Holdman, Ms. Nerad 

and Mr. Lohman), used them as an afterthought (as in the case of 

Ms. Grey), or withheld through gross negligence critical 

mitigation information crucial to an adequate diagnosis (in the 

case of Dr. Woods). 

There is no substantive dif rence between not hiring 

experts at all and using them so litt or so poorly as to 

render them useless. This Court cannot find counsel's 
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performance adequate merely because they checked block by 

hiring experts. It is a mystery why defense counsel d not use 

the mitigation experts. If the experts were not experienced, or 

had issues that did not allow them to be use 1, then defense 

counsel should have requested alternative experts. If there 

were no issues with the mitigation experts' performance, then 

defense counsel should have utilized their expertise. Of 

course, defense counsel are not absolutely required to use 

experts, but if they choose not to, they are not ieved of 

r burden to investigate appellant's background and social 

history for mitigating evidence. 

Additional focus on the Defense Team is seen ABA 

Guideline 10.4: The Defense Team. The duty for overall 

performance of the Defense Team is given to the lead counsel. 

Id at 63. This Guidel applied during the preparation of 

appellant's case and during appellant's tal. Nor is it a 

novel concept that a lead defense counsel would be overall 

responsible for the Defense Team. "Lead counsel is responsible, 

in the exercise of sound professional judgment, for determining 

what resources are needed and for demanding that the 

jurisdiction provide them. H Id. at 66. While trial fense 

counsel originally recognized need for mitigation experts, 

more funding for those experts, and the need to insure that 

information flowed from the mitigation experts to Dr. Woods, 
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tri defense counsel ignored these experts after they joined 

the defense team. Not only did they avoid substantial 

communication with any of their experts, but they failed to 

request any additional funding from ther the convening 

authority or the tri court. Alternatively, trial defense 

counsel never complained to the milita judge or the convening 

authority that t ir experts were inadequate or unacceptable. 

If problems arise between defense counsel and mitigation 

experts, trial defense couns is not presented with a Hobson's 

Choice, but must ensure that steps are taken to solve 

problems such that appellant is represented effectively. 

ABA Gui line 10.7 addresses the standards for an 

appropriate investigation. This Guideline lays out the obvious, 

that "counsel should conduct thorough and independent 

investigations relating to both guilt and penalty issues. u 

at 76. The Guidel Commentary notes that "inadequate 

investigation by defense attorneys . have contributed to 

wrongful convictions in both capital and non-capital cases. u 

Id. at 77-78. The crux of the need for a thorough investigation 

is that "[C]ounsel cannot responsibly advise a client about the 

merits of different courses of action, the client cannot make 

informed decisions, counsel cannot be sure of the client's 

competency to make such decisions, unless counsel has first 

conducted a thorough investigation with respect to both phases 
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of the case." Id. at 80-81. The broad latitude given to 

present mitigation and extenuation in capital sentencing means 

that an attorney must consider "anything in the life of a 

defendant which might mil ate against the appropriateness of 

the death penalty for that fendant." Id. at 81 ting Brown 

v. State, 526 So. 2d. 903, 908 ( a. 1988) (citing Hitchcock v. 

Dugger, 481 U.S. 393, 394 (1987)); see also R.C.M. 1004 (a) (3). 

The attorneys in this case certainly "checked the block" by 

hiring mitigation experts and a clinical ychiatrist. However, 

"the mere hiring of an expert is meaningless if counsel does not 

consult wi that expert to make an in rmed decision about 

whether a particular defense is viable." chey v. Bradshaw, 498 

F.3d 344, 366 (6th Cir. 2007) citing St ckland v. Washington, 

466 U.S. 668, 691 (1984) (defense counsel "has a duty to rna 

reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that 

makes particular investigations unnecessary"). The Sixth 

Circuit Court of Appeals in Richey reject the idea that simply 

ring experts suffices. If counsel substantively ignores 

experts, ceases substantive communication with them months 

before trial, and ignores or refuses to review or pass along to 

other experts la volumes information from another expert, 

their decisions at trial cannot be said to be in any way 

"informed." 
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That is precisely what happened in this case. Defense 

counsel hired the experts, but then did not coordinate or 

communicate with them effectively, leaving the result (as is 

apparent by the sparse miti ion evidence presented at trial) 

the same as if no mitigation investigation had been conducted. 

The vast majority of the information prepared by a 

mitigation expert and presented to the panel on sentencing was 

prepared by Ms. Grey. s information was gathered in February 

2004, six months prior to Ms. Grey advising trial defense 

counsel that 150 hours or more of work still remained. (R. at 

Def. Ex. C.) No complete social history appellant, or 

detailing family mental lth history, was sented to the 

panel consi ration on either merits or sentencing. This is 

not to say, however, that Ms. did not have any of this. 

Trial defense counsel gave notice to the trial court that 

Ms. Holdman would require significant time to complete her 

investigation. (R. at App. Ex. 132.) It is also clear that 

trial fense counsel realized that Dr. Woods was "reI ng on 

some of the same information that Ms. Holdman will creating. N 

(R. at 551.) After all, tr I defense counsel informed 

court on 24 August 2004 that "Dr. Woods -- in order to rm his 

opi on to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, he's go 

to need at least until February to complete his tests and also 

to rely, in I part upon the information that Dr. Holdman is 
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able to obta " (R. at 585.) "In order for Dr. Woods to make 

an accurate diagnosis, he will need to review the mater 

prepared by Ms. Grey and Mrs. Holdman." (R. at App. Ex. 127.) 

Trial fense counsel further formed the court that the 

testimony and evidence compiled by both Dr. Woods and Ms. 

Holdman's team would be "more than likely" used both merits 

and sentencing. (R. at 554.) Dr. Woods and Ms. Holdman were 

"the heart of the de se strategy." (R. at 579.) What was 

apparent to all, at least at the early stages of the court-

martial, was the critical nature Ms. Holdman and her team, 

both to appellant's fense and Dr. Wood's mental health 

diagnosis. The need for additional time and money was equally 

obvious. Yet, trial fense couns made no further effort to 

request additional money for the mitigation experts. 

Inexplicably, trial defense counsel appear to have recognized 

the critical nature of the incomplete mitigation material but 

d nothing to address it. Nor did fense counsel ever raise 

to trial court in any way that the current experts were 

underfunded, ufficient, or performing unsatisfactorily. 

Inexplicably, counsel did not submit to the convening authority, 

the milit judge, or an appellate court, a request for 

additional assistance. 

Not only did trial defense counsel fail to request 

necessary funding, they cea nearly 1 communication with 
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their mitigation experts. Seve months before t 1, t al 

counsel stopped all communication with the Center for Capital 

Assistance. They did not respond to inquiries asking relevant 

documents should be sent, such as mental hea h records of Sgt. 

Akbar's family members. They did not respond to requests for 

team meetings, instructions for further investigation, or pleas 

for communicating with us and family members. (DAE I; DA 22 

27.) This lack of communication began sometime before or around 

4 November 2004, as evidenced by an email from Ms. Nerad to 

trial defense counsel. 

For reasons I do not understand and have not 
been told, I have almost no communication 
with de e counsel, no access to the rest 
of the team, and no way of knowing, 
obtaining, reviewing, and analyzing relevant 
information and discovery. My requests for 
information and assistance from defense 
counsel go unanswered, causing me to delay 
and reschedule investigative tas and to 
undertake investigation without appropriate 
preparation . . We have not been able to 
pursue or implement the plan in any 
meaningful way because of the prosecution's 
intrusion9 into the defense case and defense 
counsel's failure for whatever reason to 
communicate with me or assist me. 

(DAE R; DA 93.) 

is corresponds with Dr. Woods' statement that trial 

defense counsel stopped substantively communicating with him 

9 While appellant is not certain of the type of intrusion by the 
government Ms. Nerad complains about, appellant believes may 
be tied to disruptions in Ms. Nerad's ability to travel to 
interview potential witnesses. 
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around the same t as they stopped communicating with the 

mitigation team. 

For reasons unknown to me, defense counsel 
failed to communicate with me five 
months prior to t aI, failed to provide me 
relevant and necessary information reI 
to the history of mental illness in Mr. 
Akbar's ly, and fail to provide me 
with the results of the mitigation 
invest ion that I normally rely upon in 
capital cases . . I also explained to 
t [defense] counsel that the competency 
determination reached by the sanity board 
pre trial should not be relied upon in light 
of the limited information upon which it 
based its opinions and in light of the 
course of Mr. Akbar's mental illness over 
t In my professional opinion, which I 
hold to a reasonable of medical 
certainty, a complete and reliable mental 
state assessment was not conducted on Mr. 
Akbar's behalf prior to trial, despite my 
best efforts. 

(DAE B; DA 3-4.) 

Because of this communication breakdown, appellant was 

defended by counsel who did not talk to his mitigation 

spec lists or the defense psychiatrist in any meaningful way 

substant I periods of time, and these experts failed to 

talk to other substantial periods of time. Appellant 

was bereft of a wide range of mitigating material, and Dr. Woods 

was unable to use that material to accurately diagnose 

appellant. Doctor Woods stat before, and even during, trial 

additional testing was necessary to determine an accurate 
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mental health diagnosis, but these requests were ignored by 

t 1 fense couns (R. at 2291; DAE C, 0; 5-14.) 

Nothing in the record of trial or trial defense counsel's 

les indicate that the decision to no longer involve their 

experts was made after a thorough review of the evidence 

gathered from their mitigation experts, or that much, if any, of 

the evidence that was gathered was passed along to Dr. Woods. 

The ABA Guidelines provide that 
investigations into mitigating evidence 
"should comprise efforts to discover all 
reasonably available mitigating evidence and 
evidence to rebut any aggravating evidence 
that may be roduced by the prosecutor." 
ABA Guidelines r the Appointment and 
Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty 
Cases 11.4.1(C), p 93 (1989) (emphasis 
added). Despite these well-defined norms, 
however, counsel abandoned their 
investigation of petitioner's background 
after having acquired only rudimentary 
knowledge of his history from a narrow set 
of sources. 

Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 524 (2003). 

In appellant's case, as in Wiggins, trial defense counsel 

truly "abandoned" their investigation, particularly mitigation, 

after having acquired only a "rudimentary" understanding of 

appellant's social history. Ms. Grey and Ms. Holdman agreed 

that there was still much to do in the mitigation investigation 

of appellant. (R. at App. Ex. 132; DAE X; DA 210-15.) Doctor 

Woods, apprised of the nature and quantity of tigation 

dence he was not given, has changed his diagnosis, 
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specifically relying on family mental health history he was 

not in d of be trial. (DAE Ci DA 5 6.) Ms. Holdman 

identified this very materi as existing in her files, but 

never del red to defense counsel. (DAE Gi 15-21.) The 

appellate mitigation specialist, appointed this Court, Ms. 

Lori James-Townes, has also characteri the mitigation 

investi ion as being largely incomplete and inadequate. (DAE 

LLi DA 413-517.) Evidence indicates that only a scintilla of 

mitigation dence assembled by Ms. Holdman's team was ever 

presented to the 1, or made to Dr. Woods. Id. 

Significant portions of Ms. 's self-described incomplete 

investigation did not make it into either counsel's files, nor 

was presented to the panel, including a fi y-five page 

social hist summary. (DAE EEi DA 267 322.) This raises a 

critical question. Why was the unused material counsel's 

les not passed to either the jury or Dr. Woods when t 

defense counsel clearly recognized the importance of the 

information both to the panel (R. at 554) and to Dr. Woods? (R. 

at 551, 585; . Ex. 127.) 

It is clear from defense counsels' files that they believed 

the bulk of their efforts should be targeted towards sentencing. 

Nonetheless, this early recognition did not translate into 

action. Counsel, in , ultimately ignored mitigation 
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evidence from Ms. Holdman and her team, and minimized what 

little mitigation evidence they did retrieve from Ms. Grey. 

Instead of senting a complete mitigation case, counsel 

merely placed three witnesses on stand (other than 

accused) on sentencing. Capta (CPT) David Storch, appellant's 

platoon leader at the time of the of es, testi ed about 

appellant's unusual or and overall low level of 

effectiveness as a soldier and non-commissioned officer. (R. at 

3017 3023.) Captain Storch also testified appellant did not 

receive a relief for cause report because t unit "probably 

didn't have enough evidence to backup a relief for cause NCOER.H 

(R. at 3024.) On cross-examination, CPT Storch testified that 

he "never doubted U lant's mental stability, and that he 

bel appellant was pro cient in his specialty. Id. 

Counsel then called Sergeant First Class (SFC) Daniel Kumm, 

appellant's former squad 1 , who testified simply that 

llant was a "subparH soldier. (R. at 3034, 3037.) Sergeant 

rst Class Kumm testified about rogatory terms for Muslims 

and I s used wi the squad, but none of those terms were 

directed towa appellant. (R. 3038.) On cross-examination, 

SFC Kumm concurred with CPT Storch that there was no reason to 

question appellant's mental stability. (R. at 3040.) Of 

course, if trial defense counsel sought out and examined the 

records and interviews compi by Ms. Holdman's team they would 
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have found multiple incidences of appellant exhibiting extremely 

unusual behavior. (DAE Z, LL; DA 224-28, 413-517.) 

The 1 witness called by trial defense counsel was Mr. 

Dan 1 Duncan, a former high school teacher of appellant. (R. 

at 3046.) Mr. Duncan recalled that appellant was a very good 

student, but that did not eract with appellant much 

outside of the classroom. (R. at 3047.) Other than the three-

sentence unsworn statement from llant (R. at 3074), this 

comprised the entirety of t 1 defense counsel's presentation 

of mitigation witnesses, certainly not the stuff a reasonably 

effective mitigation case, and on the whole, much more 

aggravating than mitigating. 

The defense also sented the "analysis" of appellant's 

diary by the first igation expert, Deborah Grey, which was 

not prepared trial, but instead red as part of the 

"process of creating a social history" of appellant. (R. at 

Def. Ex. C.) 8i cantly, Ms. Grey prepared this information 

in February, 2004, several months be she resigned from the 

case while informing trial defense counsel that there was a very 

1 amount of information and work left to be done. (R. at 

Def. Ex. C; DAE Xi DA 210-15.) Ms. also warned defense 

counsel that they needed to be very careful what was 

presented to the panel concerning appellant's diary. (DAE X; DA 

210-15.) "It remains my belief that the defense team must 
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a way to contextualize and if possible neutralize the elements 

of his journal that talk about killing Caucasians, etc." Id. 

Ms. Grey linked journal ent es to possible evidence of "mood 

cycling" and the effect of "early exposure II to the Nation of 

Islam on appellant. Id. 

Ms. Grey highlighted both the importance and the danger of 

appellant's journal, as well as the large volume of other 

critical mitigation information that needed to be assembled, 

including information from and observations of appellant by 

family members, mental health records of family members, 

observations of appellant by those with whom he had 

relationships in high school and college, the ex-wives of 

appellant, the Soldiers at appellant's unit who may have 

observed appellant's behaviors, as well as the need to possibly 

confront government mental health experts with mitigation 

evidence, necessary consultation of t miti ion 

specialist with the defense clinical psychiatrist (Dr. Woods). 

Id. 

It is clear from Dr. Woods' larations and testimony at 

t al t consultation between Dr. Woods and the mitigation 

experts in this case was minimal at best. (DAE AAi DA 229-36.) 

There is no evidence that many of the recommendations of Ms. 

Grey (or Ms. Holdman's team) were followed by trial defense 

counsel. Certainly if trial defense counsel and the mitigation 
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rts reasonably investigated all of t evant and 

necessary mitigation dence, trial de counsel could 

formed reasonable tactical decisions rding what to submit to 

t panel. However, that is not what took place here. 

This case combines the errors the reme Court decried in 

Rompilla and Richey - trial defense counsel hired experts but 

then failed to adequat y communicate with them, and by so 

iling, also il to adequately investi te and present 

igation evidence appellant's case. Thus, trial de se 

counsel made uninformed decisions re ng the use of 

mitigation evi luding whether to call Dr. Woods or a 

mitigation expert to testify on sentencing. These decis 

based on insuffic information, were certainly not in 

tactical decisions. 

This lack of forethought was also illustrated in t al 

fense counsel's sion to submit llant's journal in s 

entirety. (R. at Def. App. Ex. A.) s was done with on 

minimal analysis and with no attempt to put the diary 

context or explain or defuse the multiple incendiary statements. 

(R. 	 at Def. Ex. C.) See also AE I: F. As a result of trial 

fense counsel's igence in contacting and working with 

fense experts, much of the testimony and evidence that 

to be placed in of the panel was not, while evidence and 

statements from llant that should have either been 
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completely kept away from the panel or explained and 

contextualized were tossed at the panel unvarnished. 

Viewing t declarations of Dr. Woods, Ms. Holdman, Ms. 

Nerad, and Mr. Lohman, along with the work of Ms. James-Townes 

(discussed in more detail fra), their consensus is that: 1) 

there was abundant information that was not provided by the 

mitigation teams to the attorneys; 2) that information, nor 

other information that was delivered to the attorneys was ever 

provided to Dr. Woods for his analysis; 3) a significant portion 

of the mitigation investigation remained to be completed when 

trial defense counsel stopped communications with the mitigation 

team; 4) trial fense counsel ignored repeated and specific 

requests for further testing by Dr. Woods even after he informed 

them that, without further testing, the defense would not be 

ready for t al and Dr. Woods would not be able to rule in or 

out certain diagnoses; 5) Dr. Woods did not have genetic 

information that would have also aided him in his diagnoses. 

Trial defense counsel is not required to examine every fi 

or every box of information relating to appellant's life. They 

are also not required to conduct every test requested by their 

experts or every recommendation of their experts. However, 

cisions regarding additional testing and investigations must 

be reasonable and informed decisions, as must decisions whether 

to communicate with experts. Merely hiring an expert is not 
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enough. Trial defense counsel must allow those experts to 

rm them, and give those experts tools necessary to 

perform their tasks (or at least t those tools be 

provided) . 

In short, trial defense counsel's sion must be 

"in " Trial defense counsel's isions were not 

"in because Dr. Woods was provided sparse social history 

ion on appellant (particu ly the family mental health 

rmation), insufficient testing was done, and the mitigation 

team was ignored almost completely. Such a sparse investigation 

and use mitigation evidence Dr. Woods' diagnoses 

incomplete, and inaccurate. (DAE AA; DA 22 36.) Thus, 

llant's trial defense counsel ted from a flawed, 

unin rmed perspective of their own making regarding appellant's 

mental state and the presence, absence or importance of 

ion evidence. 

The complete lack of ly history of mental illness in 

is the more surprising because it is apparent from counsel's 

notes that they were aware of the importance of a genetic 

history of mental illness. (DAE DO; DA 265-66.) However, 

inste of seeking that histo , t al defense counsel ins 

us the FBI investigation. However, the FBI analysis: 1) 

was not designed to provide ic history of mental il ss to 

1 's mental health; and 2) provided no substant 
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evidence of appellant's family mental health history except for 

an interview with one brother who exhibited paranoid ideations. 

(R. at Def. Ex. B.) This was not an informed tactical or 

strategic decision counsel pursued after investigating, 

gathering and considering the available evidence. 

Sadly, this information was largely available in the 

voluminous material that Dr. Holdman's team of mitigation 

experts compiled during the short t they wor on 

appellant's case. That information was so important that after 

ing provided this information, Dr. Woods changed his 

diagnosis. (DAE AA; DA 229-36.) 

Evidence compil by Ms. Holdman and also obtained by Ms. 

James-Townes indicates that appellant's father suffered from 

drug addiction, mental illness (depression, anxiety sorder, 

panic disorder, and mood sorder), and had Acqui Immune 

Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS). (DAE LL; DA 431.) Mitigation 

specialists also believed appellant's mother had some mental 

lth issues. Id. at DA 424. Appellant's brother wou not 

even speak to investigators because he believed helicopters from 

the government were watching his house. (Def. Ex. B.) The fact 

that both parents exhibited mental hea h issues and his brother 

exhibited paranoid symptoms certainly would have been important 

to Dr. Woods in forming a diagnosis of Paranoid Schizophrenia. 

(DAE HHi DA 342-74.) 
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Even if this Court finds that defense counsel sufficiently 

"informed" themselves to make tactical decisions, the following 

decisions were unreasonable: (1) to ignore four boxes of 

mitigation information; (2) to cut-off the mitigation 

investigation despite the protestations of the mitigation 

experts that more needed to be done; (3) to il to transfer 

much of that information to Dr. Woods to assist in his diagnosis 

of appellant; and (4) to il to conduct testing relating to 

sleep issues and Schizophrenia recommended by Dr. Woods. 

Unreasonable tactical cisions will not defeat a claim of 

ineffective assistance of counsel. See United States v. Rivas, 

3 M.J. 282 (C.M.A. 1977). The Court, will not give carte 

blanche to the tactical decisions of counsel in capital cases if 

the counsel's performance reflects inadequate investigation, 

limited capital experience 10 
, and does not meet the higher 

standard of performance expected of counsel in capital 

litigation: 

What follows in this opinion, however, 
demonstrates that a capital case - or at 
least this capital case - is not 
"ordinary," and counsels' inexperience in 
this sort of litigation is a factor that 
contributes to our ultimate lack of 
confidence in the reliability of the result: 
a judgment of death. We have no quarrel with 
the Army Court regarding the obligation of 
an appellate court not to second-guess 
tactical judgments. Here, however, counsels' 

10 See AE I: A. 
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k of training and exper contributed 
to questionable tactical j 
us to the ultimate conc are 
no tactical decisions to s . 

Unit States v. Murphy, 50 M.J. 4, 13 (C.A.A.F. 

1998.) 

In Murphy, as in this case, counsel performed a sub-

mitigation investigation. Counsel in Murphy, who did 

not have a mitigation expert, 1 the mitigation evidence 

pr ly by "correspondence and tel " Id. at 12. 

Counsel in appellant's case had ion specialists, but 

t Y failed to use them. No miti rt was called to 

testi ,and no material from the mit ion file was analy 

or pI into evidence. Information the mitigation team 

was not shared with the clinical ychiatrist, Dr. Woods. Nor 

was s in rmation presented to panel in any coherent 

form. Defense counsel actively ignored both the mitigation team 

and Dr. Woods. Thus, appellant's t de nse counsel placed 

themse s in the same situation as Murphy's counsel, attempting 

to try the case effectively without a ioning mitigation 

, an adequately informed mental health expert, and do 

so the capital trial rience necessary to overcome 

those ciencies. 

In Murphy, CAAF refused to simply cede to the ord ry, 

non- tal rationale that an attorney merely need have a 
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tactical reason for trial decisions, but recognized that capital 

trials are not "ordinary." Id. Attorneys in capital cases do 

not receive unlimited deference to their tactical choices. 

Their experience in capital litigation, their level of 

investigation of an appellant's background, and their use of 

experts must all be examined more critically, as must their 

performance in presenting sentencing material to a panel. 

This problem is not unique in to appellant's case. While 

not binding, Worthington v. Roper, 619 F.Supp.2d 661, (E.D.Mo. 

2009) is instructive in comparison to appellant's case. In 

Worthington, the accused pled guilty, was convicted of murder, 

and sentenced to death. Id. at 665. At trial, the prosecution 

called twenty-four witnesses while the defense counsel called 

only two witnesses. Id. at 666. Those two witnesses were 

Worthington's maternal aunt and a psychiatric pharmacist. Id. 

Worthington's maternal aunt testified primarily of Worthington's 

lifetime exposure to drug use and drug abuse, his rampant drug 

abuse in his early life, and the absence of a father figure in 

Worthington's life. Id. at 667. A psychiatric pharmacist 

testified that Worthington's drug abuse problems made 

Worthington unable to control his impulses and affected his 

decision-making. Id. The district court found that the defense 

counsel's performance and investigation was "inadequate." Id. 

at 675. Although the defense counsel made some investigation, 
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including calling witnesses and seeking records, the Court found 

that the defense counsel did not go far enough in finding other 

relevant mental health sues. Id. Similar to appellant's 

case, the district court found that Worthington's defense 

attorneys did not provide the mental health experts in the case 

with all of the relevant mitigation evidence. Id. The district 

court determined that the primary reason for Worthington's 

counsel not seeking additional mitigation evidence such as 

records or witnesses was not because of a determination that 

such an investigation would be futile, but because of money and 

time. Id. at 67. 

Appellant's trial defense counsel did the same. When 

presented with the need for additional investigation, testing, 

and experts, t I fense counsel responded that there was no 

point in making a request because funding was unavailable. (DAE 

AA; DA 229 36.) Thus, appellant's case stands on all fours with 

Worthington. 

Relying on Wiggins and Rompilla, the district court in 

Worthington found that Worthington's defense counsel terminated 

their investigation too soon and did not undertake to uncover 

all reasonably available mitigating evidence. Id., cit g 

Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 527-28; Rompilla, 545 U.S. at 389. 

Additionally, the district court relied upon the ABA Guidelines 
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as a "guide" in determining what is "reasonable in a death 

penalty case." Id. at 674 citing Rompilla, 545 u.s. at 387. 

The Court in Worthington next turned to prejudice. At 

Worthington's trial, there was evidence of drug use, childhood 

abuse, and expert testimony which emphasized the affect 

Worthington's drug abuse had on his ability to control his 

impulses and his decision-making. Id. at 667. The Court found 

that the additional evidence presented on appeal was mostly 

duplicative of the evidence already presented albeit much more 

detailed, and thus refused to overturn Worthington's conviction 

based on the new evidence. Id. at 678. 

However, the Court did overturn Worthington's conviction 

based upon the failure of the defense counsel to uncover the 

additional evidence and present it to Worthington's assigned 

mental health experts. Id. at 684. On appeal, Worthington 

presented expert testimony describing mental health issues, such 

as Bipolar affective disorder with psychotic features, 

Tourette's syndrome, chemical dependencies and Post Traumatic 

Stress Disorder, from which Worthington suffered. Id. at 682. 

The experts emphasized of the critical importance of family 

mental health information to making an accurate mental health 

diagnosis. Id. The expert that Worthington had presented at 

his trial also testified at Worthington's habeas proceeding that 

the expert had minimal records provided to him at trial and that 

72 




he was "overwhelmed u by the volume of records that were 

available that he did not receive at trial. Id. at 683. All of 

the defense experts disagreed with the State's expert diagnosis 

of antisocial disorder. Id. 

As in Worthington, appellant's defense counsel ceased 

seeking mitigation information early into the process. (R. at 

App. Ex. 140; DAE G, I, Z, AA, GG; DA 15-27, 224-341.) 

Similarly, appellant's defense counsels' claimed, at least in 

their conversations with their mitigation experts, that the 

reason for not conducting a more thorough mitigation 

investigation was funding. Doctor Woods, like the expert at 

trial in Worthington, was surprised by the quality and quantity 

of information he did not have to make an accurate diagnosis. 

(DAE AA; DA 234.) Finally, as in Worthington, the mental health 

diagnoses of appellant on appeal were more concrete, more 

severe, and more strongly supported than at trial. (DAE Z, AA; 

DA 224-36.) If anything, Worthington had the "luxuryU of having 

an expert testify on sentencing, while appellant had none. 11 

In finding that Worthington was prejudiced, the Court found 

that it was reasonable to believe that the mental health expert 

at trial would have changed his diagnosis had he been given a 

11 While Dr. Woods did testify on the merits and did discuss 
some differential diagnoses of appellant, he did not testify on 
sentencing and he never gave a definitive diagnosis of 
appellant's mental health on the merits. 
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complete soc 1 story investigation of Worthington. 

Worthington, 619 F.Supp. at 688. Doctor Woods has been clear 

both that he have changed his diagnosis and specifically, 

he would have Schizophrenia if provided a sufficient 

social history ti ion. (DAE AA; DA 234.) Also like 

Worthington, s Court must find "the likelihood of a different 

result had ly prepared experts testified is 'sufficient to 

undermine the outcome' actually reached at 

sentencing." Rompilla, 545 U.S. at 389. Both appellant 

and Worthington, red from inadequately prepared experts. 

In Porter v. McCollum, 558 U.S. , 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009), 

the Supreme Court found that Porter's trial defense counsel was 

ineffective in investi ing Porter's mitigation case, and that 

Porter was prej At trial, Porter's counsel presented one 

witness, Porter's ex-wi ,and presented portions of a 

deposition. 130 S.Ct. at 449. "The sum total of the mitigating 

evidence was sistent testimony about Porter's behavior when 

intoxi testimony that Porter had a good relationship 

with his son.1f Id. 

Post t ,Porter's counsel discovered new evidence 

Porter had an childhood, that he performed heroically in 

the Korean War, that he was a long-term substance abuser, 

that Porter red mental health and mental capa ty. Id. 

In addition to testimony regarding Porter's heroic Korean War 
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service, an expert in neuropsychology testi ed that Porter 

suffered from brain damage and was impulsive. Id. at 451. 

The Court found that Porter's counsel at trial was 

ineffect Id. at 453. Porter's counsel fail to assemble 

Porter's military, medical, or educational records, nor did he 

interview Porter's family. The Court reject the counsel's 

claims that, because Porter was "fatalistic and uncooperative,N 

counsel's failure to investigate was excused. Id. The Court 

found counsel's ilure to present evidence of Porter's family 

background, military service, and mental lth was 

unreasonable. Id. 

The Court also found that Porter was prejudi Id. at 

454-456. If Porter's counsel had properly investigated Porter's 

case, he would have informed the jury about Porter's military 

service, his abusive ldhood, and his mental health 

deficiencies and mental limitations. Id. at 454. Porter was 

not requi "to show "that counsel's deficient conduct more 

likely than not alte the outcome N of s penalty proceeding, 

but rather that he establi 'a probability sufficient to 

undermine confidence in [that] outcome.'N . at 455-456, 

quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693-694. The Court found that 

Porter succeeded in undermining the confidence in his trial. 

Id. at 466. See also Hamblin v. Mitchell, 354 F. 482, 492­

493 (6th Cir. 2003) (counsel inef ive fail to further 
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s ient's 

mitigation case. Claim that counsel was unaware of what the 

investigation would reveal was not suf ent reason to fail to 

further investigate); Hardwick v. Crosby, 320 F.3d 1127, 1165­

1169 (11th Cir. 2003) (counsel inef failing to put 

forward a case in mitigation e it was only means of 

showing that his client was less 

investigate mental health and 

Ie than the facts of 

the crime suggested); Smith v. Stewart, 189 F. 1004, 1008 (9th 

Cir. 1999) (counsel ineffect in fail to conduct a full 

examination of mental health and in failing to put forth 

anything in addition to mental health in s ient's case in 

mitigation) . 

Prejudice: 

The decision to ignore the mit ion rts did not have 

merely a hypothetical impact on the case, , based on the 

previously undisclosed information, Dr. Woods s 

determination of appellant's sanity at t of the fense 

and trial from competent to legally not ent. 12 (DAE AA; DA 

229-36.) The potential impact on 1 from being told that 

appellant, in the opinion of Dr. Woods, was not ly sane at 

the time of the offense and t 1 is surable. Doctor Woods 

learned after trial about: 1) c observations of llant 

doing things such as eating his own t, a ear indicator of 

12 See AE I: C, AE VII. 
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psychosis; 2) significant additional dence serious mental 

health issues with multiple members of appellant's immediate and 

extended ly; and 3) evidence of both physi and possibly 

sexual abuse appellant by s step-father. (DAE AA; DA 229­

36.) As a result, revised his diagnosis to Paranoid 

Schizophrenia and Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, and finding 

that appellant was lly insane both at the time of the 

offense and at tr 1. Id. Combining Dr. Woods' sed 

diagnosis with the sheer volume of mitigation evidence uncove 

by this Court's appointed mitigation expert, Lori James-Townes 

(DAE LL; DA 413-517), and buttressed by a similar preliminary 

agnosis of appellant's mental health state by Dr. June Coo 

(DAE Z; DA 228), a rensic psychologist, the qual y and 

quantity of miti ion evidence that could have been provided to 

the panel with an ef ive use of experts in this case is 

stunning. 

Both Lori James-Jownes (DAE LL; DA 420-427), and Dr. Cooley 

(DAE Z; DA 225), have noted the significantly insuf cient 

al history investigation completed at trial this case. 

Doctor Cooley s conducted a review of the mitigation mater Is 

provided at trial by Ms. James-Townes and has found 

limina diagnoses of: Schizophrenia, Major Depress 

Diso r, Recurrent, Severe with Psychotic Features Post 

Traumatic Stress sorder. (DAE Z; DA 225.) Doctor Cooley 
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specifically based her findings on t mental health history of 

appellant and his ly. (DAE Zi DA 228.) She also listed 

separate categories of psychotic ors appel has 

exhibited and the functional causes underlying those 

behaviors. (DAE Z; DA 225-26.) Ms. James-Townes concurs with 

Dr. Cooley's findings that those issues not gathered in 

mitigat prior to t al and not sented to Dr. Woods to 

assist in his gnosis were qualitatively and quantitat ly 

critical ces of information. (DAE LLi DA 420-27.) 

Additionally, Dr. Cooley found t appellant has never received 

a "comprehens psychologi evaluation" and that the 

psychological testing of appellant by the Sanity Board was 

incomplete. (DAE Zi DA 226-27.) Doctor Co y then provided a 

laundry-list of psychol 1 testing t appellant should have 

received as well as what a "comprehensive psychological 

evaluation" res. Id. 

Ms. James-Townes outlined in her rt that: 

A. There was no team approach to s the mental 
health concerns experienced and demonstrated by SGT 

r. 

B. Interviews were not multi-generational. 

C. There was no tigation expert on the team who 
would have been lable to manage information 

ed and provide a coherent picture of the 
entirety of Sgt. Akbar's li 
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D. There was not tigation specialist on the team 
at the time of tr 1 able or willing to testify about 
the findings. 

E. Because of lack of social history 
presentation, no explain the 
many facets of SGT Akbar's life: uding but not 
limited to his struggle and confusion surrounding his 
religion (which gan at the age of 4 when his 
parent's changes his name), obsess with sex, 
identity issues; confusion regarding what memories 
were real versus asy; history of ildhood 
trauma; his parents and family history and the impact 
it had on him, cal issues which luded severe 
sleep disturbances. 

F. There was no follow-up regarding the horrendous 
abuse suffered as a child (psychological abuse by 
mother, religious overtones to disc , abuse by 

s stepfather, abandonment by father, horrendous 
living conditions, sexual abuse of Ie family 
members, possible sexual abuse suf by him) . 

G. There was no complete extensive soc history to 
feed neither the tigation investi ion findings 
nor the presentation at trial. 

H. Without a soc 1 history report nothing about SGT 
Akbar's life was put into context. 

Despite mounta of evidence regarding Sgt. 
Akbar's psychological conditions, no psychological 
examination was completed having the fit of a 
complete social history. 

(DAE LL; DA 420 21.) 

Addit lly, Ms. James-Townes found that "[t]he Failure to 

Recognize Investigate lling Mitigating Factors Resulted 

in Fai to Integrate the Mitigation Into The Guilt/Innocence 

Stage of the Tal." Id. at DA 423. Ms. James-Townes also 

found that "the admission Mrs. Grey's 'summary' of Sgt. [sic] 
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Akbar's diary entries was only effort made by counsel to 

educate the jury panel rding his severe psychiatric illness 

and long-standing physical disorders. ." on sentencing. Id. 

at DA 424. Ms. James-Townes notes that "SGT Akbar's childhood 

was remarkable for extreme poverty, constant moving, unstable 

parenting, physical abuse, possible sexual abuse, parental 

abandonment, domestic violence, and traumatic events 

(earthquake)." Id. at DA 433. Ms. James-Townes goes into 

s ficant detail in her report about the abuse appellant 

suffered growing up and the impact of childhood trauma both 

generally and related to appellant. Id. at DA 433-39. Ms. 

James-Townes also ails some of medical issues appellant 

suffered during his nine years of colI Id. at 27-31. Ms. 

James-Townes points to the tical importance of "execution 

impact testimonyU in her report. Id. at DA 446. "Execution 

impact testimonyU is testimony by family members and close 

ends that "allows the jury/panel to understand exactly how 

the death of the defendant will impact them." Id. The absence 

of any family members testifying "speaks volumes to a panel 

member who had to ide life and death of SGT Akbar . 

" Id. Crucially, Ms. James-Townes states that requires 

expert assistance to provide a complete report because "his 

current mental health state and s dis r symptoms is 

prohibiting my efforts. I would urge the court to appoint a 
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forensic psychologist and forensic ychiatrist to assist in 

these efforts." Id. at DA 448. 

It is also important to note t t Dr. Woods' usted 

di es tracks very closely with diagnoses of Dr. Cooley, 

differing only in Dr. Cooley's additional finding of Major 

ssive Disorder, Recurrent, Severe with Psychotic Features. 

(DAE Zi DA 225.) s lends furt r nce to Dr. Woods' 

revised findings based on the uncovered social history evidence. 

There is a signif difference a mental th expert 

be able to de ively diagnose lant with Paranoid 

S zophrenia, Post Traumatic Stress sorder and ivocally 

de aring him incompetent at the t the offense and trial, 

and what happened at t aI, where Dr. Woods found none of these 

agnoses definit ly and declared llant not I lly 

insane. (R. at 2313.) Additionally, had a complete and 

suff ient social history investigation been done, facts 

would have lent weight and lity to Dr. Woods' 

di is. Appellant was also prejudi by the lack of any 

rt testimony at his sentencing. 

In a capital case, one test for judice when significant 

is withheld the panel is "whether a reasonable 

f r of fact, armed with this , would come to the same 

conclusions that the court-martial did as to the findings and 

sentence." United States v. Murphy, 50 M.J. 4, 14 (C.A.A.F. 
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1998), citing States v. Dock, 26 M.J. 620 (ACMR 1988). 

If even one 1 member would have come to a different 

conclusion as to either findings or sentence based on the 1 

volume of mitigation evi and a definitive and 

confident is from Dr. Woods, this court-martial 

would have poss y resulted in a dif rent finding, and 

definitely in a fferent sentence. This panel was not armed 

with the necessary evidence to arrive at an informed verdict. I3 

However, cause appellant was effectively denied the 

assistance of a igation expert at t 1, the standard for 

prejudice is more complex than an ordina h penalty case. 

The CAAF's decis in United States v Kreutzer, 61 MJ 293 (CAAF 

2005) address udice both in the context of ineffective 

assistance of counsel and a failure to a mitigation 

expert. For f ive assistance of counsel, the CAAF found 

that "the appellant must demonstrate a reasonable probability 

that, but for counsel's deficiency, the res t would have been 

different." Kreutzer, 61 M.J. at 301 ting Strickland, 466 

U.S. 694. For 1 of a mitigation expert, t CAAF said that 

the burden falls on the government to show 

There is no reasonable possibil 
a single court member might have a 
reas e doubt in light of the 
health that the mit 
spec list could have gathered, ana zed, 

13 See AE V. 
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and assisted the to present. Had but 
a s Ie member rbored a reasonable doubt, 

h would have been excluded as a 
permissible punishment. 

Id. at 301. 

Appellant's case is a very simi r to Kreutzer. Appellant 

was ef ively denied the assistance of a mitigation expert 

because defense counsel fail to utilize them in anything more 

than a minimal fashion. Appellant is in the same position as 

Kreutzer, lacking assistance of a mit ion expert r 

to present mitigating evidence to the panel or to assist Dr. 

Woods in rming an accurate and forensically supported 

diagnosis. Appellant is also left in the same position as 

Murphy in that significant evidence was not present to the 

panel, ling into stion whether the panel would have come 

to same us ion on findings or sentence had evidence 

been presented. 

Accordingly, llant should not be required to rely on 

t high burden of proving prejudice under a standard 

ineffect assistance of counsel ysis. However, appellant 

meets that even higher standard. Though burdens f r 

between inef ctive assistance of counsel and denial of a 

mitigation expert a capital case, the fundamental concern is 

t same. Is re a chance the result would have 

different had the attorneys utili the experts properly and 
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the missing evidence been introduced to the panel? Appellant, 

in this capital case, must only show that the ineffective 

assistance was "suf cient to undermine confidence in the 

outcome." Id. at 694. 

Confidence in the outcome of a death lty case is even 

more paramount than a non-capital case. "One continuous 

theme is found throughout the death-penalty cases handed down by 

the Supreme Court over the last 30 years. That theme is 

reliability of result." Murphy, 50 M.J. at 14. The heightened 

need for a reliable result in a death penalty case requires that 

if this Court finds that appellant was denied the use of a 

mitigation expert, then it should find that prejudice exists if 

the government cannot show that one panel member might have 

harbored a reasonable doubt based on a proper mitigation 

investigation, necessary testing, and a mental health 

evaluation. 

Even if this Court chooses to evaluate prejudice under the 

basic standard inef ive assistance of counsel, the 

confidence in the outcome of both findings and sentencing is 

si ficantly undermined by Dr. Woods' change in diagnoses and 

the 1 volume of uncovered mitigation information not 

presented to the panel. Accordingly, this Court must order a 

rehearing. 
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Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Voir Dire 

C. 	SERGEANT AKBAR WAS DENIED HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO 

EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHERE THE TRIAL 

DEFENSE COUNSEL FAILED TO CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE ANY 

PANEL MEMBERS, EVEN THOUGH COUNSEL HAD MULTIPLE CAUSAL 

REASONS INCLUDING ACTUAL BIAS, IMPLIED BIAS, AN 

INELASTIC OPINION AGAINST CONSIDERING MITIGATING 

EVIDENCE AND ON SENTENCING, AND PANEL MEMBERS' 

DETAILED KNOWLEDGE OF UNCHARGED MISCONDUCT THAT THE 

JUDGE SPECIFICALLY RULED INADMISSIBLE. 


Statement of Facts 

There were nineteen members seated when t court was first 

assembled. (R. at Convening Order dated 19 2004.) At the 

conclusion of voir dire, fifteen members al 

se counsel challenged only one potent 1 panel (R. 

at 1174.) Government counsel challenged eutenant Co 1 

 Major  Major  Major  

Command Sergeant Major  and First (R. 

at 1160.) Trial defense counsel opposed 11 s of only 

eutenant Colonel  Major  and Command 

Major  Id. The unopposed 11 s were 

grant by the military judge, while the oppos llenges were 

(R. at 1174.) Trial defense counsel chal one 

r, Major  on the basis of implied bias se 

was a witness in a prior military death penalty case 

States v. Kreutzer) and was actually involved in ing 

Kreutzer after his attack. (R. at 1174-75.) This chall was 
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joined by government counsel and grant by the mil ary judge. 

Id. The government used its preemptory lenge on Lieutenant 

Colonel  while the defense did not use s preemptory 

llenge. (R. at 1177.) Significantly, one panel member, 

Sergeant First ass  was a member of llant's company 

size unit, and this issue was waived by trial de e counsel. 

(R. at 1178.) 

rd of Review 

Because trial fense couns did not challenge any of 

the panel members seated in t s case, this issue is nari1y 

waived. R.C.M. 912 (f) (4), MANUAL FOR COURTS-MARTIAL, UNITED STATES 

(2008 ed.) However, because of the plenary review authority of 

Article 66(c) this court "is not constrained from taking notice 

of errors by the princ es of wa and plain error." See 

States v. Powell, 49 M.J. 460 (C.A.A.F. 1998) (citing 

United States v. Claxton, 32 M.J. 159, 162 (C.M.A. 1991)). 

Therefore, this court should look anew at these errors without 

need of a waiver analysis, icularly in scapital case. 14 

However, if this Court chooses to apply waiver 

doctrine, because appellant claims that s counsel were 

inef ive in voir dire and 1 challenges, this Court must 

examine whether assigned counsel were ineffect in failing to 

challenge for cause members in this case. 

14 See also AE VIX. 
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Absent the showing of a strategic decision, iling to 

remove a biased member for cause constitutes ineffect 

assistance of counsel. Hale v. Gibson, 227 F.3d 1298, 1319 (3d 

Cir. 2000); United States v. Quintero-Baraza, 57 F.3d 836, 841­

842 (9th Cir. 1995); Johnson v. Armontrout, 961 F.2d 748, 755 

(8th r. 1992). Although counsel is ineffective during voir 

dire and panel challenging, appellant must still show that a 

sed panel member sat on his panel. Hale, 227 F.3d at 1319. 

To show bias, appellant must show that the panel member had such 

a fixed opinion that he or she could not impartially judge 

appellant. Id. However, once bias is established, appellant 

need not show prejudice. Hughes v. United States, 258 F.3d 453, 

463 (6th Cir. 2001); Sanders v. Norris, 529 F.3d 787, 791 (8th 

Cir. 2008). 

The impaneling of ased juror is structural nature, and 

must result in appellant receiving a new trial. Hughes, 258 at 

463. "De se counsel's failure to attempt to remove from the 

jury a rson who has been established on voir dire to be biased 

constitutes prejudice under Strickland." Hale, 227 F.3d at 

1319. "Trying a defendant before a biased jury is akin to 

providing him no trial at all. It constitutes a fundamental 

defect in the trial mechanism itself." Johnson v. Armontrout, 

961 F.2d at 755. 
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Rule for Courts-Martial [hereinafter R. C. M.] 912 (f) (1) (N) 

provides that a court member "shall be excused for cause 

whenever it appears that the member [s]hould not sit as a 

member in the interest of having the court-martial free from 

substantial doubt as to legality, fairness, and impartiality." 

This rule encompasses challenges based on both actual and 

implied bias. 

The test for actual bias is whether any bias "is such that 

it will not yield to the evidence presented and the judge's 

instructions." United States v. Reynolds, 23 M.J. 292, 294 

(C.M.A. 1987). The emphasis for actual bias is a subjective one 

viewed through the eyes of the judge and the panel member. See 

United States v. Napoleon, 46 M.J. 279 (C.A.A.F. 1997). The 

focus is then on the efficacy of rehabilitative efforts in 

changing the stated sUbjective position of the panel member to 

one that will yield to the evidence presented and the judge's 

instructions. 

Unlike actual bias, implied bias is viewed "through the 

eyes of the public, focusing on the appearance of fairness." 

United States v. Rome, 47 M.J. 467, 469 (C.A.A.F. 1998) In an 

implied bias case, "the focus 'is on the perception or 

appearance of fairness of the military justice system. '" Id. 

(quoting United States v. Dale, 42 M.J. 384, 386 (C.A.A.F. 

1995) ) . Implied bias exists when, "regardless of an individual 
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member's disclaimer of bias, most in same position 

would be prejudiced [that is, biased]." Uni States v. 

Napolitano, 53 M.J. 162, 167 (C.A.A.F. 2000). ied bias is 

examined under an objective viewpo Uni States v. Strand, 

59 M.J. 455, 458 (C.A.A.F. 2004). 

In SGT Akbar's case, trial defense counsel's i to 

challenge for cause panel members for both actual and implied 

bias amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel. threat 

of implied bias infected the entire panel and and every 

panel member. Implied bias is not discussed by e r tr 1 

defense counsel (or the military judge) regarding a s 1 

member. This strongly indicates that neither defense counsel 

appropriately considered implied bias. This is 

assistance of counsel. 15 Because of the ine 1 re 

by defense counsel on implied bias (and the mil ry 

failure to address implied bias sua sponte), 1 was 

prejudiced. 

, s 

Sergeant First Class  stated he no 

interest in the events in appellant's life leading up to 

of es in this colloquy with defense counsel: 

15 Appellant, in AE VIX, claims that the military j 
plain error in seating the panel as composed. 
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DC: Would you have any interest in facts 
regarding their life, and how t t person 
got to that point, factors that might have 
influenced t ir decision? Do you think 
those things would be important? 

SFC 0: No, sir. Because, if they took a 
life, it wouldn't be rtant. 

DC: And what do you think rehabilitation or 
t potential for rehabilitation - what do 
you think that means? 

SFC 0: Like not letting them out - like 
they'd be able to 1 , but they'd spend the 
rest of t r life prison. 

DC: Okay. Well, that's a good lead in to 
the next question. So, in a case where 
you've got the person, you're convinced that 
the rson committed a murder, you're 100 

rcent sure of that, and li without 
role is also a possible punishment, 

meaning that person will never out of 
jail, would you consi r that? 

SFC 0: Yes. I'd consider it. 

DC: What sort factors would influence 
your ision as you choose between death or 
a on be removed permanently from 
society and sitting jail for the rest of 

slife? 

SFC 0: Okay. for instance that that 
person was provoked to do that, then the 
person deserves another chance. 

DC: Any other factors or rcumstances that 
could be important? 

SFC 0: Unless they had a mental condit or 
whatever. 

(R. at 1134.) 
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At no point does SFC  state that he will consider 

mitigation , or the events and fluences in appellant's 

life leading up to the charged of s . s is not a matter 

of the member simply giving low weight to extenuation and 

mitigation. In this case, SFC  was clear that everything 

leading up to charged offenses was unimportant and would not 

be important appellant took a life. Thus, SFC  

would not cons r evidence in miti ion. 

Defense couns inexplicably miss or ignored SFC  

responses to his questions. Given s was a capital case, 

certainly counsel must have known that it was absolutely 

paramount to seat a panel with an as much towards sentencing 

as towards merits. This is height here because the 

events in appellant's life leading up to the attack were 

intricately interwoven with his mental tho (See DAE, Z, AA, 

LLi DA 224-36, 413-517.) There can no tactical or strategic 

reason to fail to delve more deeply o SFC  clear 

statement would not consider rs in appellant's life 

leading up to offenses, and certainly re was no reason 

not to chall SFC  

The military judge later attempted to litate SFC 

 

MJ: Se  if I underst you 
correctly, if we get to sentenci ,you 
would able to follow my instructions on 
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full range of punishments whatever y 
may be? 

SFC D: Yes, sir. 

MJ: , life without parole ---­

SFC D: Yes, sir 

(R. at 1136.) 

judge asked if SFC  could consider the 1 

of riate punishments, but did not ask if he could cons 

t of mitigation and extenuation to 

e the appropriate punishment. The issue is not r 

would consider the full range of punishments (a 

his re s put that into question), but whether SFC 

underlying extenuating and mitigating ctors 

an appropriate punishment. There is no 

ever expressed an ability or willingness to 

cons t dence or the judge's instructions concern 

extenuation and mitigation, and trial defense counsel certain 

d nothing to address it. 

Ser rst Class  also misinterpreted the 

of ilitation. To him, rehabilitation meant life without 

par e. (R. at 1134.) Later, SFC  mentioned provocation 

and mental condition in the context of life without parole. (R. 

had a severely limited understanding of the 

of litation, coupled with a mindset that 
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mitigation is not important if appellant took a life. Thus, SFC 

 had an impermissibly inelastic opinion on sentencing. In 

a capital case, SFC  cannot be seated, yet defense counsel 

not only inexplicably failed to further explore these sues, 

there was no challenge of any type. 

SFC  so in rmed the trial defense counsel that he 

suffe from a sleeping problem: 

DC: And you related that that started about 
the time of the first Gulf War when you came 
back. What I'd Ii to know is, is that 
trauma related to trauma or stress from 
participating that, or did you just get 

the habit of not ting a lot of sleep? 

SFC D: I don't know what 's from, sir. 

DC: So you don't feel that you wake up 
because you were under stress or trauma? 

SFC D: Well, being the milit is 

stressful. 


DC: That's very true. So you think it may 

just be related to the day-to-day life 

stress? 


SFC 0: Yes, sir. 


DC: But you that you're able to 

function and get by on 3 to 4 hours of 

sleep? 


SFC 0: Yes, sir. 

(R. at 1132.) 

rst, t al de se counsel t ed to explain away what 

appears to be a panel member who could not answer whether or not 
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his dramatically d sleeping habits resulted from f War-

related trauma. trial defense counsel's duty was to 

conduct an examination which uncovered whether or not SFC  

truly did suf r mental health issues that may have cal 

into question his fitness to sit on the panel. Instead, t 

defense counsel to rehabilitate SFC  Id. But 

most observers in court room would view a panel member who, 

when asked without , could not state whether his 

sleeping habits were to trauma. 

Many additional stions should have been asked by t al 

defense counsel. Has SFC  received any psychiat 

counseling? How did s trauma affect SFC  other 

severely alter s s habits for years? How sympathetic 

would he be to someone also claiming sleep related problems and 

the possible mental issues related to them? 

In any event, most the public would view SFC  as 

caring little for se once it was determined that 

appellant was the one who committed the murders and he was not 

"provoked" or had a al condition." (R. at 1135.) 

Furthermore, a member of the public would view SFC  as 

someone wrestling with s own demons and who should not be 

allowed to sit as a r. 

What was even more about trial defense counsel's 

conduct is that they opportunity to excuse SFC  
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automati ly given that he was a member of appellant's company 

sized unit. (R. at 1178.) Instead, they chose to waive s 

protection. 

Defense Counsel's Failure to 
 

When asked under what circumstances he would consider 

death, MAJ  responded, "I'm s ng, Ii - my 

formula is if one person s, then that the means that that 

person [who committed the act] should die also." (R. at 991.) 

Major  response indicat that MAJ  had a 

formula: if you kill someone, then you die too. Trial de e 

counsel's reaction to that response indicated that e her the 

fense team had no issues with the response or they did not 

hear or underst the re e. In any event, asking MAJ 

 if he could in fact consider death penalty did 

nothing to address the magnitude of his "eye for an eye" 

formula. 

In a ital mu r trial, MAJ  response should 

have raised red flags with trial defense counsel that MAJ 

 had an lastic attitude towards sentencing. Even if 

Major  meant something else, or may have been confused 

by an inartful stion, trial de counsel failed to ask 

questions to get at the meaning of MAJ  ent. 

However, the ain meaning of his ken wo indicate that MAJ 
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 believed in balancing the scales: a life for a life. 

At the very least, these issues required extens exploration. 

Major  should not have served on appellant's panel, and 

no tacti reason exists for his inclusion. 

In addition to MAJ  bias on sentencing, MAJ 

 exhibit a level of rsonal feeling about the case: 

I felt pretty upset over what happened. I 
felt for family members and soldiers 
that were over there. And I reali 
well, I was over there in 2002. So I kind 
of knew where that area was. And it was 
depressing. 

(R. at 993.) 

The that MAJ  had just been "over there" a 

year earlier is not fully fleshed out, nor is it addressed as to 

why it was "depressing" him. However, most in the room 

would assume or consider that MAJ  had been impacted by 

and had some personal emotional connection to this case by 

virtue of being at or near the area where the incident occurred, 

or perhaps by virtue of an "it could have en me" thought 

process. At any rate, a panel member who labels the case before 

any dence is sent as leaving him depressed is not a 

panel member most would believe could fairly s on the case and 

evaluate it with an open mind. Trial fense couns should 

have inquired into what, if any, personal ties or emotions MAJ 

 had with appellant's case. 
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Defense Counsel's Failure to Challenge Sergeant First Class 
(SFC)  

Sergeant First Class  indicated both in 

general and individual voir dire that he had expressed an 

opinion on appellant's guilt: 

MJ: In general voir dire, did you indicate 
that you had previously expressed an opinion 
on guilt or innocence of Sergeant Akbar? 

SFC 	 C: Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	 Can you relate what it was? 

SFC C: Yes, sir. When it was in the news 
and first came out - my wife and I are in 
the military. As weeks went by, from what 
we've known out of the news, I had said, "It 
sounds like guilty." 

(R. 	 at 1138.) 

The military judge then attempted to rehabilitate SFC 

 

MJ: Have you followed the case since it made 

the news in 2003? 


SFC C: Yes, sir. Pretty much. 


MJ: Do you still maintain that position? 


SFC C: No, sir. 


MJ: Can you set aside anything that you may 

have learned and decide the case only on 
this evidence? 

SFC C: Yes, sir. 

(Id. ) 

Trial defense counsel inquired further: 

97 




DC: You indicated that you initially said 
upon the press reports that you saw, 

you said to your wife, "Looks like he must 
ilty?" 

SFC C: Yes, sir. 

DC: And you said your opinion had changed? 

SFC C: My opinion, sir, is based on news 
s that I do not completely, 100 

rcent believe. 

DC: Okay. 

SFC C: It was - and I'm saying it now 
se I just want that put out. It was 

on what I've seen - the input that I'd 
en. Has it changed? Well, sir, now I'm 

goi to get the facts. This was based on 
t news report that I don't believe is 100 

at all times. 

(R. at 1157.) 

Thus, upon media reports, SFC  Ii 

appellant Ity but stated he would suspend further j 

until present with the facts. Sergeant First Class  

was clearly anning on weighing the evidence that he had seen 

in the a what he expected to receive at t While 

appellant is not entitled to a blank slate, he certainly 

deserves a member who has not received enough rmation 

to come to a conclusion about his guilt or innocence. 

No tactical explanation exists for trial defense counsel's 

failure to 1 SFC  Sergeant First Class 

 tt that he had formed an opinion that llant 
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was guilty-but would, if a compelling case was made, change that 

conclusion. 

Sergeant First Class  clearly had formed an opinion 

that appellant was guilty. Se ant rst Class  would 

change that opinion-if appellant could prove his innocence. 

There is no reasonable explanation for defense counsel's failure 

to challenge this member, and therefore, de se counsel were 

ineffective failing to do so. 

 

Lieutenant Colonel  stated a clear bias 

against mental health professionals during questioning by the 

t al counsel: 

TC: Sir, the fact that your fat r's a 
practicing psychothe st, would that cause 
you to have a greater belief in that as a 
science, the science of psychotherapy? 

LTC A: Quite possibly the opposite. Growing 
up in that environment was, at times, trying 
as a kid. We'd have take disturbi phone 
calls from some patients, and I got tired of 
it real quick. 

TC: But, as a science, to - in t event­
say we had expert witnesses testify from the 
witness stand who were psychologists or 
psychiatrists, would you g that testimony 
any more weight than any other witness? 

LTC A: No, probably not. 

(R. at 971.) 
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Lieutenant Colonel  clearly indicated that the 

fact that his experience as a child of a psychotherapist would 

lead him to have a reduced belief in the science of 

psychotherapy and give less weight to the testimony of 

psychologists and psychiatrists. Given the crucial role of 

mental health evidence and testimony In appellant's mitigation 

case, because LTC  had such a low opinion of that 

evidence, the evidence was sure to fallon deaf ears. 

Again, trial defense counsel missed the issue. The focus 

of defense voir dire was on the ability of LTC  to 

consider mental illness that "could impact maybe an appropriate 

punishment for their crime." (R. at 979.) This is certainly a 

necessary area of inquiry, but the issue was not the ability of 

LTC  to consider mental illness as extenuation, but 

rather the prejudice LTC  exhibited against 

psychotherapy as a science. Lieutenant Colonel  low 

opinion of psychotherapy left appellant with a panel member who 

was biased against the only significant defense evidence 

offered, Dr. George Woods. There can be no reasonable tactical 

or strategic reason for not challenging this member. 

Defense Counsel's Failure to Challenge Lieutenant Colonel (LTC) 
 

Lieutenant Colonel  indicated she had experience 

with family mental health issues (specifically depression) : 
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TC: Now, ma'am, regard t area of 
psychiatry, has a at ,a close friend, 
or even yourself ever examined for a 
psychiatric condition or a mental condition? 

LTC L: Yes. My step r had depression 
and committed suicide. My - I think my 
mother - no. I'm not sure about my mother. 
My sister I know was with 
depression and is on some of medication 

r that. 

TC: Okay. Your stepfather's suicide, was 
the depression dis before or after? 

LTC L: Before. 

TC: Before? 

LTC L: Uhm-hmm [nodding to the 
affirmative] . 

TC: Had it been a longst depression or 
something of short durat 

LTC L: Probably like 3 to 5 years I think. 

TC: And was he actually r psychiatric 
care at the time suicide? 

LTC L: Uhm-hmm [nodding to the 
af rmative] . 

TC: Do you know - the agnosis, was it 
depression; or was ssion a symptom of 
another diagnosis? 

LTC L: I'm pretty sure that the diagnosis 
was depression. 

(R. at 9 .) 

She then informed the court that she had done her own 

personal research into depression had garnered some 

individuali and specialized knowl in this area: 
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DC: And, in the course of having family 
members with this mental illness, did you do 
any research yourself into ---­

LTC L: Uhm-hrnrn [nodding head to the 
affirmative ] . 

DC: depression? 

LTC L: A little bit, yeah. 

DC: In that case, given that you may have 
developed some specializ knowledge, could 
you agree to set that aside in this court­
martial and, if there is mental health 
testimony, just listen to what t say and 
evaluate what they say without rd to 
anything you've read ln past? 

LTC L: That wou be kind of hard because I 
thought we were suppos to use our own 
values and judgments? 

DC: If you did have any speci ized 
knowl or any points that you seem to 
remember from something, would you agree to 
not try to fluence the other members with 
that? 

LTC L: I suppose it depends on the amount of 
information that we get from the if 
there's enough of , then I can do that. 

(R. at 964, 965.) 

Although LTC  eventually indicated that, with enough 

evidence, she would put her personal knowledge aside, it it can 

in no way remove the ta of implied bias of a panel member who 

has expressed such reluctance to do so. No tactical reason 

exists to retain this panel member. Additionally, LTC  
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refusal to disavow using her individuali knowledge to 

influence the other panel members should she deem necessary 

is an indication of actual bias towards her own personal 

knowl of mental health issues over the testimony of any 

experts called at trial. 

Defense Counsel's Lieutenant Colonel 

Lieutenant Colonel  testifi that he was appellant's 

deputy brigade commander from approximately 15 July 2004 until 

17 December 2004. (R. at 882.) This, standing alone, should 

have triggered increased scrutiny on the part of trial defense 

counsel. Additionally, LTC  indicated that he had seen 

"1 1 briefs" rtaining to appellant's case. (R. at 883, 884, 

8 .) Tr defense counsel fail to further inquire into the 

nature of these va ous briefings. 

Lieutenant Colonel  testifi that he "could not 

recall any specific ails or charges" and that the legal 

br fs merely contained a "matrix of pending cases" th which 

the brigade commander was briefed. (R. at 883.) eutenant 

 did remember that re was information concerning 

"a ring, or whatever, motions or whatever." Id. He also 

testified about learning about an "a rcation" occurred at 

a previous session, ostensibly tween appellant and the guards. 

(R. at 893.) 
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Vo iled to establish how much LTC  knew about 

appel 's case, how much of that knowledge his 

off pos ion and through official channels, and who 

him t rmation. What we do know is that LTC  was the 

second command of appellant's brigade. He sat on legal 

brie about appellant's case. He learned of an a 

involvi llant and his guards. He told the court he was 

potent impartial in the case (his own words) . (R. at 892.) 

Someone who has been briefed or attended br on a ar 

basis the very case upon which he eventually s s as a 

panel c s out for a challenge for cause. itano, 

53 M.J. at 167. Given LTC  testimony, there can no 

tact 1 or strategic reason to leave him on the 1. 

De Counsel's Failure to Chall Lieutenant Co 
 

The attack for which appellant was charged a 

101st Airborne Division (Air Assault) . (R. at 

Charge et.) Lieutenant Colonel  who s on 

appellant's court-martial panel, was the brother of 

commander of the 101st Airborne Division. (R. at 910.) 

enant Colonel  claimed he did not talk th his 

brot r the case and was not in any way 

While s might remove actual bias as a concern, does not 

al ate bias. A member of the public watch the 
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trial would be hi y concerned LTC  would feel a 

nship with his brother, and men and women under his 

brother's command. al defense counsel did not address the 

issue at all. 

Additionally, during his t at the Pentagon in 2003, LTC 

 dealt with correspondence ng in from the 

Congressional Legislative Liaison. (R. at 918.) eutenant 

onel  letters that contained information about 

llant and appellant's alleged Id. Lieutenant 

Colonel  learned details about this case and incidents 

surrounding it through official and non-official channels, and 

t al defense counsel failed to ly question him, let 

a exercise a llenge of LTC  

During voir dire, the following exchange occurred between 

counsel and LTC  

DC: Sir, on your questionnaire, you 
indicat a view regarding Muslim 
religion. Can you expla your views of 
Muslim igion in a I more detail 
me? 

LTC G: Well, some things I with it and 
some things I don't with it. I'd s 
- all I can say - I think I mentioned it's a 
passionate religions. with a passionate 
religion, sometimes you can't think clearly 
and you take certain that are sel 
- for your own selfish p sures, self-
desire of the good of the man. It 
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seems to be a rna religion. It 
seems to be - like a institutional 
religions. They the way they 
want to interpret cert things for their 
own self-interests. 

(R. at 944.) 

eutenant  viewed llant's faith as "selfish" 

and sionate" and not aimed at " good of the man." 

Although LTC  claimed would not allow his 

of Islam to affect his ability to rema impartial, this did not 

suff ly address actual bias. (R. at 945.) In any event, 

members of the public would bel ve LTC  has a animus 

toward llant's religion and a lief that faith (although 

not Islamic faith) would provide a bulwark to crime, de 

a se ous mental disease or defect. 

When a panel member responds to a question about an 

appellant's religion as "passionate" and "selfish," follow-up 

questions are absolutely necess What do you mean by 

passionate? What do you mean by selfish? None of these 

questions were asked. The sur level, minimal approach to 

vo exemplified by the examination of LTC  by 

trial se counsel permeated the entire voir dire process at 

t al by defense. A member of the panel had a clear bias 

towards slam. 

tionally, LTC  was overly concerned with future 

dangerousness: 
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TC: Sir, what would be important to you in 
making the decision of whether arson 

uld receive punishment of life in 
prison without the possibility of parole or 
the penalty? 

LTC G: I think it the difference may be 
danger to society, whether this person is 
still a danger even though he may be 
prison. He may be - society may not feel 
that there was just punishment. Maybe 
society believes that he should have got 
death penalty for whatever reason, but maybe 
life without parole is a lesser sentence. 

(R. 	 at 942.) 

Lieutenant Co I  imary consideration in 

ermining an appropriate sentence is whether the person is 

still a danger to society. This is particula significant 

because he was aware of a "scuffle," where appellant allegedly 

assaulted and ured a military police officer with scissors. 

(R. at 947; App. Ex. 179.) 

The fense counsel failed to connect LTC  

statement of the importance of future dangerousness with LTC 

 knowledge that appellant stabbed a military police 

officer. There can be no reasonable tactical or strategic 

explanation for not further inquiring into this and not 

challenging LTC  

Lieutenant Colonel  also testified that his older 

sister had a serious mental illness: 

TC: Now, sir, regarding the area of 
psychiatry, I t nk you indicated that 
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someone in your family has diagnosed 
with a disorder? 

LTC G: Yes. 

TC: Sir, could you tell us that 
di is was? 

LTC G: Yes. I have an sister - my 
sister,  she's age 49 now. 

About 15 years ago - well, when was 13, 
she a brain tumor . doctors call 
it c Brain Disease, and '11 get 
progressively worse. She sn't - she has 
p ems doing sometimes s things, 
focusing on things. She doesn't she has 
good ys and bad days. She's up and down. 

1 s by herself now. sn't live 
in a home, but people have to watch her so 
she sn't do things like the stove 
on start a fire; stuff that. 

TC: Has this illness caused her to run afoul 
of in any way and unable to conform 
her conduct? 

LTC G: Not really. She has a strong 
consc nce. She knows right wrong. She 
had a she's taken on religious ith. She 
tri to go to college classes to improve 
herself. 

(R. at 936.) 

The fact LTC  had close, ly experience 

with mental issues should have led se counsel to 

inquire what c lized knowledge LTC 

because of his sister's condition, and if could put that 

knowledge out of s mind and look only at evidence in the 

case. Certainly, given some of the similar issues with several 

of the other 1 members, this should not surprised the 
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defense. rding 0 brain disease, LTC  believed 

that r strong conscience and religious faith kept his sister 

out of trouble. 

To members of the public watching this trial, LTC 

 re would suggest that LTC  would not 

consider a mental disease or defect as either an excuse or as 

mitigat for criminal conduct. Lieutenant Co 1  

sister had organic brain disease, but he ieved her st 

conscience, igious , and knowledge of right wrong 

kept her out of trouble. Thus, the public could likely in 

that LTC  would at very least highly skeptical of 

any claim that appellant was not cr nally respons (in 

whole or in part) because he suf red from serious mental health 

issues, nor that appellant's mental health would in any way 

mitigate his possible sentence. can be no reasonable 

tactical or strat ic explanation for not r inquiring into 

this bias and for not challenging LTC  

Command Sergeant Major  showed a lack of 

understanding of the sic concepts of reasonab doubt and 

sentencing: 

TC: How do you 1 about Ii in prison 
without the possibility of parole as a 
sentence r an intentional, deliberate, and 
premeditated murder? 
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CSM H: As oppos to the death y, life 
without parole, sir, is - it's warranted if 
they - all of cts aren't there if 
like what was mentioned yesterday, you've 
got pieces of the puzzle and there's some 
pieces missing. You know, if you can't 
place all of the pieces together, then I 
would look at life without parole but you 
can still see the picture. 

(R. at 1066.) 

TC: Sergeant Major, have you ever had 
occasion to discuss the death penalty with 
members of your ly, or friends, or other 
soldiers? 

CSM H: My wife I have discus it, sir. 

TC: And how did that discussion go? 

CSM H: My wife is opposed to it, I told 
her I'm for it in certain circumstances. If 
all facts are , then, yes, that should 
warrant; if the s are not proven 
totally, then it wouldn't warrant the death 
penalty, sir. 

(R. at 1067.) 

Command Sergeant Major  believed life without 

parole was a valid puni when you do not have "all of the 

pieces" on the merits. This seriously cal into question 

whether he understood the yond reasonable doubt standard. 

Later, he asserted that he was for the de lty when the 

facts are proven, but something short of death if the facts 

are not proven. His understanding of the reasonable doubt 

standa was not further arified. The lack of a fuller 
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tioning of CSM is indicative of lack of deep 

1 case, a higher 

st rd of diligence scrutiny is requi 

Defense counsel at a minimum should further inquired 

tioning of any panel members. In a 

o CSM  understanding of reasonable doubt, and 

a fied what CSM  meant by saying if did not have 

"all of the pieces" he would vote guilty, ameliorate that by 

voting for a sentence of life without pa e. 

A plain reading of his responses can only lead to the 

lief that CSM  would vote for guilt even if there was 

dence missing, and perhaps more importantly, that if all the 

eces were there, then death is the only ate sentence. 

s demanded further oration. Without such exploration, 

re is no reasonable anation for de e counsel's failure 

to challenge this member. 

Those 

Several of the 1 members were aware that appellant had 

stabbed a military police officer prior to trial. Colonel  

16 Defense counsel made a motion in limine, ting a ruling 
from the court that trial counsel may not present evidence of 
the alleged assault as uncharged misconduct. (R. at 947, App. 
Ex. 179.) The milit judge granted the motion, finding, in 
part that "the marginal ive value of such evidence, 
of in a capital sent ng case, is substantially 
outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." (R. at 2685.) 
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had heard of a "scuffle with an MP." (R. at 868.) Co 1 

 knew an assault occurred with a r of scissors. (R. 

at 879.) Lieutenant Colonel  heard an "altercation." 

(R. at 892.) Lieutenant Colonel  about a "scuffle." 

(R. at 917.) Lieutenant Colonel  " re was a 

scuffle, some other things." (R. at 947.) Command Sergeant 

Major  heard that there was an incident while llant 

was moved from "point A to point E" and that "one of guards 

was stabbed in the neck." (R. at 1042.) Command S ant Major 

 wife told him about "some type of fight 

Sergeant Akbar and some guards." (R. at 1042.) Command 

Sergeant Major  learned that appellant "overtook one 

the guards and injured himself and one of the guards." (R. at 

1073.) Master Sergeant  heard appellant "ove a 

guard." (R. at 1117.) Sergeant First Class 

radio about "an altercation between Sergeant Akbar the MPs. 

I turned it off, but I heard most of it." (R. at 1157.) 

Ten out of the fifteen panel members were aware of 

misconduct that the military judge had ruled inadmiss e. 

ng these members unchallenged had the e ct of se 

couns rendering their own motion in limine inef ct There 

was no reasonable explanation for defense counsel's ilure to 

challenge these members. 
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Not Challenging Those Members 

A. Deficient Performance 

Upon hearing of the attack, COL  stated he felt "Shock 

or sbel f. I cou hardly conceive of that." (R. at 881.) 

eutenant Colonel  stated "Honestly, I was hurt, and really 

disappointed, and a little embarrassed." (R. at 906.) 

said when she first heard the news 

that s "was pretty shocked that someone could do that to their 

fellow sol ers." (R. at 966.) Major  found t news 

"depressing." (R. at 993.) Command Sergeant Major  

expressed "shock and disbelief" at the news. It was "a deep 

stab; pr rily when was announced that was a Sergeant. 

My being a Command Sergeant Major, that took quite a deep stab 

there." (R. at 1031.) These are all deeply rsonal reactions. 

Members on a death Ity panel cannot have such deeply 

rsonal reactions. These panel members have clearly 

internalized t attack. Anyone watching t s tr 1 wou see a 

panel "shocked," "embarrassed," "disappoint " and "stabbed" by 

what y believe to be the acts of appellant. They would see 

those same panel members victimized from the events now expected 

to fair and dis sionately sit in judgment of the alleged 

attacker. No one viewing such a panel would believe it to be 
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unbiased. Yet, the trial defense counsel did nothing to address 

this s. 17 

B. Prejudice 

Everyone on the panel knew the background of this case. 

(R. at 814.) With the various problems of actual and implied 

bias that touched every single member of the panel, appellant 

could not receive a r trial. It was incumbent upon trial 

defense counsel to examine and address the panel member's 

knowledge of the case and the rumors surrounding the case. 

The panel in this case was fatally flawed. An appellant 

facing death must have a panel free of bias and of personal 

knowledge and opinion about the case. Appellant did not receive 

such a panel because appellant's trial de e counsel did not 

conduct the voir re necessary to produce such a panel. 

Because the presence of even one bias panel member is 

structural error, llant is ent led to a rehearing on 

findings and sentence. Hale, 227 F.3d at 1319, Johnson v. 

Armontrout, 961 F.2d at 755. 

17 The only de se challenge, Major , was removed for 
impli bias because he had seen the events Uni States v. 
Kreutzer. (R. at 1174.) This was explic ly because of 
personal ties he to that case. (R. at 1175.) There is no 

fference here. Several if not all of these members should 
have challenged in order to ensure that llant was given 
the fair and impartial panel that he must receive under the law, 
and was plain error not to do so. 
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WHEREFORE, this Court should remand this case for a new 

tr 

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel on the Merits 

D. 	 SERGEANT AKBAR RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF 

COUNSEL DURING THE MERITS STAGE OF HIS COURT-MARTIAL 

WHEN HIS TRIAL DEFENSE COUNSEL CONCEDED GUILT TO ALL 

THE ELEMENTS OF A CAPITAL OFFENSE, IN VIOLATION OF 

ARTICLE 45(b), UNIFORM CODE OF MILITARY JUSTICE, 10 

U.S.C. § 845(b) (2002), AND DEVISED A TRIAL STRATEGY 
THAT WAS UNREASONABLE AND PREJUDICIAL. 

Akbar's trial e counsel were ineffective in 

their sentation of S Akbar during the merits phase 

of his court-martial because they (1) conceded to all 

elements of capital murder, violation of script ions of 

Art e 45(b), UCMJ; 10 U.S.C. § 845(b) (2002); (2) devised an 

unreasonab trial strat t consisted of tting to all 

the elements of capital ri and (3) present by defense 

witnesses, of premeditation. 

Trial Defense Counsel Violated McFarlane Guilt to 

llant's trial counsel were inef ive when, 

during argument and in the sentation of evidence, t 

conceded guilt to all the elements of a capital of e. "A 

plea of Ity by the accus may not be received to charge 

or fication alleging an of e for which the death penalty 

may udged." Art Ie 45(b), UCMJi 10 U.S.C. § 

845(b) (2002). See also R.C.M. 910(a) (1), Manual for Courts­
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Martial, United States, 1995. Furthermore, though a plea of 

guilty on its may not appear to constitute a guilty plea to 

a capital offense, t underlying intent or spirit of Artic 

45, UCMJ, can be violated when the sum of an accused's s of 

guilty amount to a plea of guilty to a capital offense. Uni 

States v. McFarlane, 23 C.M.R. 320 (C. M.A. 1957). See also 

Unit States v. Dock, 26 M.J. 620, 2 (A.C.M.R. 1988), aff'd, 

28 M.J. 117 (C.M.A. 1989). Therefore, is not just the pleas 

which are cons when examining a case for a violation of 

Arti 45(b), "but the 'four corners' of t record to see if, 

'for all practical purposes,' the accus pled guilty to a 

capit offense." Dock, 26 M.J. at 622 (quoting United States 

v. McFarlane, 23 C.M.R. 320 (C.M.A. 1957)). 

In United States v. McFarlane, 23 C.M.R. 320 (C.M.A. 1957), 

the then Court of Military Appeals was faced with a "strategy" 

s lar to one employed by appellant's counsel. In 

McFarlane, the accused was charged with felony murder and 

ass t with ent to commit murder. He guilty to the 

assault, but he pled not guilty to the murder. At the request 

of the fense counsel in that case, the court-martial was 

instructed that under Article 45, UCMJ, the accused was 

precluded from pleading gui y to the murder. At trial, defense 

counsel, by failing to contest the government's case and by 
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waiving argument, in essence, conceded guilt. The Court of 

Military Appeals stated that, 

[U]ndoubtedly defending counsel should be 
afforded the fullest opportunity to plan and 
develop the tactics they will employ in 
their defense of one accused of a criminal 
offense. However, they cannot close their 
eyes to reality and adopt a method which 
clashes head-on with a mandate of the 
Uniform Code of Military Justice. 
Viewed from any reasonable vantage point, 
the means employed by counsel in this case 
were a direct violation of [Article 45, 
U.C.M.J.]. True. . the record reflects 
the words not guilty were uttered by the 
accused, but in the record we can 
figuratively see defense counsel shaking his 
head and saying, "no, it isn't so." This 
just happens to be one of those occasions 
where the old rule that actions speak louder 
than words can be applied appropriately. 

McFarlane, 23 C.M.R. at 323. 

In United States v. Dock, this Court found the "defense's 

argument based on McFarlane . dispositive." 26 M.J. at 623. 

This Court set aside the findings and sentence in that capital 

court-martial where the appellant's pleas "taken in the context 

of [that] case, constituted a plea of guilty" to a capital 

offense. Id. When the Court of Military Appeals upheld this 

Court's decision in that case, the higher court found that the 

government could have rested its case and proved capital felony 

murder based solely on the accused's pleas to two lesser 

noncapital offenses. United States v. Dock, 28 M.J. 117, 118-19 

(C.M.A. 1989). 
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In that case, through his pleas and the statements made 

during the providence inqui , Dock admitted to murdering s 

victim by stabbing him with a Dock also admitt t 

by means of force and olence, he stole a wallet from the 

ctim. There was no evi that the force and violence 

was other than the act of sonally stabbing the victim with a 

kni This Court held t 

[The] appellant's pleas, taken within the 
context of this case,18 constitute a plea of 
guilty to felony murder, a capital offense. 
As such they were taken in violation of 
Article 45(b) . and should have been 
rejected [by the mili judge] as required 
by Article 45(a), U.C.M.J. 

Dock, 26 M.J. at 623. 

Both McFarlane and Dock stand for the proposition that 

is not just the pleas which are looked to but the "four corners" 

of the record to see if, " all practical purposes," the 

appellant pled guilty to a tal offense. Although Dock did 

not reach the issue of assistance of counsel, both 

McFarlane and Dock make clear pleading a client guilty to a 

capital offense is inef assistance of counsel. 

In this case, Sergeant 's defense counsel, like the 

counsel in McFarlane, had his cl utter the words "not 

18 This Court also considered statements made by the t I 
defense counsel during argument determining whether the 
appellant's pleas violated Article 45(b), UCMJ. Dock, 26 M.J. 
at 623. 
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guilty" to the s, yet effectively pleaded him guilty by 

ofadmitting all cts and elements necessary for a 

guilty to capital murder, to include aggravating under 

R.C.M. 1004 (c) (4) 1007 (c) (7) (J). Sergeant Akbar 

"not guilty to 1 s and their Specifications." (R. at 

617.) Although fense counsel initially made a motion r 

appropriate reI f sting a "curative instruction" 

would explain to panel the effects of Articles 18 and 45, 

U.C.M.J. and R.C.M. 201(f) (1) (C) and 910(a), they subs ly 

withdrew the st for the instruction. (R. at 139, Ex. 

35.)19 Contrary to the strictures of Article 45, UCMJ, the t al 

defense counsel guilt (a) by claiming, in their opening 

statement that llant could not premeditate; (b) soli ing 

testimony from the se expert witness that llant d 

19 Appellate Exh it 35, which was withdrawn, request that the 
panel receive following curative instruction: 

The court is sed that in a case which 
has been refe capital, such as this 
case, the accus is not allowed to enter a 
plea of guilty to an offense for which death 
is a poss Ie punishment. (Art. 45, UCMJ 
and R.C.M. 910(a)). Additionally, the law 
does not allow an accused to request to be 
tried by litary judge alone in a case 
which has en referred capital. Therefore, 
the accused must plead not guilty to any 
offense which Ives the possible 
punis 0 and he must choose to be 
tried by lit members. 
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1 premeditate; and (c) in their clos argument, conceded 

elements of premeditated murder. 

In Article 118 (c) (2) (a), UCMJ; 10 U.S.C. § 918 (c) (2) (a) 

(2002), premeditated murder is explained as: 

(3) Premeditation. A murder is not 
premeditated unless the thought of taking 
li was consciously conceived and the act 
or omission by which it was taken was 
intended. Premeditat murder is murder 
committed after the formation of a specif 
intent to kill someone and consideration of 
the act intended. It is not necessary that 
the intention to kill have been entertained 

any particular or considerable length of 
time. When a fixed purpose to 11 has been 
deliberately formed, it is immaterial how 
soon afterwards it is put into execution. 
The stence of premeditation may be 
inferred from the circumstances. 

Manual r Courts Martial, United States, Part IV, 

43c (2) (a), 2002. 

Premeditated murder requires proof of the element of a 

"premeditated desi to kill." Article 118(1}, UCMJ, Manual for 

Courts-Marti , United States, Part IV, para. 43b (19) (d). The 

phrase "premeditated design to 11" requires "cons ion of 

the act intended." Id. at ra. 43c(2) (a). This Court has 

cribed premeditated murder as a" lling committ 

after reflection by a cool mind." United States v. Viola, 26 

M.J. 822, 829 (A.C.M.R. 1988), citing 2 Wharton's Criminal Law § 

140 at 181 (C. Tortia, 14th ed. 1979), aff'd, 27 M.J. 456 (C.M.A. 

1988). Likewise, the Court of Military Appeals (now the CAAF) 
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adopted the "cool mind" distinction. See United States v. 

Hoskins, 36 M.J. 343, 346 (C.M.A. 1993). The Air Force Court of 

Military Review observed, "'Premeditation' is a term of art 

commonly employed universally understood in the law of 

homicide." Unit States v. Mansfield, 33 M.J. 972, 988 

(A.F.C.M.R. 1991), a 'd on other grounds, 38 M.J. 415 (C.M.A. 

1993), cert. deni 511 U.S. 1052 (1994). The CAAF has noted 

that "[tJhe words 'consideration of t act intended to bring 

about death' . have ordinary meanings and are readily 

understandable by court members." United States v. Teeter, 16 

M.J. 68, 72 (1983). See United States v. Loving, 41 M.J. 213, 

280 (C.A.A.F. 1994). 

In this case, t al defense counsel's concessions during 

opening statements, closing argument, and presentation of 

evidence were not only sufficient for a ction of 

premeditated murder but also the following aggravating factors: 

(1) that the murder was committed under rcumstances that t 

life of one or more sons other than t victim was unlawfully 

and substantially endangered; and (2) t t the accused has been 

found guilty in the same case of another tion of Arti 

118. R.C.M. 1004 (c) (4) and 1004 (c) (7) (J). Defense counsel was 

ineffective e they failed to meet t minimum pleading 

standards as ted by this court in Dock. Dock, 26 M.J. 

at 623. 
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Opening Statement 

During his opening statement, defense counsel agreed with 

the government's version of the facts, stating "what happened 

really isn't in dispute" and "the defense isn't here to contest 

what happened". (R. at 1211.) 

Yes. The facts will show that Sergeant 
Akbar threw those grenades. Yes. The facts 
will show that he shot and killed Captain 
Seifert. Those are the facts. That is what 
happened. But what happened is only half the 
story. Equally important in your quest for 
the truth is understanding why, because the 
elements of the offense, are pieces of the 
puzzle that you cannot leave out. 
Premeditation requires you to look inside 
Sergeant Akbar's mind and understand why. 

. Until you answer that question, until 
you know why, you cannot fairly pass 
judgment. The evidence in this case will 
show that the answer to that question lies 
in mental illness. 

(R. at 1212.) 

The defense described SGT Akbar's "poor duty performance," 

his "inability to retain information," and "sleep disturbance." 

(R. at 1218.) In setting the stage for the expert testimony 

expected at trial, the defense merely stated that "[Dr. Woods] 

will describe for you that because he is mentally ill, Sergeant 

Akbar has trouble thinking. He becomes extremely paranoid." 

(R. at 1218.) The defense never linked the mental illness with 

the inability to premeditate. The defense finished the opening 

statement by telling the panel, "The evidence will show that 
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when Akbar acted, it was out of desperation, , and 

confus " (R. at 1219.) The opening statement by e 

counsel in this case is nothing more than a concession by 

defense SGT Akbar was guilty of murder. 

Defense Evidence Presented 

Although t defense counsel told the panel that SGT 

could not ate because of mental illness, they 

evidence to t contrary. On the issue of premeditation, t 

defense testimony from three witnesses, all of whom 

stated t ir lief that SGT Akbar was able to make p 

Doctor Tuton, a Clinical Psychologist and a defense 

witness, eva SGT Akbar in 1996 (nine years be tal) 

when SGT r was fourteen years old, at the behest of the 

Child Protection Agency of Baton Rouge, Louisiana, se it 

was s that SGT Akbar lived in an abusive home. (R. at 

2013-17.) Doctor Tuton stated that his evaluation consist of 

"conducting an interview, and then a mental status ion 

and testing." (R. at 2020.) In describing what he 1 , Dr. 

Tuton s 

Well, I something very interesting. I 
that he scored within the average 
on his verbal skills and abilities; 

, in that, I saw that he was average in 
his p2anning abi2ity. He wou2d p2an out 
different socia2 situations. He had good 
judgment and reasoning ski22s. He was 
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average at that time. Then on the non­
verbal test, the performance tests, he 
scored within the very superior range. 

(R. at 2022-23.) (emphasis added) 

Doctor Tuton's testimony that SGT Akbar could and would 

plan out fferent social situations and that he has an average 

plann abil y stands in direct contrast to the se 

assertion during opening that SGT Akbar could not premeditate. 

Doctor Tuton added that SGT Akbar showed no signs of ychosis; 

he was depressed and had unmet dependency needs but he was 

cooperat the evaluation. (R. at 2025.) Doctor Tuton 

stated, "1 saw him as having an adjustment disorder with 

depressed mood associ with a mixed ific lopmental 

disorder." (R. at 2032.) Doctor Tuton's examination took place 

in 1986, when SGT Akbar was only fourteen, seventeen years 

be trial. (R. at 2014.) However, t al defense counsel 

presented no context for Dr. Tuton's testimony. Dr. Tuton only 

established that, when he was examined at the age een, SGT 

Akbar was not impai by mental illness and could premeditate. 

Mr. Paul A. Tupaz was SGT Akbar's roommate from 1991-1993, 

and testified about SGT Akbar's college s. (R. at 2070.) 

Mr. Tupaz testified that he and SGT Akbar were "close fends" 

and that SGT Akbar was "somebody 1 could depend on." (R. at 

2072.) When asked by fense counsel about SGT Akbar's ability 

to plan and to set goals, Mr. Tupaz ied that he time 
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tal ng to SGT Akbar about Is. They both had developed a 

goal "to establish ourselves f ially, to develop ours 

th business skills, and to someday aspire to develop some sort 

of foundation, a non-prof tion that would encourage 

minority students, at risk students from rural or urban areas to 

have access to college." (R. at 2073.) Mr. Tupaz testi 

t he and SGT Akbar spent a lot of time discussing these 

plans. Id. The se counsel asked whether "S 

Akbar [was] someone who made plans for near and short-term 

ectives?" Id. The answer was, "Yes." "He planned on 

a wife and having a ly ... he also - You know, 

planned his day. I'd seen him do a lot of planning and 

o izing . H Id. Again, t defense's own witness 

established that SGT Akbar the ability to plan. Again, 

trial defense counsel eli t testimony that SGT Akbar, at 

least by college age, was not red by mental illness and 

could premeditate. 

If Dr. Tuton and Mr. z did not do enough damage to 

lant, the trial defense counsel's next witness surely did. 

Doctor George W. Woods, a cl cal ychiatrist (R. at 2227-33), 

testified that he only appea in those few cases where his 

"findings are consistent with the goals of the attorneys." (R. 

at 2233.) Dr. Woods testifi ,"So what we have is someone that 

s symptoms of depression, s s ficant symptoms of paranoia 
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and cion." (R. at 2233-81.) When defense counsel 

as Dr. Woods for s diagnosis, Dr. Woods gave three 

possibilities, which in psychological terms is cal a 

dif ial agnosis. (R. at 2283.) Dr. Woods testifi 

[T]he diagnosis I felt most solid with is 
Schizot 1 Disorder . . The Schizotypal 
Personality Disorder is a dis that is 
manifested by unusual thinking; high levels 
of ranoia; a vulne lity to 

compensation under stress; psychomotor 
12 agitation. Schizotypal rsonalit s 
often are able to function pretty well in 
the world; but you real see, once again, 
this filter of paranoia that prevents them 
from being able to function as well as you 
would think. So that would my first 
diagnosis . That's an Axis II 
diagnosis . Axis II diagnoses are 
diagnoses of personality disorders. And 

sonality disorders are maladapt ways of 
ing in world that usually start around 

adolescence. 

(R. at 2288.) 

Dr. Woods testi ed that his strongest diagnosis was a 

personal y diso When asked how this transla to SGT 

Akbar's actions, Dr. Woods s , "I think those symptoms 

allowed him to be overwhelmed emotionally and to really not 

think as clear ,to not really understand, and just to be 

overwhelmed emotionally." (R. at 2292.) This is hardly the 

type of rt testimony that will allow a panel member to 

conclude that SGT Akbar could not premeditate due to severe 

mental illness. In fact, any reasonable person would conclude 
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the opposite Dr. Woods testimony directly contradicted any 

argument that SGT Akbar could not and did not premeditate on the 

night of the murders. 

Based on these three fense witnesses, the panel had no 

choice but to conclude SGT Akbar committed premeditated murder. 

Therefore, the fense effectively conceded every element of the 

capital offense. 

Closing Argument 

Finally, the de se sing argument conceded guilt to 

every element of premeditated murder. The fense counsel 

began, "I'm going to spend about the next 25 minutes explaining 

to you why the evidence in this case shows that Sergeant Akbar, 

because of mental illness, did not and could not premeditate." 

(R. at 2596.) However, the fense continued, "I think we all 

recognize that the st de sions we make are those we make with 

calm, deliberate reflection. We realize that emotions can cloud 

our judgment." (R. at 2597.) 

The defense correctly reminded panel of the military 

judge's instruction to them, that "an accused, because of some 

underlying mental disease, defect, impairment, condition, 

deficiency, character, or behavior disorder may mentally 

incapable of entertaining the premeditat design to 11." (R. 

at 2598.) Yet, they presented no evidence of such a mental 

impairment, much less d they explain how it was that SGT Akbar 
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was incapable of entertaining the premeditated design to kill. 

In , the trial defense counsel told the panel that "SGT 

had plans, plans that are consistent with what you saw in 

those diary entries." (R. at 2609.) Therefore, the de se 

that he was guilty of tated murder. 

In talking about SGT Akbar's actions the night of the 

rs, the defense argued that SGT Akbar planned poorly: 

At some point, he d the grenades. But 
what does he do? He s the canisters in 
the battery box. He s some of the 
packing debris outsi vehicle. The next 
shift could just as easily come in and 
looked in that battery box, and done an 
inventory. And had bothered to do 
that, they would've seen that the grenades 
were taken because y canisters are 
still in there. That's not good planning; 
that's just confusion. He knew that those 
soldiers were going to out and walk 
around the vehicle, there's the packing 
debris for the ng out there. 
Special Agent Massey you that packing 
debris is readily as coming 
from a grenade, and it was just laying 
there. That's not a ani that's just 
confusion. The government mentioned the 
fact that he brought radio back. 
There's more than one way to look at that 
because remember what happened with that 
radio. That was the radio that was used to 
callout there and find out t Sergeant 
Akbar was unaccounted It was the radio 
that was used when they cal out there to 
find out the grenades were ssing. Had they 
bothered to do that inventory, had they 
bothered to notice t ng debris on the 
ground, they could've us radio to 
call it in, to get help, to stop 
Sergeant Akbar. A good an would've been to 
take the radio. 
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(R. at 2609-10.) (emphasis added.) A not negate 

premeditation. In fact, a poor plan in fact 

had a plan and the defense t his plan on 

the night of the murders. The defense cont to the 

events and concede guilt. 

Yeah, Sergeant Akbar went to a class on 
grenades earlier that day. He lea about 
the blast radius and the t But it 
didn't do him any good, still got 
caught by the fragmentations from one of 
those grenades, and that trates 
his confusion. He didn't sense to 
get out of the way of one of the s, 
even though he'd had a class earlier that 
day. From there, he went across t 
compound, and he runs 0 ain  
He could've shot and kill ain 

 but he does nothing. What s 
Captain  do? Captain moves 
him over right here and la 
What's right there? door to 
unguarded. Sergeant Akbar has 
incendiary grenades and one f in 
his mask carrier. He's got a of 
ammunition, and he's 
to the TOC. If he's on 
to inflict maximum 
stopping him. He's right he 
stops, because he doesn't He 
stops, with a full clip s 
- and he stops. 

(R. at 2613-14.) 

The defense argued that SGT Akbar t murders 

but, because he did not kill as many could have, 

that somehow he had no plan. Yet, already conceded 

that he did have a plan, a poor se then 
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concluded: "Yes, he did some deliberate acts. He moved across 

the camp. He operated those grenades. He turned off the light 

generator. He fired his weapon." (R. at 2621.) The defense 

argument on findings is a concession that SGT Akbar acted 

deliberately to cause death and therefore is a concession to 

premeditated murder. 

Furthermore, not only did trial defense counsel concede 

guilt to all the ements of premeditated murder, but they did 

so with rega to two murders, thus admitting to both the 

R.C.M. 1004 aggravating factors at issue in this case: "that the 

accused s been found guilty in the same case of another 

violation of Article 118/1 and that the premeditated murder of 

CPT Sie and MAJ Stone "was committed in such a way or under 

circumstances that the life of one or more persons other than 

the victim was unlawfully and substantially endangered./l20 The 

appellant was udiced by the trial defense counsel's 

concession because it eliminated the panel members' need to 

deliberate and consider the government's evidence on either 

findings or sentence, and eliminated the need to deliberate on 

20 Rules for Courts-Martial 1004 (a) (4) (A) and 1004 (c) both 
require the members to , beyond a reasonable doubt, the 
aggravating factor reI by the government in order to 
secure the sentence of death. MANUAL FOR COURTS-MARTIAL, UNITED 
STATES, 1994 (emphasis added). Nei r the Rules r Courts-
Marti , nor the form Code of litary Justice, indicate that 
the military judge may permit an accused in a capital case to 
enter p of guilty to essent lly the aggravating factor 
relied upon by the government to secure a sentence of death. 
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the aggravating factor. In the context of this case, it was the 

difference between li without paro and a death sentence for 

SGT r. 

For all the reasons above, this court should that 

defense counsel was ive for conceding guilt his 

capital case. 

E. 	APPELLANT RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 
ON SENTENCING. 

Introduction 

Sergeant Hasan r was a Unit States Soldier ing a 

poss e sentence of death. His counsel spent less than one 

hour enting witnesses at sentencing-calling witnesses, 

no s, and no family members. presentation occupies 

thirty-eight pages of the record of trial. (R. at 3015-52, 

3073-4.) Any United States Soldier serves better than such 

minimal representation. 

Statement of Facts 

llant's sent ng case began on 27 April 2005 at 0900, 

and fifty-eight minutes later at 0958. (R. at 2005, 

3053.) During that fty-eight minute time frame, was a 

three-minute Arti 3 session (R. at 3027) and a seventeen-

minute comfort break. (R. at 3042.) al defense counsel 

spent t rty-eight minutes on presenting witnesses on 
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sentencing. Counsel called three witnesses. Captain (CPT) 

David Storch, appellant's platoon r at the time of the 

offenses, was called. (R. at 3015.) His testimony focused 

primarily on a few incidents of unusual behavior and an overall 

low level of effectiveness as a so er and non-commissioned 

officer. (R. at 3017-3023.) Underlying this evidence was 

testimony t a relief for cause report was not generated 

because unit "probably didn't have enough evidence to back 

up a relief for cause NCOER." (R. at 3024.) On cross­

examination, CPT Storch testified that he "never doubted" 

appellant's ment stability, and that he ieved he was 

profi ent in his specialty. Se First ass (SFC) 

Daniel Kumm, appellant's former squad leader testified that 

appel was a "subpar" soldier (R. at 3037), and some 

derogatory terms for Muslims and Iraqis were us within 

appellant's squad, but none were ed towards appellant. 

(R. 	 3038.) On cross, SFC Kumm concurred with CPT Storch t 

re was no reason to question appellant's mental stability. 

(R. 	 at 3040.) 

The final witness called by trial fense counsel was Mr. 

Daniel Duncan, appellant's rmer high school teacher. (R. at 

3046.) Mr. Duncan recall that appellant was a very good 

student, but that Mr. Duncan did not ract with appel 

outside of the assroom. (R. at 3047.) Other than the three­
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sentence unsworn statement from appellant (R. at 3074), that 

compris the fense mitigation case during sent ng. 

Trial defense counsel did not call any of appellant's 

family as witnesses, even though both appellant's mother and 

fat r attended the court-martial. (DAE LLi DA 424.) Counsel 

never discussed t poss ility of appellant's parent's 

testi ng on appellant's behalf. Id. In , appellant's 

parents did not realize they would not be called. Id. Any 

reasonable defense counsel, while not necessarily calling family 

members to testify, would in some way present the fact that 

appellant has a ly who cares enough to stand by him. The 

defense presented a few letters from some people tangentially 

involved in appellant's Ii (R. at De f. Ex. F, N, 0, P, U, V.); 

t se consisted mostly of his former high school teachers and 

peers who could attest to appellant's personality in vague terms 

when he was in high school. Appellant was almost universally 

scribed as intelligent, a loner, socially awkward, and rigid. 

Id. 1 expressed surprise that appellant would commit a 

cr nal act, and none expressed any real intimate or long-term 

contact with or knowledge of appellant. None kept up with 

appellant following high school. few remaining letters 

roduced by t de counsel were from friends or 

relat s who had more intimate contact with appellant. The 

only letter from someone who knew appellant around the t of 
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the offenses carne from SSG Cordell, a squad leader in 

appellant's platoon, who essentially described appellant as a 

sub-standard Soldier. (R. at Def. Ex. U.) The only evidence 

submitted from a family member was a letter from appellant's 

brother Musa Akbar. (R. at Def. Ex. H.) While it did contain 

some mitigating information about the poverty appellant 

suffered, as well as some of the positive contributions 

appellant gave to his family (Id.), this information was 

superficial and barely scratched the surface of describing 

appellant's childhood. (DAE LL; DA 413-517.) The most detailed 

letters carne from appellant's childhood Imam (R. at Def. Ex. W) 

and the ex-wife of his college roommate, Christine Irion. (R. 

at Def. Ex. T.) While each contained some helpful information 

about appellant's background, both were a mere glimpse into the 

life of appellant, recounting a few odd events which could 

easily be interpreted as peccadilloes - examples of mental 

illness. 

As is explained at pages 40-48 of this Brief, trial defense 

counsel did not call either Dr. Woods or any mitigation expert 

to testify at sentencing. (DAE AA; DA 229-36.) There were no 

discussions between trial defense counsel and Dr. Woods or the 

mitigation team about the possibility of testifying at 

sentencing. Id. As explained earlier, trial defense counsel 

recognized the importance of sentencing evidence in appellant's 
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case, and scussed various fense theories. (DAE DO; DA 265­

66. ) 

Eventually, trial defense counsel only submit mate Is 

sent in by Ms. Deborah Grey on March IS, 2005, at the behest of 

trial defense counsel. (R. at Def. Ex. C; see Appellant's Brief 

at 43.) 

al defense counsel presented an unexplained family tree, 

a four-page t line of appellant's life some notes, and a 

twenty-seven-page summation appellant's journal conta 

mostly quotes from the journal with some minor notes, all 

prepared by Ms. Grey. (R. at Def. Ex. C.) This was largely 

cumulative with the submission by trial defense counsel of 

appellant's entire journal. (R. at Def. Ex. A; see also AE I: 

F, claiming fense counsel were ineffect for tting 

appellant's entire diary without regard for the aggravating and 

prejudicial formation conta Included in 

documentation appellant's counsel rece from Ms. Grey were 

fifty- pages of social history, twenty-seven pages of 

"cumulative records", a seven-page so al history summary. 

(DAE EE, FF, JJ; DA 267-330, 380-407.) Again, as explai 

earlier, none of this information was presented at t 1, and 

most does appear to present in trial fense counsel's files. 

Ms. Grey's analysis was not prepared presentation to the 

court and Ms. Grey advis counsel that much of this information 
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needed to be shaped for stability fore it was presented to a 

jury. (DAE X; DA 210-15.) For some reason, trial defense 

counsel submitted a damaging FBI Report as well. (See 

Appellant's B f at 41-42.) 

Patr k McClain and Peggy Hoffman, lian attorneys, 

submi appellant's clemency appl ion under R.C.M. 1105 

(hereinafter 1105 Submission). (R. at 1105 Submission.) In 

those matters, appellant asse that: 1) inadequate counsel at 

trial; 2) appellant's inability to assist in s own de e due 

to lack of competency; 3) errors by the military judge. Id. 

Ms. Hoffman provi a rough, six-page social history of 

appellant which still was more comprehensive than anything 

sented at appellant's court-martial. Id. at 8-13. 

Additionally, appellant attached letters from s een family 

members and friends incl ng his mother, father, sibl 

grandfather and six ly fri , as well as from an Imam. 

Id. at 14. None of these ly members were led at tal. 

llant's mother wrote an impassioned plea for mercy. Id. at 

15. Appellant's father's letter, while short, also pled for 

mercy. Id. at 33. The letters from his other family members 

and people who knew him all cited appellant's peace and 

loving nature. 
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Argument 

Deficient Perfor.mance: 

"It is the duty of the lawyer to conduct a prompt 

investigation of the circumstances of the case and to explore 

all avenues leading to facts relevant to the merits of the case 

and the penalty in the event of conviction." Rompilla v. Beard, 

545 u.s. 374, 387 (2005) (quoting 1 ABA Standards for Criminal 

Justice 4-4.1 (2d ed. 1982 Supp.)). This duty outlined by the 

Supreme Court is the fundamental underpinning of capital trial 

practice, particularly when the stakes are so absolute, the life 

or death of a Soldier. (See supra at, pp. 15-20, 24-36, for a 

discussion of the standard for ineffective assistance of counsel 

and the ABA standards.) 

The Tenth Circuit has repeatedly recognized the importance 

of an adequate life history investigation. "The sentencing 

stage is the most critical phase of a death penalty case. Any 

competent counsel knows the importance of thoroughly 

investigating and presenting mitigating evidence." Romano v. 

Gibson, 239 F.3d 1156, 1180 (10th Cir. 2001). To perform 

adequately in a capital case, defense counsel must undertake "to 

discover all reasonably available mitigating evidence and 

evidence to rebut any aggravating evidence that may be 

introduced by the prosecutor." Anderson v. Sirmons, 476 F.3d at 

1142 (internal quotations omitted) (emphasis in original). This 
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duty to tigate lS particularly weighty and bro in a 

capital case, where counsel's "duty to invest e all 

reasonable lines of defense is strictly erved." Williamson v. 

Ward, 110 F.3d 1508, 1514 (10th Cir. 1997). 

As noted earl r: 

ABA Guidel s provide that 
investigations into mitigat evidence 
"should comprise efforts to discover all 
reasonably available mitigating and 
evidence to rebut aggravating evidence 
that may be introduced by the prosecutor." 
ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and 
Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty 
Cases 11.4.1(C), p 93 (1989) (emphasis 
added). Despite these well-defined norms, 
however, counsel abandoned the 
investigation of petitioner's background 
a er having acquired only rudimentary 
knowledge of his history from a narrow set 
of sources. 

Wiggins v. th, 539 U.S. 510, 524 (2003). 

In appellant's case, as in Wi s, trial de e counsel 

t "abandoned" their investigation, particularly the 

mitigation aspect, after having acquired only a "rudimentary" 

understanding of llant's s al history. Ms. Grey and Ms. 

Holdman agreed that there was still much to do in the mitigation 

investi ion of appel (App. Ex. 132, DAE X; DA 210-15.) 

Dr. Woods, after ing appris of the nature and quantity 

mitigation dence he was not given, changed his sis and 

cited cifically family mental health history as a 

particular area he was not apprised of be trial. (DAE C; DA 
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5-6.) This was the very same material that Ms. Holdman 

identified as existing in the files that never made it to 

defense counsel. (DAE G; DA 15-21.) The appellate mitigation 

specialist, Ms. Lori James-Townes, has also characterized the 

mitigation investigation as being largely incomplete and 

inadequate, even now. (DAE LL; DA 415.) There is no evidence 

that more than a scintilla of mitigation evidence from Ms. 

Holdman's team ever made it to the panel or that more than 

minimal amounts made it to Dr. Woods. Significant portions of 

Ms. Grey's sel cribed incomplete investigation also did not 

make it into either counsel's files or front of the panel, 

for example, a fi y-five page social history summary. This 

raises a critical question. Why was the unused material in 

counsel's files not passed to either the jury or Dr. Woods when 

trial defense counsel clearly recognized the importance of the 

information both to the panel (R. at 554) and to Dr. Woods? (R. 

at 551, 585; App. Ex. 127.) 

It is clear from fense counsels' files that they had 

targeted sentencing r the bulk of their efforts, yet they 

fail to follow through. This early recognition d not 

translate into action. Counsel, in fact, ignored mitigation 

evidence from Ms. Holdman and her team, and minimized what 

little mitigation evidence they did retrieve from Ms. Grey. 

This minimization continued at trial. 
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Appellant has also raised the ine ive assistance of 

counsel in their use of expert assistance in this case. See AE 

I: B. The failure by trial defense counsel to use the fense 

experts to either perform an adequate so 1 histo 

investigation or an adequate mental health assessment played a 

large role in the ineffective assistance of counsel at 

sentencing in appellant's case. Id. T al fense counsel did 

not temper those failures by either conducting ir own social 

history investigation or by presenting a rent extensive 

sentencing case to the panel that might excuse the a 

mitigation expert. Neither expert was consult on sentenc 

and there were no discussions on any expert testi on 

sentencing. (DAE AAi 229-36.) None of appellant's t 1 

fense counsel had any capital experience upon which to rely in 

lieu of the assistance of a capital mitigat expert. See AE 

I: A. Without the assistance of an exper tal 

mitigation expert or capital experience themselves, trial 

defense counsel were left to muddle through, 1 ng to some 

inexplicable decisions. 

One example of such an inexplicable ision was 

roduction of appellant's entire diary to the panel by 

defense, despite Ms. Grey's warnings that the defense to 

tread cautiously concerning appellant's diary. "It rema my 

bel f that the defense team must find a way to contextualize 
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and if possible neutralize the elements of his journal that talk 

about lling Caucasians, etc. u (DAE Xi DA 210-15.) 

Appellant's diary contained voluminous aggravating and 

inflammatory statements. See AE I: F. What mitigating evidence 

was contained in the diary required explanation by either a 

mitigation expert or Dr. Woods to place into context. Trial 

defense counsel had two options. They could have determined 

that the aggravating nature of the diary was too dangerous and 

not introduced This option was available because the 

military judge ruled all but two statements of appellant's diary 

inadmissible. (R. at App. Ex. 145.) Or they could have 

introduced the diary, using expert testimony to ameliorate the 

aggravating evidence and highlight the mitigating evidence. 

Instead, they placed before the panel aggravating statements 

that were clear, power and particularly lammatory ­

statements that the military judge had previously ruled were so 

unfairly prejudicial to appellant that they substanti ly 

outweighed any probative value. (R. at 783.) In , these 

statements were so inflammatory the trial counsel used 

those statements to devastating effect during his sentencing 

argument. Three t s trial counsel said, "This is what he 

wrote and this is what he did. u (R. at 3090.) Each t , tri 

counsel alternated between an inflammatory statement from 

appellant's diary and a description of one of the victims. (R. 
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at 3090, App. Ex. 312.) The effect was devastating on 

llant's case, it was a powerful argument death, and it 

was made possible so ly by trial defense counsel admitting the 

ry in whole. 

In examining what was submitted to t 1, only a small 

ion of what Ms. recommended as necessary information 

was passed along. It is also clear from Dr. Woods' affidavits, 

and testimony at tri that consultation Dr. Woods and 

t mitigation experts in this case was minimal at best. (DAE 

AA; DA 229-36.) There is little evidence t many of the 

recommendations of Ms. Grey (or Ms. Holdman's team) were 

lowed by trial de e counsel. Certainly if t al defense 

counsel, through assigned mitigation experts, reasonably 

stigated all of relevant and necessary mitigation 

dence, a reasonable tactical decision could have been made as 

to what to use and what not to use in front the panel. There 

is no evidence such an investigation was compl 

This case is a nation of the errors Supreme Court 

ed in Rompilla and chey because trial counsel 

experts but then iled to adequately communicate with 

and by such failure to communicate failed also to 

a quately investigate and present mitigat dence in 

llant's case. This resulted in very poor isions being 

on the use of miti ion evidence, such as whether to call 
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Dr. Woods or a mitigation to testify on sentencing, 

to introduce appel 's diary, and what witnesses to 

1. These decisions were not only unreasonable but also based 

on ufficient information upon which to make an 

tactical decision. 

In effect, because of t defense counsel's i in 

contacting and working with fense experts, much of 

testimony and evidence that to be placed in of the 

panel was not. 

In looking at the aff ts of Dr. Woods, Ms. Holdman, Ms. 

, and Mr. Lohman, a with the work of Ms. James-Townes 

scussed in more det I ), the consensus is : I) 

abundant information was not ssed from the mit ion teams to 

the attorneys; 2) neither that information nor most of t 

rmation that was pass to the attorneys was ded to Dr. 

Woods; 3) there was still a significant portion of 

miti ion investigation i e when trial fense counsel 

st talking to the miti ion team; 4) trial fense counsel 

ignored repeated and fic requests for testing by 

Dr. Woods; 5) Dr. Woods d not have information of family 

mental health issues that was necessary for his agnoses. 

In short, trial counsel's decisions must be 

\\ rmed." Appellant's t 1 defense counsel decisions in 

s capital case with no capital exper effectively 
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with no expert assistance, particularly at sentencing. This 

left appellant's trial defense counsel rating from a flawed, 

uninformed pe ive of their own making regarding appellant's 

mental state and presence, absence or importance of 

mitigation It also placed llant in the exact same 

practical pos ion as Murphy and Loving. 

Even if s Court finds that e counsel suitably 

"informed" themse s to make tactical sions, the following 

decisions were unreasonable: (1) to i voluminous mitigation 

information; (2) to cut-off the mitigation investigation despite 

the protestations of the mitigation experts that more needed to 

be done; (3) to not transfer much of that in rmation to Dr. 

Woods to assist in his diagnosis of appel ; and (4) to not do 

the testing ti to sleep issues and Schizophrenia recommended 

by Dr. Woods. Unreasonable tactical sions will not defeat a 

claim of inef ct assistance of counsel. See United States 

v. Rivas, 3 M.J. 282 (C.M.A. 1977). Court of Appeals for 

the Armed Forces (CAAF) has also held it will not give 

carte blanche to tactical decisions of counsel in capital 

cases if the counsel's performance reflects i 

investigation, 1 capital experience, and s not meet the 

higher standa of performance expected of counsel in capital 

litigation. 
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What follows in this opinion, 
demonstrates that a capital case or at 
least this capital case -- is not 
"ordinary," and counsels' inexperience 
this sort of litigation is a or 
contributes to our ultimate lack of 
confidence in the reliability of 
a judgment of death. We have no quarrel with 

Army Court regarding the obli ion of 
an appellate court not to second-guess 
tactical judgments. Here, however, counsels' 
lack of training and expe nce contributed 
to questionable tactical judgments, leading 
us to the ultimate conclusion t there are 
no tactical decisions to s ss. 

United States v. Murphy, 50 M.J. 4, 13 (C.A.A.F. 

1998.) 

In Murphy, as in this case, counsel formed a sub­

standa mitigation investigation. Counsel in Murphy developed 

the mit ion evidence primarily by "correspondence and 

tel /I Id. at 12. Counsel in Murphy d not have a 

miti ion expert at trial to assist them. Counsel in 

appellant's case had one appointed to , but they simply did 

I to use them. In appellant's case, no mitigation expert 

was cal to testify. Almost no mate 1 from the vast 

miti tion Ie was analyzed or pI evidence. 

Information from the mitigation team was not adequately shared 

with t clinical psychiatrist, Dr. Woods. (DAE AA; DA 229-36.) 

De se counsel actively ignored both mitigation team and 

Dr. Woods. This left appellant's t se counsel in the 

same situation that Murphy's counsel were , trying to conduct 
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the case ef ively without a mitigation expert, an adequate 

info mental Ith expert, or an adequate investigation of 

their own, doing so without the capital trial exper 

necessary to overcome those deficiencies. 

Prejudice: 

The tactical unsound decisions by trial defense counsel 

throughout 1 's court-martial resulted in their thirty­

eight minute s presentation, and appellant was 

prejudi 

If had conducted the proper mitigation investi ion, 

trial e counsel could have presented a compelling case in 

mitigation. After all, Dr. Woods, when fully appri of 

family history and ot r available but unshared ion 

regarding llant, changed his clinical diagnosis to Pa 

Schizophrenia. There is a vast difference between an rt 

that reluctantly opines that an accused may have a ment 

illness, an rt that confidently testifies that an 

accus is mental ill. (The findings of Dr. Woods and Ms. 

James-Townes are discussed more fully supra at pp. 76 80.) 

Signi cantly, both Dr. Woods and Ms. James-Townes have 

concluded lant's mitigation case, both in t 

investi ion ed and in its presentation, was ficient. 

tionally, Ms James-Townes could have 

extens ion testimony regarding appellant childhood, 
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rty, and environment when growing up, as well as the 

physical and sexual abuse that was exposed to. Additionally, 

s could have described the mental health issues that haunt 

llant's family, and her testimony, combined with that of Dr. 

Woods, could have explained t correlation between that 

lial mental illness and t t suf red by appellant. Also, 

t se could have placed of appellant's family on 

stand to humanize him, to a that he is indeed loved, 

and that his execution will y impact them. 

Instead of presenting a lling mitigation case, trial 

de se counsel put forward thirty-eight minutes of testimony 

e witnesses. This lack of mitigation and expert 

assistance was not made up by extensive presentation 

witnesses. With only three witnesses called, and only a 

t documentary witness statements of any use whatsoever, this 

is not a case where trial se counsel overcame a poor use of 

rts with an adequate presentation of the main mitigation 

rs of appellant's life. The I learned little more 

appellant after sentencing than they knew before, other 

than was a little odd, grew up poor and apparently had no 

ly member willing to personally k on his behalf. 

test for prejudice in this case is "whether a 

reas finder of fact, armed wi this evidence, would come 

to same conclusions that the court-martial did as to the 
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findings and sentence." United States v. Murphy, 50 M.J. 4, 14 

(C.A.A.F. 1998), citing United States v. Dock, 26 M.J. 620 (ACMR 

1988) . If even one person on the panel would have come to 

different conclusion as to findings or sentence then this court-

martial would have come to a different ng but definitely a 

dif rent sentence. The panel was not the necessary 

to sentence appellant. 21 

so, this Court must examine the reli ility of the 

re CAAF's decision in United States v Kreutzer, 61 MJ 

293 (CAAF 2005) addressed prejudice context of 

inef ct assistance of counsel and a to grant a 

miti ion expert. For ineffect assistance of counsel, the 

CAAF not that the proper inquiry to e ish prejudice is 

that "t appellant must demonstrate a reasonable probability 

that, but counsel's deficiency, t resu would have been 

dif rent." Kreutzer, 61 M.J. at 301 t g ckland, 466 

U.S. 694. For denial of a mitigation e rt, the CAAF said that 

Is on the government to 

There is no reasonable possibil that even 
a single court member might have harbored a 
reasonable doubt in light of the mental 

lth evidence that the miti ion 
specialist could have gat , ana 
and assisted the defense to sent. Had but 
a single member harbored a reasonable doubt, 

, in AE V, claims the panel members at trial were 
about appellant's mental ion at the time of 

o es. 
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ath would have been excluded as a 
pe ssible punishment. 

Id. at 301. 

Appellant's case is a hybrid of the two issues raised 

Kreutzer, and also is very similar to the issue rais in 

Murphy. Appellant was effect y denied assistance of a 

mitigation expert because of the ffective assistance of t al 

defense counsel utilizing them in anything more a 

minimal shion. lant is fore Ie the same 

effective position as Kreutzer was, without the assistance of a 

mit ion expert ther to sent miti ing evidence to the 

panel or to assist Dr. Woods in rming an accurate and 

forensically supported diagnosis of llant's mental health 

condition. Appellant is also left in the same pos as 

Murphy in t significant evidence was not presented to 

1, calling into question the panel's findings and sentence. 

Like the CAAF in Murphy, this Court must satisfied 

appellant got "a full and fair sent hearing. If Murphy, 50 

M.J. at 15. 

Confidence in outcome of a death Ity case is 

paramount. "One continuous theme is found throughout the 

penalty cases handed down by Supreme Court over the last 30 

years. That theme is iability of result." Murphy, 50 M.J. at 

14. The height need a reli e result a death 
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penalty case requires that, if this Court finds that appellant 

was denied the use of a expert through inef 

assistance of counsel as well as denied the presentation of 

relevant and necessary mit ion and mental health to 

the panel, then it must find judice exists if appellant can 

show that one panel member ght have harbored a reasonable 

doubt based on the evidence red through a proper mit 

stigation, necessary test ,and a mental health evaluat 

sed on both. Even if this Court evaluates prejudice under 

simply the Strickland standard, confidence in the outcome of 

sentencing is significantly by the change in the 

diagnoses of appellant by Dr. Woods. 

F. 	SERGEANT AKBAR'S TRIAL DEFENSE COUNSEL WERE 

INEFFECTIVE FOR ADMITTING IN ENTIRETY APPELLANT'S 

DIARY WITHOUT ANY SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS AND WITHOUT 

APPROPRIATE REGARD FOR THE HIGHLY AGGRAVATING AND 

PREJUDICIAL INFORMATION IT CONTAINED. 


Appellant's diary was ete with highly aggravating 

statements. "Destroying was my plan as a child, 

jovenile (sic) and freshmen I . My life will not 

be complete if America is not stroyed. It is my biggest 

goal." Amazingly, trial defense counsel presented these 

statements, and in fact the e diary to the panel 

unexplained, unfiltered, and without any analysis. Thus, the 

defense counsel did the prosecut 's job by presenting highly 

150 




inflammato and prejudicial information to the panel in a death 

penalty case wi anation. 

Argument 

Initially, trial se counsel moved to suppress 

appellant's ary. (R. at App. Ex. 155.) The defense argued 

that the was not logically and legally relevant pursuant 

to M.R.E. 401 403. Id. According to the defense, the 

"remote, stream of consciousness" contained in the 

diary was of "minimal" probat value. Id. Additionally, 

trial de se counsel argued that the diary statements were 

"unfairly prej c ," and that there was "a very real chance 

that the fact fi r will have an emotional reaction to the 

evidence that will stort their ability to properly evaluate 

the other admiss e evidence and reach an appropriate, non­

emotional, result." Id. at 4. The military judge granted the 

motion, but all the government to introduce two 2003 entries 

because were c se in time to the charged offenses. (R. at 

782.; App. Ex. 145.) Apparently, the military judge found that 

under R.C.M. 403, probative value of the excerpts was 

substant lly ghed by the danger that they would ssly 

misl or the members. (R. at 783.) The two admitt 

entr s conta two inflammatory statements: 1) "I will 

to if I should kill my Muslim brothers fight 
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Saddam Hussein or my battle buddies;" 2) "But as soon as I am 

I , I am going to kill as of them as possible." Id. 

excluded entries discuss appellant's desire to" 11 

Caucas ," appellant's plan" ing his entire life" to 

stroy America," and that his life would "not be complete if 

America is not destroyed." Id. Additional entries included 

"[N]ever attack a grown man ss you intend to hurt him," a 

statement that it is a duty Islam to fight "those who u 

your religion," and a "premonit that if he re-enlisted 

would "find myself in jail," cause "I already want to kill 

several of them [Soldiers]." Id. 

As is clear, these ent es are not remotely mitigating or 

extenuating (even with expert anal is), but all of them are 

extremely aggravating. The statements ranged from 1992, before 

llant joined the military, to 2002, several years after he 

d so. However, after success ly keeping out all but two of 

se highly damaging journal ent s, trial defense counsel 

reve course at trial and roduced the entire diary, 

a entries included. (R. at Def. Ex. A, admitted R. at 

2929. ) 

While some potential mitigati information is contained 

wi n the diary, those bits of in ion do not outweigh the 

rm incurred by the inflammatory ent es. For defense counsel 

to simply toss the panel over one pages of material from 
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appellant's diary with no explanation or interpretation is 

simply inexplicable. The only analysis provided to the panel 

was part of a thirty-three page document, consisting of an 

unexplained family tree, a timeline of appellant's life, and a 

"summary" of appellant's journal (R. at Def. Ex. C), prepared by 

a mitigation expert, Ms. Deborah Grey, who had not been a part 

of the defense team for almost a year. (R. at 548.) This 

summary was not a detailed analysis appellant's diary, but 

primarily a selection of quotes from the diary and a summarized 

re-statement of the quote side-by-side. (R. at Def. Ex. C.) 

Ms. Grey's analysis was not prepared for tr 1 and Ms. Grey 

advised counsel that much of the information in the diary needed 

to be shaped before presentation. (DAE Xi DA 220-15.) Her work 

product provided no substantive analysis of appellant's diary, 

and no framing or explanation of the possible mitigating nature 

of the more aggravating and inflammatory statements. (DAE LLi 

DA 413-517.) Nor was any direct tie between the diary and any 

mental illnesses appellant suffered presented to the panel. The 

defense counsel presented no analysis by Dr. Woods or other 

expert during sentencing .. The diary was simply dropped in the 

laps of the panel, to use it in any way they thought 

appropriate. The impacts of the aggravating excerpts from the 

diary were unexplained. 
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Besides dropping the inflammatory diary on the panel, a 

competent counsel would have had an expert testify as to the 

mitigating aspects of the diary. Although opening the expert up 

to cross-examination regarding negative parts of the diary, the 

expert would have placed the negative aspects into context. 

Alternatively, counsel could have made the informed decision to 

not introduce the diary at 1. Both strategies may be 

reasonable. 

Here, however, defense counsel made the tactically 

inde ible decision to place the entire diary, including 

portions of the diary that the military judge had already ruled 

so unfairly prejudicial to appellant. (R. at 783.) In fact, 

the trial counsel, not the defense counsel, used the diary with 

devastating effect during his sentencing argument, referring 

three times to: "This is what he wrote and this is what he did." 

(R. at 3090i App. Ex. 312.) Thus, the trial defense counsel 

introduced aggravating evidence that the government put to 

withering effect, and there was no tactical reason to do so. 

Although, trial defense counsel deserve vast deference in 

strategic and tactical decisions, that deference is not 

unfettered. Patently unreasonable decisions or decisions based 

on an incomplete and inadequate mitigation investigation are 

given no deference, particularly in the realm of capital 

ju sprudence. Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 387 (2005) ("It 
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is the duty of the lawyer to conduct a prompt investigation of 

the circumstances of the case and to explore all avenues leading 

to facts relevant to the merits of the case and the penalty in 

the event of conviction." (quoting 1 ABA Standards for Criminal 

Justice 4-4.1 (2d ed. 1982 Supp.))}; Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 

510, 533 (2003) ("We base our conclusion on the much more 

limited principle that 'strategic choices made after less than 

complete investigation are reasonable' only to the extent that 

'reasonable pro sional judgments support the limitations on 

investigation.'" (quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 

688, 690-91 (1984))); United States v. Murphy, 50 M.J. 4, 13 

(C.A.A.F. 1998) ("Here, however, counsels' lack of training and 

experience contributed to questionable tactical judgment, 

leading us to the ultimate conclusion that there are no tactical 

decisions to second-guess.") 

Much like in Rompilla, 545 U.S. at 387, and Wiggins, 539 

U.S. at 533, defense counsel in this case did not do the 

requisite stigation to fully understand how to deal with 

appellant's diary. Much like Murphy, 50 M.J. at 13, the lack of 

any substantive training or experience in capital litigation, 

coupled with minimal assistance from a mitigation expert, led to 

the indefensible tactical decision to introduce appellant's 

diary without explanation, analysis or filter and should lead 
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this Court to conclude that in this area, "there are no tactical 

de sions to second-guess." Murphy, 50 M.J. at 13. 

WHEREFORE, Sergeant Akbar respectfully requests this Court 

set aside the sentence to death in this case. 

Cumulat Error 

G. 	EVEN IF THIS COURT FINDS THAT THE INDIVIDUAL 
ALLEGATIONS BY APPELLANT OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF 
COUNSEL ARE INSUFFICIENT TO MERIT RELIEF, TOGETHER THE 
CUMULATIVE ERRORS IN TRIAL DEFENSE COUNSEL'S 
REPRESENTATION OF APPELLANT DENIED HIM A FAIR TRIAL, 
THEREBY WARRANTING A REHEARING. 

Statement of Facts 

Appellant has aIle d ffective assistance of counsel in 

the following areas: 

1. Voir reo 

2. Improper guilty plea. 

3. Improper use of experts. 

4. Improper investigation and use of merits witnesses. 

5. Failure to request continuances/necessary testing. 

6. Inadequate presentation of mitigation on sentencing. 

7. Unreasonable trial strategy. 

8. Failure to address appellant's sleep and mental health 

issues to the panel. 

9. Inadequate investi ion of mitigation and extenuation 

evidence. 
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This Court "can order a rehearing based on the accumulation 

of errors not reversible individually." United States v. 

Dollente, 45 M.J. 234, 242 (C.A.A.F. 1996). As set forth in 

Dollente, the cumulative-error doctr requires: 

considering each such claim against the 
background of the case as a whole, paying 
particular weight to factors such as the 
nature and number of the errors committed; 
their interrelationship, if any, and 
combined effect; how the [trial] court dealt 
with the errors as they arose (including the 
efficacy-or lack of efficacy--of any 
remedial efforts)i and the strength of the 
government's case. run of the trial may 
also be importanti a handful of miscues, in 
combination, may 0 en pack a greater punch 
in a short t al than in a much longer 
trial. 

Id. (citation omitted) . "When assessing the record under the 

cumulative-error doctrine, courts must review all errors 

preserved for appeal and all pIa errors. " Id. (internal 

quotation marks and citation omitted) . "Courts are far less 

likely to find cumulative error where evidentiary errors are 

followed by curative instructions or when a record conta 

overwhelming evidence of a defendant's guilt." Id. (internal 

quotation marks and ation omitted.) 

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

Applying the cumulat error doctrine in appellant's case 

necess ates at a sentence rehearing. The ineffect 
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assistance rendered by appellant's counsel infected the entire 

case, from pre-tr I investigation, coordination with defense 

experts, voir re, findings, and sentencing. No portion of the 

court-martial process was left unmarred by tri defense 

counsels' inexperience and ficient de sions. Trial fense 

counsel completely disregarded both mitigating and extenuating 

evidence during their investigation; failed to adequately voir 

dire or to challenge panel members; pI gui y; and woefully 

prepared and presented mitigation evidence. 

The adversarial process failed in this case. Trial defense 

counsel did not aggressively seek expert assistance or 

mitigation evidence, did not effectively present what little 

information they had, and made no attempt to shape the panel 

a manner favorable to appellant. When, as this case, counsel 

exhibits such de ent performance at all stages, the process 

is no longer e ctively adversarial. See Cronic, 466 U.S. at 

656-657. "[I]f the process loses its character as a 

confrontation between adversaries, the const utional guarantee 

is violat " Id. at 656-663. 

Even if each allegation deficient performance by itself 

does not rise to the necessary level of prejudice to meet the 

standard laid out in Strickland, the collective nature of these 

errors constitute the ficiency envisioned by Strickland. 
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The combined ef of errors e ively appellant 

standing at his capital court-martial without counsel. 

trial de e counsel compli with the applicable 

st rd In a capital case, the outcome would have been 

different. The trial defense counsel's sly deficient 

performance on sentencing alone merits setting aside the 

sentence. Coupled with the other cumulat errors, trial 

defense counsel's formance certainly leaves no doubt that the 

system failed and that llant was deprived of competent 

counsel in his case. 

Rehearing 

Comparison of the cumulative errors and sentence in 

Dollente with the cumulative errors and sentence in appellant's 

case must compel this Court to remand appellant's case for a 

aring on the findings and sentence. appellant 

Dollente was convicted of committing indecent acts and taking 

indecent liberties with a female 16. During the ts 

portion of Dollente's court-martial, the military judge made the 

following three errors: 

(1) 	 He refused to admit expert testimony from a fense 
witness; 

(2 ) 	 He admitted prosecution expert testimony that 
bolstered the alleged victim's credibility in what was 
a said-she said case; 

( 3 ) 	 He admitt perpetrator-profi evidence. 
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The court held that, though alone the errors may have not been 

prejudi , the cumulative effect of these individual errors 

adversely affected Dollente's right to a fair trial. 45 M.J. at 

236. 	 "[T]he combined effect of these. . errors was so 

judicial so as to stri at the fundamental fairness of the 

Id. (internal quotations and citation omi . ) 

Appellant's case is even more aggravated than Dollente. 22 

Certainly, the nature of errors in appellant's case 

catapults it beyond the unfairness evidenced in Dollente. Not 

only did at least nine errors effect the investigation, merits, 

and sentencing phases of appellant's court-martial, even if 

appellant had been given the opportunity to put on such 

evidence, the panel was so fected with bias a r trial 

was imposs e. Additionally, appellant's case is a capital 

case, requiring even more reliability of result. Thus, this 

Court must conclude that llant was not afforded a 

22 While the strength of government's case in Dollente was 
admittedly weaker (the critical testimony of aIle victim 
having been inconsistent) than the government's case against 
appellant, that stinction certainly does not remove the 
cumulat errors in appellant's case outs the realm of 
fundamental unfairness. While it may be said that the "strength 
of government's case" factor weighed more in Dollente's 
favor than does it for llant, the nature of the errors and 
the inability of the military judge to correct those errors in 

llant's case work to more than suffic ly warrant finding 
appellant was denied a fair trial. 
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fundamentally fair court-martial, and a rehearing on findings 

and sentence must be granted. 

WHEREFORE, the appellant respectfully requests that this 

Court set aside the findings and sentence. 
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Conflicts of Interest 

Assignment of Error II. 

SERGEANT AKBAR WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO THE 
EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, AS 
GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE 
UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, WHEN HIS TRIAL 
DEFENSE COUNSEL FAILED TO MOVE TO WITHDRAW 
FROM REPRESENTATION OF THE APPELLANT IN THIS 
CAPITAL CASE BECAUSE OF ACTUAL CONFLICTS 
WHICH ADVERSELY AFFECTED REPRESENTATION OF 
APPELLANT AT HIS COURT-MARTIAL. 

Introduction 

Sergeant Akbar's de se counsel in this case were 

prevented from affording appellant the ef ive assistance of 

counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution because of several conflicting interests that 

existed both before and during their representation. These 

conflicts were of such a nature as to significantly hinder 

Sergeant Akbar's trial defense counsel, Major  and 

Captain  from adequately filling their duties and 

responsibilities to their client. 

Major  lead defense counsel in Sergeant Akbar's 

case, was deployed to Kuwait and was on the scene immediately 

after the grenade atta and shooting of two Sol ers in Kuwa 

by a fellow Soldier. Captain  was a defense counsel at 

Fort Campbell and was det led to SGT Akbar's defense team the 

day after the incident. Both counsel had a relationship with 

one of SGT Akbar's ctims, MAJ  Both counsel tried 
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cases against MAJ  at Fort Campbell and other military 

installations. Throughout the course Sergeant Akbar's 

pretrial investigation, court-martial, and post-trial process, 

Major  and Captain  had divided loyalties because 

of their relationship to one of the victims in the case and 

their emotional t s to the incident. While defense counsel 

disclosed their relationship with the victim to SGT Akbar and to 

the mil ary judge at tr 1, the military judge failed to obtain 

a valid waiver. Furthermore, the fact that lead defense counsel 

was himself a victim of the crime and was traumatiz by the 

events was never disclosed, discuss , or explained to SGT Akbar 

or to the court. As such, there was no valid waiver. 

Furthermore, during the pretrial investigation, another 

conflict of interest arose for the lead defense counsel. Major 

 was due to change assignments to be the Chief of 

Mil ary Justice at Fort Drum but SGT Akbar was not willing to 

waive that particular conflict. The trial counsel then, having 

just come from an assignment at the Personnel Plans and Tra ing 

Office (PP&TO), changed MAJ  assignment without the 

consent of either SGT Akbar or de nse counsel. This clear 

ability for the prosecutor to control the course of the defense 

counsel's future assignments created a conflict for trial 

defense counsel that was never fully disclos to SGT Akbar nor 

resolved by the military judge. 
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Finally, just before SGT Akbar's trial was to begin, trial 

defense counsel became embroiled in an additional conflict 

interest that they concealed from both SGT Akbar and the court. 

This conflict arose when the lead defense counsel became a 

witness in a stabbing incident. though not an eye-witness to 

the incident, lead defense counsel, through his own negligence, 

created the means for SGT Akbar to access s ssors from his desk 

drawer and later use them to stab a guard. Major  

negligence could have lead to a dereliction duty charge 

a inst him, had the prosecution elected to pursue that charge. 

At a minimum, lead defense counsel could have been called as a 

witness because of his involvement had the government decided to 

charge SGT Akbar with additional offenses. Lead de se counsel 

had a personal interest in the government not moving forward on 

additional charges, and thus also in moving the trial along as 

st as possible without regard to the needs and advice of 

defense experts. Because of career implications, both counsel 

had a personal incentive to get to trial as quickly as possible, 

but because defense couns were implicated (through dereliction 

of duty if nothing else) appellant's additional misconduct, 

counsel actually stood to personally gain if their client was 

sentenced to death, as that would significantly reduce the 

possibility that the government would pursue a second trial on 

the additional misconduct. 

164 




These numerous conflicting loyalties affected trial defense 

counsel's performance throughout their representation and denied 

SGT Akbar his Sixth Amendment right to competent and conflict ­

free representation. 

Law 

The Sixth Amendment's right to counsel requires effective 

assistance by an attorney, which has two components: competence 

and conflict-free representation. Wood v. Georgia, 450 U.S. 

261, 271 (1981). In a conflict of interest case, prejudice is 

presumed "if the defendant demonstrates that counsel 'actively 

represented conflicting interests' and that "an actual con ict 

of interest adversely affected his lawyer's pe rmance./I 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 692 (1984) (quoting 

Cuyler v. Sullivan, 466 U.S. at 350, 348)). 

As the Supreme Court acknowledged in Strickland, "counsel 

owes the client a duty of loyalty, a duty to avoid conflicts of 

interest," which is "perhaps the most basic of counsel's 

duties." 466 U.S. 668, 690, 692, 104 (1984). Rule 1. 7 of the 

Rules of Professional Conduct for Lawyers, found In Appendix B 

of Army Regulation 27 26, states that loyalty is an essential 

element t lawyer's relationship to a client and addresses 

all of the conflicts of interest faced by trial defense counsel 

in their representation of SGT Akbar in this capital case. See 

Army Reg. 27 26, Rules of Pro ssional Conduct r Lawyers, 
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Appendix B, Rule 1. 7 (b). (1 May 1992). Rule 1. 7 (b) Conflict of 

Interest: General Rule, states: 

A lawyer shall not represent a ient if the 
representation of that client may be 
ma ally limi by the lawyer's 
responsibility to another client or to a 
third person, or by the lawyer's own 
interests, unless i (1) the lawyer reasonably 
believes the representation will not be 
adversely affected; and (2) the client 
consents after consultation. 

Id. (emphasis added). 

Applying this rule to the encumbrances faced by trial 

defense counsel in their representation of Sergeant Akbar, 

counsel clearly had a professional duty to Sergeant Akbar to 

move to withdraw from his representation. 

While an accused may waive his right to conflict free 

counsel, waivers must be voluntary, and they must be n'knowing 

int ligent acts done with sufficient awareness of the relevant 

circumstances and likely consequences. ,n United States v. 

Davis, 3 M.J. 430, 433 n.16 (C.M.A. 1977) (quoting Brady v. 

United States, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970)). Courts will "'indulge 

every reasonable presumption against the waiver,n of this right. 

Id. (citations omitted); See also United States v. Lee, 66 M.J. 

387, 388 (C.A.A.F. 2008). 
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Argument 

A. 	THE MILITARY JUDGE ERRED IN ACCEPTING APPELLANT'S 

WAIVER OF HIS RIGHT TO CONFLICT-FREE COUNSEL AFTER 

DEFENSE COUNSEL DISCLOSED A RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN 

THEMSELVES AND A VICTIM IN THE CASE BECAUSE THE WAIVER 

WAS NOT KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY, AND INTELLIGENTLY 

MADE. 


On 26 April 2003, SGT Akbar signed a document in which the 

defense counsel purported to explain their relationship with one 

of the vict in the case, CPT  (DAE S, Ti DA 94-99.) 

On 9 March 2004, the litary judge conducted an article 39(a) 

session in which defense counsel brought this conflict to the 

attention of the court. (R. at 5 8.) Although trial defense 

counsel disclosed their ationship with CPT  and sought 

SGT Akbar's consent to remain on his defense team, the military 

judge fail to establish a valid waiver of the conflict. 

A waiver must not only voluntary, but must constitute a 

knowing and intelligent relinquishment or abandonment of a known 

right or privilege, a matter dependent in each case upon the 

particular facts and circumstances surrounding that case, 

including the background, experience, and conduct of the 

accused. United States v. Augusztin, 30 M.J. 707, 711 

(N.M.C.M.R. 1990) (citing, Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 464 

(1938)) . Under the facts and circumstances in this case, the 

military judge failed to conduct the proper inquiry into defense 

counsel's relationship with CPT  The military judge 

167 




elicited, for the most part, mere" s" or "no" answers, and the 

details of his attorneys' conflicts interest and the possible 

perils of such a con ict on his capital case were not 

adequately explained. See United States v. Breese, 11 M.J. 17, 

22 (C.M.A. 1981) ( ting Da s, 3 M.J. 434 (additional citations 

omitted) } .23 "For the fendant to knowingly and intelligently 

waive the right to conflict e counsel, he must be told (I) 

that a conflict of interest exists, (2) the consequences to his 

defense from continuing with conflict laden counsel; and (3) 

that he had a right to obtain ot r counsel." Auguszt , 30 

M.J. at 711 (ci ng Duncan v. Alabama, 881 F.2d 1013, 1017 (11th 

Cir. 1989)). 

The military judge failed to explore the relationship that 

existed between the defense counsel and the ctim, neither did 

he explain to SGT Akbar the possible consequences to his defense 

from proceeding with defense counsel that have such divided 

loyalties. At one point SGT Akbar stated, "based on what I know 

now, s [I want to keep these counsel] ... I can't imag 

what else would come up in the future that would make me not 

want to keep them, sir." (R. at 8.) At this point, the 

military judge should have explained the con ict in more 

23 While the Breese court addressed conflicts a sing from 
multiple representation, the analysis is applicable here because 
both cases involve instances of an attempted wa r an 
attorney wi divided loyalt s. 

168 




detail. SGT Akbar should not have to "imagine N potential 

conflicts; rather, the military judge must inform him of the 

conflict and its consequences on his defense. The military 

judge should have asked defense counsel to explain how many 

cases they had t ed with CPT  whether or not they 

attended office functions with CPT  and whether their 

families interacted - all consistent with Judge Advocates 

working in criminal law at the same installation. Captain 

 was a defense counsel at Fort Campbell since July 2002, 

and could be expected to have numerous interactions with CPT 

 for over a year's span. (DAE S, T; DA 94-99.) 

Additionally, the military judge never informed SGT Akbar 

the possible consequences to his de from continuing with 

conflict-laden counsel. He should have told him it was likely 

CPT  would testify at trial and that it could impact his 

counsel's cross-examination of the witness. Captain  d 

indeed testify on the merits and on sentencing. (R. at 1381, 

2830.) Under the facts and circumstances of this case, SGT 

Akbar's waiver was not knowing and intelligent. 

Even if this court finds that appellant's waiver was valid, 

this Court must nonetheless hold that "'even a knowing 

acceptance by a defendant of counsel's representation despite a 

potential conflict of interest does not preclude a showing, 

under the standard of Cuyler, that the conflict became actual 
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and had an adverse effect on representation.,,,24 Yeboah-Sefah v. 

cco, 556 F.3d 53, 71 (1st Cir. 2009) (citing United States v. 

Rodriguez-Rodriguez, 929 F.2d 747, 750 (1st Cir. 1991) (other 

citations omitted)); see also United States v. Fahey, 769 F.2d 

829, 835 (1st Cir. 1985) (finding even though the petitioner 

executed a knowing and intelligent wa r of counsel's potential 

conflict of interest, a waiver did not foreclose the possibility 

that an actual conflict could adversely have affected the 

adequacy of representation and violated the Sixth Amendment 

right to assistance of counsel). 

In this case, defense counsel failed to take the time 

needed to investigate mitigation evidence and blocked the 

defense expert witness access to the mitigation team. See 

Strickland, 466 at 691 (a defense attorney has a duty to make 

reasonable investigation into mitigating factors). These 

conflicts, whether conscious or unconscious, adversely affected 

defense counsel's representation of SGT Akbar and prevented them 

from providing the effective assistance of counsel. See also AE 

I . 

24 Prejudice is presumed "if the defendant demonstrates that 
counsel 'actively represented conflicting interests' and that 
"an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's 
performance." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 692 
(1984) (quoting Cuyler v. Sullivan, 466 U.S. at 350, 348)). 
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B. DEFENSE 	 COUNSEL WAS DIRECTLY IMPACTED BY THE CHARGED 
CONDUCT WHICH CREATED A CONFLICT OF INTEREST THAT 
ADVERSELY AFFECTED REPRESENTATION OF SGT AKBAR IN THIS 
CAPITAL CASE. 

On 19 March 2003, the President of the United States had 

declared that military forces, on his orders, were "to sarm 

Iraq, to free its people and to defend the world from grave 

danger." Transcript from President Bush's speech made on 19 

March 2003, 

http://www.cnn.com/2003/US/03/19/sprj.irq.int.bush.transcript/ 

(last visited Jan. 13, 2010). Sergeant Akbar and his trial 

defense counsel were among the Soldiers already deployed in 

Kuwait awaiting the order to enter combat in Iraq. On 20 March 

2003, military forces "launched missiles and bombs at targets in 

Iraq as [] morning dawned Baghdad, including a 'decapitation 

attack' aimed at Iraqi President Saddam Hussein and other top 

member of the country's leadership." War in Iraq: U.S. 

launches cruise missiles at Sadaam, 

http://www.cnn.com/2003/WORLD/meast/03/19/sprj.irq.main/ (last 

visited Jan. 14, 2010). Countless news stories reported the 

military involvement as Soldiers in Kuwait prepared to enter the 

fray. See Timeline and events leading up to the Iraq War, 

http://www.nytimes.com/interactive/200S/03/1S/world/middleeast/2 

0080319IRAQWAR TIMELINE.html#tab2 (last visited Jan. 11, 2010.) 

On 22 March 2003, at Camp Pennsylvania, Kuwait, Soldiers were 
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attacked by one of their own. Major  was the Senior 

Defense Couns assigned to the Trial Defense Service at Camp 

Doha, Kuwait, when word spread that this unprecedented attack 

came from inside Camp Pennsylvania. Major  was on the 

scene and was the first de counsel to speak with SGT Akbar 

after the attack. (DAE S; 94-96.) Having been deployed to the 

same area of operation, MAJ  would have witnessed the 

impact of the attack on his fellow Soldiers. Nevertheless, the 

Regional Defense Counsel chose MAJ  to represent 

appellant and detailed him on 23 March 2003. Id. 

Being deployed in Kuwait during the time of the grenade 

attack made defense counsel a victim of the attack. There was 

heightened anxiety as Soldiers prepared to enter Iraq. This was 

an attack on a nearby camp in Kuwa ,allegedly by a llow 

Soldier charged with throwing grenades into the same kind of 

tents which defense counsel would have used day in and day out. 

Furthermore, given the close proximity of the camps where the 

explosions occurred and the nature of defense counsel work, it 

is likely that defense counsel was at least acquainted with 

those impacted by the grenade attack at Camp Pennsylvania. The 

stress of a deployment and impending ground combat combined with 

the emotional attachment to fellow Soldiers in similar 

circumstances made it impossible for this defense counsel to 

represent SGT Akbar ef ively. Whether consciously or 
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unconsciously, defense counsel was also a victim of the attack. 

This created a substantial conflict of interest that negatively 

affected representation of SGT Akbar. 

Additionally, a conflict of interest such as this puts an 

intolerable strain on the military justice system. It is 

instructive that the government chose to detail someone off-site 

completely without any apparent attachment to those deployed 

Soldiers affected by the attack. It is humanly too much to ask 

for a Soldier and defense counsel to effectively advocate for a 

client that has caused such immediate destruction in that 

counsel's environment. This Court must consider the affect this 

conflict had on defense counsel, along with the other conflicts 

of interest raised, to conclude de e counsel was impaired by 

the impact of the offenses such that he was unable to provide 

effective assistance of counsel. 

C. 	BOTH DEFENSE COUNSELS' CAREER ADVANCEMENT WAS IMPACTED AT 
THE DIRECTION OF THE PROSECUTION, CREATING A CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST ADVERSELY AFFECTING SGT AKBAR'S REPRESENTATION IN 
THIS CAPITAL CASE. 25 

On 9 March 2004, during an Article 39(a) session, defense 

counsel informed the court: 

DC: Sir, I am on orders to report to Fort 
Drum, New York, no later than 15 July to be 

25 Appellant, in AE VIII, claims that the prosecution's 
manipulation of trial defense counsel during appellant's court­
martial amounted to unlawful command influence. 
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10ththe Ch f of Justice for the Mountain 
Division. 

MJ: Okay. How about you, Captain  

ADC: Sir, I'll be getting orders to report 
to Fort Eustis as the Deputy Staff Judge 
Advocate on 1 August. 

MJ: Okay. But you're going to be around in 
the Army and available, right? 

DC: Yes, sir. And, obviously, as these 
situations are handled, Sergeant Akbar has 
the opportunity and TDS would support it ­
if he wants to continue with our service and 
just accept the conflict, he can do that. 
And they've also offered him, if he wants 
conflict-free counsel, the opportunity to 
appoint someone new, either at Fort Campbell 
or at Fort Bragg, to replace either one or 
both of us if that's what he wants to do. At 
this point, he's indicated that he would 
prefer to have conflict-free counsel. 

MJ: What's t conflict? 

DC: Well, I'll be the Chief of Justice, 
which is, obviously, on the other side of 
the 

MJ: But that's got nothing to do with this 
case. 

DC: 10th Mountain Division is part of XVIII Airborne 
2 Corps, sir. 

MJ: I spent 5 years in TDS. It's not a 
conflict to me . 

(R. at 435.) (emphasis added.) 

The prosecution responded: 

TC: First, Your Honor, to address the PCS 
issue, Captain  was - I know this 
having been the former Captains Assignment 
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Officer - he was specifically deferred from 
an opportunity to go to the Grad Course to 
be on this case. I would represent to the 
court that he will remain on this case as 
long as this case is going, and no PCS will 
interfere [sic] with a conflict. If he's 
released for other grounds, it will be not 
because of a PCS. He is not currently on 
orders, and the job that he's going to f 1 
is not open until January of 2005. There is 
no conflict with him remaining. 

MJ: So when are you PCSing then, Captain 
 

ADC: Well, Colonel  has facts that I 
don't have, but I've been told that I'll 
receive orders and be PCSing with a report 
date of 1 August. 

ADC: Yes, sir. In any event, that's what 
I've been informed; that I would be PCSing 
to go to Fort Eustis for that position. 
Clearly, I have no problem with working and 
remaining on the case. 

MJ: And, Major  what's your PCS 
date? 

DC: My report date is 15 July, unless 
Colonel  has some further 
information on that. That's what I 
understand it to be. 

MJ: Let's ask him and find out. 

TC: Sir, I'm going to get some information 
on that very quickly. 

MJ: How about finding out and then e-mailing 
all parties to find out, you know, if, in 
fact, what you say is that the pos ion that 
Colonel -- Colonel, perhaps one day I'm sure 

-Captain  is going to is not open 
until 1 January? 
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TC: Sir, I can represent to the court now, I 
just got off the phone with the Chief of 
PP&TO 3 minutes ago. Captain  will 
remain on this case. He will not get orders 
until this case is finished . . . 

(R. at 442-44.) (emphasis added.) On 24 August 2004, the 

defense counsel further discussed the issue with the military 

judge: 

DC: Sir, if I could, there's one issue I 
wanted to update the record on. It's 
something we discussed at length during the 
last hearing. At that time, I was the Senior 
Defense Counsel at Fort Campbell. I was 
pending a PCS to Fort Drum to be the Chief 
of Justice. I discussed that move and the 
potential confl that might present with 
my client, Sergeant Akbar. He, at that time, 
indicated that he would rather release me 
and have new counsel appointed if that was 
going to be my assignment. We scussed that 
issue on the record. Colonel Parrish ruled 
that he did not believe was a conflict in 
any sense to be the Chief of Justice and 
still represent Sergeant Akbar. I went ahead 
with my move, and I just wanted to update 
the court on what has happened since that 
time reference that issue. When I arrived at 
Fort Drum, I was told by the SJA that I was 
not expected to be at Fort Drum. And he 
indicated he had been contacted by PP&TO and 
told that -- Trial Counsel --Colonel 

 had indicated that he did not want 
to create that kind of conflict or have that 
issue. Therefore, PP&TO told Colonel 
Garrett, my SJA, that I would not be coming 
until a er the trial. For whatever reason, 
that information was not passed to my chain 
of command or to me and I PCS'd anyway. So 
to resolve that issue, they've moved me into 
Administrative Law. So, to the extent that 
there was an issue of a potential conflict 
of me being the Chief of Justice, that has 
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been eliminated because I'm not in that 
pos ion. 

MJ: So you're essentially physically at Fort 
Drum 

DC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: but performing other dut s as 

assigned? 


DC: Yes, sir. 


(R. at 567-8.) 

a. Conflicts of interest are especially problematic in the 
military justice system. 

Military defense counsel, unlike their civilian 

counterparts, are not only subject to the ethical rules that 

apply to all attorneys, but are also subject to military law and 

regulations and ultimately supervised by the very same agency 

responsible for prosecuting Soldiers. See generally AR 27-10, 

Ch. 5, 6; See also eutenant Colonel R. Peter Masterton, The 

Defense Function: The Role of the U.S. Army Trial Defense 

Service, 2001 Army Law 1 (March 2001) ("the Army is ultimately 

responsible both for the supervis and evaluation of all Army 

defense counsel and the prosecution of courts-martial."). In 

fact, the Trial Defense Service (TDS) was created, in part, to 

avo conflicts arising from command control over the career 

development of the trial defense counsel. 26 See Lieutenant 

26 "The purpose of the new organization [TDS] is two-fold: (1) to 
improve the efficiency and professionalism of counsel through 
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Colonel John R. Howell, TDS: The Establishment of the U.S. Army 

Trial Defense Service, 100 MIL. L. REV. 4 (1983) scussing the 

history and development of the Trial Defense Service.) 

b. Trial counsel's manipulation of defense counsel's duty 
assignments creat an actual conflict of interest. 

In this case, trial counsel demonstrated his control over 

the future assignments of defense counsel. In fact, even the 

mil ary judge recognized that tr 1 counsel controlled MAJ 

 career development. (R. at 443.) This is precisely 

the kind of influence over defense counsel that TDS was created 

to abolish. Sergeant Akbar declined to waive any conflict of 

rest were his defense counsel to proceed with the scheduled 

change in assignment to be the Chief of Justice at Fort Drum and 

would have released MAJ  as his defense counsel. (R. 

at 435.) Even though the military judge did not believe that 

such a change would be a conflict of interest, the accused would 

have objected to MAJ  representing him at t a 1 . 27 The 

direct supervision and evaluation within the defense chain; and 
(2) to eliminate perceptions of soldiers and others that defense 
counsel have a potential conflict of interest in carrying out 
their duties." Fact Sheet: US Army Trial Defense Services, ARMY 
LAW., Jan. 1981, at 27, available at 
http://www.loc.gov/rr/frd/Mil ar Law/pdf/01-1981.pdf. 
27 While there is no per se rule against a lawyer simultaneously 
serving as a prosecutor and de se counsel, it is a clear 
violation of ethical rules. United States v. Lee, 66 M.J. 387, 
388-89 (2008) (citing Department of Justice, lOp. Off. Legal 
Counsel 110, 112 (1977), ABA Comm. on Ethics and Prof'l 
Responsibility, Informal Op. 1235 (1972), Informal Op. 1474 
(1982). In this case, if trial defense counsel had changed duty 
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trial counsel was more informed about defense counsel's future 

assignments than the defense counsels themselves. (R. at 443­

445.) In fact, trial counsel made representations, in open 

court, for the Personnel, Plans, and Training Of ce (PP&TO), 

the same office that is responsible for all future assignments 

of counsel, demonstrating that the prosecutor had control over 

the careers of defense counsel. 

While trial counsel may have been seeking to avoid a 

conflict of interest in the case (assigned as a prosecutor but 

working as a defense counsel on appellant's case), his actions 

created another, more serious conflict of interest, between 

counsel's duty of loyalty to his client and his personal 

interest in gaining favorable future assignments. Thus, defense 

counsel was forced to forgo a favorable assignment as the Chief 

of Military Justice at a combat division and remain as SGT 

Akbar's counsel. The lead trial counsel made it clear that he 

wielded extreme power to impact MAJ  career. With a 

simple phone call to PP&TO, the trial counsel, LTC  had 

assignments to act as the Ch f of Just while also 
representing appellant, over appellant's objection, it would 
have been reversible error and there would be no need to show 
that the conflict of interest adversely affected entation. 
Id. 
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MAJ  re-assigned. This conflict, or even its 

appearance, cannot be tolerated in the military justice system. 28 

Additionally, the military judge never discussed this issue 

with SGT Akbar to determine whether he still wished to be 

represented in such a situation, as called for by United States 

v. Nicholson r 15 M.J. 436 (C.M.A. 1983). In Nicholson r the 

Court of Military Appeals addressed an actual conflict of 

interest in the case where the trial counsel was the immediate 

supervisor of the opposing defense counsel and exercised command 

author y over him. Id. In such a case, the Nicholson court 

required a knowing waiver by the accused of such a conflict of 

interest stating "it is wholly inimical to the appearance of 

integrity of the military justice system." Id. Pertinent 

portions of the American Bar Association opinion, as quoted 

Nicholson r are: 

28 Making matters even worse, defense counsel went ahead with his 
move to Fort Drum, New York, even though PP&TO, upon request of 
trial counsel, had decided to keep defense counsel at Fort 
Campbell until after the tal. (R. at 567-68.) No one 
informed defense counsel that he was not suppos to make the 
move, nor apparently, were his orders actually revoked. Id. 
Thus, defense counsel moved his entire family all the way to 
Fort Drum and therefore spent the rest of the time before trial 
without the comfort, stability, and support of his family. 
Since defense counsel made the move, he was placed in the 
Administrative Law section to avoid the conflict of acting as a 
prosecutor and defense attorney at the 
however, did not fix the conflict that 
counsel's clear ability to manipulate 
assignments. 

same time. 
arose from 

fense cou

Id. 
trial 
nsel's 

This, 

future 
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The ethical requirements . . . that a lawyer 
must provide zealous representation, and 
give unswerving loyalty to a client free 
from any fluence that might weigh against 
that fidelity -- clearly are violated where 
a military lawyer's opposing counsel in a 
court martial or related proceeding is an 
officer who has command over him . . . 

No matter how fair the commanding officer 
may be, there is an inherent conflict 
between zealously representing a client and 
conducting oneself in a manner calculated to 
win the approval and favor of the officer 
exercising command authority. 

Id. at 438. (Quoting the American Bar Association's Standing 

Committee on Eth s and Professional Responsibilty Informal 

Opinion No. 1474 (1982)). 

Appellant's case presents cts more troubling than those 

found in Nicholson. The trial counsel in SGT Akbar's case had 

more than just command authority over trial defense counsel - he 

took af rmative steps to impact the career development of the 

fense counsel during the trial. This triggered the 

requirement for a discussion between the military judge, trial 

de counsel, and appellant to resolve this explicit 

conflict. Like Nicholson, the relationship between the trial 

counsel and defense counsel created a conflict "wholly inimical 

to the appearance of integrity of the military just system. U 

Without a waiver, prejudice must be presumed. See United States 

v. Devitt, 20 M.J. 240 (C.M.A. 1985); United States v. Whidbee, 

28 M.J. 823, 826 (C.G.C.M.R. 1989) (finding the relationship 
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where the trial counsel had supervisory authority over the 

defense counsel, even though only in matters not relating to 

military justice, created "an actual conflict of interest that 

is inherent and irrefutable" and without waiver resulted in 

"conclusively presumed prejudicial error" requiring reversal). 

Trial counsel's actions created an inherent conflict of 

interest. Trial counsel could impact defense counsel's 

assignment with a quick phone call, what other aspects of 

fense counsel's career could trial counsel impact? The 

defense counsel could zealously represent SGT Akbar or conduct 

himself in a manner to win approval or favor of the trial 

counsel. If defense counsel fought z ously, would tri 

counsel arrange for an assignment even less desirable than Fort 

Drum? Although, trial counsel did not write the fitness reports 

described in Nicholson, he clearly exercised control over 

defense counsel's future assignments and career, thus created a 

conflict of interest. 

c. Trial defense counsel's conflict of interest adversely 
affected counsel's representation. 29 

From 9 March 04, defense counsel were conflicted. Instead 

of further delaying the case and conducting a reasonable 

investigation into the mit ation evidence, trial defense 

29 See also AE I: A-G. 
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counsel forged ahead to trial. According to trial counsel, the 

defense counsel should not be released: 

TC: Sir, I also don't find the conflict that 
Major  finds, and I also believe 
it's another indication -these two counsel 
have been on this case since this incident 
first happened. They have had the 
opportunity to walk the ground in Iraq. 
They've been at the Article 32. They've been 
with him through his sanity board. They've 
been with him through motions. They've been 
with him since day one. The court 
should not allow the withdrawal of either 
one of the TOS attorneys.. . And, 
Sergeant Akbar deserves his day in court, 
and that day should corne a lot sooner than 
June of 2005 . . there is no reason that 
either one of those gentlemen could still 
not PCS, although they would be layed for 
90 days. But knowing their pro ssionalism, 
I am sure they would sacrifice that 90-day 
period when they thought they were going to 
PCS to represent this man's life. So the 
government is opposed to any delay beyond 
the first week of October; specifically, the 
4 

(R. at 445 47.) 

The government had an interest moving ahead to trial and 

made that known to the defense counsel. However, that rest 

was adverse to SGT Akbar's interest in having a conflict-free 

counsel conduct a reasonable investigation into his case. The 

mit ation experts, as well as the psychological expert witness 

in the case, requested t al defense counsel move for more t 

to investigate the case and rform tests on SGT Akbar. (R. at 

App. Ex. 140; OAE B, C, 0, G, I, R, AA, GG; OA 1-27, 92-93, 229 
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341.)30 Defense counsel ignored the advice and requests from 

their own defense team, resulting an incomplete mitigation 

report, incomplete medical testing, and ine ive expert 

testimony. The appearance of impropriety is clear. 

Consequently, Sergeant Akbar was denied the effective assistance 

of counsel, and, there re, is ent led to a new tal. See 

United States v. Scott, 24 M.J. 186 (C.M.A. 1987). 

D. 	 LEAD DEFENSE COUNSEL'S ROLE IN THE ADDITIONAL 

MISCONDUCT ALLEGEDLY COMMITTED BY SGT AKBAR CREATED A 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST THAT NEGATIVELY AFFECTED HIS 

REPRESENTATION IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO 

THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION. 


On 30 March 2005, SGT Akbar allegedly assaulted a military 

police 0 r with scissors that the lead defense counsel 

negligently left the TDS Office desk drawer. That assault 

resulted in an CID investigation. During that investigation, 

MAJ  involvement was investigated. (See DAE U; DA 

100 195.) According to the CID report, the MPs did a swe of 

the room where SGT Akbar was to be he during trial. Id. at 

Sworn Statement from SSG  On 29 March 2005, MAJ 

 directed that his TDS office be used to hold the 

accused when the court was not in session. The MPs swept the 

room with MAJ  present. According to SSG  

We found office type supplies and informed 

MAJ  that the ems needed to come 


30 	 See also AE I: B. 
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out of the of ceo He stated he would have 
someone remove the items and have the desk 
drawers locked. We did not remove anything 
from the office, because MAJ  
stated he would have the items removed. 

Id. at OA 177-79. SSG  explained that he did not 

further check the office on 30 March 05 because "we thought it 

was taken care of." Id. 

CIO requested statements about the stabbing from CPT 

 MAJ  and CPT . See OAE U; 

OA 169-170 (CPT  was assigned to assist the defense 

and was also a witness to the stabbing incident). (OAE U; OA 

165-72) However, all three counsel informed CIO that "they 

would have to contact their higher headquarters to obtain 

guidance prior to providing statements to this office." Id. 

Ultimately, all three refused. Id. Any defense counsel with 

knowledge of their culpability for their client's access to a 

weapon would have concerns about being a witness should the 

government decide to bring additional charges and quite possibly 

about being charged with dereliction their own negligence. 

In fact, defense counsel were aware of potential conflicts. In 

t ir notes, defense counsel wrote: 

1) Are we still counsel 
2) Security -(1) us in the courtroom 

(2) In irons blf panel 
3) Injuries - sible to panel 
4) What is the government going to do 
5) Charge = 32 

6) Uncharged misconduct 
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7) Continuance = request ~ 
8} Mental health analysis ~ 
9} Change of venue 
10} # of victim 
11) 615 for all witnesses until they testify 
12) Withdraw 
13) Statements from guards - Ethics* psy analysis: Request another 706? 

Want someone the court & govt 

(DAE V; DA 196-97.) (emphasis added.) 

Prosecutors determined that t re was enough information to 

charge SGT Akbar with an offense under the UCMJ but they chose 

not to do so. (DAE U; DA 100-195.) On 31 March OS, the defense 

filed a motion in limine to preclude the use of uncharged 

misconduct at appellant's court-mart 1. (R. at App. Ex. 179). 

Trial counsel oppos the mot and the military judge heard 

arguments on 22 April 05. (R. at 2658-62.) The government 

informed the court that although additional charges might not be 

preferred, it remai a possibility, 

MJ: Right. You always have a remedy, right? 

TC: Your Honor, that's correct. 


MJ: The government has a remedy available to 

it, short of introducing evidence of the 

uncharged misconduct at this trial, correct? 


TC: That's correct, Your Honor. 

(R. at 2661.) Even though the government might prefer a charge 

to which counsel were witnesses or compli , counsel continued 

to resent SGT Akbar. No defense counsel should labor under 

such a conflict of interest. In fact, ethical rules prohibit a 
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lawyer from continuing representation of a client when that 

lawyer may also be a witness. See Army Reg. 27-26, Rules of 

Professional Conduct for Lawyers, Appendix B, Rule 3.7(b) (1 May 

1992) . 

Rule 3.7{a) Lawyer as Witness, states, "A lawyer shall not 

act as advocate at a tr 1 in which the lawyer is likely to be a 

necessary witness lf Although there are three exceptions 

to the rule, none are applicable here. Id. 31 Under the rule, 

an attorney is requi to decline representing a client if it 

is "likely" that the lawyer will be a necessary witness. In 

this tance, while MAJ  was not called as a witness 

in this court-martial, he could have been. But for Major 

 (a potential witness in the pending court-martial 

for the additional offenses) negligent actions in failing to 

secure the room, there would have been no access to the weapon 

used in the crime. Additionally, MAJ  negligence is 

even more shocking considering his knowledge of appellant's 

ychotic state of mind. 

An attorney has an ethical duty to identi conflicts of 

interest concerning the attorney's representation of a client 

and to take appropriate steps to decline or terminate 

representation when required by applicable rules, regardless of 

31 This rule is the same as Rule 3.7 of the American Bar 
Association's Model Rules of Professional Conduct. 
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whether a party-l igant has 1 a motion to disqualify the 

attorney. ABA Model Rule of Professional Conduct 1.16; see also 

Dep't of the Army Reg. 27-26, Rules of Professional Conduct for 

Lawyers, Appendix B, Rule 1.16 (May 1, 1992). One of the 

defense attorneys even compiled the aforementioned list 

response to se new offenses. (DAE V; DA 196-97.) Defense 

counsel clearly identified the conflict of interest, and 

contemplated the ethical lemma they were facing because of MAJ 

 involvement in this new 0 nse. Furthermore, they 

clearly recognized concerns about continuing to represent SGT 

Akbar, but failed to bring it to t attention of the court. 

Id. There was an obvious conflict of interest which adversely 

affected counsel's performance. Trial defense counsel no longer 

had just SGT Akbar's interests in mind, but also t ir own 

interest in avoiding any punishment for their negligent role in 

the offenses. To be blunt, due to their own possible punitive 

exposure, the best outcome for defense counsel was a guilty 

verdict with a sentence to death, for then their careers could 

continue unimpeded and t government's interest in pursuing 

additional charges would be largely eliminated. 32 

Many courts have found an actual conflict of interest when 

a fendant's lawyer faces possible criminal charges or 

32 Once a sentence to death has n obtained, the government has 
every incentive to avoid taking act against the de e 
counsel as doing so would only highlight the conflict. 
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disciplinary consequences as a result of the lawyer's behavior 

related to the client's. See, e.g., United States v. Greig, 967 

F.2d 1018, 1022 (5th Cir. 1992) (actual conflict when attorney 

implicated in obstructing justice to aid defendant); Government 

of Virgin Islands v. Zepp, 748 F.2d 125, 136 (3d Cir. 

1984) (actual conflict when attorney involved in the destruction 

of evidence in defendant's case); United States v. White, 706 

F.2d 506, 507 08 (5th Cir. 1983) (actual conflict when attorneys 

being investigat concerning prior escape of defendant); see 

also United States v. ton, 5 F.3d 605, 609-10 (2d Cir. N.Y. 

1993) ("when 'an attorney is accused of crimes similar or related 

to those of his client, an actual conflict exists because the 

potential for diminished e ctiveness in representation is so 

great.'" (quoting Mannhalt v. Reed, 847 F.2d 576, 581 (9th 

Cir.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 908 (1988))). 

In cases such as this, where the attorney is being 

investigat or otherwise involved with the criminal activity, 

courts are concerned that defense counsel's performance may be 

motivated primarily to avoid further incriminating himself. See 

United States v. Arrington, 867 F.2d 122, 129 (2d Cir.), cert. 

deni ; Davis v. United States, 493 U.S. 817 (1989); Zepp, 748 

F.2d 125, 136 (3d Cir. 1984) (stating that lawyer facing 

potential liability is not likely to" gorously pursue his 

client's best interest free from the influence of his own 
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incrimination") (citation omitted). After all, when "counsel 

has been placed in the pos ion of having to worry about 

allegations of his own misconduct, [w]hat could be more of 

a conflict than a concern over getting oneself to troub with 

criminal law enforcement authorities?" Arrington, 867 F.2d 122, 

129 (2d Cir. N.Y. 1989) (c ations omitted). This was a clear 

and actual conflict of interest that required defense counsel to 

seek withdrawal or waiver from appellant a er full disclosure. 

Instead, defense counsel concealed the conflict from the court 

and appellant. 

The effect of this conflict was adverse to SGT Akbar's 

interests. Defense counsel had defense experts requesting more 

time to investigate and conduct testing of SGT Akbar to be ready 

for trial. Additionally, defense counsel were pressured to 

proceed to trial and avoid the wrath that these additional 

charges would bring. Had they done what they should have done 

that is, seek to withdraw due to an actual conflict of interest 

the trial may have been layed for a year or more, contrary 

to the trial counsel's expressed wishes, which forseeably would 

have resulted in punitive action against defense counsel given 

the t al counsel's demonstrated manipulation of defense 

counsel's assignments. 

Defense counsel never explained this conflict of st 

to SGT Akbar or the court. Only those involved in the 
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investigation - the prosecutors and the defense counsel - would 

know of this conflict of interest. With the personal knowledge 

that he could not adequately represent the appellant in this 

case, MAJ  failed in his obligation to his client. 

Consequently, Sergeant Akbar was den the effective assistance 

of counsel, and, therefore, is entitled to a new trial. See 

United States v. Scott, 24 M.J. 186 (C.M.A. 1987). 

WHEREFORE, Sergeant Akbar respectfully requests this Court 

set aside the findings and sentence in this capital case. 

At a minimum, a fact finding hearing under United States v. 

DuBay, 17 U.S.C.M.A. 147, 37 C.M.R. 411 (1967), must be ordered. 

See United States v. Smith, 36 M.J. 455, 457 (C.M.A. 1993) (a 

DuBay hearing ordered to determine whether there was 1) multiple 

representation, 2) whether an actual conflict of interest 

existed, and 3) whether the conflict of interest advers 

affected counsel's representation of appellant). 
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Part Five: Trial Errors 

Assignment of Error III. 

WHEN READ WITH OTHER SUPREME COURT 
PRECEDENT, MILITARY CASE LAW, AND CASES FROM 
OTHER FEDERAL JURISDICTIONS, RING V. 
ARIZONA, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), AND ITS 
UNDERLYING RATIONALE REVEAL CHARGES WERE 
IMPROPERLY PREFERRED, INVESTIGATED, AND 
REFERRED, AND APPELLANT'S CONVICTION AND 
DEATH SENTENCE WAS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY 
ADJUDGED. 

Introduction 

The Supreme Court's decisions in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 

530 U.S. 466 (2000), and Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), 

changed the fundamental finitions in all capital punishment 

systems, to include t military. After Ring, capital 

aggravating factors must be considered elements, not sentencing 

considerations and therefore must be found beyond a reasonable 

doubt. In light of Ring, the enactment of the entire capital 

sentencing procedure in the military is inval and must re 

evaluated. Since this infirm procedure was applied to 

appellant, the ndings and sentence must be set aside. 

In Apprendi, the Supreme Court held that a criminal 

fendant is entitled to a jury determination of every element 

of the crime for which he is charged. 530 at 476. This 

requirement extends to any fact that increases the penalty a 

crime. Id. at 491. The Court determined that provisions of New 

Jersey's hate crime enhancement statute were unconstitutional 
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because placed the determination whether the sentence 

enhancement applied before the trial judge rather than before a 

jury. Id. at 495. 

In Ring, the Court held that provisions Arizona's death 

penalty law that were identical to those found in R.C.M. 1004(c) 

during the prosecution of appellant's case are not sentencing 

factors, but "the functional equivalent of an element" of the 

offense of capital murder that must be found by a jury beyond a 

reasonable doubt. See Ring at 608-09 (citation omitted). When 

read with other Supreme Court precedent, military case law, and 

cases from other federal jurisdictions, Ring and its underlying 

rationa require relief in appellant's case r the reasons 

summa zed below and set forth in greater detail following an 

analysis of Ring and its general applicability to the military 

justice system. 

Issue 1 

As elements of the offense of capit murder, the 

provisions of R.C.M. 1004(c) relevant to a particular capital 

case (1) must be alleged either expressly or by necessary 

implication in the charges preferred against an accused in 

accordance with R.C.M. 307; (2) they must be expressly 

investigated pursuant to R.C.M. 405 and Artic 32 of the UCMJ, 

and; (3) they must be expressly referred to trial by court 
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martial by the convening authority pursuant to R.C.M. 601. The 

R.C.M. 1004(c) provisions relevant to appellant's case were not 

expressly alleged in the charges preferred against him, they 

were not expressly investigated pursuant to R.C.M. 405 and 

Arti 32, UCMJ, and t y were not expressly referred to his 

court-martial by the convening autho ty. These jurisdictional 

de cts in appellant's case require this Court to set asi the 

findings and dismiss the charges against him. Furthermore, to 

the extent the UCMJ or the R.C.M. provide alternate means for 

authorizing a death sentence, Ring has rendered unconstitutional 

any such alternate means. 

Issue 2 

As elements of the offense of capital murder, the 

provisions of R.C.M. 1004(c) applicable to a particular capital 

case must be enacted by Congress and may not be promulgated by 

the President. Accordingly, Ring has rendered unconstitutional 

on grounds of separation of powers, the provisions of R.C.M. 

1004(c) relevant to appellant's case, which were promul ed by 

the President. This juris ctional defect in appellant's case 

requires this Court to set aside the findings and smiss the 

charges against him. 

Issue 3 

The rationale underlying Ring and the cases upon which it 

relies has also rendered unconstitutional R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4) (C), 
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which fails to expressly require the "beyond a reasonable doubt" 

standard for a finding that any extenuating or mitigating 

circumstances are substantially outweighed by any admissible 

aggravating circumstances. Accordingly, this Court must set 

aside appellant's death sentence. 

Analysis of Ring 

In Ring, the Supreme Court reviewed Arizona's capital 

sentencing scheme, which, at the time, was in many ways very 

similar to the military's current capital sentencing structure. 

Like the existing UMCJ, the Arizona law under review in Ring 

authorized death or life imp sonment for premeditated murder. 

Compare Art. 118, UCMJ with AR:::Z. REV. STAT. ANN. § 13-1105 (C) 

(2001) . so similar to the military's current capital 

sentencing ru s, Arizona's then existing capital sentencing 

procedure required the sentencing authority to make two crucial 

findings before the death penalty even became an eligible 

sentencing option. Upon a finding of guilt for premeditated 

murder, death was not an eligible punishment under Arizona law 

unless the sentencing authority conducted a two-pronged 

sentencing hearing where he or she had to find, (1) the 

existence of at least one aggravating factor beyond a reasonable 

doubt, and (2) "that there are no mitigating circumstances 

suff iently substantial to call for leniency." ARIZ. REV. STAT. 

ANN. § 13 703 (C) (2001). Without these findings, the maximum 
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punishment for premeditated murder under the then-existing 

Arizona law (and the current UCMJ) was life imprisonment. Id. 

After reviewing Arizona's capital sentencing procedure, the 

Supreme Court found that although the Arizona murder statute 

authorized the death penalty for premeditated murder, death 

actually was not an eligible punishment unless the two-pronged 

capital sentencing requirements were satisfied. See Ring, 536 

U.S. at 592-97. Upon a finding of guilt alone, a defendant was 

constitutionally eligible only for a mandatory maximum sentence 

of life in prison. Id. at 597. The Court then determined that 

the additional, constitutionally-required finding that at least 

one aggravating factor existed in a particular case exposed the 

defendant to a greater punishment than that authorized solely by 

the jury's guilty verdict. Id. at 609 ting Apprendi v. New 

Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 541 (2000)}. Those aggravating factors, 

the Court therefore held, are the functional equivalent of 

elements of the offense of capital murder. Ring, 536 U.S. at 

609. Looking only at the aggravating factor finding, and 

relying on Apprendi, the Court then concluded constitutional 

consi rations require the jury to make the finding that at 

least one aggravating factor existed in a particular case beyond 

a reasonable doubt. Id. at 609 (Given that Ring was resolved on 

the first prong of t then- sting Arizona capital sentencing 

structure, the Court did not need to ew and did not rule on 
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the second prong, which, like the current UCMJ, required a 

weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances). 

Although Ring's holding explicitly attached the Sixth 

Amendment ght to t al by jury to capital-aggravating factors, 

536 U.S. at 609, it is applicable to the military justice system 

via the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment for several 

33reasons. 

First, although the proof beyond a reasonable doubt standard 

was implicit in the Arizona statute reviewed Ring, the Ring 

Court expressly reiterated Apprendi's holding that each 

functional element must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt, 536 

U.S. at 597 & 601-602, and, in , effectively extended 

Apprendi's rationale to capital sentencing factors. Id. at 609. 

33 There is also merit to the argument that the Sixth Amendment 
right to trial by jury applies in the military justice system 
notwithstanding the United States Supreme Court's decision in Ex 
Parte Quirin, 317 U.S. 1, 39-40 (1942) and the decision of the 
Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces in Uni States v. 
Lambert, 55 M.J. 293, 295 (C.A.A.F. 2001). Conceptually, there 
simply is no meaningful difference between the right to a 
criminal trial by an impartial jury, as codified in Article III, 
sec 2, and the Sixth Amendment, and the right to a court-martial 
by an impartial panel, either as codifi in the UCMJ and the 
R.C.M., or as divined by our highest military court from the 
Sixth or Fifth Amendments. See Lambert at 295 ("[TJhe Sixth 
Amendment requirement that the jury be impartial applies to 
court-martial members. . fI); United States v. Elfayoumi, 66 
M.J. 354, 356 (C.A.A.F. 2008) ("As a matter of due process, an 
accused has a constitutional right, as well as a regulatory 
right, to a fair and impartial panel. fI ) (citations and internal 
quotation marks omitted). 
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This extension is significant because the "beyond a reasonable 

doubt" standard is based on the fth Amendment's Due Process 

guarantee, which is applicab to the military. United States 

v. Czekala, 42 M.J. 168, 170 (C.A.A.F. 1995) (citing In Re 

Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 363-64 (1970) ("[W]e explicitly hold that 

the Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction 

except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact 

necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged")); 

see also Weiss v. United States, 510, U.S. 163, 176 177 (1994) 

("Congress, of course, is subject to the requirements of the Due 

Process Clause when legislating in the area of military affairs, 

and that Clause provides some measure of protection to 

defendants in military proceedings"); United States v. Mapes, 59 

M.J. 60, 65 (C.A.A.F. 2003) ("[T]he Constitution each 

servicemember swears to fend af to every servicemember 

Constitutional protections"). Thus, Ring logically and legally 

applies to the military justice system. 

Second, the Supreme Court has previously expressed fth 

Amendment Due Process concerns about facts that increase the 

maximum penalty for a crime: 

[U]nder the Due Process Clause of the Fifth 
Amendment and the notice and jury t al 
guarantees of the Sixth Amendment, any fact 
(other than prior conviction) that increases 
the maximum penalty for a crime must be 
charged in an indictment, submitted to a 
jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt. 
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Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227, 243 n.6. These same 

concerns lped shape Ring's rationale and holding. Indeed, as 

in Jones, the Court's focus in Ring was on facts that increased 

the maximum penalty for a crime. See Ring, 536 U.S. at 602 ("If 

a State makes an increase in a defendant's authorized punishment 

contingent on the finding of a fact, that ct -- no matter how 

the State labels it -- must be found by a jury beyond a 

reasonable doubt"). Accordingly, although expressly made on 

Sixth Amendment grounds, Ring's holding is premised on concerns 

that also trigger the Fifth Amendment's Due Process Clause, 

which is applicable to the military. 

Additionally, after Ring, the Supreme Court found no 

difference between the applicability of the Sixth Amendment jury 

tr 1 guarantee and the fth Amendment Double Jeopardy Clause 

when considering capital-aggravating factors as elements. As 

Justice Scalia wrote for the Court in Sattazahn v. Pennsylvania: 

In Ring v. Arizona, we held that aggravating 
rcumstances that make a defendant eligible 

for the death penalty operate as the 
functional equivalent of an element of a 
greater offense. That is to say, for 
purposes of the Sixth Amendment's jury-trial 
guarantee, the underlying offense of 
"murder" is a distinct, lesser included 
offense of "murder plus one or more 
aggravating circumstances": Whereas the 
former exposes a defendant to a maximum 
penalty of life imprisonment, the latter 
increases the maximum rmiss Ie sentence 
to death. Accordingly, we held that the 
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Sixth Amendment requires that a jury, and 
not a judge, find the existence of any 
aggravating circumstances, and that they be 
found, not by a mere preponderance of the 
evidence, but beyond a reasonable doubt. We 
can think of no principled reason to 
distinguish, in this context, between what 
constitutes an offense for purposes of the 
Sixth Amendment's jury-trial guarantee and 
what constitutes an "offence" r purposes 
of the Fifth Amendment's Double Jeopardy 
Clause. In the post-Ring world, the Double 
Jeopardy Clause can, and must, apply to some 
capital-sentencing proceedings consistent 
with the text of the fth Amendment. 

537 U.S. 101, 111-12 (2003) (internal quotation marks and 

citations omitted). 

Just as there is "no incipled reason" to distinguish 

between "what constitutes an offense for purposes the Sixth 

Amendment's jury-trial guarantee and what constitutes an 

'offence' for purposes of the fth Amendment's Double Jeopardy 

Clause," Id., there is no principled reason to distinguish 

between what constitutes an offense r purposes of the Sixth 

Amendment's jury-tri guarantee and what const utes an offense 

for purposes of the fth Amendment's Due Process Clause. In 

the post Ring world, the Due Process Clause, like the Double 

Jeopardy Clause, can, and must, apply to capital-sentencing 

proceedings consistent with the text of the fth Amendment. 

As explained more fully below, when read with other Supreme 

Court precedent, military case law, and cases from other federal 

jurisdictions, Ring applies to the military justice system and 
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requires this Court to set aside the findings in appellant's 

case and dismiss the charges against him, or set aside his death 

sentence. 

ISSUE 1: APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE WAS ADJUDGED 
UNCONSTITUTIONALLY WHERE THE R.C.M. 1004 (C) PROVISIONS 
RELEVANT TO HIS CASE WERE NOT EXPRESSLY ALLEGED IN THE 
CHARGES PREFERRED AGAINST HIM, WERE NOT EXPRESSLY 
INVESTIGATED PURSUANT TO R.C.M. 405 AND ARTICLE 32, 
UCMJ, AND WERE NOT EXPRESSLY REFERRED TO HIS COURT 
MARTIAL BY THE CONVENING AUTHORITY. 

Statement of Facts 

On 22 May 03, the government pre charges against 

appellant alleging two specifications of a violation of Article 

118 (1), UCMJ. (R. at Charge Sheet.) The government d not 

allege a capital aggravating factor under R.C.M. 1004 (c) in the 

charge sheet. Id. Appellant's Article 32 aring was held from 

16 June 2003 until 20 June 2003. (R. at App. Ex. 75.) The 

investigating officer refused, despite defense requests, to make 

any ndings regarding the existence of any ctor under R.C.M. 

1004. (R. at App. Ex. 75.) On 2 March 2004, the charges were 

referred by the convening authority to a general courts-martial 

with no special instructions. (R. at Charge Sheet.) On 9 March 

2004, appellant received notice of two aggravating factors the 

government intended to prove at trial. (R. at App. Ex. 1.) 

Standard of Review 

The standard of ew for violations of Appellant's due 

process rights is generally novo plenary review. See Miller 
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v. Fenton, 474 U.S. 104 (1985); United States v. Dearing, 63 

M.J. 478, (C.A.A.F. 2006); United States v. New, 55 M.J. 95, 100 

(C.A.A.F. 2001); United States v. Collier, 36 M.J. 501, 504 

(A.F.C.M.R. 1992). This Court has never reviewed this type of 

error with respect to pre-t al procedural rights. Appellant 

therefore asks this Court to look at the standard of review for 

Apprendi-type errors in the federal circuit courts. When 

reviewing an Apprendi error, Federal Circuit courts apply 

novo review where the appellant has timely objected and 

preserved the objection. See United States v. Mackins, 315 F.3d 

399, 405 (4th Cir. 2003) (applying novo review to the failure 

to send Apprendi elements through the grand jury process) . 

Appellant properly preserved his Fifth Amendment due process 

claim his numerous and repeated objections to the failure to 

prefer aggravating factors before the Art. 32 ring. (R. at 

391 403; App. Ex. 90.) Appellant object before the Art. 32 

hearing, during the Art. 32 hearing process, after the Art. 32 

hearing, and at the Art. 39(a) session held in the case. Id. 

Appellant properly objected to the referral without the 

aggravating factors as contrary to the statutory intent and a 

denial of due process, preserving his Fifth Amendment, 

statutory, and regulatory aims. (R. at App. Ex. 113.) 
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Argument 

Preferral and referral of capital charges without notice of 

capital-aggravating factors or an Article 32 inquiry into the 

basis for those factors violates appellant's due process rights 

based on the framework in Ring v. Arizona and Jones v. United 

States. The court-martial s em in place at the time of 

appellant's trial (and still in place today) attempted to 

satisfy the basic Fifth and Sixth Amendment notice and due 

process concerns by pleading each element of the offense on the 

charge sheet and submitting them to an Article 32 investigation. 

However, under R.C.M. 1004(b) (I), notice of capital-aggravating 

factors to be proven by the government a court-martial, 

needed only be provided to an accused at any time before 

arraignment by the trial counsel. See R.C.M. 1004(b) (1). 

Appellant argues that (a) pre-trial Fifth Amendment Due Process 

protections are applicable to any fact that increases an 

accused's maximum punishment, (b) capital-aggravating factors 

receive pre-trial Fifth Amendment Due Process protections, (c) 

the military's pre-trial procedures are intended to be the 

replacement for constitutionally guaranteed Federal Fifth 

Amendment protections, (d) those protections were required for 

the capital aggravating ctors in appellant's trial, but were 

not afforded to appellant, and (e) the government cannot show 

that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 
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a. 	Federal Fifth Amendment protections applicable to each 
offense before trial. 

As generally described above, Ring v. Arizona and Jones v. 

United States est ish that capital-aggravating factors in the 

federal criminal justice system must be in the indictment 

and submitted to the grand jury. Although Ring does not state 

expli tly that capital-aggravating ors must be pled in the 

indictment and submi to grand jury (arguably cause of 

the "tightly lineated" nature of the appeal and the fact that 

it was a state proceeding to which grand jury ght does not 

apply, see Ring, 536 U.S. at 597 n.4), that conclusion follows 

inexorably from Ring's underlying rationale Jones, where the 

Supreme Court noted that, "[m]uch turns on the rmination 

that a fact is an element of an offense rather than a sentencing 

consideration, g that elements must be charged the 

indictment, submitted to a jury, and proven by Government 

beyond a reasonable doubt." Jones, 526 U.S. at 232; see also 

Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 476 (2000) (applying the same rule to 

state convictions and the right to trial by jury under the 

Fourteenth Amendment) . 

Seve federal circuit courts deciding the issue concur, 

have ruled accordingly. The Second Circuit, for example, 

has found that federal criminal law requires capit -aggravating 

ors pled an indictment and submitted to a grand jury. 
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See United States v. Quinones, 313 F.3d 49, 53 n.1 (2d Cir. 

2002); see also United States v. Jackson, 327 F.3d 273, 287 (4th 

Cir. 2003) ("to impose t death sentence on Jackson in this 

case, the indictment must allege all elements of an aggravated 

offense," which includes alleging at least one aggravating 

factor in the indictment). Second Circuit stated, 

"statutory aggravating factors [] pursuant to Ring v. Arizona 

. must now be alleged in t indictment and found by a jury 

in capital cases." Id. 

Additional support for the conclusion that cap 1­

aggravating factors in the federal criminal justice system must 

be pled in the indictment and submitted to the grand jury is 

found in the majority of federal circuits that have revers 

increas sentences where a sentencing consideration that 

reased a defendant's maximum punishment was not included in 

the indictment and submitted to the grand jury process. See, 

e.g., United States v. Cotton, 535 U.S. 625, 631-32 (2002) ("The 

Government conce s that the indictment's ilure to allege a 

fact, drug quantity, that increased the statutory maximum 

sentence rendered respondent's enhanced sentences erroneous 

under the reasoning of Apprendi and Jones"); see also Uni ted 

States v. Thomas, 274 F.3d 655, 663 (2d Cir. 2001) (en bane) 

(collecting cases); United States v. Stewart, 306 F.3d 295, 320­

23 (6th Cir. 2002) (collecting cases). Indeed, a majority of 
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rcuits require that aggravating factors be pled in the 

indictment to ensure proper notice and due process. See Thomas, 

274 F.3d at 663, 670-73; Stewart, 306 F.3d at 323. 

b. 	Military Pre-trial Due Process protections applicable to an 
offense. 

Under the military justice system, the Charge Sheet and 

Article 32 aring fulfill the constitutional notice and due 

process requirements satis ed by the indictment and grand jury 

in 	the federal civilian system. As the Court of Military 

Appeals stated: 

The true test of the sufficiency of an 
indictment is. . whether it cont ns the 
elements of the offense intended to be 
charged, and suf ciently apprises the 
defendant of what he must prepared to 
meet; and, in case any other proceedings are 
taken against him for a similar offense, 
whether the record shows with accuracy to 
what extent he may plead a former acquittal 
or conviction. 

United States v. Sell, 3 C.M.A. 202, 206, 11 C.M.R. 202, 206 

(C.M.A. 1953) (emphasis added); see also Stirone v. United 

States, 361 U.S. 212, 218-19 (1960) (Because the primary purpose 

of the grand jury is to "limit [one's] jeopardy to offenses 

charged by a group of his low tizens acting independently 

of either the prosecuting attorney or judge," the government 

must send all elements of the offense to the grand jury to 

ensure due process). 
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While "there is no clear analog to the 'formal indictment 

or in rmation' in the Armed Forces," preferral or referral of 

charges are analogous. United States v. Vogan, 35 M.J. 32, 33 

(C. M.A. 1992)). Indeed, the fundamental constitutional 

guarantees of notice, due process, and the ability to defend 

against the charge are satisfi by giving notice of the offense 

on the charge sheet. United States v. Weymouth, 43 M.J. 329, 

333 (1995). Therefore, the charge sheet and statute should 

together inform the accused of all conduct will have to 

defend against at trial. W. A recitation of the statute 

is inadequate notice of t offense charged. Id. at 335. 

Similarly, just as the grand jury serves as the buffer 

between the state and the accused, "The Artic [32 hearing] 

serves a twofold purpose. It rates as a discovery ceeding 

r accused and stands as a bulwark against baseless 

charges." United States v. Samuels, 10 C.M.A. 206, 27 C.M.R. 

280, 286 (C.M.A. 1959). Thus, the Court of Appeals for the 

Armed Forces concluded, "even though the absolute requirement of 

a grand jury indictment in courts-martial has been reject by 

the Supreme Court, Article 32, UCMJ . grants rights to the 

accused ter than he or she would have at a civilian grand 

j "See United States v. Cur s, 44 M.J. 106, 130 (C.A.A.F. 

2006) (emphasis added). Because this hearing is so central to 

the due process protections afforded to military members, other 
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constitutional rights attach at the hearing, such as the right 

to counsel. United States v. Mickel, 9 C.M.A. 324, 326-27, 26 

C.M.R. 104, 106-07 (C.M.A. 1958) (right to counsel fundamental 

at an Article 32 proceeding); see also United States v. Loving, 

41 M.J. 213, 296-97 ("Arti 32, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 832, was 

intended to provide a substitute for the grand jury"); United 

States v. Bell, 44 M.J. 403, 406 (1996) ations omitted) 

("The Article 32 investi ion is the military equivalent of a 

grand jury"). 

Finally, another facet of due process in the litary, 

which has not been addressed in other ita1 cases, is the 

availability of discovery. Under Brady v. Ma and, 373 U.S. 83 

(1963), and United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985), an 

accused is entitled under the fth Amendment's Due Process 

Clause to discovery of exculpatory dence before tal. See 

erally United States v. Romano, 46 M.J. 269 (1997). In the 

military, discovery rights begin upon referral of cha s or as 

soon as practicable after ferral Brady material. See 

R.C.M. 701 (a) (6). In order to be helpful to the defense, 

however, discovery must come at a meaningful time before trial 

to prepare a defense. Thus, discovery given to the defense at 

the moment be trial is insufficient to meet the requirements 

of process. See United States v. Worden, 38 C.M.R. 284, 

286-7 (C.M.A. 1968) (fai to serve de se counsel with 
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charge sheets until one day before hearing may deny the accused 

the right to effective assistance of counsel). 

c. 
------------------~--------~--------------~~----------------

due process, and the ability to defend against the offense. 

Under the current military justice system, and in place 

during the prosecution of appellant's case, notice of capit 

aggravating factors to be proven by the government may be 

provided to a military accused at any time before arraignment. 

See R.C.M. 1004(b) (1); App. Ex. 1. Further, the procedure 

allows the tri counsel, not the convening author y, to merely 

give the notice to the fense counsel. See R.C.M. 1004(b) (1). 

In this case, charges against appellant were initially pre 

on 25 March 2003. (R. at Charge Sheet.) Appellant did not 

receive notice of the aggravating factors the government 

intended to prove at tri ,however, until 9 March 2004, the day 

of arraignment. (R. at App. Ex 1.) Moreover, this notice was 

deficient because it iled to apprise the defendant of the 

facts supporting the cited sections of the Manual. See 

Weymouth, 43 M.J. at 335; see also United States v. Curtis, 32 

M.J. 252, 254 n.2 (C.M.A. 1991) ("it would be advisable for the 

notice to be precise as to what factors are being relied on for 

each speci cation which carries the death penalty") . 

The milita 's current procedure for notifying an accused 

of the aggravating factors alleged against him deprived 
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appellant of constitutionally adequate notice, due process, and 

effective assistance of counsel at his Article 32 hearing, which 

was held on 16 to 20 June 2003. (R. at App. Ex. 75.) 

As the primary means of establishing probable cause for 

cha s against an accused, the Arti 32 proceeding must serve 

the "referee" function much like the grand jury. Though the 

convening authority is not required to follow the 

recommendations of the Article 32 investi ing officer, the 

independent invest ion is at ast a check on government 

power that is not necessarily tied to the convening authority. 

For the military preferral and referral process to have 

suffi ent sa gua to ensure due process, the Article 32 

hearing and charge sheet must inform the accused of each element 

of the of se. Loving, 41 M.J. at 296 7; see also Art. 32 (b) 

and (d), UCMJ. After Ring, that includes, at a minimum, notice 

of the aggravating factors to be proved by the government from 

R.C.M. 1004 (c) . 

Accordingly, R.C.M. 1004, as it exist at the t of 

appellant's trial, and as it currently exists, denies every 

capital accus the ability to shion a defense because the 

elements of the offense are not necessarily known at t Article 

32 hearing st or even when cha s are preferred. Any 

implicit notice by way of appellant's counsel's knowledge of 

R.C.M. 1004 is unhelpful and insufficient because appellant 
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would be left to dec which if any aggravating factor he would 

have to defend against without a specific statement of the 

aggravating factors he would face. "Mere re tat ion of 

statutory elements would provide se ce members no notice 

whatever in such cases . Such an allegation would fail 

utterly to provide an accu the requisite due process notice 

and protection against double jeopardy.~ Weymouth, 43 M.J. at 

335. As the Navy-Marine Court has noted, the focus should be on 

the language of the charge sheet and specification, not the 

statute or regulation, to determine double jeopardy protection 

and notice. United States v. Ray, 51 M.J. 511, 513 (N. M. Ct. 

Crim. App. 1999). The fact that several of the charges on the 

charge sheet might have implied particular aggravating factors 

also gives the appellant inadequate notice and no double 

jeopardy protection. In such a case, an accused is left to 

wonder what the ent 1 aggravating factors would be. As this 

Court stated, "Among other things, the specification (e.g., the 

pleadings) should 'sufficiently speci to inform the 

accused of the conduct charged [and] to enable the accused to 

~ prepare a defense . , United States v. Looney, 48 M.J. 

681, 685 (A. Ct. Crim. App. 1998) (citing R.C.M. 307 (c) (3), 

Discussion at 'IT (G) (iii)). 

The aggravating factors in this case did not appear on the 

charge sheet and were not provided to the de se until 9 March 
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2004. See R. at App. Ex 1. The fact that two murders appeared 

on the cha sheet does not constitute notice of the third 

aggravating factor, i.e., two violations of Art. 118, UCMJ in 

the same case. See R.C.M. 1004 (c) (7) (J). The charges on the 

charge sheet do not supply notice of the aggravating factors the 

government would seek to prove. Rather, they leave Appellant 

wondering whether the government's evidence will prove these 

potential aggravating factors. See United States v. Gallo, 53 

M.J. 556, 564 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. 2000), aff'd 55 M.J. 418 

(2001) (citing United States v. Sell, 11 C.M.R. 202, 206 (C.M.A. 

1953)) (the focus of suf ciency of a specification is on the 

words not the evidence). Appellant could only speculate about 

some possible aggravating factors given the other charges. 

Appellant did not even know at the pretrial stages that the case 

would be eligible for consideration of aggravating factors 

because a capital prosecution referral is required only after 

the Art. 32 hearing. See R.C.M. 601(e), Discussion. Neither 

cification of Art. 118, UCMJ, gave him actual notice of the 

aggravating factors that he would have to defend against. See 

R.C.M. 307 (c) (3) (a specification is "sufficient if it alleges 

every element of the charged offense either expressly or by 

necessary implication."). The trial defense counsel were 

unprepared to cross-examine witnesses regarding the aggravating 

factors at the Article 32 hearing and unprepared to defend 
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against specific aggravating factors because they had no notice 

of the factors to be proven at trial. 

Because Appellant was denied this notice and opportunity to 

defend against the elements to be proven by the government, the 

findings should be set asi and a new Article 32 hearing 

ordered. 

violates appellant's rights under Articles 32 and 34, UCMJ 
to notice of the elements of the offense. 

If this Court finds that the Due Process Clause was not 

violated by the manner in which capital-aggravating factors were 

pled, alternatively, the government's failure to give appellant 

notice of capital-aggravating factors on the charge sheet and 

allow investigation into the noticed factors at the Arti 32 

hearing rendered the court-martial devoid of jurisdiction over 

capital offense and olated Appellant's rights under 

Article 32 and 34, UCMJ and R.C.M. 405. 

1 . 

Whether an offense is properly before a court-martial is a 

question of jurisdiction. See Unit States v. Henderson, 59 

M.J. 350 (C.A.A.F. 2004). This Court conducts de novo review of 

jurisdictional issues. Id. 
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The convening authority has the so non-delegable power to 

refer charges against an accused. United States v. Roberts, 22 

C.M.R. 112, 116 (C.M.A. 1956). "Consistent with the legislat 

intent, [the Court of Military Appeals] has emphasized on many 

occasions that . . . referral of charges to trial by court 

martial, requires the personal decision of the convening 

authority, which cannot be legated." United States v. 

Wilkins, 29 M.J. 421, 424 (C.M.A. 1990) ting United States v. 

Simpson, 36 C.M.R. 293, 295 (1966)). Relying upon Articles 22, 

23, and 24, UCMJ, the Court of Military Appeals in Wilkins, 

found that a general court-martial may only consider charges 

referred to by the officer convening the court or his 

successor. See Wilkins, 29 M.J. at 424-25. 

The Court of litary Appeals has recognized that, in the 

1984 Manual for Courts-Martial, referral of a charge to trial by 

a competent authority is a jurisdictional prerequisite: 

Referral occurs when the convening authority 
personally orders that charges against an 
accus be tried by a specified court 
mart 1. This is normally accomplished by 
an appropriate notation on the cha sheet 
(express referral). It may also occur in 
other ways that are functionally equivalent, 
such as by entering into a pret al 
agreement to re r certain charges to a 
specified court-mart 1 (constructive 
re rral). 

United States v. Longmire, 39 M.J. 536, 539 40 (A.C.M.R. 1994) 

citing Wilkins, 29 M.J. at 421; R.C.M. 201 (b) (3). 
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There , the convening authority in a capital case must 

refer a charge and specification with suffi ent elements to 

permit the imposition of the death penalty. Under the Supreme 

Court's formulation of capital sentencing after Ring v. Arizona, 

536 U.S. 584 (2002), the offense of capital murder and capital 

murder plus an aggravating factor are distinct offenses. The 

Supreme Court's decision in Sattazahn v. Pennsylvania, 537 U.S. 

101 (2003), is instructive in this case. Addressing the 

application of the Double Jeopardy use to a capital 

sentencing hearing, the Court noted two relevant principles 

particular to capital murder cases: (1) capital sentencing 

hearings have all of the Ilmarks of jury trials and, 

therefore, require all of the same constitutional protections 

afforded at trial; and (2) the application of Apprendi to 

capital sentencing leads to only one conclusion that "murder 

plus one or more aggravating circumstances is a separate offense 

from murder." Id. at 106-07, 110 13 (Scalia, J., concurring, 

Rehnquist, C.J., and Thomas, J., joining). The corresponding 

refinement of the stinction between elements and sentencing 

enhancements, led Justice Scal to conclude that, "for purposes 

of Sixth Amendment's jury-trial guarantee, the underlying 

of e of 'murder' is a distinct, lesser included offense of 

'murder plus one or more aggravating circumstances.' Whereas 

the former exposes a defendant to a maximum penalty of life 
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imprisonment, the latter creases the maximum rmissible 

sentence to death.u Id. at Ill. 

As applied to the mil ry referral process, the convening 

authority must refer a capital offense in order to g the 

court-marti jurisdiction over the death sentence. See 

Wilkins, 29 M.J. at 424-25; see also Drafters' Analysis, MANUAL 

FOR COURTS-MARTIAL, UNITED STATES (2002 ed.), App. 21 at A21-8 ("a 

court-mart 1 has the power to dispose only of those of ses 

which a convening authority has refe to it U 
). To const ute 

the required elements of a capital offense under the Supreme 

Court's definition in Ring and Sattazahn, the convening 

authority must refer a charge and specification under Art. 118 

sufficient aggravating factors to rmit the imposition of 

the death penalty. See Ring, 536 U.S. at 596-98, 604, 609: 

Sattazahn, 537 U.S. 110-11. mil ary system, however, 

legates the task of deciding which aggravating ctors the 

government will prove at trial to the trial counsel. See R.C.M. 

1004(b) (1): see also App. Ex. 113 (defense motion to require the 

convening autho ty to refer cap aI-aggravating factors). 

In this case, consistent with the requirements in R.C.M. 

1004 (b) (1), the t al counsel specified the aggravating factors 

the government would prove this case, not the convening 

authority. (R. at App. Ex. 1.) Appellant objected at trial to 

this method of "referral" and requested that the convening 
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authority refer the capital-aggravating factors. (R. at 178, 

211; App. Ex. 113.) The government opposed that motion, arguing 

the convening autho ty referred this case after reviewing the 

pretri advice, which noted the existence aggravating factors. 

(R. at App. Ex. 44.) The government concluded that, "the 

convening authority had no duty to determine that an aggravating 

factor exists be re rring a cap 1 of se to this general 

court-martial." Id. Ring v. Arizona specifically contradicts 

this reasoning. Capital-aggravating ors are like "offenses 

and their elements" and do require the same procedural 

protections. See Ring, 536 u.s. at 604, 609. As the Supreme 

Court stated Apprendi v. New Jersey: 

If the defendant faces punishment beyond 
that provided by the statute when an offense 
is committed under certain circumstances but 
not others, it is obvious that both loss of 
1 rty and t stigma attaching to the 
offense are ightened; it necessarily 
follows that the fendant should not at 
the moment the State is put to proof of 
those circumstances - be deprived of 
protections that have, until that point, 
unquestionably atta 

530 u.S. at 484 (emphasis added). One of those protections in 

the military is the personal action of the convening author y 

to refer the cha s. However, R.C.M. 1004 (b) (1) and the trial 

counsel's act in this case deprived appellant of that 

protection. 
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In this case, basis for specifying the aggravating 

factors was not the "personal is ion" of the convening 

authority or even his constructive action. Rather, was based 

solely on the trial counsel's determination of the aggravating 

factors present in the case. Therefore, Court below did not 

have juri ction to try Appellant on the offense of murder plus 

an aggravating factor. The jurisdiction of the Court was 

limit to the charges properly re red by the convening 

authority, mu r with a maximum possible punishment of 

confinement for life. See Art. 118(1) & (4), UCMJ and R.C.M. 

1004 (a) . 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside death sentence 

and approve a sentence of con nement for life. 

2 . 
----~----------------------------~----------~~-------

Article 32, UCMJ, states that no speci cation may be 

re rred to court martial thout a "thorough and impartial 

investigation of all matters set forth therein." See Art. 32, 

UCMJ. The discussion in R.C.M. 405(a) specifically states, "If 

at any time a er an investigation under this rule the charges 

are changed to all a more serious or essentially different 

offense, further investigation should be direct with respect 

to the new or different matters alleged." R.C.M. 405(a), 

Discussion; see also Art. 32 (c), (d) (2), UCMJ. In Uni States 
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v. Bender, 32 M.J. 1002 (N.M.C.M.R. 1991), the Navy-Marine Court 

of Criminal Appeals held that when evidence of additional 

offenses arises after an Article 32 hearing the investigation 

should be reopened upon a de e st. See Bender, 32 M.J. 

at 1003-04; see also Art. 32(c), UCMJ. In United States v. 

Harris, this Court applying the Bender rule stated that where 

the invest ing 0 cer recommends more serious charges than 

those red to the investigation, the convening authority 

should conduct an additional stigation into the more ser s 

offenses before re ing them to court-martial. M.J. 665, 

668-69 (A. Ct. Crim. App. 2000). In Ha s, this Court 

recognized that where attempted rape was the preferred charge, 

the investigating officer's findings regarding rape constituted 

a new more serious offense. Id. at 669 70. The investigating 

officer in Harris made findings on the greater offense of 

when attempted was pre rred charge, without notifying 

the accused. The convening authority subsequently referred 

the charge of rape without any additional investi ion. 

Though this Court found likely error, the Court noted that any 

objection was waived when the accused iled to ask a new 

investigation ba on the new charges and failed to object to 

the stigating officer's report within five days. 

The Supreme Court held Ring v. Arizona that capital ­

aggravat factors, identical to those R.C.M. 1004, 
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essent lly change the elements of offense of capital murder 

thus creat a more serious 0 e. See Ring, 536 U.S. at 609 

(citing Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 494 n. 19 (2000)). 

The Article 32 hearing Appellant no notice of the 

aggravating factors to be proven at trial because as the 

investigating officer stated, he "would make no such findings 

ding the existence or nonexistence of any factor under 

R.C.M. 1004 H 
• See . Ex. 75; Transcr of Art. 32 Hearing at 

944 5. Though no inquiry was made o capit -aggravat 

factors at the hearing, the Staff Judge Advocate in her Article 

34 advice letter commented extensively on capital-aggravating 

factors and recommended the s be referred capitally. 

(R. at Art le 34 ce at ~ .) Based on these 

recommendations convening author y referred the charges as 

cap al on 2 March 2004. (R. at Charge Sheet.) Appellant 

objected to the Artic 32 hearing and the recommendations of 

the stigat officer requesting the abil y to defend at 

hearing against rged aggravating ors. (R. at App. 

Ex. 110, attachment C (Request to Reopen the Article 32 Hea 

dated 18 March 2008).) However, t Article hearing was not 

reopened a r these recommendations or service of capital 

aggravating factors. 

The recommendations of the staff judge advocate concerning 

capital-aggravating factors that could proven at trial 
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constitut recommendat s for that greater of se. See 

Artic 34 Advice at ~ 6b. staff judge advocate recommended 

a greater offense, murder plus aggravating factors, than that 

pl on charge sheet, murder without a capital-aggravating 

factor. Once the staff judge advocate commented on specific 

capital-aggravating factors, the general court-martial convening 

authority should have reopened the Article 32 hearing to hear 

evi and allow defense to counter the alleged factors. 

See Harris, 52 M.J. at 669-70; see also Art. 32 (c), (d) (2), UCMJ 

(investigation into all charges and ifications is requi 

before re 1); R.C.M. 405 (a). 

e. 

Under federal constitutional law, timely objection to a 

defect grand jury indictment prior to trial mandates 

resubmission of the charges to the grand jury. See Russell v. 

United States, 369 U.S. 749, 770 71 (1962). In United States v. 

Cotton the Supreme Court rea rmed the principle that if an 

error in indictment were properly objected to before trial 

the only remedy would be "resubmission to the grand jury, unless 

the change is merely a matter of form." 535 U.S. 625, 631 

(2002) (citing Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 749); see also 
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United States v. Velasco-Medina, 305 F.3d 839, 846 (9th r. 

2002) . 

The UCMJ requires that upon timely objection to a defective 

Art. 32, the government must reopen the Art. 32 Investi ion. 

See Art. 32(c), UCMJ. In United States v. Nickerson, 27 M.J. 

30, 31-32 (CMA 1988), the Court of Milita Appeals stated that 

"in ral civilian courts, a criminal defendant does not have 

a se right to revo a waiver of an indictment by grand jury 

after a change of " Id. The Court noted the same 

standard should be applied to waiver of the military Article 32 

hearing because it is equivalent of grand jury. Id. 

(citing United States v. Mickel, 9 C.M.A. 324, 6 (C.M.A. 

1958). The Court also stated that similar to the federal 

system, "If an accus is deprived of a substant I pretrial 

right, on timely ection, he is entitled to judicial 

enforcement of his right, without regard to whether such 

enforcement will fit him at the tri " Mi , 9 C.M.A. at 

327. This Court has recently held that the en rcement of 

mil ry pre-trial rights mandates that a new Article 32 hear 

be held if there is a timely pretrial objection to the Art. 32 

hearing that iled to llow the procedures in Art. 32(c) and 

(d), UCMJ. United States v. az, 54 M.J. 880, 883 

(N.M.Ct.Crim.App. 2000). 
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The standard for analyzing Apprendi type error in the 

federal system should be applied in this case as consistent with 

the standard in Mickel and Diaz. Appellant requested a new 

Art Ie 32 hearing from the convening authority on 18 March 2004 

and renewed these objections prior to trial in motions. (R. at 

App. Ex. 88.) Appellant speci ly commented on his inability 

to rebut aggravating ors because of the lack of notice. Id. 

Appellant was not put on notice at the Article 32 hearing of 

which aggravating factors the government intended to prove at 

tal. Appellant appeared at his Article 32 hearing without 

knowledge of the "elements,U or functional equivalent thereof, 

that he had to defend. This limited his ability to develop 

dence in extenuation and mit ion at the Article 

hearing. Without this notice appellant was denied crucial pre­

t 1 ability to develop evidence to counter the aggravating 

factors. The abil y to develop extenuation and mitigation 

evidence and intelligently cross-examine witnesses at the 

Article 32 is paramount to the development of the defense case 

and response to the referral process. Because the members 

ultimately found both aggravating factors e sted beyond a 

reasonable doubt, the importance of this information is only 

magnified. (R. at App. Ex. 88.) 

Though each of the aggravating factors the government 

ultimately did seek to prove were encompassed within other 
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charges, this ct is irrelevant to the prejudice in this case. 

The Supreme Court stated in Russell that to allow the prosecutor 

or a court to attempt to get into the he of the grand jury to 

cide what they would have recommended deprives accused of 

the sic protection of the grand jury because the trial could 

be "bas on facts not presented to the grand jury." See 

Russell, 369 U.S. at 769 70. Thus, constructive notice is 

insufficient where elements are not presented to the grand jury. 

Similarly constructive not is insuffi ent to put the 

accused on notice of the "functional equivalent elements" the 

government intends to prove at a court-martial. See Weymou 

43 M.J. at 335-36. 

After Ring and Sattazahn, there was fact a capital 

offense ssing in this case from the Article 32 hearing: murder 

plus an aggravating factor. See Sattazahn, 537 U.S. at 112-13. 

Appellant had no notice at the time of the Article 32 hearing of 

the elements of the capital offense the government intended to 

prove. Thus, appellant never had an opportunity to defend or 

counter se aggravating factors because he had no notice the 

investigating officer would even make findings regarding them. 

In fact, the investigat of cer re sed to make findings 

regarding any aggravating factors, was the staff judge 

advocate's recommendation where they rst appeared. Therefore, 

the staff judge advocate's recommendation exacerbated the lack 
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notice by giving the government an y to obtain a 

recommendation on the aggravating factors giving notice 

to llant at the hearing. There , even if the standard of 

were a prejudice standard, appellant would prevail 

e there was a substantial detriment to llant's 

pretrial right to develop evidence. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should dismiss and sentence 

and t s case for a new charge s and a new Article 32 

ring not of aggravating factors the government 

to prove at trial. 

ISSUE 2: BASED ON THE SUPREME COURT'S REASONING IN 
RING V. ARIZONA, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), CONGRESS 
UNCONSTITUTIONALLY DELEGATED TO THE PRESIDENT THE 
POWER TO ENACT THE FUNCTIONAL EQUIVALENT OF ELEMENTS 
OF CAPITAL MURDER, A PURELY LEGISLATIVE FUNCTION. 

Standard of ew 

is Court should review whether llant's conviction 

olates separation of powers doct , a jurisdictional 

quest , de novo. See generally Mistretta v. United States, 

488 U.S. 361, 371 (1989) (ruling on the itioner's separation 

of rs challenge after a guilty ); S Co. v. Citizens 

for a Better Env't, 523 U.S. 83, 101 (1998), Seale v. 

Immigration and Naturalization ee, 323 F.3d 150, 154-55 

(1st Cir. 2003). If the Court dete s the issue is not 

juri etional, the issue is one of law this Court should 

de novo review based on appel 's objection at trial. 

225 




See App. Ex. 94. Whether Congress has unconstitutionally 

delegated its authority is a question of law subject to de novo 

ew. See generally ted States v. Allen, 24 F.3d 1180, 

1182 (10 Cir. 1994). 

Argument 

In Loving v. Unit States, Supreme Court held 

Congress could de to President autho to 

fy capital sentencing aggravating factors and that the 

President properly did exactly in promulgating R.C.M. 

1004 (c). 517 U.S. 748, 770 74 (1996). UCMJ prohibits the 

President, however, from independently permitt an offense to 

be punished by the death penalty. See Art. 18, UCMJ; see also 

Unit States v. Curtis, 32 M.J. 252, 261 (C.M.A. 1991). Thus, 

the Supreme Court's holding in Loving impli tly held, 

consistent with case law of the day, that capital-aggravating 

ors were not part of offense of capital murder in the 

military. The Court of Military Appeals stated this succinctly 

in United States v. Curtis: 

If 'aggravating factors' used in channeling 
discret of the sentencing authority 

in death cases were elements of crime, 
we would have no cho but to hold that 
they must be set forth by Congress and 
cannot be prescribed by t President . 
. However, t Supreme Court has made clear 
that ' ing factors' are not elements 
of a 
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Id. at 260 (citing Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 648-49 

(1990)). 

g, however, fundamentally changed this separation of 

powers landscape and sub lentio ove ed Supreme Court's 

holding in Loving v. United States when it d that factors 

identical to those R.C.M. 1004(c) are not sentencing factors, 

but "the functional equivalent of an element" of the offense of 

capital murder. See Ring, 536 U.S. at 608 09 (citing Apprendi, 

530 U.S. at 494, n. 19, ding that Walton and Apprendi are 

irreconcilable, and expressly overrul Walton). Thus, when 

the President promulgated "functional equivalent of an 

element" of the offense of capital murder in R.C.M. 1004(c), 

either the President exceeded his authority to prescribe 

procedures r sentencing in the litary or Congress improperly 

delegated a str ly legislative funct , i.e. the power to 

speci elements of a capital offense committed by a 

cemember. Appellant's argument will: (a) analyze the 

Supreme Court's decision in Loving v. United States and its 

basis in prior precedent; (b) analyze the Supreme Court decision 

in Ring v. Arizona overruling cedent implicitly reli upon 

by the Supreme Court in Loving; (c) compare decis in 

Ring and Loving to demonstrate that this Court must conduct its 

own del ion doctrine analysis of the President's enactment of 

R.C.M. 1004 (c) aggravating factors; (d) def the applicable 
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parts of the delegation doctrine; (e) demonstrate that the 

President violated the intelligible princ e arm of the 

delegation doctrine in enacting R.C.M. 1004(c); and, lly, 

(f) demonstrate that the President olated the s ion of 

powers doctrine in enacting R.C.M. 1004(c). 

A. An analysis of Loving v. United States. 

In United States v. Loving, 41 M.J. 213 (C.A.A.F. 1994), 

the Court of Appeals r the Armed Forces (CAAF) considered the 

separation of powers clause when reviewing the constitutional y 

of the military death penalty procedure promulgated in R.C.M. 

1004 by the President via Exec. Order No. 12,473, 49 . Reg. 

3169 (Apr. 13, 1984). The Court had previously concluded the 

procedure for udging a death sentence set out in R.C.M. 1004 

was constitutional in the case of United States v. Curtis. 32 

M.J. 252 (C.M.A. 1991). 

In Loving, the CAAF stated that President had 

authority to enact capital sentencing aggravating ors as 

part of the office's delegated power over military punishments. 

41 M.J. 213, 291 (1994) (cit Curtis, 32 M.J. at 260-67). 

When it received the case on appeal, the S Court agreed, 

also citing Curtis, holding that once Congress delegated 

power over litary punishments to the Pres , the executive 

branch could lawfully promulgate t capital sentencing 
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aggravating factors in R.C.M. 1004(c). Loving v. United States, 

517 U.S. at 770-74. 

Specifically, the Supreme Court concluded that Congress had 

no special, non-delegable authority over military punishments . 

. at 768-69 (emphasis added). Congress must speci the death 

pena y for an of e, because the President does not have 

authority to determine offenses punishable by tho Id. at 769 

(emphasis added); see also Art. 18, UCMJ. The President did, 

however, have the authority to speci maximum punishments short 

of death for all offenses. Id. The Court noted that the 

President had for years used this delegated power to "increase 

the maximum punishment for non-capital of nses." Id. 

Neither CAAF nor the Supreme Court analyzed 

inherent authority of the President to promulgate ital 

sentencing aggravating factors, although Loving raised that 

issue. Id. at 772-73 (citing Curtis, M.J. 252 (C.M.A. 

1991)) . Supreme Court stated that it ne not decide 

whether the President had inherent authority to prescribe 

sentencing ors in capital cases because t President 

undoubtedly had the power to prescribe those factors once 

Congress del ed power over sentencing military members to 

him Articles 18, 36, and 56, UCMJ. Id. Thus, the sole sis 

for the sidential promulgation of R.C.M. 1004, under the 

Supreme Court's reasoning when it decided Loving, was the 
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delegation of authority by Congress in the Uniform Code of 

Military Just 

The Supreme Court noted that this delegation is further 

evidenced in Art. 106a, UCMJ, which cont factors similar to 

those in R.C.M. 1004(c) for the offense of espionage. Loving, 

517 U.S. at 770. In Art. 106a, UCMJ, Congress speci three 

aggravating factors required to impose the death penalty 

espionage left open, in Art. 106a(c) (4), the option r the 

President to specify other factors. Art. 106a, UCMJ. The 

Supreme Court then pointed to Art. 106a, UCMJ, as evidence of 

the source of authority for the President to enact R.C.M. 1004 

because Art. 10 , UCMJ, explicitly gave the Pres the 

authority to enact capital-aggravating factors Art. 36, 

UCMJ. Loving, 517 U.S. at 770-74. 

The Supreme Court also noted that Article 118 was pas 

be Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), which required 

capital-aggravating factors to ensure the ass of capital 

defendants was suffic ly narrowed to satisfy Eighth 

Amendment. Loving, 517 U.S. at 771. Furman, decided in 1972, 

made factors similar to those in R.C.M. 1004(c) constitutionally 

necessary in I jurisdictions before y imposed the death 

penalty. Loving argued that Congress could not have known in 

1950, when it ssed Art. 36, UCMJ, that it was delegating to 

the President the ability to bring the litary th penalty in 
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1 wi th Furman. Id. Loving a that Art. 36, UCMJ, dealt 

only generally with the President's authority to prescribe rules 

courts-mart 1 procedures and modes of proof. Id. at 775. 

Therefore, Loving argued, the ral language of Art. 36, UCMJ, 

could not be the basis for the President's promul ion of 

R.C.M. 1004 because Congress could not have encompas 

legating a power which Congress d not then understand was 

required to be 1 ed. Loving, 517 U.S. at 771. The Supreme 

Court countered that Furman did not undo the del ion of power 

just because what would have been "an act of leni " before 

Furman became a "constitutional necessity" after Furman. Id. at 

771-72. 34 Ult ly the Court Loving held that the 

promulgation of R.C.M. 1004 was a proper exercise of legated 

powers by the President even a r Furman. Loving at 772-73. 

By tying its ysis of legation of authority to 

enact capital aggravating factors to Articles 18, 36, and 56, 

UCMJ, the Supreme Court also constrained the Pres's 

authority within the language of e articles. See Loving, 

517 U.S. at 772-73. The Supreme Court, citing Arti es 18, 36, 

34 ("[Article 118's] selection of two types of murder for the 
th penalty, however, does not narrow the death eligible class 

in a way consistent with our cases. Art. 118 (4), UCMJ, by its 
terms permits to be imposed r lony murder even if the 
accused had no intent to kill and even if he did not do the 

lling himself. The Eighth Amendment does not t the death 
nalty to be ed in those rcumstances. As a 

result, additional aggravating establishing a higher 
culpability are necessary to save Article 118."). 
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and 56, UCMJ, stat that the President had authority over 

npunishments" and "sentencing." Id. at 774 (stating that nthe 

President can be entrusted to determine what limitations and 

conditions on punishments are best suited to serve [military 

discipline]") (emphasis added). Thus, the Loving Court was 

clearly relying on the characterization of capi -aggravating 

factors as part of the sentencing decision in capital cases. 

Additionally, the Supreme Court stated that the Court would 

uphold delegations of power over criminal conduct "so long as 

Congress makes the violation of regulations a criminal offense 

and fixes the punishment, and the regulations 'confine 

themselves within the field of the covered statute.'" Id. at 

768 (emphasis added) ting United States v. Grimaud, 220 U.S. 

506, 518 (1911)). Therefore, the President could only have the 

power to promul e R.C.M. 1004 under the covered statutes, 

Articles 18, 36, and 56, UCMJ, if R.C.M. 1004 governed a 

sentencing or trial procedure, the "field" of those statutes, 

and Congress defined t criminal of e. 

This analysis by the Supreme Court s sts that the Court 

believed that the factors enacted in R.C.M. 1004(c) were 

sentencing considerations and not elements of an offense. At 

the time Supreme Court decided Loving that was, in fact, the 

law. See Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 647 48 (1990). In 

Walton the Supreme Court cons red tal aggravating factors 
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to sentencing factors, not elements of a crime. 


Therefore, capital-aggravating factors were not governed by the 


1 panoply of rights in the fth and Sixth Amendments or any 

other constitutional provision applicable to elements of an 

offense. Id. Thus, the Supreme Court in Loving suggested that 

the President's power was constrai by the Walton 

characterization by discussing powers of the President over 

sentencing, though the Court never cited distinction in the 

Loving opinion. 

The Supreme Court came close to stinguishing between the 

President's power over sentencing versus ermining 

elements of an offense in s discussion of the inherent powers 

of the President. The Supreme Court stated, "Had the 

delegations here called for exercise of judgment or 

discretion that lies beyond the traditional authority of the 

President, Loving's last argument t Congress failed to 

provide guiding principles to the President might have more 

weight." Id. at 771. As the Supreme Court stated, however, 

that traditional authority of the President did not reach 

capital ses and traditionally reached matters of 

punishments. Id. at 765 66, 772-73. However, most telling of 

the Supreme Court's reliance on Walton v. Arizona is the Court's 

recitation of Court of Military Appeals analysis of 

Presidentially created aggravating ctors the military 
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stem. Id. at 769. As noted earlier, t Court of Military 

Appeals in Curtis specifically address the Walton v. Arizona 

distinction in re ion to the promulgation of R.C.M. 1004. See 

Curtis, 32 M.J. at 260-61. The Court of Military Is stated 

in United States v. Curtis: 

If aggravating factors used in channeling 
the scretion of the sentencing authority 
in h cases were elements of the crime, 
we would have no choice but to hold that 
they must set forth by Congress 
cannot prescribed by the Presi 
Consistent with Article I of the 
Constitution, only Congress has the power to 

slate; and finition of the elements of 
a crime clearly is legislation. However, the 
Supreme Court has made clear that 
aggravating factors are not e s of a 
cr . Cf. Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639 
(1990) . 

Curtis, 32 M.J. at 260 (emphasis added). Additionally in 

Curtis, the Court of Military Appeals rtook an extensive 

analysis of all the aggravating factors in the mil ary system 

promulgated by the President. Curtis, 32 M.J. at 260-61 (citing 

aggravating ors for ing while drunk resulting in a 

death, rceny greater than $100, desertion terminated by 

apprehension versus surrender). In that is, the Court of 

Military Appeals concluded that the" fendant has no ght to a 

jury t al as to the existence of aggravating s and the 

sentencer's ection of a icular circumstance is not an 

acquittal of that circumstance for jeopardy rposes. 
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Id. at 260 ( ting Poland v. zona, 476 U.S. 147 (1986)). The 

Supreme Court cited that analysis with approval stating: 

As the Court of Military Appe s po ed out 
in Curtis, for some decades the President 

s used his authority under these Artie 
to increase the penalties for certain 
noncapital offenses if aggravating 
circumstances are present . . . . This past 
practice suggests that Articles 18 and 56 
support as well an authority in the 
President to restrict the death sentence to 
murders in which certain aggravating 
circumstances have been established. 

Loving, 517 U.S. at 769. 

The Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces, after the 

Supreme Court decision in Loving, continued to rely upon the 

sentencing factor versus element distinction when ewing the 

constitutionality of R.C.M. 1004 in subsequent cases. See 

Loving v. Hart, 47 M.J. 438, 444-45 (1998) ("Neither the 

aggravating factors nor the Enmund/ son culpability requirement 

are elements of the offense. See Wal ton v. Arizona .. .1/) 

((citing Walton, 497 U.S. 639, 648-49 (1990), Enmund v. Florida, 

458 U. S. 7 8 2 ( 1 98 2), Ti son v. Ari z 0 n a , 4 8 1 U. S. 138 (198 7 ) ) . 

Under the Court of Appeals t Armed Forces anal is, 

Supreme Court's reasoning in Loving would inappropriate if 

R.C.M. 1004(c) aggravating ors did not refer to sentencing 

factors. Though made in eta, the Court of Military Appeals' 

statement Curtis now seems prophetic in light of Ring v. 

zona, 536 U.S. 584, 609 (2002). 
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B. 	The Apprendi v. New Jersey Rule: The foundation of Ring v. 
Arizona. 

The line of cases culminating in Ring v. Arizona came 

response to a sentencing trend in the federal sentencing system 

and state courts. This trend increasingly allowed the 

sentencing judge, a r the jury returned a guilty verdict on 

the substantive of e, to make certain findings that increased 

maximum punishment for which the defendant was eligible. 

See Jones v. United States, 6 U.S. 227, 240-42 (1999). Often 

these findings were made under a standard lower than of 

beyond a reasonable doubt. Supreme Court's concern over 

this trend was two ld. rst, trend eroded the due process 

rights of an accused to proof of every element of the offense 

yond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 240-42. Secondly, t se 

schemes deprived a criminal defendant's right to a t 1 of the 

facts by a jury. Id. at 244-48. 

Although the Supreme Court first acknowledged the potential 

constitutional implicat of such sentencing schemes as y 

as its 1986 de sion in McMillan v. Pennsylvania, 477 U.S. 79, 

88, (1986) , it was not until its decision in Jones v Uni ted 

States, in 1999, that the Court began to clearly articulate the 

type of sentencing considerations viewed as problematic. See 

Jones, 526 U.S. at 243 n.6. At issue in Jones was the 

interpretation of the federal carjacking statute's sentencing 
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provisions permitting steeper It s if the crime was 

committed under certain conditions. Id. at 232-33. The 

statute's rst paragraph appe to set forth the elements of 

the of se, and reference the maximum penalty for committing 

the offense under three separate subsections. Id. at 230 31. 

The three numbered subsections addressed the maximum ty 

under various aggravating circumstances ranging from a fine and 

fifteen years imprisonment to a maximum lty of life 

imprisonment. Id. at 230. The fundamental question the statute 

presented was whether the numbered subsections represented 

additional elements of the offense. Id. at 232. 

Supreme Court Jones noted, "Much turns on the 

determination that a fact is an element of an offense rather 

than a sentencing cons ration, given that elements must be 

charged in the indictment, submitted to the jury, and proven by 

the Government beyond a reasonab doubt." Id. tat ions 

omitted). The Supreme Court's opinion ewed the history of 

the S h Amendment and the inherent tension between udicial 

and jury finding in American history. Id. at 245-48. In 

that ew the Supreme Court noted that the historical 

diminishment of the ury's role in nding s which 

determined a "statutory sentencing range" was a trend the 

Supreme Court had not previous authorized. Id. at 248. The 

Supreme Court also ewed its decisions in Mullaney v. Wilbur, 

237 




421 U.S. 684, 688, 696-97 (1975), and McMillan v. Pennsylvania, 

477 U.S. 79 (1986). The Court in those cases constrained the 

state's ability to "recharacterize" an issue as a sentencing 

consideration, thereby, prohibiting the State from manipulating 

elements out of the requirement of proof beyond a reasonable 

doubt. Jones, 526 U.S. at 240-41. In Jones, the Court 

concluded that to avoid "serious constitutional questions" it 

construed the subsections providing for increased penalties as 

creating additional offenses stinct from the unaggravated 

offense in the first paragraph of the statute. Id. at 251 52. 

Curiously, however, the majority opinion bu ed the basis for 

this construction of the statute in a footnote, stating, "under 

the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the notice and 

jury trial guarantees of the Sixth Amendment, any fact 

that increases the maximum penalty a crime must charged 

in an indictment, submitted to a jury, and proven beyond a 

reasonable doubt." Id. at 243 n.6. 

One year later, in Apprendi v. New Jersey, the Supreme Court 

considered a New Jers sentencing statute that allowed the 

sentencing judge to increase a defendant's maximum possible 

sentence if the judge found that the defendant committed the 

crime in question with a ased motive. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 

530 U.S. 466, 468-69 (2000). In Apprendi, the Court exami 

the principle set out in the Jones footnote in light of this New 
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Jersey statute and other state sentencing statutes that 

characterized certa findings of as sentencing factors and 

not elements of the offense. Id. at 475-76. The Court began 

the Apprendi inion by highlighting the historical connect 

between the elements of a rticular offense and its 

corresponding punishment. Id. at 476-79. The Court explained 

that, tradit lly, slatures authorized speci punishment 

for a specific of nse, and that judges did not have much 

sentenc discretion, other than to impose t statutorily 

mandated sentence. . at 479. While noting that legislatures 

gradually given judges more scretion in sentencing, the 

Court noted judic 1 discretion was still limited to the 

statutorily prescr maximum punishment. Id. at 481. 

After reviewing this historical trend, the Court directly 

addressed the evolving sentencing trend known as sentencing 

factors. As noted earlier, the Court had been concerned r 

several years with the trend of legislatures attempting to 

circumvent beyond a reasonable doubt standard and the 

protection of the jury t al by 1 ling essential facts as 

sentenc factors vice elements. Id. at 479 81. In Apprendi, 

that concern was grounded in the Court's bel f that the 

Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause and Sixth Amendment jury 

trial guarantees appl to some dete nations made ing 

state sentencing proceedings much like the federal due process 
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and jury trial guarantees in Jones. The Court concluded 

that "together, these rights indisputably entitle a criminal 

fendant to a jury determination that he is guilty of every 

element of crime with which he is charged, beyond a 

reasonab doubt." Id. at 477. Therefore, the Court applied 

the Jones principle to the state statute. The Court held that 

it does not matter whether the state labels a finding of fact an 

element or sentencing factor, "the relevant inquiry is not one 

of form but of effect does the required finding expose the 

defendant to a greater punishment" than the jury's guilty 

verdict alone. . at 476. If does, the finding of fact 

must be submitted to a jury and proven beyond a reasonable 

doubt. . at 490. Ba on this conclusion, the Court held 

that any finding, other than a prior conviction, that increases 

the penalty r a crime beyond the scribed statutory maximum 

must be submitt to a jury and found beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Id. Thus, the statute in question was unconstitutional because 

it allowed the trial judge, instead of the jury, to make the 

finding of "bias mot " and allowed the judge to make that 

finding via a standard lower than beyond a reasonable doubt. 

at 497. 

In Apprendi the Court specifically noted that capital 

sentencing procedures were immune from this sentencing factor 

and element distinction. Id. at 496-97. The Supreme Court 
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noted t in Walton v. Arizona, the Court held that t Sixth 

Amendment did not require jurors to ermine the tence of 

aggravating factors be re a defendant may be sentenced to 

death. Walton v. zona, 497 U.S. at 647 48 (citing ldwin v. 

Fl da, 490 U.S. 638, 640 41 (1989)). In Walton, the Supreme 

Court stat that Arizona's capital-punishment system, the 

judge made the entire sentencing decision, including finding 

aggravating factors existed warranting the death penalty, 

was constitutionally permiss Id. at 648 49. A judge, 

according to Walton, could constitutionally determine if 

aggravating ors were present the legislature aut zed 

death as a maximum punishment ed on such factors. 

Thus, after Apprendi, non-capit cases the entire range 

of Fifth and Sixth Amendment protections appli to findings of 

fact increas the defendant's maximum punishment, or "the 

functional equivalent of elements." at 497. The Court also 

hinted t the doctr was not limited to t Fifth and Sixth 

Amendment's rights to jury tr 1 and proof beyond a reasonable 

doubt. The Supreme Court stated, 

If the defendant faces punishment beyond 
that ded by statute when an offense 
is committed under certain circumstances but 
not others, it is obvious both loss of 
1 rty and the stigma at ing to the 
offense are heightened; it neces ly 
follows that the defendant should not - at 
the moment the State is put to proof of 
those circumstances - be deprived of 
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protect s that have, until that point, 
unquestionably attached . 

. at 484 (emphasis added). 

Only two s later, the Court reversed course on the 

tal/non-capital distinction and, in Ring v. zona, 

extended Apprendi to capital sentencing proceedings. See Ring 

v. Arizona, 536 U.S. at 609. What made Ring even more 

s ficant, and icable to the litary, was the way in 

ch the Court erpreted the sentencing procedure in question 

in that case. 

C. 

The Court of litary Appeals a similar sentencing 

trend in the mil ry system nearly a decade before Jones v. 

t Sta tes in Uni t States v. Curtis. Curtis, 32 M.J. at 

261 (noting that "t President several decades" scribed 

maximum punishments the Manual Court-Martial). However, 

in the military t trend was not t diminishment 0 the 

members' role, but the diminishment of Congress' role 

ermining t f ngs of fact that authorized 

ishments in litary. Id. at 261-62. Similar to 

Arizona's scheme, a court-martial may not impose a ath 

sentence without rna ng findings t aggravating ctors exist. 

See R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4). However, unlike Arizona or the federal 

c lian system, a 1 slative body s not dete the 
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aggravating factors upon which an accused's death sentence must 

rest. Rather, the military, an executive branch regulation 

sets out the aggravating factors that are required to impose 

death, the same branch that prosecutes the accused. See Exec. 

Order No. 12,473, 49 Fed. Reg. 3169 (Apr. 13, 1984). 

In the federal civilian justice system, Congress must 

define the elements of a criminal offense and fix the 

punishment. Mistretta v. United States, 488 U.S. 361, 364 

(1989). If Congress delegated to the executive branch the power 

to enact aggravating factors that determined the maximum 

sentence, the civilian system, the statute would 

like violate separation of powers doctrine by ting the 

power to define crimes w h the power to prosecute those s. 

Id. at 391, n.17. The Supreme Court has decided whether 

Congress may validly give to the Presi the power to "define 

crimes." In United States v. Grimaud the Court stated that the 

President may pass regulatory acts the vio ion of which are a 

c 1 offense so long as Congress cifies that a violation 

of the regulations is a criminal of See United States v. 

Grimaud, 220 U.S. 506, 518-19 (1911). In Grimaud the Court 

highlighted the key dist ion between a proper delegation of 

authority over criminal punishments and improper delegat of 

the power over fining acts as criminal: 
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when Congress had legislated and indicated 
its will, it could give to those who were to 
act under such general provisions "power to 
fill up the details" by the establishment of 
administrat rules and regulations, the 
violation of which could be punished by fine 
or imprisonment fixed by Congress, or by 
penalties fixed by Congress or measured by 
the injury done. 

Id. at 517. The fundamental principle in Grimaud was that 

Congress must state that the violation of a regulation is the 

offense and fix the punishment; the President may not do that. 

Id. at 517-18. 

Furthermore, if Congress delegated to the President the 

power to create the aggravat factors that make a civilian 

defendant death eligible, such action would violate the 

separation of powers doctrine. See United States v. Sampson, 

275 F. Supp. 2d 49, 100 (Dist. Mass. 2003) ("Congress may not 

delegate to the executive branch the authority to enlarge the 

class of people who are eligible for a federal death sentence, 

by allowing the Executive to either define new substantive 

crimes or to add to the teway mental states and statutory 

aggravating factors set forth in FDPA.") (emphasis added) i 

see generally United States v. Higgs, 353 F.3d 281, 321 (4th 

r. 2003); United States v. Kinter, 235 F.. 3d 192, 201 (4th 

Cir. 2000) (noting that the Supreme Court's characterization of 

sentencing guidelines in Mistretta was extremely significant in 

the context of both Apprendi and Jones v. United States). Thus, 
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if federal civil law were directly on po , Ring v. Arizona 

would require Congress to enact the aggravating factors required 

to impose a capital sentence. 

In the military that question is slightly more complex due 

to the unique nature of the military justice em. The 

historical role of the President in determining the maximum 

punishment for non-capital offenses and enacting procedures for 

sentencing complicates the direct application of federal 

precedent. See Loving, 517 U.S. at 765-69, 772-73. However, 

t Supreme Court in Loving relied upon Grimaud to hold that 

Congress could delegate the authority to enact capital-

aggravating factors because aggravating ctors only 

narrowed the ass of death eligible offenders and imposed a 

"statutory penalty." See Loving, 517 U.S. at 768. The Supreme 

Court's op ion in Loving v. United States did not address 

whether the President had authority to create elements of an 

offense. As a result, Supreme Court's conclusion in Loving, 

that R.C.M. 1004 was a "limitation and condition" on the death 

penalty, was directly overruled by Ring v. Arizona. Compare 

Ring, 536 U.S. at 603 with Loving, 517 U.S. at 773; see also 

Ring, 536 U.S. at 611 (Scal ,J., concurring) (noting there 

rema no logical reason to distinguish between aggravating 

factors prompted by Furman and any ot r 1 slat y created 

finding of fact increasing an accus 's punishment) There 
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this Court must undertake its own delegation doctrine and 

separat of powers analysis. 

The legation doctrine analysis focuses on three separate 

concerns. As Chief Justice Rehnquist summari , these three 

concerns of the delegation ctrine are: 

rst .. it ensures to the extent 
consistent with ly governmental 
administration t important choices of 
so al policy are by Congress, 
branch of our Government most respons to 

popular will ... Second, the 1 ion 
doctrine guarantees that, to the extent 
Congress finds it necessary to delegate 
authority, it provi s the recipient of that 
authority with an "intelligible pri p " 
to guide the exercise of the delegated 

scretion . rd, and derivative of 
second, the doctrine ensures that courts 

charged with reviewing the exercise of 
legated legislat discretion will 

e to test that exe se against 
ascertainable st 

Indust al Union Dep't v. can Petroleum Institute, 448 U.S. 

607, 685-86 (1980) (Rehnquist, J., concurring). 

The first arm of the del ion doctrine is better referred 

to as the separation of powers doctrine. See Unit States v. 

Brown, 381 U.S. 437, 443 (1965). Like the due s clause 

and right to jury trial cit in Apprendi, the s ration of 

powers stands as a "bulwark inst tyranny" the 

criminal accused and the state. Compare Brown, 381 U.S. at 443 

with , 530 U.S. at 477. In Brown, the Court 
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observed t "if a given policy can be implemented only by a 

combination of legislative enactment, judicial application and 

executive implementation, no man or group of men will be able to 

impose its unchecked will." Id. This characterization of 

separation of powers doctrine arguably makes it one of the 

rights a" fendant should not . . be depr of merely 

because the circumstance is label an aggravating factor and 

not an element of the offense." See Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 484. 

The intelligible principle arm of the legation doctrine 

requires that Congress "shall 1 down by legislative act an 

intelligible principle to which the person or body authorized to 

[exercise delegat author y] is directed to conform.u Id. at 

372 (citing J. W. Hampton, Jr., & Co. v. United States, 276 U.S. 

394, 409 (1928)) (internal quotations omitted). Applying this 

doctrine, the Supreme Court in Mistretta held that Congress had 

provided the Sentencing Commission with appropriate st rds in 

legating authority to es lish federal sentencing 

guidel s . Id. at 378-79. The Court stated that Congress had 

g appropriate guidance because, among other reasons, the Act 

not criminalize acts never before criminalized and required 

the Commission to stay within ranges specified by Congress in 

Title 18 of the United States Code. Id. at 374-75. 
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E. The intelligible principle behind R.C.M. 1004(c) in light 

An analysis of the mil ary ital sentencing system under 

either t intelligible principle or separation of powers arm of 

the delegation doct reveals that after g v. zona the 

President unconstitutionally enacted the aggravating factors in 

R.C.M. 1004(c). The Supreme Court's intelligible principle 

anal is of R.C.M. 1004(c), before Ring, focused on three 

s rate arguments. First, the President's use of authority to 

increase penalties for non-capital offenses under Arts. 18 and 

56, UCMJ. Loving, 517 U.S. at 769. Second, Congress' enactment 

Art. 106a, which specifically delegated authority to create 

capital-aggravating factors. Id. at 770-71. Finally, the 

nature of the delegation and the authority of the President. 

Id. at 771-73. However, in light of Ring v. zona, the first 

and third arguments are no longer applicable. After Ring, the 

President's power over sentencing cons rations in Art. 18 and 

56, UCMJ is not the relevant framework for considering capital-

aggravating factors. Cap I-aggravating factors must be 

considered elements, not sentencing considerations. Ring, 536 

U.S. at 602-03. Furthermore, the President's inherent authority 

does not extend and has never his cally extended to 

determining the acts that may be punished by death in the 

military. Loving, 517 U.S. at 765-66, 772-73. refore, the 
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delegation is outside the scope of the President's powers. The 

remaining argument, that Art. 106a established an intelligible 

principle, is also distinguishable after Ring. 

At the t the President promulgated t R.C.M. 1004(c) 

ors, President likely based his action on an 

understanding of the nature of capit aggravating factors as 

sentencing factors, which Congress shared. Congress may very 

well have acquiesced to Pres ial creation of sentencing 

factors by pass Art. 10 , UCMJ, without codifying the 

additional aggravating factors contained in R.C.M. 1004. 

Loving, 517 U.S. at 769. However, Congressional silence can 

only be used to justify validity of execut action when 

Congress in fact remained silent on issue. Burns v. 

United States, 501 U.S. 129, 136 (1991) (inference from 

congressional silence should be bas on "textual and contextual 

evidence of congressional intent"). In s case we do not know 

what the congressional response will after decis in 

ng v. Arizona. Therefore, we cannot say what the common 

understanding of the President and Congress will concerning 

the continued tality of the factors in R.C.M. 1004 (c). To 

date there has been no congressional act In fact, appellant 

lS the first Army capital case post g. 

Congress could acquiesce post Ring v. zona to the 

continued use of R.C.M. 1004(c)'s factors after t Supreme 
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Court's characterization of them as "the functional equivalent 

of an element." However, after Ring, the fact that Congress 

Art. 106a, UCMJ, specifically authorized the President to 

promulgate additional capital sentencing aggravating factors for 

espionage no longer validates the President's action R.C.M. 

1004. The President has never ifi ly promul ed any 

additional factors under Art. 106a, UCMJ, thus Congress has 

never had an opportunity to evaluate the President's action 

after a specific delegation of autho y over these capital-

aggravating factors. A more specific del ion of authority, 

similar to the one passed by Congress in Art. 106a, UCMJ, but 

referencing the power to create elements or the "functional 

equivalent of an element," would be required to promulgate 

capital sentencing aggravating ors er g. The 

President exceeded his current delegated power over sentencing 

and procedures by enacting the "functional equivalent of an 

element" of a capital murder of se in R.C.M. 1004(c). 

F. The separation of powers problem after Ring v. Arizona. 

The more fundamental problem with the R.C.M. 1004 (c) er 

Ring v. Arizona is the prohib ion on the President's ability to 

create litary offenses or elements of litary crimes under 

the s ration of powers doctrine. The Supreme Court's 

statement that t re is "no absolute rule . against 

Congress' del lon of authority to define criminal 
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punishmen ts" the litary is still true after Ring v. 

Arizona. Loving, 517 U.S. at 768 (emphasis added). However, 

the histo cal prohibition of the President's power to define a 

military offense is equally as olute. See generally Curtis, 

32 M.J. at 260; Khan v. Hart, 943 F.2d 1261, 1264 (10th Cir. 

1991) (interpreting constitutionality of Art. 56, UCMJ, 

before Apprendi) . 

The power to regulate t military and punish 

servicemembers is a vastly different function than other 

criminal lawmaking in the federal system. The Supreme Court 

ely analyzed this power Loving. However, the Court's 

understanding of the "regulation" at issue, R.C.M. 1004 (c), is 

now fundamentally different than it was when the Supreme Court 

analyzed the s ration of powers issue in Loving. Congress has 

not merely given the President the power to narrow the class of 

capital el ible offenders. Rather the opposite is now true. 

The President's regu tion, in fact, enlarges the class of 

capital eligible offenders from none to those meeting 

requirements of R.C.M. 1004(c). Through the lens of is 

clear that t President s been given the power to de the 

elements of capital murder and, thereby, create the offense of 

murder plus an aggravating factor. Ring, 536 U.S. at 609. The 

President has effectively determined what acts will be 

punishable by death in the military. Congress s fixed neither 
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the regulations, a violat of which will be criminal, nor the 

maximum punishment for those acts because Congress' only action 

in Art. 118, UCMJ, was ins cient to constitutionally impose 

the death penalty. See United States v. Matthews, 16 M.J. 354, 

367-69 (C.M.A. 1983). By allowing the President to promulgate 

"the functional equivalent of an element n of the mil ry 

offense of cap I murder, Congress is abdicating its duty to 

fine mil ry of es and fix the punishment of the offense. 

In uniting the power to fine the crime with the President's 

power to enforce the offenses inst military members, Congress 

disregards one of the fundamental ks and balances in our 

system of government. Such a combination of legislative and 

executive functions aces no check on the President's power in 

military capital cases. Without the separation of lawmaking and 

law enforcement powers, the executive branch could specify new 

elements of military offenses, or define new conduct wh would 

constitute an of e, and enforce them inst members of 

armed forces without any check on their power. Such unlimited 

scretion was never intended under U.S. Constitution. 

In Loving, the Supreme Court analyzed the hist cal roots 

of Constitution's separat of powers in the regulation of 

the mil ry to rmine whether t history of the 

Constitution supported Pres 's enactment of R.C.M. 

l004(c) ors. s analysis, undertaken t years before 
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Jones, Apprendi, or Ring were decided, made clear how the 

distinction between federal criminal law and military law 

permitted the President to enact capital-aggravating ors in 

1984. See Loving, 517 U.S. at 757 66. fically, the Court 

analyzed whether Clause 14 of Constitution prohibit 

Congress from delegating its power over military punishments. 

See ng, 517 U.S. at 759-60. A re-analysis of that history 

will better demonstrate why Constitution rbids Congress 

from del ing power to enact R.C.M. 1004(c) under the 

separation of powers doctrine after Ring v. Arizona. 

The analysis of the historical sis for the de ion of 

authority to promulgate ital-aggravating factors conducted by 

the Supreme Court in Loving began with the assertion that 

"history does not ire us to read Clause 14 as granting 

Congress an exclusive, non-del Ie power to determine military 

punishments." Id. at 761 (emphasis added). What is scapable 

from the Court's analysis in Loving is that the sion was 

grounded on basic premise that Congress does not have sole 

authority over military punishments. It cannot be 

overemphasized that such a discussion must be viewed in a 

dif rent light after Ring se the Court in Ring considers 

tal-aggravating factors to no longer be a part of the 

punishment, but, rather, elements of the offense. 
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The Court's analysis focused on t history the standing 

army and navy in England and the incorporation of that history 

into the notions of separat of powers in the U.S. 

Constitut Id. at 761-62. The American system of regulating 

our military flows directly from manner in which the army 

and navy of England were gove Id. at 760-61. In addition 

to the Supreme Court's analysis in g, the Court of Military 

Appeals has undertaken a similar analysis, though not 

ifically in a death penalty case. In 1962, Court of 

Milit Appeals Judge Kilday wrote at length on the history of 

separat of powers in relation to armed forces. See 

Uni ted Sta tes v. th, 32 C.M.R. lOS, 114-18 (C.M.A. 1962). 

Judge Kilday wrote that England the king's power to regulate 

and make rules for governing the army, and to a lesser degree 

the navy, was virtually unchecked. at 115 t ing 1 WILLIAtv] 

BLACKSTONE COMMENTARIES at 262 (Wendell ed. 1857)). Additionally, in 

his commentaries on English law, William Blackstone discusses at 

length the almost omnipotent power the king had with respect to 

governance of the army. Speci ally, Blackstone commented that 

the king's power to court-martial members of army was nearly 

absolute. See 1 WILLIAM BLACKSTONE, COMMENTARIES *401-04, available 

at http://www.yale.edu/lawweb/avalon/ blackstone/bk1ch13.htm. 

"This discretionary power of the court-martial is, indeed, to be 

guided by the directions of the crown; whi , with regard to 
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milita offenses, has almost an absolute legislative power. 

an unlimited power to create crimes, and annex to them any 

punishments not extending to Ii or limb." Id. at *403. 

These authorities demonstrate that when United States 

Constitution was drafted, one of the principal fears of the 

drafters was the danger of standing armies and unchecked 

executive power over them. See JOSEPH STORY, COMMENTARIES ON THE 

CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES §§ 1177, 1182 (Boston, lliard, 

and Co. 1833), available at http://www. 

constitution.org/js/js 321.htm. The framers of the U.S. 

Constitution, as well as the people of England, sought to guard 

against this evil by giving their respective sentat 

bodies the sole power to raise and put down armies. at § 

1182. As the Supreme Court noted in g, t framers also 

distrusted the power of crown "unchecked by civil power" in 

summary proceedings. See Loving, 517 U.S. at 765. The framers 

of our Constitution gave Congress the sole authority to regulate 

the army and navy because if the power were vested solely in the 

executive branch "the most summary and severe punishments might 

be licted at t mere will of the executive." See JOSEPH STORY, 

COMMENTARIES, 137, at § 1192. The framers gave this sole power to 

Congress with the service of the execut branch to aid in 

"establishing rules for governance of the mil " Loving, 

517 U.S. at 767. 
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Realizing this was the intent of the framers, Supreme 

Court, when interpreting congressional power to regulate the 

land and naval forces, recognized "Congress has the power 

to provi for the tr 1 and punishment of military naval 

offenses v. Hoover, 61 U.S. 65, 79 (1857). The 

Supreme Court in 1857, continued, "Courts martial r their 

juris ction and are regulated with us by an act of Congress, in 

which crimes which may be committ , the manner of charging 

the accus , and of t , and the punishments which may be 

infl , are expressed in terms." Id. at 82. , the 

Supreme Court stated the terms of some offenses might be 

imprecise. Id. Cia cation of these terms by the Commander­

in-Chief was permiss for those of es "which been 

recogni to be crimes and offences by the usages" of military 

professionals. Id. 

Supreme Court reiterated this practice in more modern 

times 1974, in Pa v. Levy, 417 U.S. 733, 753 (1974). In 

Pa Court stat that the Court of Military Appeals and 

other authoritative military sources, including the President, 

can def the scope of conduct which lates Arti s 133 or 

134, UCMJ. Id. at 754-55. The terms of Art. 133 and 134, the 

Supreme Court noted, were wrought with imprecision, and, 

there re, may be interpreted in light of service norms of 

conduct. Parker, 417 U.S. at 748. Supreme Court looked at 
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military orders and the Manual for Courts-Martial as 

illustrative examples of conduct that may unbecoming or 

udicial to good order and discipline. Id. at 748-49. The 

Court also stated that the definition of what is prejudicial to 

good order and discipline and other elements of crimes in the 

Code are often open to interpretation by those skilled in 

military law. Id. Thus, the Court continued to recognize that 

def ion of elements of military crimes specified in the 

Articles of War, or now the UCMJ, is open to erpretation 

according to customs and traditions. Id. at 749. 

What is impressive Parker is what the Supreme Court 

stated was the permissible basis for setting forth even these 

imprecise ements. The Supreme Court pointed to only a single 

source r the elements of military of ses, "the Code." Id. 

at 748-50 (emphasis added). The President the authority to 

assist in defining what is prejudicial to good order and 

discipline through s ce tradition and ethic, but y 

Congress may make conduct udi al to good order and 

discipl punishable under the Uniform Code of Military 

Justice. 

However, after Ring, R.C.M. 1004(c) creates elements of 

capital murder and makes conduct punishable under the UCMJ by 

death. The President has no statutory or historical power to 

create of ses punishable by death. See Art. 118, UCMJ; see 
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also 1 WILLIAM BLACKSTONE, COMMENTARIES, at *403. The President was 

not defining a statutory term; the Pres was creating 

elements of an offense. The President has created what several 

Supreme Court justices term the separate offense of murder plus 

an aggravating factor. See Sattazahn v. Pennsylvania, 537 U.S. 

at 116 (Scalia, J., concurring; Rehnquist, C.J., and Thomas, J., 

joining). The President s never had that power and should not 

now have it in the wa of Ring v. Arizona. 

Conclusion 

er Ring v. Arizona and Apprendi v. New Jersey it is 

inescapable that fundamental finit in all capital 

punishment systems have changed; mili is no except 

The enactment of the entire capital sentencing procedure in the 

military must be re evaluated in light of Ring. This Court 

should llow the guidance of the Court of Military Appeals in 

Curtis and find that because aggravating factors are elements of 

t military's capital murder offense they must be set forth by 

Congress, not the Pres See Curtis, 32 M.J. at 260. This 

Court should ensure that a military accused has the right to 

have offenses set out by a representative body. The separat 

of powers doctrine and Due Process Clause require nothing less. 

WHEREFORE, appellant sts t this Court set aside 

findings and his death sentence. 
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ISSUE 3: RING V. ARIZONA REQUIRES THAT THE MEMBERS 
FIND THAT AGGRAVATING FACTORS SUBSTANTIALLY OUTWEIGH 
MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT. 

Statement of Facts 

The military judge inst the members, re they 

deliberat on the sentence, they must be "convinced beyond 

a reasonable doubt" that at least one aggravating factor 

existed. (R. at 3135.) The military judge also gave the 

members t standard reasonable doubt instruction. (R. at 

3136. ) military judge instructed the members that "you 

may not udge a sentence of death unless you unanimously find 

that any all extenuating or mitigating circumstances are 

substantially outweighed by aggravating circumstances." (R. 

at 3137.) military judge never instructed the members on 

the defi tion of "substanti ly outweigh." 

The litary judge also ructed the on four 

separate aggravating "circumstances." (R. at 3138.) The 

milita judge stated that the members "may consider" these 

aggravating rcumstances in ermining whether aggravating 

circumstances outweighed the tigating circumstances as 

required in R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4) (Cl. Id. Because the members 

imposed a h sentence, this Court must infer t members 

found that aggravating ctors substantially outweighed the 

mitigating circumstances. 
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Both be re trial and before the sentencing ing, 

appellant sted that the litary judge instruct the members 

that they must find the aggravat circumstances substantially 

outweighed mitigating circumstances beyond a reasonable 

doubt. (R. at 377 391, 510-513; App. Ex. 88.) military 

judge denied motion. (R. at 642.) 

standard of Review 

The mili judge's ins ons are de novo for 

legal error. See United States v. Grier, 53 M.J. 3D, 34 

(C.A.A.F. 2000). 

Argument 

Rule Courts-Martial 1004 (b) (4) (C) requires the 

members in a 1 sentencing ceeding, before imposing a 

sentence of de , must "concur any extenuati or 

mitigating circumstances are substantially outwei by any 

aggravating circumstances. n Rule Courts-Martial 

1004 (b) (4) (C), MANUAL FOR COURTS-MARTIAL (2000 ed.) . s Court 

should set asi appellant's death sentence based on the 

military judge's refusal to instruct the members to wei 

aggravating and igating circumstances under a beyond a 

reasonable doubt standard because: a) the weighing sion has 

been construed by the Court of Is for the Armed Forces as 

an eligibility finding of fact; b) Due Process Clause 
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requires that eligibility findings of fact be made under the 

beyond a reasonable doubt standard; c) to avoid a constitutional 

question this Court can construe the UCMJ as requiring the 

beyond a reasonable doubt standard r the weighing 

termination; d) regardless of constitutional questions, this 

Court should re beyond a reasonable doubt standard for 

such an important ision a capital case; and e) the 

erroneous instruction in this case, failing to require 

beyond a reasonable doubt standard, cannot be harmless error. 

a. 
Appeals for the Armed Forces as a 

The Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces has specifically 

stated that the weighing determination required by R.C.M. 

1004 (b) (4) (C) is an "eligibility" finding. See Loving v. Hart, 

47 M.J. 438, 442 (1998). Eligibility findings are findings that 

increase the maximum punishment to death, versus select 

findings that are the basis the individualized erminat 

of the sentence to be imposed. Tuilaepa v. California, 512 U.S. 

967, 971 72 (1994). 

b. 	 's rationale and the Fifth Amendment Due Process Clause 
thea beyond a reasonable doubt standard for 

When combined with the Court's traditional jurisprudence 

t legislatures must ca ly tailor capital sentencing 

schemes, Ring yields the conclusion that the military's capital 
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sentencing scheme is invalid because 1) the Due Process Clause 

requires a beyond a reasonable doubt standard for all findings 

of t that increase an accus 's potential maximum punishment, 

2) the weighing determination has been construed by other 

juri ctions as a finding of fact requiring proof beyond a 

reasonable doubt, and 3) the standard in R.C.M. 1004(b) (4) (C) 

Is below the minimum requirements of Due Process. 

1. 
"Beyond the Reasonable Doubt" Standard to Sentencing 

It is axiomatic that each element of an of se must 

proven beyond a reasonable doubt in a courts-martial. The Court 

of Appeals for the Armed Forces ci cally stated that "the 

Due Process Clause of the fth Amendment to the Constitution 

requires the Government to prove a defendant's gui beyond a 

reasonable doubt." United States v. Czekala, 42 M.J. 168, 170 

(C.A.A.F. 1995). Additionally, Art. 51, UCMJ, requires that 

each element of the offense proven" yond a reasonable 

doubt." Therefore, any extension of the protection afforded a 

civilian criminal fendant by the "beyond a reasonable doubt" 

standard must similarly apply to litary accused. 

In Apprendi v. New Jersey, the Court extended this due 

process protection to certain determinations made during a 

sentencing proceeding. 530 U.S. at 468-69. The Apprendi Court 

considered a New Jersey sentencing statute that allowed the 
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sentencing judge to increase a defendant's maximum ssib 

sentence if he or she found that the de committ 

crime in question with a biased motive. S Court 

uded that due process considerations and S 

Amendment's right to a jury required a jury to rna s "biased 

motive U finding beyond a reasonable doubt. . at 469. 

Court began its opinion by reasserting Win 's constitutional 

tenet that due process considerations protect an accus from 

a criminal conviction unless the jury was convinced of s It 

beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 476. It Ii se 

a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a jury t 1 1 

criminal cases. Id. The Court concluded that " se 

rights indisputably entitle a criminal defendant to a jury 

rmination that he is guilty of every e of 

with which he is charged, beyond a reasonable doubt.u . at 

477. The Court then explained that these constitut 1 

protections also "extend, to some degree, 'to dete 

that [go] not to a defendant's guilt or innocence, but s y to 

the length of his sentence.'U Id. at 484 (quoting Alm rez 

Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224, 251 (1998) (Scal ,J., 

dissenting) ) . Based on these principles, the Court conc 

that any finding, other than a prior conviction, that ases 

penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statuto 

must be submitted to a jury, and found beyond a rea e 
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doubt. Id. at 490. "[T]he relevant inquiryU in this context, 

the Court noted, "is one not of form, but of ef ct - does the 

required finding expose the defendant to a greater punishment 

than that autho zed by the jury's guilty verdict?" Id. at 494. 

Based on this, the Court concluded that the statute in question 

was unconstitutional because it allowed the trial judge, instead 

of the jury, to make the finding in question, and allowed the 

judge to make that finding via a standard lower than beyond a 

reasonable doubt. Id. at 497. 

In Ring, the Court extended Apprendi to capital sentencing 

proceedings. 536 U.S. at 609. What made Ring even more 

significant and applicable to the military, however, was the way 

in which the Court interpreted the sentencing procedure in 

question in that case. In Ring, the Court ewed Arizona's 

capital sentencing scheme, which, in many ways, is very similar 

to the military's ital sentencing structure. Like the 

Uniform Code of Military Justice, Arizona's murder statute 

stated that premeditated murder is punishable by death or life 

imprisonment. Compare z. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 13-1105(C) (2001) 

with Art. 118, UCMJ. Also similar to R.C.M. 1004, Arizona's 

capital sentencing procedure required the sentencing authority 

to make two crucial findings before the death penalty even 

became an eligible sentencing option. Upon a finding guilt 

to premeditat murder, Arizona law required the trial judge to 
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conduct a sentencing hearing where he or she had to find: (1) 

the existence of at least one aggravating factor beyond a 

reasonable doubt, and (2) "that there are no mitigating 

rcumstances sufficiently substantial to call for leniency." 

Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 13-703(C). Without these findings, the 

maximum punishment was life imprisonment. Id. 

The Supreme Court held that although the Arizona murder 

statute stated that death was an authorized punishment r 

premeditated murder, this punishment was really not an available 

option under the State's sentencing scheme unless the sentencing 

judge found the existence of an aggravating factor. Ring, 536 

U.S. at 596-98. Upon a finding of guilt, alone, a fendant was 

only eligible for li in prison. Id. To this extent, the 

Court concluded, the trial judge's additional sentencing 

findings "exposed [the defendant] to a greater punishment than 

that authorized by the jury's guilty verdict." Id. at 604 

(quoting Brief Respondent, 9-19 and citing Apprendi, 530 

U.S. at 541). Looking only at the first finding, and reI ng on 

Apprendi, the Court concluded that const utional considerations 

mandated that the jury make this finding beyond a reasonable 

doubt. Id. at 609. Because the manner in which the rst 

finding was made ran afoul of the Constitution and the 

constrained nature of the appeal, there was no ne for the 
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Court to s second finding regarding weighing aggravating 

and mitigat facts. Id. 

2. After v. Arizona other jurisdictions construed the 

A number of state capital sentencing schemes have a 

long time red that the sentencing a rity make this 

"weighing determination" under the "beyond a reasonable doubt" 

standard. See Ark. Code Ann. § 5-4-603 (a) (2) (2003); N.J. Stat. 

Ann. § 2C:11 3(c) (3) (2003); N.Y. CLS CPL § 400.27(11) (a) 

(2003); Oh Rev. Code Ann. § 2929.03(0) (1) (West 2003); Tenn. 

Code Ann. § 39-13-204 (f) (2) (2002); Utah Ann. § 76 3­

207 (5) (b) (2003). Additionally, the Supreme Courts of rado r 

Utah, and New Jersey, before the decision Ring, inte t 

their states' sentencing s s to require that this "weighing 

determination" be made beyond a reasonable doubt as well. See 

People v. Tenneson, 788 P.2d 786, 790-96 (Colo. 1990); State v. 

Woods, 648 P. 71 (Utah 1982); State v. wald, 524 A.2d 

130 (N.J. 1987). Finally, Justice Stevens, as early as 1983, 

endorsed oying a "beyond a reasonable doubt" standa as the 

government's burden of persuasion regarding this weighing 

determination. Smith v. North Carolina, 459 U.S. 1056, 1056 

(1983) (Stevens, J., respecting the denial of a petition 

writ of certiorari). All these authorities made clear that it 
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was possible to attach a "beyond a reasonable doubt" burden of 

persuasion to the weighing determination in question. 

After the Supreme Court's decision in Ring, the Supreme 

Courts of Nevada and Colorado in en banc opinions held that the 

weighing determination in their capital sentencing scheme was a 

finding of fact that increased the maximum punishment, and was, 

therefore, a functional element that must be found by a jury 

beyond a reasonable doubt. See Johnson v. Nevada, 59 P.3d 450, 

460 (Nev. 2002); Woldt v. People, 64 P.3d 256 (Colo. 2003); see 

also State v. Gales, 265 Neb. 598, 631-32 (Neb 2003); but see Ex 

rte Waldrop, 859 So.2d 1181, 1189 (Ala. 2002); Brice v. State, 

815 A.2d 314, 320-23 (Del. 2003). The Nevada Supreme Court 

noted that Ring v. Arizona did not reach the issue of whether 

such a weighing determination was a finding of ct r purposes 

of the Sixth Amendment. See Johnson, 59 P.3d at 460. However, 

the Court went on to apply Ring to the entire Nevada capital 

sentencing scheme. Id. The Nevada capital sentencing scheme 

has a bifurcated hearing process almost identical to the 

military process. See NEV. REV. STAT. 175.552-6 (2002). In 

Nevada, gate one t ir capital process is, of course, that 

the defendant unanimously found guilty beyond a reasonable 

doubt of a death-eligible offense. Id. at 175.552. The second 

gate in Nevada is that the jury must find that one or more 

aggravating circumstances were proven to st beyond a 
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reasonable doubt. . at 175.554. The third gate is that the 

jury must find that "no mitigating circumstances [are] 

sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstance or 

circumstances found." Id. Finally, the jury must decide 

unanimously whether to impose the death penalty. See Johnson, 

59 P.3d at 460. The Nevada Supreme Court stated that there are 

two "distinct findings" that make a defendant death eligible, to 

wit, that aggravating rcumstances st and that mitigating 

circumstances do not outweigh aggravating circumstances. Id.; 

see also NEV. REV. STAT. 175.554(3). Under the law ruled 

unconst utional by the Nevada Supreme Court, a three-judge 

panel could impose the death sentence if a jury could not 

unanimously agree on a sentence in a death eligible case. See 

Johnson, 59 P. at 460. ifically, the panel of judges 

could impose a sentence of death, without a jury, "if it finds 

at least one aggravating circumstance and further finds 

there are no mitigating circumstances sufficient to outweigh 

aggravat circumstance or circumstances found." Id. 

The Nevada Supreme Court held the weighing 

determination, whether made by t jury or the I of judges, 

was "necessary to authorize the death penalty in Nevada." 

(emphasis added). Further, t Court stated that we ing 

determination was "in part a factual determination, not merely 

scretionary weighing." Id. (emphasis added). The Nevada 
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Supreme Court concluded "Ring requires" that the weighing 

determination be made by a j beyond a reasonable doubt 

because "that fact no matter how the state labels it must 

by a jury beyond a rea doubt." Id. (quoting Ring, 

536 U. S. at 602). 

In light of Ring, the Supreme Court of Colorado in Woldt v. 

e, 64 P.3d 256 (2003), also invalidated that state's 

tal punishment statute. The Colorado statute also 

tal sentencing in the hands of a three-judge panel that 

loyed a four step analysis in i ng whether to impose a 

death sentence. Id. at 265. first step requires the 

finding that an aggravating or exists. Id. Next, the panel 

ermines whether any mit ing sexist. Id. Therea er, 

the panel determines whether any tigating factors outweighed 

aggravating factors. Id. lly, the panel, considering 

all relevant factors, dete nes whether to impose a sentence of 

ath. Id. In light of Ring, Court of Colorado 

racterized steps one through three as findings of fact that 

made the defendant "death eli Ie." Id. at 265-66. The Court 

its capital sentencing statute unconstitutional because 

panel of judges, as oppo to the jury, makes factual 

findings including the weighing of aggravation and mitigation . 

. at 266-67. 
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Even federal district courts reaching the issue have made 

similar findings. Under the Federal Death Penalty Act, juries 

in federal district courts have a similar weighing 

determination. See 18 U.S.C. § 3593 (e) (2000). In the District 

of Massachusetts, in the case of United States v. lbert, 245 

F. Supp. 2d 327 (D. Mass. 2003), the district court judge 

instruct a capital sentencing jury regarding this weighing 

determination. See generally United States v. Sampson, 245 

F.Supp. 2d 327, 329, 335 n.1 (Dist. Mass. 2003). In s 

sentencing instructions the district judge instructed the jury, 

in light of Ring, that the weighing determination must be made 

beyond a reasonable doubt though the statute does not require 

3. 	Fifth Amendment implications of Ring on the R.C.M. 
1004(b) (4) (C) finding. 

The military sentencing scheme is s lar to the sentencing 

scheme at issue in Ring because requires, as a requisite 

to cons ring death as an eligible sentence, that the members 

find: (1) the existence an aggravating factor, and (2) that 

aggravating factors and circumstances substantially outweigh the 

mitigating circumstances. See R.C.M. 1004(b) (4). As the title 

to R.C.M. 1004(c) states, these are "necessary findingsu before 

the members may sentence a servicemember to death. Id. While 

t military's death-penalty scheme already requires that the 
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members make these findings, it does not require t members to 

be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravating 

factors substantially outweigh the mitigating factors. See 

R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4) (C). 

Additional evidence suggesting the military's weighing 

determinat is a "finding" susceptible to the beyond a 

reas doubt standard comes from fact that R.C.M. 

1004 (b) (4) is titled ssary fi II R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4). 

More importantly, as the Supreme Court stated, the question at 

hand "is one not of form but of effect" "does this we ing 

determination expose an accused to a punishment greater than 

that authorized by the , guilty ve ct alone?" 

Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 494 (cited in Ring, 536 U.S. at 602). 

Because this weighing ermination is a requisite to 

establish death as an authorized sentence, the answer to this 

question is yes. R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4) (C) must be decided yond a 

reasonable doubt. 

4. 
-&~--------------------------------------------------------

In this case, appel specifically requested t the 

beyond a reasonable doubt standard be applied to the members' 

determination under R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4) (C) . (R. at 377-391, 510­

513; App. Ex. 88.) Appellant's request fically ted the 

Due Process Clause as t basis for his request. Id. 
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The military judge denied this request without lanation. (R. 

at 642; App. Ex. 118.) In fact, the milit j 's ruling 

merely states, "The defense motion to declare Ru r Courts-

Martial 1004 (b) (4) (C) unconstitutional is ed. See U.S. v. 

Loving, 41 M.J. 213 (1994) and U.S. v. 55 M.J. 1 (1991)u. 

(R. at App. Ex. 108.) This ruling denied llant due process 

under Ring, Winship, and Art. 51, UCMJ. The milit judge 

defined reasonable doubt as "an honest, consc misgiving 

or doubt.u (R. at 3136.) The military judge never defined the 

term "substantially outweighU, leaving it to rs to come 

up with their own interpretation of the standard. ly, t 

substantially outweighs standard would be lower in of 

the members since the reasonable doubt standard is st 

standard under the law. Under these circumstances, two 

concepts essentially reverse the burden of proof. Where 

a reasonable doubt requires acquittal when there is 

greater than a fanciful doubt, substantially outwei res 

a conviction where the aggravating factors only substant lly 

outweigh the mitigating factors. Id. 

The "substantially outweigh U standard did not p a 

substitute for the moral certainty of the "beyond a reasonable 

doubt" standard of Winship. The weighing determination 

R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4) (C) was a "factual determination u necessa r 

the imposition of the death penalty, and, there r 
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and Apprendi must be found to the moral certainty of beyond a 

reasonable doubt. See Ring, 536 U.S. at 602; Apprendi, 530 U.S. 

at 494 n.19. 

Appellant requests that his sentence set aside based on 

the improperly low standard used in his case. However, this 

Court need not find R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4) (C) unconstitutional on its 

face to resolve this issue. Courts have a "duty to avoid 

constitutional problems with a regulation. [WJhere a regulation 

is attacked as unconstitutional or violative of a statute, 'a 

narrowing construction' is mandat , if possible, to avoid these 

problems." United States v. Williams, 29 M.J. 112, 115 (C.M.A. 

1989) (cit g Boos v. Barry, 485 U.S. 312 (1988)). The Court 

Appeals r the Armed Forces has stated that the issue of 

whether an element should be determined by the members is an 

issue of statutory interpretation. See United States v. New, 55 

M.J. 95, 103 04 (2001), cert denied, 534 U.S. 955 (2001). In 

New, the Court had to decide if the issue of an order's 

lawfulness was an element of an Art. 92, UCMJ, of nse "and 

therefore should have been submitted to the members under 

Article 51(c)." Id. at 104. Here, if this Court finds that the 

weighing determination is the "functional equivalent of an 

element" of the offense, then it should be found beyond a 
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reasonable doubt pursuant to Art. 51, UCMJ. Because it is the 

members' responsibility to decide all elements of the fense 

beyond a reasonable doubt under Art. 51(c) (4), UCMJ, this Court 

should statutorily interpret the standard of proof for the 

finding of fact in R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4) (C) to be beyond a 

reasonable doubt to avoid a constitutional question. 

d. 	As a matter of fundamental fairness this Court should 
require the weighing determination in R.C.M. 1004(b) (4) (C) 
be made to the moral certainty of beyond a reasonable 
doubt. 

If this Court finds that neither the Constitution nor 

Article 51, UCMJ mandates a beyond a reasonable doubt standard 

for the decision in R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4) (C), this Court should 

neverthe ss invoke its Art. 66, UCMJ, powers to promote 

fairness in capital sentencing. Specifically, this Court should 

clare that as a matter of fundamental irness, no sentence of 

death in the military is permissible unless the finder of 

unanimously finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravating 

factor{s) outweigh mitigating factors. 

In the Quiroz line of cases, this Court exercis its Art. 

66, UCMJ, power to establish a non-statuto framework for 

unreasonable multiplication of charges with the primary goals of 

protecting the ufundamental fairness" and " ation of the 

military justice system." See Unit States v. Quiroz roz 

II), 53 M.J. 600, 607 (N.M.Ct.Crim.App. 2000) (en bane) rev'd on 
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o grounds 55 M.J. 334 (C.A.A.F. 2001). After from 

the Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces, the se ce court 

reaffirmed that commitment to the fundamental fairness of our 

system by continuing to use its Art. 66, UCMJ, powers to ensure 

that litary accus are not subject to a piling on of charges 

even if the issue is not raised at tal. See Unit States v. 

Quiroz (Quiroz IV), 57 M.J. 583, 586 (N.M.Ct.Crim.App. 2002) 

aff'd, 58 M.J. 183 (C.A.A.F. 2003). In Quiroz IV, s Court 

promoted the fundamental fairness of the military justice system 

by ssing unrea ly multipl d charges. Id. at 585-56. 

Furt r, the Court lined to invo the waiver rule, though 

t Court clearly could have invoked s rule of I 

pro re, out of the same consideration for the fundamental 

fairness of our system. Id. 

Navy-Mar Court of Criminal Appeals has a 0 

exerci this power in United States v. Swetzer, No. 9602556, 

1999 CCA LEXIS 14 (N.M.Ct.Crim.App. Jan. 20, 1999) (unpublished 

opinion) (attached) (OAE KK; OA 408 12), where the Court stated 

that it need not apply the waiver rule when the important issue 

of improper use of statements obtained in violation of 

appel 's Sixth Amendment rights was at issue. See Swetzer, 

at *9 10 (citing Uni States v. Evans, 28 M.J. 74, 76 (C.M.A. 

1989) ) . (OAE KK; OA 408-412.) In Swetzer the Court said it 

would not apply the of waiver failure to object sed 
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on the concern for the fundamental fairness of the proceedings. 

Id. 

This Court similarly invoked s Art. 66, UCMJ, power to 

protect the fundamental Due Process right of an accused to 

speedy postt al processing in United States v. Collazo. See 53 

M.J. 721, 727 .Ct.Crim.App. 2000). There s Court stated 

that under Art. 66, UCMJ, it was exercising its power to ensure 

fundamental fairness of posttrial action. Id. This Court went 

on to state, "[F]undamental fairness dictates that the 

government proceed with due diligence to execute a soldier's 

. posttrial processing rights . . given the totality of 

the circumstances the soldier's case." Id. The Collazo 

Court's exercise of Art. 66, UCMJ, power to ensure the 

fundamental fairness of a court-martial was vindicated in United 

States v. Ta f, where the Court of Appeals for the Armed 

Forces held that under Art. 66, UCMJ, the Courts of Criminal 

Appeals may fashion their own remedy to perceived injustices in 

the military system as warranted by the circumstances of t 

case. See Uni States v. Ta f, 57 M.J. 219, 224-25 

(C.A.A.F. 2002). 

Using this same power to ensure the fundamental irness of 

the litary justice system, this Court should require t t a 

jury be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravating 

circumstances substantially outweigh the mitigating 

276 



rcumstances before a sentence of death may be imposed. The 

a high degree of certa y in this factual 

te ion in a capital case cannot be overstated. Be re 

affirming the ultimate punishment, is Court should require t 

hi st degree of factual certainty on all issues affecting 

members' sentence of death. 

In State v. Woods, 648 P.2d 71 (Utah 1982), the Supreme 

Court of Utah addressed whether yond a reasonable doubt 

standard should be applied to a tal weighing process. That 

court held that the beyond areas e doubt standard was 

iate as "the fundamental re r humanity underl ng 

the Eighth Amendment . . can only eved if sentencing 

s only permit imposition of th penalty on the 

basis a high degree of con dence that that penalty is 

ate. U Id. at 81 (internal ions and quotations 

omit ). The Court also noted that: 

Even if Solomon-like wisdom were available 
in framing objective st , their whole 
purpose could be thwarted if the governing 
procedural rules allowed t sentencing body 
to impose the death penalty in t face of 

dence which creates a reas Ie or 
substantial doubt as to the iateness 

that penalty. 

Id. S rly, in State v. Biegenwald, 524 A.2d 130 (N.J. 

1987), Supreme Court of New Jersey both as a matter of 

st construction and as a matter of fundamental fairness 
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that the State was required to ing factors 

outweighed mitigating factors by proof a reasonable 

doubt. Id. at 156 ("If anywhere in 1 law a fendant 

is entitled to the benefit of doubt, is reo We 

therefore hold that as a matter of al irness the jury 

must find that aggravating factors outwei igating factors, 

and this balance must be found beyond areas doubt") . 

In Winship, 397 U.S. at 372, Justice an, in a 

concurring opinion noted: "I view t rement of proof 

beyond a reasonable doubt in a cr nal case as bottomed on a 

fundamental value determination of our soc ty it is r 

worse to convict an innocent man than to let a gui y man go 

free. 1I Further, the Supreme Court has not t again that 

"death is a punishment different from all other sanctions[.]11 

Woodson V. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 303 04 (1976); see also 

Wiggins V. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 557 (2003) se es 

should guide the Court's assessment of t issue. 

Should this Court determine that R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4) (C) 

need not be found beyond areas on const ional 

grounds, appellant asks this Court llow e of the 

Supreme Courts of New Jersey and Utah are in light 

of the spirit of Ring and Apprendi as a matter of 

fundamental fairness, and pursuant to Art. 66, UCMJ, that no 

sentence of death in the military is rmiss unless the 
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fi of unanimously finds beyond a 	 doubt that 

ing factor(s) outweigh mitigating rs.t 

analysis are inapplicable. 

Appellant's sentence should be set aside because ess 

error analysis and reweighing of aggravating and 

rcumstances are inapplicable to the improperly burden of 

f specified in R.C.M. 1004 (b) (4) (C). The Court held 

t in order to uphold a capital sentence after an 

or is set aside, the court must either per ss 

error anal is or, if provided in the statute, reweigh 

versus mitigating factors. See St v. Bla 

503 U.S. 222, 232 (1992). Where the weighing ss of a 

ing 

we 

sentence is skewed by an invalid aggravating or, 

rewe ing or harmless error analysis are constitutionally 

Id. However, the error in this case occurs in 

ermination itself, not one of the ing 

ors to be weighed. Thus, the burden of proof in the 

weighing determination is skewed: the scale which balances the 

ravating ctors is the problem, not the factors to be 

measu on the scale. Reweighing using this broken scale would 

yield same erroneous results. 

1. 	After Ring v. Arizona, appellate reweighing is an 
invasion of the jury's provenance. 
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Ring v. Arizona changed the fundamental reasoning of 

Clemmons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738 (1990), and Strin v. 

Black, 503 U.S. 222 (1992), have changed. Therefore, this Court 

must conduct a new analysis of whet r has the power to 

conduct reweighing analysis bas on the inciples articulated 

in Ring v. Arizona and Apprendi v. New Jersey. Because emmons 

was based on the Walton v. Arizona sentencing factor distinction 

it appears that the doctrine has been overru See emmons, 

494 U.S. at 745. In emmons, the Court said, "Any argument 

that the Const ution requires that a jury impose the sentence 

of death or make the findings prerequisite to imposition of such 

a sentence has been soundly rejected by prior decisions of this 

Court." Id. The appellate judges in the Clemmons case were 

permitted to reweigh the aggravating ctors specifically 

because the weighing determination was a sentencing factor, not 

an element of the crime. See Clemmons, 494 U.S. at 745; see 

also Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. at 649. Because the weighing 

determination, and all isions in capital sentencing, were 

cons red sentencing factors and not elements of the offense, 

appellate court determination of the issue did not interfere 

with the appellant's jury trial ght. There was no ne for 

jury determinations at any stage that sentencing factors were 

found beyond a reasonable doubt. Once Ring v. Arizona applied 

the element distinction to capital sentencing, the assumptions 
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of the emmons decision were overruled and appellate judge 

reweighing of what is now an element of the offense implicates 

an appellant's jury trial right guaranteed under Ring. Thus, if 

this Court fi that the beyond a reasonable doubt standard 

applies to the weighing determination, appellate reweighing is 

not permitted because the scale for weighing was broken at 

trial. Because the members in this case never made weighing 

determination beyond a reasonable doubt, appellate judges may 

not make that ision in their place. The members must make 

that decision at least one time at tr 1. Without s 

ermination being made by the members under the proper 

standa at least once, a proper wei determination is not 

implicit in any decision of the members as is requi in Ring. 

Appellant would deni his right to a members' determination 

beyond a reasonable doubt if an appellate court reweighed t 

aggravating factors without the members ever rea ng that 

cision. This Court would, in effect, supplant the members' 

necessary finding that it sought to correct. 

2 . 

Harmless error analysis of this error is also inapplicable. 

Supreme Court in Ring left harmless error ana is as an 

open ion r capital sent ng errors as a result of that 

decision. See Ring, 536 U.S. at 609 n.7. Ring Court st 
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that it "did not reach" the State's harmless error claim that 

the improper decided aggravator was implicit in the jury's 

finding. Id. Instead, the Court left the stion to lower 

courts to decide. Id. In Clemmons, the Supreme Court stated 

that a court's power to conduct harmless error analysis or 

reweighing is governed by local standards of review. Clemmons 

v. Mi ssippi, 494 U.S. 738, 754 (1990). The Court further 

stated in Clemmons that a case should be remanded for a new 

ring when the appellate harmless error/reweighing process is 

extremely speculative. Id. 

The error in this case was an improperly low burden of 

proof in the weighing stage of sentencing. There re, this 

Court should look to cases where an improperly low burden of 

proof in other contexts was the aIle error to determine the 

applicability of harmless error. Harmless error analysis in 

cases where an improper burden of proof was given to the jury 

has been held to be a structural error to which harmless error 

does not apply. See Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275 (1993). 

When a finding is based on a standard of proof lower than beyond 

a reasonable doubt, the improper burden vitiates the jury's 

findings. See Sullivan, 508 U.S. at 281. The Supreme Court in 

Sullivan racterized an improper jury standard as an error 

that is unquantifiable and, there , unable to determine what 

the jury would have found with the correct standard. Id. at 
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281-82. The Court concluded that to allow harmless error 

analysis in a case where the jury's findings were unquantifiable 

would allow the "wrong entity" to adjudge guilt, i.e. the judge 

not the jury. Id. at 282. Therefore, an improperly low burden 

of proof instruction is one of those cases where harmless error 

analysis is extremely speculat and the case should be 

remanded for a new hearing. See generally Clemmons, 494 U.S. at 

754. 

The failure to specify the beyond a reasonable doubt 

standard is equal to no trial at all on a finding of fact 

necessary to impose death. The Supreme Court in Winship stated 

that the due process clause "protects the accused against 

conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every 

ct necessary to constitute the crime with which he is 

charged." 397 U.S. at 364. Without that standard, the members' 

verdict does not meet the requirements of due process and 

therefore cannot form the basis for harmless error analysis. 

Sullivan, 508 U.S. at 280-81. As the Court stated in Sullivan, 

"There being no jury verdict of guilty-beyond-a-reasonable 

doubt, the question whether the same verdict of guilty-beyond-a 

reasonable-doubt would have been rendered absent the 

constitutional error is utterly meaningless." Id. at 280. 

Without a jury verdict beyond a reasonable doubt on an issue, 

"the most an appellate court can conclude is that a jury would 
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surely have found pet ioner guilty beyond a reasonable doubt - ­

not that jury's actual finding of guilty beyond a reasonable 

doubt would surely not have been different absent the 

constitutional error. That is not enough." Id. 

Seve courts have addressed whether g v. zona 

allows harmless error analysis. In Esparza v. Mitchell, the 

Sixth Circuit that harmless error review was inapplicable 

where a judge imposed a death sentence in a case where the jury 

was never instructed on the death-eligible offense. See Esparza 

v. tchell, 310 F.3d 414, 421 (6th Cir. 2002), rev'd on other 

grounds, 540 U.S. 12 (2003) (per curiam). The Court reasoned 

allowing the judge to decide any element of the state's 

capital-aggravating system does not comply with the ghth 

Amendment. Id. The Court found harmless error analysis in such 

a case would impermissibly supplant a judge's determinat for 

the jury's. Id. However, several other courts have said that 

harmless error analysis is applicable to their system r 

Apprendi lations. See Arizona v. ng, 65 P. 3d 915, 935-36 

(Ariz. 2003) (citing Apprendi based decisions findi harmless 

error) . 

Even those decisions that have held that harmless error 

analysis is applicable to errors related to Ring v. Arizona, 

none have dealt with harmless error in light of an improperly 

low burden of proof in weighing rmination a r g. 
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Cf. Brice v. State, 815 A.2d at 326-27 (construing Ring not to 

apply to the weighing determination and holding general that 

Delaware's system was const utional because a jury found the 

aggravating factor(s) existed beyond a reasonable doubt). Most 

post-Ring cases invo a situation where an aggravating 

factor(s), or all aggravating factors, were invalidated due to 

judge's determination of aggravating factors. Wrinkles v. 

State, 776 N.E.2d 905, 907 08 (Ind. 2002) (finding implicit in 

jury's verdict of gui beyond a reasonable doubt on three 

separate murders the aggravator of multiple murders). The 

Arizona Supreme Court specifically noted the difference between 

cases where the jury's verdict is susceptible to harmless error 

analysis, because the jury found facts sufficient to support an 

aggravating factor in the findings phase, and one where there is 

no process which to apply harmless error. See State v. Jones, 

49 P.3d 273, 284, n.13 (Ariz. 2002). The Arizona Court noted 

that in cases where there was no jury trial on an alleged 

aggravator it would be "impossible to find harmless error." Id. 

at n.13. 

The real question is, therefore, how does harmless error 

f within each jurisdictions' cap al sentencing process for 

the specific errors in their process. The military judge in 

appellant's case specifically instructed the members on the 

lower burden of proof for the weighing determination by never 
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defining the term "substantially outweigh". When compared with 

beyond a reasonable doubt instruction given regarding 

aggravating factors, the members must have been left with the 

idea that the standard for weighing factors was lower or 

something dif rent. (R. at 3136.) Without a traditional 

standard of proof for the weighing ermination, the court 

cannot det ne just how cert the members were of this 

decision. If re is any reasonable doubt that the aggravating 

circumstances were outweighed by mitigating circumstances 

appellant should not a death sentence. However, this court 

has no way of knowing that from the record and no court can know 

that from the record. As the Supreme Court noted Sullivan, 

most this court can conclude is that the members would 

surely have found appellant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, 

and that is not enough. See Sullivan, 508 U.S. at 79 80. This 

court must be able to say that the members actually found the 

appel guilty yond a reasonable doubt and that "the ve ct 

actually red in s trial was surely unattribu e to 

error." Id. at 279. This Court cannot say that, because the 

members have never said that. Harmless error cannot be appli 

in this case where the members' ve ct is d of a standard. 
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3. 	Assuming arguendo harmless error applies, the 
constitutional error in this case materially prejudiced 
the substantial rights of Appellant. 

Even if harmless error were applied, the error cannot be 

harmless because the sentence of death was imposed. The 

military judge's instruction to the members at sentencing 

implicated a lower burden of proof for the weighing 

determination. However, the military judge stat that the 

members could not adjudge a death sentence unless they made this 

weighing determination unanimously. Sullivan, 508 U.S. at 279. 

In United States v. Tighe, 266 F.3d 1187, 1195 (9th Cir. 2001), 

the Ninth Circuit applied harmless error analysis to an Apprendi 

violation. Id. In ghe, the accus received a greater 

sentence based on an aggravating factor that the judge 

determined existed merely by a preponderance of the evidence. 

Id. The Ninth Circuit Court found that the judge's 

determination that the aggravating factor existed by a 

preponderance of the evidence was an Apprendi error. Id. at 

1193 94. The appellant Tighe would have been ineligible for 

the greater sentence without the finding that the aggravating 

factor existed. Id. at 1195. However, the appellant in Tighe 

received a sentence greater than the maximum sentence available 

without the aggravating factor. Id. Since the determination 

that the aggravating factor existed was made by a judge and not 

by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, the Court found that the 
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appellant was ineligible for the increased punishment without a 

jury finding on the aggravating factor. Id. Court 

concluded that since the jury never made that decision, the 

appellant should not have been eligible for the increased 

punishment. Id. In effect the appellant should not have 

proceeded through that e to t greater sentence. Since the 

appellant Tighe received the aggravated sentence, the Court 

found the error prejudi his rights and was not harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 1195. 

The military judge's instruction regarding the "burden of 

proof" for the weighing determination rendered the members' 

decision on the weighing determination gate improper, regardless 

of basis for the error (i.e. statutory or constitutional) . 

S t members' decision at this gate was not proper, the 

court-mart 1 should not have proceeded to the next st See 

Loving v. Hart, 47 M.J. at 442 (only after making t weighing 

termination may a member be sentenced to death). That next 

step was the f 1 decision to impose death. Thus, the 

prejud in this case is the ath sentence appellant received 

when, fact, he could not have been awarded death bas on the 

rema ing proper findings of the members. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set as appellant's death 

sentence and award him the only available sentence at t t 

of s trial, confinement for life. 
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Assignment of Error IV. 

SERGEANT AKBAR'S DEATH SENTENCE VIOLATES THE 
EIGHTH AMENDMENT BECAUSE APPELLANT'S SEVERE 
MENTAL ILLNESS MAKES SUCH A PUNISHMENT 
HIGHLY DISPROPORTIONATE TO HIS CULPABILITY 
AND VIOLATES THE FIFTH AMENDMENT BECAUSE IT 
WOULD BE A DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS TO EXECUTE 
APPELLANT. 

Introduction 

The Supreme Court has bar the execution of offenders who 

are mentally retarded, juveni s, or insane. The reason 

underlying all three proh ions is that in each category, the 

offender is either not criminally responsib e, or is criminally 

responsible but has a lower culpability due to diminished 

capacity to engage logi reasoning, impulse control, or in 

the lity to understand the impu ses of others. Offenders, 

Ii appellant, who suffer from a severe mental disease or 

defect but are not legally insane, suf r from diminished mental 

capacity to an extent equal to, and often greater than, 

offenders who are juveniles or who are mentally retarded. 

Appellant is not currently legally competent to assist in 

his appea , nor was he legally competent at the time of trial or 

the t of t of nses. Assuming arguendo that this Court 

finds that appellant is currently legally competent and was 

Ie lly competent at the time of the offenses and t al,35 

35 Appellant is not conceding that is either sane now, or was 
so at the time of the offense or trial. See AE XIII. 
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appellant is less suffering from a severe mental sease 

or de at the time of the offenses, trial, and on I, and 

thus his execution is prohibited. 

Statement of Facts 

Doctor Tuton, a clinical psychologist, examined 

appellant was 14 years old in 1986. (R. at 2017.) 

Doctor Tuton examined appellant because of an all tion t 

, s appel r was sexually abusing his sisters. (R. 

at 2019.) At 's court-martial, Dr. Tuton 

appellant us Diagnostic and Statistical Manual Mental 

Di ,4th tion, which did not exist at the time of his 

assessment. AMERICAN PSYCHIATRIC ASSOCIATION, DIAGNOSTIC AND STATISTICAL 

MANUAL OF MENTAL DISORDERS (4th ed. 1994) [hereinafter DSM-IV]. (R. 

at 2032.) Doctor Tuton diagnosed appellant with a onal 

disorder, not se specified, associated with 

schi 1 features. (R. at 2035.) Doctor Tuton also assi 

appellant a 1 Assessment of Functioning (GAF) score of 60 

at the t of his original interview. (R. at 2037.) Doctor 

Tuton expla such a number was on a scale of 0-100; h 

mental heal improving as the number increased, and ent 

a moderate 1 of mental instability, but that all of t se 

assessments i only to his observations circa 1986. 

Doctor Tuton also testified that the federal cutoff r mental 

health dis lity was 55 and below. (R. at 2060.) Doctor Tuton 
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believed appellant at the age of 14 had "a very significant need 

for psychotherapy.u (R. at 2038.) Doctor Tuton testified that 

a person with appellant's agnosis would be at a greater s k, 

without therapy, to develop more severe mental illness. (R. at 

2041.) 

Doctor George Woods was the defense's clinical ychiatrist 

at trial. (R. at 2226.) Doctor Woods conducted three separate 

interviews of appellant. (R. at 2234.) In addition to 

interviewing appellant, Dr. Woods briefly interviewed a 

family members to identify any mental health issues, and found 

that appellant's brother suffered from paranoid ideations. (R. 

at 1679.) Doctor Woods also found that appellant's father 

suffered from severe depression and attempted s cide. (R. at 

1680.) Doctor Woods explained that a family history of mental 

disease increased the chances of someone also having a mental 

sease. (R. at 2245.) Doctor Woods determi that appellant 

suffered from paranoia, depression, and "unusual and bizarre u 

thinking. (R. at 2281.) Doctor Woods agnosed appellant as 

being across a "schizophreniform spectrumu typified by an 

"inability to rceive reality accurately, specifically under 

stress. U (R. at 2287.) Doctor Woods speci cally diagnosed 

appellant as having Schizotypal Personality sorder, an Axis II 

diagnosis in the DSM-IV, manifested by unusual thinking, 

paranoia, compensation under stress, and psychomotor 
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agitation. (R. at 2288.) Doctor Woods offered two other 

possible diagnoses of Paranoid Schizophrenia and Schizo­

affective Disorder. (R. at 2289.) Doctor Woods found evidence 

for all three diagnoses, but felt most strongly about 

Schizotypal Personality Disorder. (R. at 2291.) This 

difficulty in finding a definitive diagnosis was, in most part, 

due to a lack of background information. See AE I: B, E. 

In addition to trial testimony, other evidence established 

appellant's mental illness. On 23 March 2005, less than two 

weeks before trial, a forensic neuropsychological report on 

appellant was prepared by Dr. Pamela Clement, Chief of 

Neuropsychology at Brooke Army Medical Center. (DAE M; DA 47­

63.) While prepared in 2005, Dr. Clement's report relied upon 

testing conducted 27-29 May 2003. Id. at DA 49. While Doctor 

Clement agreed with the Sanity Board's diagnosis of Dysthmic 

Disorder (Id. at DA 58), she gave a differential diagnosis of 

"Schizophrenia, possibly Paranoid type" as the most likely 

diagnosis based on testing done on appellant. 36 Id. at DA 58. A 

"secondary possibility of Paranoid disorder" was also listed as 

an alternate diagnosis suggested by the results of testing on 

36 Doctor Clement noted that a solid diagnosis of Paranoid 
Schizophrenia would be supported by additional "historical and 
clinical data." (DAE M; DA 49.) The type of data Dr. Clement 
said was required was exactly the type that was largely ignored 
by appellant's trial defense counsel. (R. at App. Ex. 132; DAE 
B, C, 0, G, I, AA, GG; DA 1-27, 229-36, 331-341). 

292 



appellant. Id. Doctor Clement noted that the totality of 

appellant's mental health issues "reflects a very significant 

degree of ychopathology." Id. Dr. Clement's report was not 

introduced at trial. 

In addition to testifying at trial, Dr. Woods also provided 

additional evidence of llant's mental health problems to 

trial fense counsel a memorandum dated 28 February 2005. 

(DAE 0; DA 7-14.) Doctor Woods' memorandum addressed 

appellant's continuing sleep and arousal issues. Id. at DA 8. 

Doctor Woods advised that the sleeping and arousal issues were 

likely not merely sleep apnea, but directly relat to, and 

evidence of, psychiatric problems, specifically Schizophrenia. 

Id. at DA 11. Doctor Woods recommended that appellant receive 

more extensive psychological and physiological testing, and 

stated that such testing could not be done be re trial. Id. at 

DA 14. Doctor Woods also expressed a clear concern that 

appellant's "ability to meaningfully participate in his defense 

is predicated upon a comprehensive and effective evaluation and 

treatment his neurological condition." Id. at DA 7. At no 

point d defense counsel raise this issue of competency to the 

mil ry j 's attention, nor did they request any testing or 

evaluation recommended by Dr. Woods. 

Appellate counsel cannot, without expert assistance, 

de ively determine whether or not appellant currently s a 
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severe mental disease or defect. 37 However, Dr. Woods' current 

evaluation that appellant has Paranoid Schizophrenia now and had 

at time of the of se and t I strongly suggests that 

appellant is still afflicted with this serious mental disease 

and calls into question whether or not appel is lly 

competent to be executed. See DAE AA; DA 22 36; see also DAE 

Z; DA 224-28. Even a relatively less serious diagnosis such as 

Schizoa ive Disorder would still be a serious mental disease 

that 	would call appellant's competence into question. 

Among the symptoms associated with schizophrenia are "gross 

impairment in reality testing", "grossly disorganized behavior" 

and "structural brain abnormal s" . AMERICAN PSYCHIATRIC 

ASSOCIATION, DIAGNOSTIC AND STATISTICAL MANUAL, 297, 300, 304-05 (4th 

ed., Text Revision 2000) (DSM-IV-TR); see also DAE HH; DA 342 

74. 	 Schizophrenia is among the most ous mental health 

disorders and thus is an Axis I di sis. DSM-IV-TR at 25-26 

(distinguishing Axis I agnoses from Axis II diagnoses), 275 76 

(identifying Schizophrenia both as an Axis I agnosis and a 

serious 	mental th disorder). 38 

The volume of mitigation extenuation evidence mis 

ignored in appellant's case was extensive. (See DAE LL; DA 

37 See AE XIII. 

38 Appellant has also provided this Court with a primer on 

Schizophrenia from the National Institute of Mental Health. 

(DAE 	 HH; DA 342.) 
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413-517; see also AE I: B.) quality and quantity the 

missing evi was so extensive that made it impossible r 

Dr. Woods and the Sanity Board to give an accurate diagnosis and 

imposs e, without expert assistance, to ermine llant's 

current mental health status accurately. Id. 

Applicable Law and the Standard of Review 

The Eighth Amendment rs the execution of the criminally 

responsible but mentally retarded fender. ns v. Vi nia, 

536 U.S. 304 (2002), see also State ex rel. Andrew Lyons v. 

George Lomba and Chris Koster, S. W. 3d (26 January 

2010) (unpublished) (attached). (DAE Y; DA 216 23.) 

Eighth Amendment also bars the execution of t 

criminally responsible but juvenile offender. v. Simmons, 

543 u.S. 551 (2005). In both cases, the Supreme Court cused 

on t lowered culpability of offenders each of these 

sses. A ns, 536 u.S. at 318 19; Roper, 543 u.S. at 571. 

Additionally, the Supreme Court has found that the Ei 

Amendment bars the execution of those who were nally 

respons e at trial but who later became insane while pending 

execution. Ford v. Wainwright, 477 u.S. 399 (1986). 

Argument 

ng a person to death who is severely mentally 

ill olates the Eighth Amendment because sentence is 

categorically disproportionate to criminally responsible 
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but mentally ill of r's culpabil In both Atkins and 

Roper, the Supreme Court found three consistent but separate 

reasons why the death penalty was unconstitutional those 

circumstances: (1) t t the death lty was cat cally 

di ionate to diminished lity of mentally 

reta and juvenile offenders i (2) the death penalty 

did not serve penological purposes related to mentally 

reta and juvenile offenders; and (3) that evolving 

standa of decency prohibited the execution of mentally 

reta and juvenile offenders. Atkins, 536 u.S. at 318­

319; , 543 u.S. at 571. 

(1) Diminished Culpability 

For the mentally retarded and j le offenders, the 

of rs were still criminally culpable and could be 

puni d with the most severe criminal sanction that was 

short of death. The Supreme Court found that the h 

penalty required a hi level of cu lity than y 

could ssess as J le and mentally sane offenders: 

Mentally reta persons frequently know 
the difference between right and wrong and 
are competent to stand trial. Because of 
their impairments, however, by finition 
they have shed capacit s to 
understand process information, to 
communicate, to abstract from mistakes and 
learn from rience, to enga in logical 
reasoning, to control impulses, and to 
understand reactions of others. There 
is no evidence that they are more likely to 
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engage in criminal conduct than others, but 
re is abundant evidence that y often 

act on impulse r than pursuant to a 
tated p , and that group 

settings they are lowers r than 
1 rs. Their deficiencies do not warrant 
an exemption from criminal sanctions, but 
t y do diminish ir personal culpability. 

Atkins, 536 U.S. at 318. 

The Court also recogni that juries are poorly 

positioned to weigh properly the mitigat aspects of mental 

retardation. Atkins, 536 U.S. at 320-21 (mentally 

persons a "lesser ability . . to make a persuas 

showing of igation in face of prosecutorial of 

one or more aggravating ctors" in part because they "are 

typically poor witnesses, and their r may create an 

unwarrant impression of lack of remorse for their cr s. If) • 

Id. at 321 ("reliance on mental retardat as a miti ing 

factor can a two-edged sword that may enhance the 

likelihood that the aggravating factor of future dangerousness 

will be by the jury"). 

By logical extension the analysis llowed by 

Supreme Court applies e lly to those who suffer a 

severe mental illness but who do not satisfy the 1 test 

for insanity. There is nothing to s ficantly distinguish 

the culpabil y of a seriously mentally ill offender from the 

culpability of a juveni offender or a mentally retarded 
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offender. In many cases, a seriously mentally ill offender 

is si ficantly less culpable than an older juveni 

offender not suffering from mental il s or retardation. 

Similarly, an offender with mild ment retardation 

approaching the Intelligence Quotient (IQ) "cutoff" of 70 

cannot said to be any less culpable than an of 

suffering from a realit altering ser mental disease such 

as Schizophrenia. Ma aining the illusion that seriously 

mentally ill offenders are more culpable than many juvenile 

or mentally retarded of rs is an of e to justice, 

fairness due process as well as the Eighth Amendment. 

In the Uni States Supreme Court adopted a 

categorical prohibition inst execut people under 

eighteen: 

differences between j le and adult 
fenders are too marked and 1 understood 

to risk allowing a youthful 
receive the penalty 
insufficient culpability. An unacceptable 
likelihood sts that the brutality or 
cold-blooded nature of any particular crime 
would overpower mitigating a s based 
on youth as a matter of course, even where 
t juvenile of's objective 
immaturity, rability, lack of true 
depravity require a sentence less 
severe than h. In some cases a 

fendant's youth may even be counted 
ainst him. 

Roper, 543 U.S. at 572-73. 

The holdings in ns and Roper 1 the conclusion 
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that the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United 

States Constitution prohibit the execution of those who 

suffer from serious mental illness. 39 

(2) Penological Purpose 

The Court in Atkins identified retribution and deterrence 

as the two key penological purposes of the death penalty. 536 

U.S. at 319. The Court then noted that unless the death penalty 

for those who are mentally retarded "measurably contributes to 

39 See Corcoran v. Indiana, 774 N.E.2d 495, 502 (Rucker, J., 
dissenting) (" [TJ he underlying rationale for prohibiting 
executions of the mentally retarded is just as compelling for 
prohibiting executions of the seriously mentally ill, namely 
evolving standards of decency."). See also Christopher 
Slobogin, The Death Penalty and Mental Illness: Mental Disorder 
as an Exemption from the Death Penalty: The ABA-IRR Task Force 
Recommendations, 54 Cath. U. L. Rev. 1133, 1136-37 (2005) 
("People with significant mental disorder at the time of the 
offense may often be culpable enough to deserve conviction for 
murder, but they are never as culpable as the consummately evil 
killer envisioned by the Supreme Court's death penalty 
jurisprudence"); Elizabeth Rapaport, Straight is the Gate: 
Capital Clemency in the United States from Gregg to Atkins, 33 
N.M. L. Rev. 349, 367-68 (2003) (The Atkins decision itself 
provides ample jurisprudential justification, mutatis mutandis, 
for the exclusion of juveniles and the mentally ill as well as 
the mentally retarded from capital prosecution."); Douglas 
Mossman, Atkins v. Virginia, A Psychiatric Can of Worms, 33 N.M. 
L. Rev. 255, 289 (2003) ("Increased knowledge about the 
biological underpinnings of mental illness may well help 
convince courts that sufferers of several mental disorders 
deserve the same constitutional protections that Atkins confers 
upon defendants with mental retardation."); John Blume & Sheri 
Lynn Johnson, Killing the Non-Willing: Atkins, the Volitionally 
Incapacitated, and the Death Penalty, 55 s.c. L. Rev. 93 
(2003); Christopher Slobogin, What Atkins Could Mean for People 
with Mental Illness, 33 N.M. L. Rev. 293 (2003) (there is no 
rational basis for distinguishing the severely mentally ill and 
the mentally retarded). 
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one or both of these goals, it 'is nothing more than the 

purposeless and needless impos ion of pain and suffering,' and 

hence an unconstitutional punishment." Id. (quoting Enmund v. 

Florida, 458 u.s. 782, 798 (1982)). The Court highlighted that 

for retribution, "the severity of the appropriate punishment 

necessarily depends on the culpability of the offender." Id. 

Focusing on deterrence, the Court in focused on the 

problem with applying same standards to those who are 

mentally retarded versus those who are not. 

The theory of errence capital 
sentencing is predicated upon the notion 
that the increased severity of t 
punishment will inhibit criminal actors from 
carrying out murderous conduct. Yet is 
the same cognitive and behavioral 
impairments that make these defendants less 
morally culpable -- for example, the 
diminished ability to understand and process 
information, to learn from expe ence, to 
engage in logical reasoning, or to control 
impulses - that also rna it less likely 
that they can process information of the 
possibility of execution as a penalty and, 
as a result, control their conduct based 
upon that formation. 

Atkins, 536 u.s. at 320. 

For offenders with a serious mental disease or defect like 

appellant, his cognitive and behavioral impairments are no ss 

severe than someone with an IQ of 69, nor is he any better 

position to learn from mistakes, process formation correctly, 

control his impulses, or learn from the reactions of others. 
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Defendants who at the time of their offenses suffer from severe 

mental il ss will not be erred from committing their 

offenses by the threat of ital punishment. "The 

characteristic symptoms of s zophrenia," , "invo 

a range of cognitive and emotional dysfunctions include 

perception, in rential thin ng, language and communication, 

behavioral monitoring . volition and drive, and attention." 

DSM-IV-TR at 299. As a result these dysfunctions, 

schizoph cs often hold zarre beliefs and make decisions 

based on storted perceptions of reality. Id. As Justice 

Powell not , "[TJhe death na y has little deterrent force 

against s who have re capacity for considered 

choice." v. South Carol , 476 U.S. 1, 13 (1986) 

(Powell, J., concurring) (citi Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 

104, 115 n.11 (1982)). 

A s lar analysis was conducted by the Court in Roper with 

respect to juvenile offenders. The Court fo on retribution 

and deterrence. With respect to the former, the Court found 

that " [R]etribution is not rtional if the law's most severe 

penalty is sed on one whose culpability or blameworthiness 

is diminis , to a substant 1 gree, by reason of youth and 

immaturity. II Roper, 543 U.S. at 571. Regarding rrence, the 

Court found that the likelihood that a juvenile of 

performed a "cost-benefit analysis that attaches weight to 
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the poss lity execution" to "so remote as to be 

virtually nonexistent." Id. at 572 (quoting Thompson v. 

Oklahoma, 487 u.s. 815, 837 (1988)). 

As with mentally retarded offenders, there is little chance 

that an offender such as appellant with a serious real y 

altering mental sease like Schizophrenia is going to have more 

culpability, or be more able to perform a cost fit analysis 

with a view towards possible execut than a juvenile at the 

age of 16 or 17 years old. 

( 3 ) 

Under the Eighth Amendment, death is an excess penalty 

for a crime when it is contrary to "contemporary values" that 

is, the "evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of 

a maturing soci "Penry v. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. 302, 330-31 

(1989) (quoting Trap v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 101 (1958) 

(plurality opinion), abrogat by Atkins v. Vi nia, 536 U.S. 

304 (2002)). The "evolving standard," the Court stated in 

A , "should be informed by 'object factors' to the 

maximum possible extent," luding actions of legislatures, 

juries and prosecutors, "in t end Court's] own 

judgment will be brought to r on the question of the 

acceptability of t death penalty under the Eighth Amendment." 

Atkins, 536 U.S. at 311 12 (citing, inter alia, v. 

a, 	 433 U.S. 584, 597 (1977)). Furthermore, in Atkins, the 
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Court recogni that social and pro sional opinions 

must playas ficant role in defining the evolving standards 

of decency that mark progress of a matu society. Id. at 

2249 n.21. The Court looked to the opinions of social and 

pro ssional organizations with "germane expertise," the 

opposition to the ice by "wi ly diverse religious 

communities," international ice, and polling a, in 

determining that death is a disproportionate punishment for the 

mentally retarded. Id. 

In Roper, t Court looked to international op on, 

finding that n[T]he opinion of the world community, while not 

controlling our outcome, does provide re cted and s ficant 

confirmation r our own conclusions." 543 U.S. at 578. " [T] 

United States now stands alone in a world has turned s 

face against the juvenile h penalty." Id. at 577. In 

rejecting j Ie executions, the Court stated: "[I]t does not 

lessen our fidelity to the Const ion or our pride in s 

ori ns to acknowledge that the express affirmation of certain 

fundamental rights by r nations peoples simply 

underscores the centrality of those same r s within our own 

heritage of " Id. at 578. 

Many of the factors considered by the Court Atkins po 

directly to a conclusion that is disproportionate r 
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mentally ill defendants. 4o As in Atkins, pro ssional 

organizations with relevant expertise are overwhelmingly oppo 

to the execution of the mentally ill. The American Bar 

Association supports a categor I exemption of the severely 

mental ill from capital punishment: 

Defendants should not be executed or 
sentenced to death if, at the time of the 
offense, had a severe mental sorder 
or disability that significantly impaired 
their capacity (a) to appreciate the nature, 
consequences, or wrongfulness of their 
conduct; (b) to exercise rational judgment 

relation to conduct; or (c) to conform 
their conduct to the irements of the 
law. A disorder mani sted rily by 
repeat criminal conduct or attributable 
solely to the acute effects of voluntary use 
of alcohol or other drugs does not, standing 
alone, constitute a mental disorder or 
disability r purposes of this provision. 

Death Penalty and Mental Illness: Recommendations of the 

American Bar Association Section of Individual Rights and 

40 See Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53(a)-46(a) (exempting a al 
defendant from execution if "his mental capacity was 
significantly impaired or his ability to conform his conduct to 
the requirements of law was signi cantly impaired but not so 
impaired in either case as to constitute a fense to 
prosecution"); see also N.C. House Bill 553 (prohibiting 
execution of of with severe mental disability (currently 

led pending study)). See also New Jersey v. Nelson, 803 A.2d 
1, 42-44 (N.J. 2002) (Zazzali, J., concurring) ("An examination 
of jury cts in New Jersey ital sentencing trials 
shows attitudes toward those with mental illness or defects 
are ving, a growing reluctance to execute those whose 
mental disease or defect or intoxicat contr s to their 
difficulty in reasoning about that t are doing . 
Notably, prosecutors sought death ty at a 
significantly decreased rate r defendants who present 
evidence" of mental defects or illnesses; these trends "suggest 
an evolving aversion in our community to subject defendants 

th mental sease or defects to execution") (emphasis ) . 
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Respon lities Task Force on Mental sability and the Dea 

Penalty, 54 Cath. U. L. Rev. 1115, 1115 (2005). (ABA Task Force 

Recommendations) . 

ABA Task Force Recommendat have been adopted by t 

on Mental Illness (NAMI) ,41 The National MentalNational All 

Health Ass ation (NMHA), 42 and Ame Psychiatric 

Ass ,43 and were approved by ABA House of Delegates on 

8 August 2006. ABA Task Force Recommendations. 

Acco to the former presi of the American 

Psychiatric Association, Dr. Alan A. Stone, 

From a biopsychosocial pe , primary 
mental retardation and s ficant Axis I 

s [such as schi a] have similar 
etiological characteristics. And the mentally 
ill suffer from many of same limitations 

, Justice Stevens' 'do not 
warrant an exemption from sanctions, 
but they do diminish their 
cul ility.' 'Evolving of decency' 

41 See Public Policy Committee of the of Directors and t 
NAMI Department of Public Policy and 1 Affairs, Public 
Policy Plat of the National Alliance on Mental Illness, § 

10.9.1 at 56, (8th ed. May 2008), avail eat 
http://www. . org/TextTemplate.cfm?Section=NAMI_Policy_Plat r 
m&Template=/ContentManagement/Content ay.cfm&ContentID=45722 
(last s Mar. 23, 2009). 

42 See Ment Health America, Position Statement 54: Death 
Penalty e with Mental Illness, Mental Health America, 
avail e at ://www.mentalhealt ica.net/go/position 
statements/54 (last visited Mar. 23, 2009). 
43 See t the Task Force on Mental Disability and the 
Death Penal ra. 2, available at 
http://www. .org/pubs/info/reports al sability-and­
death-penalty. (This Task Force also included the American 
Psychological Association, and the Ame can Bar Association as 
well as NAMI and NMHA) (last visit Jan. 13 2010). 
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mean many different things to different people. 
But an important part of our standards of 
decency derive from our scientific 
understanding of behavior. I believe the time 

11 come when we recognize that it is equally 
indecent to execute t mentally ill. 

Alan Stone, Supreme Court Decision Raises New Ethical 

Questions Psychiatry, Psychiat c Times. 44 (internal 

tat ions omitt .) 

Furthermore, the Human Rights Committee of the United 

Nations interprets the International Covenant on Civil and 

Political Rights (ICCPR) as forbidding the execution of persons 

with severe mental illness. See William A. Schabas, 

International Norms on Execution of the Insane and the Mentally 

Retarded, 4 Crim. L.F. 95, 100 01 (1993); see also 

International Covenant on Civil and Politi Rights, art. 6. 45 

The Uni Nations Commission on Human ghts called upon 

all states maintain the ath penalty "not to impose the 

pena y on a person suffering from any form of mental 

disorder or to execute such person." See The Question of 

the Death Penalty, U.N. Commission on Human Rights Res. 

44 Alan Stone, Supreme Court on Raises New Ethical 

Questions for Psychiatry, Ps iatric Times, Sep. 2002, Vol. 

XIX; Issue 9, avail e at 

http://www.psychiatrictimes.com/di ay/article/10168/47996; 

(last visited Mar. 23 2009). 


45 International Covenant on Civil and Political ghts art. 6, 

Dec. 19, 1966, 999 U. N . T . S. 171, a va i eat 

http://wwwl.umn.edu/humanrts/instree/b3ccpr.htm (last visited 

Ma r. 23, 2009). 
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2005/59, ra.7(c).46 

Thus, just as in Atkins and where international 

and cons ide professional opinion weighed against the 

execution of sons with dimini culpability due to youth 

or mental reta ion, international and professional 

opinion st weighs against the execution of the severely 

mentally ill. See Anthony Bishop, Death Penalty in the 

United States: An International Human ghts Perspective, 43 S. 

Tex. L. Rev. 1115, 1138-1139 (2002). 

Additionally, as in Atkins, public polling makes clear 

that Amer overwhelmingly reject h as punishment for 

the mentally ill. According to a Gallup Pol1 47 surveying 1,012 

Americans on 6 9 May 2002, 75 of those surveyed oppo 

executing mentally ill, while only 19 percent supported 

Such data constitutes objective evi how our society 

views executing the mentally ill and ra ses the same concerns 

as the two classes we have already from capital 

46 See The st of the Death Penalty, U. N. Conunission on 
Human Rights Res. 2005/59, 7(c), UN. Doc. E/CNAIRES/2005/59 (Apr. 
20, 2005), avail e at http://www.amnestyusa.org/death­
penalty/death y-facts/death-penalty- human-rights­
standards 1101089 (last visit Jan. 14, 2010); 
http://www. rstakethefloor.org/un-moratorium-on-death­
penalty.html; tp://www.defenderstaket floor.org/un­
moratorium- ath-penalty.html. 
47 See http://www.pollingreport.com/cr (last visited Mar. 
23, 2009) ( s was not much different 82 percent who 
opposed execut the mentally retarded er than the 69 
percent who executing juveniles) . 
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consideration. 

Finally, a panel may view severe mental illness not as a 

mitigating ctor but as an aggravat or. The Supreme 

Court in recognized that jur s are poorly positioned 

to properly we the mitigating s of mental 

retardation. r 536 M.J. at 320-21 (mentally retarded 

persons have a "lesser ability to make a persuasive 

showing of t tion in the face of cutorial evidence of 

one or more ting factors" in part cause they "are 

typically poor witnesses, and their may create an 

unwarranted ssion of lack of remorse r their crimes") 

Because of these concerns, relying on juries to weigh the 

mitigating value of mental illness is inadequate to protect the 

right of mentally-ill defendants to be free of cruel and 

unusual punishment. The Court's reason in Atkins and 

that juries are ly positioned to weigh properly the 

mitigating a s of mental retardat youth equally 

applies to severe mental illness. is an intolerable risk 

that capital j s will treat mental illness as an aggravator, 

in part because incorrectly assume ment illness 

significantly ases future dangerousness. As with juvenile 

offenders and the mentally retarded, y a categorical ban on 

executing of s who were severely mentally ill at the time 

of the crime can quately protect their constitutional 
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rights. 

According , because appellant is seriously mentally ill, 

his sentence of death must be set aside or reduced to 

inement for life. 
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Assignment of Error V. 

SERGEANT AKBAR'S DEATH SENTENCE IS INVALID 
BECAUSE THE PANEL WAS MISINFORMED ABOUT HIS 
MENTAL CONDITION AT THE TIME OF THE 
OFFENSES. 

Statement of Facts 

Dr. George Woods was a clinical psychiatrist who testified 

at trial. Since appellant's court-martial, Dr. Woods provided 

three declarations, dated 15 July 2008, 29 July 2008, and 26 

January 2010 that indicate Dr. Woods believes appellant was 

suffering from severe mental illness at the time of his offense 

and court-martial. (DAE B, C, AA; DA 1-6, 229-36.) In a 

memorandum for trial defense counsel, dated 28 February 2005, 

Dr. Woods recommended further evaluation and testing based upon 

his finding that appellant suffered from neurological arousal 

dysfunction. (DAE 0; DA 7-14.) According to Dr. Woods, 

evidence of mental disease in appellant's family, particularly 

the family's history of schizophrenia, observations of appellant 

by family members, friends, and co-workers, and the life and 

circumstances of appellant's youth were all necessary for a 

mental health specialist to diagnose and assess mental illness. 

(DAE Of DAE AA; DA 7-14, 232-234.) The inadequate social 

history received by Dr. Woods before and during the trial 

proceedings impaired his exploration and presentation of SGT 

Akbar's profoundly severe symptoms. Id. at DA 232-234. 
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In tion to requesting social history in rmation, Dr. 

Woods the appropriate diagnostic tests conducted, 

to sychological testing by an expert mental 

dis s, a thorough evaluation of SGT Akbar's 1 

sl s r, and neuroimaging of the kind rout y conducted 

by Brain Behavior Laboratory at the University of 

Penns ia School of Medicine. (DAE C; DA 6.) s testing 

was never , and thus Dr. Woods was never 

essential information necessary to offer a fully s rt 

opinion in this case. (DAE AA; DA 233.) 

to Dr. Woods, the trial defense counsel stopped 

y communicating with him roughly mont before 

tr I, never provided him with the results of t miti ion 

t ion upon which he normally relies in ital cases. 

(DAE B, AA; DA I, 232.) 

For reasons unknown to me, defense counsel 
failed to communicate with me for f 
months prior to trial, failed to me 
relevant and necessary information reI 
to the history of mental illness in Mr. 
Akbar's family, and failed to me 
with the results of the mitigation 

sti ion that I normally rely upon 
ital cases. 

(DAE B; DA 3.) Approximately a month before t aI, Dr. Woods 

res his concern that SGT Akbar's apparent s s r, 

with his psychotic thought process, him 

e to rstand the nature of the proceedi inst him 
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and to meaningfully assist in his defense. (DAE B, C, 0; DA 4, 

6, 7-14; see also AE XIII.) 

In a 28 February 2005 Memo, Dr. Woods stated, "I was 

conce that Mr. Akbar's s disorder in combination with 

his ychotic thought process made him unable to pace with 

courtroom proceedings, understand the nature of the courtroom 

proceedings inst him, and aid and assist counsel 

meaningfully." (DAE B; DA 4.) Dr. Woods also found the Sanity 

Board's conclusions unreliable because the Board lacked relevant 

information. Id. Additionally, the Sanity Board, dated 2 June 

2003, was ld almost two years before t 1 and only slightly 

more than a month after the charged of es occurred. (R. at 

Pros. Ex. 240.) Thus, no mitigation report and no background 

investigation were available to the Board. (R. at 2504.) The 

Sanity Board was not even aware that appellant had undergone 

psychiatric counseling at the age of fourteen. (R. at 2515.) 

The results of an additional competency examination ordered 

on 30 March 2005 were del to t 1 de nse counsel, but 

nothing indicates that s examination was relied upon 

determining SGT Akbar's competency. (R. at App. Ex. 185.) In 

Dr. Woods' professional opinion, a complete and reliable mental 

status assessment was not conducted on SGT Akbar's behalf prior 

to t 1. (DAE B; DA 4.) Surprisingly, Dr. Woods was not 

312 




called at trial on either sur-rebuttal or sentencing. (See also 

AE I: E.) 

Doctor Woods also believes that further neuroimaging, such 

as Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) and Positron Emission 

Tomography (PET) scans, are necessary to adequately diagnose SGT 

Akbar's mental illness. (DAE C; DA 6.) Both Dr. Woods and Dr. 

Clements believe further brain scans might establish that SGT 

Akbar's brain architecture is consistent with schizophrenia, but 

neither is professionally qualified to evaluate the test results 

or such scans. Id. However, Dr. Woods believes that appellant 

suffered from paranoid schizophrenia at the time of trial. Id. 

In Dr. Woods' opinion, an expert in schizophrenia must review 

the testing results, including brain scans, to corroborate a 

diagnosis of schizophrenia, but his suggestions were ignored by 

trial defense counsel. Id. 

Dr. Woods also indicated concerns about SGT Akbar's sleep 

issues during trial. (DAE D; DA 7-14.) The military judge and 

counsel tried to keep SGT Akbar awake with coffee, frequent 

breaks, and even had a paralegal assigned to nudge him. 48 Doctor 

Woods found SGT Akbar's sleep issues indicative of neurological 

disorders to include psychosis. (R. at 677-86; DAE D; DA 8.) 

48 The record is replete with discussions about SGT Akbar's sleep 
issues and appellant's inability to stay awake during his court­
martial. (R. at 96-7, 180-91, 429, 487, 566, 610, 677-86, 695, 
770, 774, 786.) 
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After reviewing the sleep studies done by the government, Dr. 

Woods recommended further testing with specific doctors he 

already had consult because he believed SGT Akbar's problem 

staying awake was neurological. (DAE 0; DA 7-14.) A month 

before t aI, Dr. Woods warned defense counsel, "It's important 

to rectify what we are witnessing, which is a disruption of Sgt. 

Akbar's neurological arousal mechanism." Id. at DA 9. Doctor 

Woods opined that the beginning of the sleep issues at age 

nineteen suggest paranoid schizophrenia. Id. at DA 7. Doctor 

Woods provided various studies and medical notes linking sleep 

arousal problems and psychosis, speci cally schizophrenia, and 

found schizophrenia indicated by testing and personal history. 

Id. Accord to Dr. Woods, "It is my professional opinion that 

there is no appropriate protocol or acceptable way to conclude a 

clini ly effective evaluation and treatment of Sgt. Akbar's 

arousal condition by April 5, 2005. u . at DA 14. Doctor 

Woods further explained, "These impairments clearly limit [SGT 

Akbar's] abil y to concentrate, communicate, and attend." Id. 

Doctor Woods recommended spe fic sl studies, neurological 

testing, documentation of any sl arousal or mental illness of 

family members, and a clear examination of family dynamics. 

As previously discussed, two mitigation specialists, Ms. 

Scharlette Holdman and Ms. Scarlet Nerad, were part of the 

de e team from August 2004 until a couple months before 
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trial. (App. Ex. 140; DAE G, GG; DA 15-21, 331-41.) According 

to Ms. Holdman, the mitigation specialists accumulated 

information (contained in four boxes) that was never transmitted 

to the defense team because the defense team ceased all 

communications with the mitigation team. Thus, information was 

not provided to the medical experts, including Dr. Woods. Id. 

at 20. This evidence included documentation of psychiatric 

symptoms, evidence of a detailed social history investigation 

including familial history of mental illness and appellant's 

"chronic exposure to trauma", and a wide array of school, 

medical, psychiatric and other records for appellant and his 

family. Id. Ms. Nerad also detailed her discussions with Dr. 

Woods, noting: 

"his initial impression is that SGT Akbar 
suffers from a thought disorder and may 
carry a diagnosis of schizophrenia. Dr. 
Wood's diagnosis is preliminary, is not a 
diagnosis he holds to any degree of medical 
certainty, and may change depending on the 
results of the medical and social history 
and subsequent testing." 

(R. at App. Ex. 140.) 

Mr. James Lohman, also a mitigation specialist, met 

appellant on multiple occasions and observed "symptoms of 

extreme paranoia consistent with schizophrenia and/or overt 

psychosis", and appellant relayed to him "experiences and 

incidents that could have only been auditory or visual 
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hallucinations." (DAE GG; DA 334.) Mr. Lohman believed 

appellant was not competent to stand trial and communicated that 

concern, both orally and writing, to defense counsel. Id. at 

334 35. Mr. Lohman was in rmed in early 2005 that no funds 

were available to continue the mitigation investigation. Id. at 

340. While he and his team urged defense counsel to request 

more funds, no funding request was made by defense counsel. Id. 

Applicable Law and the Standard of Review 

In death penalty cases, this Court must focus on 

"reliability of result." 

One continuous theme is found throughout the 
death-penalty cases handed down by the 
Supreme Court over the last 30 years. That 
theme is reliability of result. Thus, the 
sine qua non of Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 
153, 49 L. Ed. 2d 859, 96 S. Ct. 2909 
(1976); Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 
284, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297, 93 S. Ct. 1038 
(1973); Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 33 
L. Ed. 2d 346, 92 S. Ct. 2726 (1972) i and 
Lockhart v. Fretwell; Strickland v. 
Washington; and Ake v. Oklahoma, all supra, 
is that the Supreme Court has insisted there 
be a proper functioning of the adversarial 
system. A fair reading of these cases 
demonstrates that, in order for the 
adversarial system to work properly, the key 
ingredients are competent counsel; full and 
fair opportun y to present exculpatory 

dence; individualized sentencing 
procedures; r opportunity to obtain the 
services of experts; and r and impartial 
judges and juries. 

United States v. Murphy, 50 M.J. 4, 14 (C.A.A.F. 1998). 
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The Court it important to "ensure 

fundamental notions of due process, full and ir hearings, 

competent counsel, and above all, a 'reliable re t,' are part 

of the equation." Id. In ted States v. Dock, another 

capital case, this Court granted a new trial. "[I]s the 

appellate court convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that a 

different result would not in if the trier of fact had this 

new evidence before it? If it is not so convinced, the accus 

is entitled to present his evidence be re a court-martial." 

Unit States v. Dock, 28 M.J. 117, 120 (C.M.A. 1989). 

Error and Argument 

Even though Murphy failed to timely file for a new trial or 

meet his due diligence requirement, the Murphy Court analy 

the case r the test 49 outlined in R.C.M. 1210 because 

"[T]here are too many quest . to allow us to affirm a 

death sentence here." Murphy, 50 M.J. at 15-18. In effect, the 

Murphy Court cused on reliability of result. 

Appellant has timely pet ioned for a new trial, but 

otherwise is similarly situated. The panel was given mental 

health information based on a Sanity that had insufficient 

information. (R. at 2504, 2515.) Doctor Woods lacked 

49 "Whether the newly discovered , if cons red by a 

court-martial the light of all other rtinent dence, 

would probably produce a substantially more favorable result for 

the accused." Murphy, 50 M.J. at 14 (cit R.C.M. 

1210 (f) (2) (c)). 
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necessa background evidence. Upon learning of the quality and 

quant y of what he did not know at trial, Dr. Woods modified 

his diagnosis, finding appellant more se ously impaired. (DAE 

B, AA; DA 1 4, 229-36.) However, there is yet more significant 

ment health information to be discovered. (DAE J, LL; DA 28 

32, 413-49.) Appellant has the same difficulty as that 

scussed in MurphYr because the missing i rmation is due 

largely to ineffect assistance of counsel. so However, 

"reliability result" is paramount in death penalty cases. 

Murphy, 50 M.J. at 14. This Court cannot be assured such a 

reliable result given the part 1 and incomplete presentation of 

appellant's mental health issues. The panel convicted and 

sentenced appellant based upon an incomplete and flawed mental 

health examination and investigation. Thus, this Court cannot 

convinced of t iability of the result in appellant's 

case. 

Reliability does not mean absolute certainty.S1 Doctor 

Woods has determined that appellant was Schizophrenic at the 

time of the offense and trial, as well as currently, bas upon 

50 Appellant has filed multiple assignments of error concerning 
inef assistance of counsel. See AE I: A-G, II. 
51 Appellant was initially denied requested expert assistance on 
motion to this Court to determine the impact of additional 
invest ion, and no additional mental health testing was done, 
so appellant is unable to rectly rna a compa son. 
(Appellant has renewed his request for mental lth expert 
assistance on appeal in AE XII.) 
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the quality and quant y of mental health information avail e 

to him now (primarily the ly mental Ith history) which he 

did not have avail at the t of his original diagnosis. 

(DAE AAi DA 230.) With proper testing and investigation, 

Dr. Woods would presented the panel with a signi cantly 

different agnosis. Id. On t merits, a agnosis as severe 

as Schizophrenia would led Dr. Woods to present to the 

panel a diagnosis that appellant was not mentally responsible 

for his acts, and so panel could have concluded that 

appellant was not guilty. Also, had t Sanity Board been 

conducted later in t ,with access to complete testing and 

kground information, Board may have reached a more severe 

diagnosis. (DAE Z, AAi DA 225, 229-36.) Certainly on 

sentencing, changes to both the ty Board's and Dr. Wood's 

agnoses could have led panel to believe that a sentence 

other than death was appropriate. The 1 was misinformed 

based on significantly incomplete inaccurate informat 

used by both t Sanity Board and Dr. Woods, and t , appellant 

must receive a ring. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should remand this case for a new 

tri 
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Assignment of Error VI. 

THE MILITARY JUDGED ERRED TO THE SUBSTANTIAL 
PREJUDICE OF SERGEANT AKBAR WHEN HE FAILED 
TO GRANT THE DEFENSE MOTION FOR A CHANGE OF 
VENUE. 

On 30 March 2004, amidst unprecedented media coverage of an 

of se unique in recent mil ry story, Sergeant Akbar's trial 

defense counsel filed a motion52 to change place of ale (R. 

at App. Ex. 29.) In t mot , t trial de counsel argued 

that the existence of pervasive rial publicity rtually 

foreclosed any chance for SGT Akbar to rece a fair and impartial 

trial at Fort Bragg, North Carolina. Id. 

Rule for Courts-Mart 1 906(b) (11) provides that the place of a 

court-martial may changed when necessary to prevent prejudice to 

the rights of accused. MANUAL FOR COURTS-MARTIAL, UNITED STATES, 

2002. A change of place of a trial may necessary when 

exists in place where the court-martial is pending so great a 

prejudice aga the accused that the accused cannot obta a fair 

52 The defense mot references Army Times articles "designed to 
sensationalize the incident" and that "contributed to a general 
atmosphere of til y towards SGT Akbar. Some of the 
headlines, follow: 'Two die and a [S]oldier stands accused 
Sergeant's alleged grenade attack shocks 101st ' (Army Times 7 
April 2003); 'Fragging unheard-of since Vietnam War' (Army Times 
30 June 2003); Enemy in the ranks? Court-Martial recommended for 
sergeant r alleged attacks on his own unit in Kuwait' (Army 
T s 30 June 2003); 'Will Akbar death penalty?' (Army 
Times 1 September 2003); 'Accused fragger faces July trial' 
(Army Times 9 March 2004)". A further sampl of articles 
appearing various news media were also admitted r the 
mil ary judge to consider on the motion. See R. at Def. Ex. 
102. 
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and impartial trial there. R.C.M. 906(b) (11), Discussion, MANUAL FOR 

COURTS-MARTIAL, UNITED STATES, 2002. Prior to R.C.M. 906(b) (11), t 

then Court of Military Appeals held an accused is entitl to a 

fair trial , if the accused can trate that the court would 

be adversely fluenced by a general atmosphere of hostility or 

partiality him existing at ace of trial, he would 

entitled to t ed in some other p ceo United States v. Gra tt, 

17 C.M.R. 249 (C.M.A. 1954) (emphasis added) (Air Force accused tri 

on Army base alleged trial occurred " i territory".) 

Specifically, the defense motion the court change 

place of trial and employ four steps to ensure that SGT Akbar 

received a ir and impartial panel: 

a. 	 the place of t t al to a 
litary installation other t Army. 

b. 	 Obtain a panel from a branch of service 
r than the United States Army. 

c. stribute the reque 
questionnaire to prospect members 
and alternates to determine 1 of 
e sure to the facts of the case. 

se a restriction on release of 
ion to the press by in the 

States Armed Forces ling with 
case on behalf of the States or 

r. 

Id. 

On 10 May 2004, counsel argued the motion before the military 

judge and submitted additional rial publicity 
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documents to considered by the military judge be ruling on 

the motion. (R. at 39-44, App. Ex. 102.) On 24 May 2004, 

military judge denied the motion for change of venue. (R. at 460.) 

As a consequence of the military judge's decision, Sergeant Akbar 

was t and sentenced to death by panel of jurors selected from a 

community unified by the sha trauma of e directly victimized 

by his offenses and subj to a huge wave of public passion. 

See Uni t States v. McVeigh, 955 F. Supp. 1281, 1282 (D. o. 

1997) (The court changed the ace of the t al from 0 ahoma because 

"the entire state had become a unified community, sharing the 

emot 1 trauma of those who had been di y victimized."); see 

also Irvin v. Dowd, 366 u.S. 717, 722 (1961). 

The Supreme Court has held a refusal to grant a mot 

a change of venue may constitute a olation of due process. 

Brecheen v. Oklahoma, 485 u.S. 909, 912 (1988) ( ng 

cert.) (Marshall, J., dissenting) ( ting Groppi v. Wiscon n, 400 

u. S. 505 (1971); Rideau v. siana, 373 u. S. 723 (1963); 

Irvin v. Dowd, 366 u.S. 717, 722 (1961) (failure to ensure the 

impartiality of a jury violates even the min standards of 

due process)}. In Groppi v. Wisconsin, Court wrote: 

On at least one occasion s Court has 
explicitly held that on a change of venue 
was constitutionally sufficient to assure 
the nd of impart jury that is 
guaranteed by Fourteenth Amendment. 
That was in case of Ri u v. Loui ana, 
373 u.S. 723. We held "it was a denial 
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of due process law to re e the request 
for a change venue, after the le of 
Calcasieu Parish had been exposed repeatedly 

in depth" to the ejudicial pretri 
publicity there involved. [Citation 
omitted.] Rideau was not decided until 
1963, but its message e s more 200 
years of human experience in the endless 

st for the fair administrat of 
criminal justice. 

400 U.S. 505, 510 511 (1971). The Sixth Amendment of the United 

States Constitution des that "[i]n 1 criminal 

prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to . . . an 

impart 1 jury . " U.S. Const. amend. VI. See also 

oweth v. Van Arsdall, 46 C.M.R. 183, 185 (C.M.A. 

1973) (Constitut 1 requirement that the trial held in the 

state and district where the cr was committed is 

inappli e to military tribunals.) 

The right to jury trial guarantees to the criminally 

accused a fair trial by a panel of impartial, "indifferent" 

jurors. Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 722 (1961). "The theory 

of law is t a juror who has formed an opinion cannot be 

ial. " Reynolds v. Uni ted Sta tes, 98 U. S. 145, 155 

(1878) ( ing Chief Justice Marshall in 1 Burr's al 416 

(1807) (" [Light] impress which may fairly supposed to 

yield to the testimony that may offered; which may leave the 

mind open to a fair cons ion of testimony, const e 

no sufficient objection to a juror; but that those strong and 
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impressions, which will close the mind against the 

testimony that may in oppos to them; which will 

that testimony resist its constitute a 

s ficient objection to him."} } . The fai to accord an 

a fair hearing lates even the 1 standards of 

process. Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 722 (1961) (citing In 

re Oliver, 333 U.S. 257 (1948) ; Tumey v. 0, 273 U.S. 510 

(1 	 7) } . "A fair tr 1 in a fair tribunal is a basic 

rement of due ss." In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136 

(1955). See also v. Wisconsin, 400 U.S. 505, 509 (1971); 

ndler v. Florida, 449 U.S. 560 (1981); Wa ght v. Witt, 

469 U.S. 412 (1985). See also United States v. s, 44 M.J. 

106, 139 (1996). 

Although the Sixth Amendment may have "I 

icability" to military courts-martial, a se cemember does 

, as a matter of fundamental fairness and fth Amendment 

due process, the right to impartial court s. See Uni ted 

States v. Elfayoumi, 66 M.J. 354, 356 (C.A.A.F. 2008); United 

States v. Wiesen, 56 M.J. 172, 174 (C.A.A.F. 2001) (citations 

tt ). "As a matter of due process, an accus has a 

constitutional right, as well as a regulatory , to a fair 

impartial panel." United States v. Wiesen, 56 M.J. 172, 174 

(C.A.A.F. 2001) (citing Unit States v. Mack, 41 MJ 51, 54 (CMA 

1994); R.C.M. 912 (f) (I) (N), MCM (2002 ed.); see also United 
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States v. Dowty, 60 M.J. 163, 169 (C.A.A.F. 2004); Art. 25, 

UCMJ. Indeed, '" [i] rt 1 court-members are a ne non 

for a fair court-mart 1.'" Wiesen, 56 M.J. at 174 

United States v. Modesto, 43 MJ 315, 318 (1995). 

In Chandler v. Supreme Court held, "Any 

criminal case that rates a great deal of publicity sents 

some risks that the publ ty may compromise the right of 

defendant to a fair trial." Chandler v. Florida, 449 U.S. 560, 

574 (1981). The basic t underlying the right to an 

impartial jury is t the conclusions of the jurors 

based upon the evi sented in trial and not upon any 

prejudgment which may occur as a result of pretrial publici 

United States v. Curtis, 44 M.J. 106, 139 (1996) (citing olds 

v. United States, 98 U.S. 145, 154-57 (1878). Wherever 

circumstances are which "undermine the fairness of 

fact finding process" by allowing the influence of j 

to dilute "the pr Ie that guilt is to be establi 

probative evidence and beyond a reasonable doubt . . the 

probability of deleterious ef s on fundamental rights calls 

for close judicial scrutiny." See United States v. Curtis, 44 

M.J. 106, 139 (1996) ( t g Es le v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 

503-504 (1976)). 

The right to a tr I by an impartial jury is ionally 

critical in capital cases. " Court, as well as the s e 
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opinions of a majority of the individual Justices, has 

recogni that the litative di rence of from all 

ot punishments requires a correspondingly greater e of 

scrutiny of the capital sentencing determination." California 

v. Ramos, 463 U.S. 992, 998-99 (1983). The Supreme Court has 

also struck down capital sentences when it found that 

circumstances under which they were imposed "creat an 

unacceptable risk that 'the h penalty [may have been] meted 

out arbitrari or capri ously' or through 'whim . or 

mistake.'" Caldwell v. Missi , 472 U.S. 320, 343 

(1985) (O'Connor J., concurring part and concurring in 

judgment) (citation omi tt ). In sum, state must assure 

reliability in the ss by whi a person's life is taken. 

See Gregg v. a, 428 U.S. 153, 198, 19 06 (1976); Lockett 

v. 	 Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978); Green v. Georgia, 442 U.S. 95 

(1979) i Beck v. Ai , 447 U.S. 625 (1980); Turner v. Murray, 

476 U.S. 28 (1986); Penry v. Lynaugh, 4 U.S. 302 

(1989) . 

The Const ion requires when the government see to 

exact upon a defendant t ultimate pena y of death, "the jury 

should ss upon the case free from external causes tending to 

sturb the exercise of deliberate unbias judgment." Mattox 

v. United States, 146 U.S. 140, 149 (1892); Irvin v. Dowd, 366 

U.S. at 728; Ai v. United States, 283 U.S. 308, 314 (1931) 
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(risk denying adequate r dire is "most when the 

issue is of life or death"). Compared to jurors in non-capital 

cases, who must weigh evi against an exacting standard of 

proof, t juror in a capital sentencing proceeding faces a 

unique fferent task. A tal sentencing juror's task is 

inherent subjective as juror must make a moral judgment 

and acts as the conscience of the community. See California v. 

Brown, 479 U.S. 538, 542 (1987) (O'Connor, J., concurring); 

Turner v. Murray, 476 U.S. 28, 35-36 (1986); therspoon v. 

Illin s, 391 U.S. 510, 519 (1968). 

In a capital case, ion of the sentencing authority 

is to the "ultimate ion of life or death," and when 

a jury is composed of people who are familiar with the 

cons s of a defendant's crime, it cannot form this 

function an impartial manner. Brecheen v. ahoma, 485 U.S. 

909, 912 (1988) {cert. deni (Marshall, J., dissenting) (quoting 

Wi v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 519 (1968)). Trial court 

judges must therefore protect against the that a juror 

will substitute "public ss " for an impart 1 judgment. The 

uniqueness and finality of al punishment motivated, in 

part, t t al judge in gh to change the cation of the 

trial in that highly publi capital to another state. The 

trial j in McVeigh wrote: 
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Because the penalty of h is by its very 
nature different from all other punishments 

that it is final and irrevocable, the 
issue of prejudice rais by the present 
[change of venue] mot ns must include 
consideration of whether there is a showing 
of a predilection toward that penalty. Most 
interesting in this re is the frequency 
of the opinions expres in recent 
televised interviews of tizens of Oklahoma 
emphasizing the importance of assuring 
certainty in a ve ct of guilty with an 

dent implication upon such a verdict 
death is the appropriate punishment. 

Unit States v. McVeigh, 918 F. . 1467, 1474 (W.O. Okla. 

1996) . 

the United States Court vacated the convict 

and ath sentence in Irwin v. Dowd, the Court wrote, "With s 

Ii at stake, it is not requiring too much that petitioner 

tri in an atmosphere undisturbed by so huge a wave of public 

passion " Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 728 (1961) ( t 

St e v. California, 343 U.S. 181 (1952); Shepherd v. Fl 

341 U.S. 50 (1951) (concurring on); Moore v. Dempsey, 261 

U.S. 86 (1923)). This result is consistent with the Court's 

later inciple that a sentence of may not be the 

of sion. See Gregg v. a, 428 U.S. 153, 166-167 (1979). 

No one may be punished for a c without "a charge fai y 

and irly tried in a public tr 1 free of prejudice, 

passion, excitement, and tyrann 1 power." Sheppard v. 
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Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 350 (1966) (quoting v. orida, 

309 U.S. 227, 236-237 (1940)). 

An accused seeking to establish such a process 

ation resulting from a trial judge's refusal to change the 

venue of a criminal trial must demonstrate eit r t his trial 

resulted in "identifiable prejudice" or that rise to a 

sumption of prejudice because it involved" a lity 

that prejudice will result that it is deemed rent king 

in due process." Brecheen v. Oklahoma, 485 U.S. 909, 912 

(1988) (cert. denied) (Marshall, J., dissenting) (quo Estes v. 

Texas, 381 U. S. 532, 542-543 (1965)). 

In United States v. Calley, this Court that the 

probability of prejudice in highly publi cr 1 cases may 

sent a concern in certain instances. The Court wrote: 

[The United States] Supreme Court isions 
in the last decade have also 
view that actual prejudice on the 
jury need not be shown in certa ous 
instances. Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 
333 (1966); Estes v. Texas, 381 U.S. 532 
(1965); Turner v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 466 
(1965); Rideau v Louisiana, 373 U.S. 723 
(1963) . 

United States v. Calley, 46 C.M.R. 1131, 1143 (A.C.M.R. 1973). 

tionally, the Supreme Court has stated: 

A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic 
requirement of due process. Fairness of 
course requires an absence of actual bias in 
the trial of cases. But [the American] 
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system of law has always endeavored to 
prevent even the probability of unfairness. 

In re Murchison, 349 u.s. 133, 136 (1954) (emphasis added). 

In Brecheen v. Oklahoma, Justice Marshall observed: 

Most states have followed the well-trod 
course of granting motions for venue change 
when the totality of the circumstances 
establish "a reasonable likelihood that in 
the absence of such relief, a fair trial 
cannot be had." Martinez v. Superior Court, 
62 9 P. 2 d 502, 503 (198 1) (qu 0 tin g Ma in e v. 
Superior Court, 438 P.2d 372, 377 (1968)). 
The Martinez court defined "reasonable 
likelihood" as a lesser standard of proof 
than "more probable than not." Martinez v. 
Superior Court, supra, at 578, 629 P.2d 503. 
See also People v. Gendron, 243 N.E.2d 208 
(1968) (adopting "reasonable likelihood" 
standard), cert. denied, 396 u.s. 889 
(1969); State v. Cuevas, 288 N.W.2d 525 
(Iowa 1980); State v. Beier, 263 N.W.2d 622 
(Minn. 1978). 

Brecheen v. Oklahoma, 485 u.s. 909, 911 (1988) (cert. 

denied) (Marshall, J., dissenting). A probability of prej udice 

may come about where a community has been unified as a 

consequence of publicity generated by a criminal case or been 

unified by the trauma caused by certain offenses. See Estes v. 

Texas, 381 u.s. 532, 536 (1965); United States v. McVeigh, 955 

F. Supp. 1281, 1282 (D. Colo. 1997). It is this latter concept 

upon which the trial defense counsel based the defense motion 

for a change of venue of Sergeant Akbar's capital court-martial. 

(See R. at App. Ex. 23.) 
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Pretrial publicity can create an insurmountable obstacle 

for the defendant in a criminal case for it may well set the 

community opinion as to gui or innocence. Estes v. Texas, 381 

U.S. 532, 536 (1965). As a conse , a npattern of deep and 

bitter prejudice" may exist in a community. See Irvin v. Dowd, 

366 U.S. 717, 727 (1961); Stroble v. California, 343 U.S. 

181 (1952). In extremely rare occasions, the converse may be 

true. In Uni t States v. Calley, this court found: 

Significantly, there was no showing trial 
and no serious contention on appeal 
widespread and intense community prej 
against the appellant at the situs of 
court-martial, Fort Benning, a. In 
fact, there were indications that the 

imate there was somewhat favorable to 
Lieutenant Calley. 

United States v. Calley, 46 C.M.R. 1131, 1146 (A.C.M.R. 1973). 

However, in that case eutenant Call was tried at Fort 

Benning, Georgia, not at My Lai, Republic of South Vietnam. 

It is not li y that the nclimate" would have been as favorable 

to Lieutenant Calley if his court-martial had convened at 

My Lai and the 1 members drawn from that community. In some 

cases, deep and bitter udice may unite an entire community 

to the point where no impartial j , let alone what appears to 

an impartial jury, can be seated. See gh, 955 F. Supp. 

at 1282. Where an accused can demonstrate that the court would 

be adversely in by an atmosphere of hostility or 
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partiality against him at the ace of tri he is entitled to 

be t ed in a dif rent place. United States v. Loving, 34 M.J. 

956, 964 (A.C.M.R. 1992) (citing United States v. Nivens, 45 

C.M.R. 	 194, 197 (C.M.A. 1972)), aff'd 41 M.J. 213, 254 (1994). 

In McVeigh, the trial court changed the venue of the tri 

Oklahoma to Colorado because "the entire state had become a 

unified community, sharing the emotional trauma of those who had 

been directly ctimized." United States v. McVeigh, 955 F. 

Supp. 1281, 1282 (D. Colo. 1997). The trial judge in the 

McVeigh case made an observation which is both extremely 

poignant and highly relevant to this case and t 82d Airborne 

Division and the XVIIIth Airborne Corps, judge observed 

that: 

is def as satis ion in an 
achievement, and the ople of Oklahoma are 
well des of But it is easy for 

ling pride to deve a prejudice, 
as "(a) an adverse judgment or 

ion formed beforehand or without 
knowledge or examinat of the sand 
(b) a conceived rence or TheII 

American Heritage ctionary of the English 
Language (3d ed.1992). The existence of 
such a prejudice is dif t to prove. 

d it may go unrecognized in those who 
are affe by it. The prejudice that may 
deny a ir trial is not limit to a bias 
or discriminatory attitude. It includes an 
impairment of deliberat process of 

ive reasoning from evident ry facts 
resulting an attr to something 
not included in the 
someth has its most power 1 effect if it 
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generates strong emotional responses and 
ts into a ttern of normative values. 

Id. at 1472. 

In those cases in which the atmosphere or the process 

undermines the fairness of the trial or of the tribunal, the 

specif mischief cannot be identified or proved with 

rticula y, but prejudice to t accused may be presumed. 

See Estes v. Texas, 381 u.s. 5 , 536 (1965) (discussing Tumey v. 

Ohio, 273 u.s. 510 (1926); In re Murchison, 349 u.s. 133(1954); 

deau v Louisiana, 373 U.S. 723 (1963)). Therefore, 

deciding whether such a presumption of judice is warranted, 

llate courts must ne "any indications in the totality 

of circumstances that petitioner's trial was not fundamentally 

fair." Brecheen v. Oklahoma, 485 U.S. 909, 912 (1988) (cert. 

ed) (Mars 11, J., ssenting) (quoting Murphy v. Fl da, 

421 U. S. 794, 799 (1975) (emphasis added)). 

The abil to secure an impartial jury is usually 

termined through the voir dire process. See Estes v. Texas, 

381 U.S. 532, 536 (1965). Certainly, cases of actual 

judice from adverse rial publicity, this would be true 

providing this issue was explored depth during voir dire and 

also providing veniremen responded stly. In a case 

as Sergeant Akbar's, the court must recognize prejudice 

against accused must be presumed and that the veniremen 
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evo 

should not be aced in a position where they would be 

reason y torn between ir loyalty to t unit, community, 

and victims and their duty as jurors. 53 In many cases, properly 

mot and carefully instructed jurors can and have exercised 

the disc ine to srega extens pretrial publi ty and 

prior public awareness of the offenses of an accused and impact 

of those offenses. See McVeigh, 918 F. Supp. at 1473. However: 

Trust in their ability to do so diminishes 
the prior exposure is such that it 
s strong emotional responses or such an 

identification with those directly affect 
by t conduct at issue that the jurors 1 
a personal stake the outcome. That is 
also true when there is such identification 
with a community point of view that jurors 
feel a sense of obli ion to reach a result 
which will find general acceptance in the 
relevant audience. 

gh, 918 F. Supp. at 1473. While recogniz the uniqueness 

of Timothy McVeigh's offenses, statement made by one of the 

fense counsel of a co-accused lS appropriate in Se 

Akbar's case: 

"It is too much to ask [potential jurors] to 
stand with their hand in the air and the 
other hand on the Bible and say, 'I believe 

Nichols is innocent as he st 
there.' That is a burden I don't think we 
can rationally expect. u 

Baldwin, Nichols Attorney Repeats Appeal for Venue Chan 

The Daily Oklahoman, Oct. 19, 1995, at (Public statement 

53 Additionally, as argued Assignments of Error I: C, the voir 
dire and lenges of the members of the panel was ficient. 
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about change of venue by attorney representing Terry Nichols.) 

Likewise, the United States Supreme Court observed that "adverse 

pretrial publicity can create such a umption of prejudice in 

a community that the jurors' claims t they can be impartial 

ould not believed." Patton v. Yount, 467 U.S. 1025,1031 

(1984) (emphasis added) (commenting on v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717 

(1961)) (quoted by Kennedy, J., dissenting, Mu'min v. vi ia, 

500 U.S. 415, 449 (1991)); see also Unit States v. Gray, 51 

M.J. 1, 28 (C.A.A.F. 1991). 

In Irvin v. Dowd, the Supreme Court recognized that the 

difficulty is that the impact of the quantity and character of 

pret al publicity is so ently profound that the juror's 

rsonal bel f in his impartiality is not sufficient to 

overcome the likelihood of as. Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 

728 (1961). See also United States v. Deain, 17 C.M.R. 44 

(C.M.A. 1954). There , the task of an appellate court is not 

merely to asce n the extent of the widespread publicity 

rse to t accused, but to judge whether it was of a kind 

that inevitably influenced the court members against the 

accus ,irrespective of their good- disclaimers that they 

could, and would, det ne his guilt from the evidence 

present to them in open court, fairly and impartially. See 

Groppi v. Wisconsin, 400 U.S. 505, 509 (1971). 
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To support the motion for the change of venue the de e 

provided newspaper s to military judge. (R. at 39­

44, App. Ex. 102.) Furthermore, the de argued that because 

it was before combat operations were to begin, and given was 

an Army Sergeant allegedly attacking others in his own unit, 

there was a heightened risk that the 1 members would 

the need to send a mess because "it goes directly to the 

heart of the Army Va s we hold." (R. at 39-40.) Army 

Times, a publication frequently read military members, 

printed several articles that sensationali the incident. (R. 

at App. Ex. 21.) With catchy headlines featuring issues of 

murder, or an enemy in the ranks, and memories prior wars, 

the Army T s succeeded in its goal to grab and elicit 

emotional responses from its readers. 54 Id. The Army Times also 

published arti s that scussed possible motives for SGT 

Akbar's offense, and potential defense strategies. In the "Will 

Akbar the death penalt If, 1 September 2003, the Army Times 

quoted a ci lian attorney specializing in military law, 

54 Some of the headlines include: 'Two die-and a [S] oldier 
stands accused Sergeant's alleged grenade attack shocks 101st 
'(Army Times 7 April 2003); 'Fragging unheard-of since Vietnam 
War' (Army Times 30 June 2003); Enemy in ranks? Court-Marti 
recommended for sergeant for alleged attacks on his own unit in 
Kuwai t' (Army s 30 June 2003) i 'Will Akbar face death 
penalty?' (Army Times 1 ember 2003); 'Accus fragger faces 
July trial' (Army Times 9 March 2004)". (R. at App. Ex. 21; see 
also R. at App. Ex. 102.) 
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If it was my case, which it is not, I would 
not worr that the [ 1] would impose 
death because [Akbar] is black. [where 
tall cr took place ] in a combat 
zone, targeting Amer fighting men 
leadership pos ions, doing their job 
overseas. . he could be blond and blue­

, and I think the death pena would 
likely be imposed under those circumstance. 

(R. at . Ex. 21.) In the art le "Enemy in the ran ?" 30 

June 2002 arti , t Army Times quoted a Soldier saying that 

SGT Akbar called to ask, "When we go to Iraq, will we really 

kill and rape Iraqis and stuff like that?" Id. The New York 

Times printed an article in which SGT Akbar was quoted as saying 

"You guys are coming into our countries you're going to rape 

our women and kill our children." Under these circumstances, it 

is unreasonable to expect 1 members to sregard these kinds 

of articles. A military community is a closely connected and 

proud commun of individuals; it is "a spec lized society 

s rate from civilian society." Parker v. Levy, 417 U.S. 733, 

743 (1974). Because t s crime was committed by a Soldier 

against other Soldiers, in a combat zone, there can be little 

doubt that military members and ir families are particularly 

aware of this case. 

In a ly publicized case such as Sergeant Akbar's, all 

of the concerns of the Supreme Court in Estes v. Texas, 381 U.S. 

532, 544-550 (1965), were realized. In Estes, the United States 

Supreme Court reversed a conviction when t accus 's trial was 
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object of intense pretrial publicity and was broadcast on 

television. The Court was concerned that when a case comes 

object of extensive media coverage, "the whole community, 

including prospective jurors, become interested in all 

morbid details N of the case and the jurors, "knowing that 

ends and neighbors have their eyes upon them,N will feel the 

pressures of the hostile community to return a verdict of guilty 

against the accused. It was, therefore, imperative that the 

military judge in this case grant the se mot for a 

change of venue. If not to preserve some element of justice, 

then to interject at st an appearance of justice, the 

military judge shou have granted the motion for a change of 

venue. "[J]ustice must satisfy the appearance of justice. u 

Offutt v. ted States, 348 U.S. 11, 14 (1954) (Frankfurter, 

J.). This couldn't be more important in appellant's case 

because the 1 members were aware that entire Army was 

watching. 

trial judge has a major responsibility to mitigate the 

ef s of rial pUblicity. United States v. Curtis, 44 M.J. 

106, 139 (1996) (quoting Nebraska Press Ass'n v. Stuart, 427 U.S. 

539, 554-555 (1976)) " ven the rvasiveness of modern 

communications and difficulty of ef ing prejudicial 

publicity from the minds of the jurors, the trial courts must 

take strong measures to ensure the balance is never weighed 
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against the accus " rd v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 362 

(1966). However, de e the motion for appropriate relief from 

the trial defense counsel, the military judge fail to 

recognize the sumption of prejudice of try Sergeant Akbar 

at Fort Bragg and the military judge, therefore, fail take the 

"strong measures" necessary to ensure a fair and impartial jury 

for Sergeant Akbar. See Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 362 

(1966) . 

In cases surrounded by intens publicity, the Unit 

States Supreme Court has placed an "affirmative const utional 

duty" on trial judges to ta whatever steps are necessary to 

eliminate the effects of t publicity on the fendant's right 

to a fair impart 1 jury. Gannett Co. v. De Pasquale, 443 

U.S. 368, 378 (1979); see also Chandler v. Florida, 449 U.S. 

560, 574 (1981) (when pUblicity is intense, "[t]rial courts must 

especially vigilant to guard against any impairment of the 

defendant's right to a ve ct based solely upon the 

and relevant law"); Nebraska Press Association v. Stuart, 427 

U.S. 539, 555 (1976) ("the trial judge has a major 

responsibility" to mitigate the effects of adverse pret 

publicity); Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 363 (1966) 

("Given the pervasiveness of modern communications and the 

dif culty of effacing prejudicial publicity the of 

jurors, tr 1 courts must take strong measures to ensure that 
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the balance is never wei against accused"); Fra er v. 

United States, 335 U.S. 497, 511 (1948); see also v. 

Mangum, 237 U.S. 309 (1915) (" [A]ny judge who has sat juries 

knows that spite of rms they are extremely likely to be 

impregnated by the environing atmosphere.") (Holmes, J. 

dissenting) . 

On 30 March 2004, t military j issued an r to 

prospective court members "to avoid reading certain matters." 

(R. at 30, App. Exhibit 2.)55 This order was apparently 

published on 30 March 2004, and served on prospective panel 

members either that same day or as late as 4 April 2004. (R. at 

App. Exhibit 2, 3.) There , potential panel members at Fort 

Bragg had over a year to absorb the in ion sensationalized 

by the media. The fact that the case was transferred the 

101st Ai Division to XVIII Airborne Corps in no way 

mitigated the prejudice SGT Akbar was fac by being tri in 

the airborne community I at Fort 56 The mili 

judge should ve recogni that there is still a presumption 

of prejudice in trying Se ant Akbar at Fort Bragg because they 

are the same loying airborne Soldiers found at the 101st 

55 During an Article 39(a), U.C.M.J., sess held on 10 May 
2004, the military judge "I did de at the re st 
of the government without objection by defense, an order to 
court members to avoid reading certain matters." (R. at 30.) 
56 The case was transferred the 101st rborne Division to 
XVIII Airborne Corps on 15 y 2003. 
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rborne Division. The XVIII Airborne Corps is higher 

82 ndheadquarters for the 10 Airborne sion and the Airborne 

Division, there re case was merely pulled up to a higher 

headquarters within the same el e command. This transfer of 

jurisdiction is therefore not the "strong measures" necessary to 

ensure a fair and impartial jury r Sergeant Akbar. Moreover, 

there is no need to speculate this case whether the panel 

members were af cted by the pret 1 publicity because it was 

clearly uncovered during r dire that panel members were not 

only aware of the media coverage they were also effected by it. 57 

See AE I: C, and VIX.58 

During an Art 39(a), U.C.M.J., session, the military 

judge denied the fense motion for change of venue, concluding, 

. pret 1 publicity in this case is not 
prejudicial, inflammatory, and has not 
saturated the communi The news reports 
are not sensational. Fort Bragg is 
thousands of miles away from Fort Campbell, 
the home of the 101st Airborne Division, the 
unit to which the accused and the ctims 
were assigned in March of 2003. There is 
simply no evidence that the accu will be 
unable to receive a fair and impartial trial 
here at Fort Bragg. 

(R. at 460.) 

57 For example, SFC Joseph Cascasan stated that based on the 
press reports t he saw, he beli "he [appellant] must 

Ity." (R. at 1138.) 
Appellant additionally asserts that fense counsel were 

inef ive by not objecting to these members sitting on the 
basis of ir knowledge of the media cove , even after the 
court 0 r was in place. See AE I: C. 
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These comments by the military judge about Fort Bragg bei 

thousands of mi s away Fort Campbell was not only an 

indicat that the litary j had a poor sense of 

geography, but also was a clear indication that he was only 

analyzing t potential venue from an actual udice 

perspective and etely dis rded the possibility of a 

"hostile environment" wi the Fort Bragg military community 

which would result in the presumpt of P ce. See Uni ted 

States v. Gravitt, 17 C.M.R. 249 (C.M.A. 1954); Uni States v. 

ng, 34 M.J. 956 (A.C.M.R. 1992) (citing United States v. 

Nivens, 45 C. M . R. 194 (C. M . A . 1972)), a f f' d 41 M. J. 213, 254 

(1994); see also United States v. McVeigh, 955 F. 1281 (D. 

Colo. 1997). This disregard for t entire body of law which 

mandates a change of venue when the environment is so hostile as 

to deprive an accused of due process of law was a 

prejudicial abuse of scretion by the military judge. 

judge also erroneously disre rded the close knit nature of the 

Army community and in particular the interconne ss of t 

XVIII Airborne Corps. 

There was no possible way Sergeant Akbar could 

received a ir trial by an impart I panel at Fort Bragg. As 

the extensive pret al publicity repeatedly emphasized, Sergeant 

r was an enemy in the ranks. The tr I court failed to 
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prevent the probability of un irness and certainly did little 

to secure the appearance of just In this case, neither 

justice, nor the appearance of justice was satisfied by the 

military judge's denial of the venue motion. See Offutt v. 

United States, 348 U.S. 11, 14 (1954) (Frankfurter, J.). 

WHEREFORE, Sergeant Akbar respectfully requests this Court 

set aside the findings of guilty to the contested offenses and 

set aside the sentence to death this case. 
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Assignment of Error VII. 

THE MILITARY JUDGE ERRED IN NOT SUPPRESSING 
THE STATEMENT "YES" BY APPELLANT TO MAJOR 

WHEN THAT STATEMENT WAS GIVEN 
WHILE APPELLANT WAS AT GUNPOINT AND IN 
CUSTODY AND APPELLANT WAS NOT GIVEN RIGHTS 
WARNINGS UNDER EITHER MIRANDA V. ARIZONA OR 
ARTICLE 31(b) OF THE UNIFORM CODE OF 
MILITARY JUSTICE. 

Statement of Facts 

On 22 March 2003, Major (MAJ)  was the S-2 1st 

Brigade, 101st Airborne sion. (R. at 1644.) He was working 

in the br headquarters tent during night of alleged 

attack by appellant. (R. at 1645.) Following the sions, 

MAJ  set about ins that the imeter and rnal 

security was established, including securing two Kuwaiti 

interpreters. (R. at 1647 1671.) After assisting securing 

the area, MAJ  repo to the br commander, Colonel 

(COL)  (R. at 1678.) Colonel 

the attacker "may have one of their own." Id. Co 1 

 r informed MAJ  that "2d Battalion is missing 

an eng soldier. His name is Se Akbar." (R. at 

informed MAJ  that some 

ammunition was missing. Id. Armed with the information that 

both appel and ammunition were miss , MAJ  continued 

to establish security while also diss ing appellant's name 

in such a way as to not cause appellant to launch a "final tch 
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attack." (R. at 1680.) Major  proceeded to a bunker of 

Soldiers to ss security issues and stumbled upon appellant. 

(R. at 1686.) 

After identi ng appellant, MAJ  took llant down 

from behind and secured him face down on the ground, at 

gunpoint, tell him "not to fucking move." (R. at 1688.) 

Major  identified h elf to the other So rs in 

bunker and one of to guard appellant. (R. at 

264.) Major  positioned llant spread­ Ie on the 

ground. (R. at 1689.) With llant thus , with a 

weapon pointed at appellant, MAJ  knelt down asked 

appellant "[0] you do this? d you bomb the tent?" 

Appellant repli "yes." (R. at 1690.) 

Sergeant rst Class (SFC) Butler, along with SFC Burns, 

came upon MAJ  as he was subduing appellant. (R. at App. 

Ex. 99.) Ser First Class But r pointed his weapon at 

llant and MAJ  ask appellant, "SGT Akbar, you 

can make this ss easy on yourself. Did you this 

act?" Appellant responded, "Ro r that Sir, I d." Id. Major 

 did not ask any questions concerning poss Ie accomplices 

or co-conspirators. After this exchange, MAJ  told 

appellant, "[0]0 not move. If you move, he will shoot you in the 

head." (R. at 266.) Major  d not read llant his 
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Article 31(b) rights or give the required warning under Miranda. 

(R. at App. Ex. 116, para. l(c).) 

Trial de e counsel moved to suppress appellant's 

response of "yes" to MAJ  questions, along with 

statements made to two other soldiers. (R. at App. Ex. 85.) 

Counsel raised both the issue of lack of warnings required by 

Article 31(b), UCMJ, and the voluntariness of appellant's 

confession "due to the fact that weapons were being pointed at 

him." (Id. at para. 6.) The Government, in response, a d 

that appellant's statement "yes," was allowed without rights 

warnings because of publ sa y exception outlined in New 

York v. Quarles, 467 U.S. 649 (1984). (R. at App. Ex. 86 at 15­

16. ) 

The rst motion was litigated be re COL Pat ck Parrish. 

(R. at 233.) At the hearing, MAJ  testified that 

appellant was the only suspect he apprehended. (R. at 253 54.) 

After ring testimony and argument, military judge denied 

the motion in part. (R. at App. Ex. 116.) In s ruling, the 

military judge found that MAJ  did not ask appellant about 

any weapons and did not ask who else might have been involved in 

the attacks. Id. at para. l(c)-(e). He found that after asking 

appellant if he bombed the tent, he did not ask any further 

questions. Id. He also noted that many soldiers were the 

area "cursing" appellant, including SFC Butler and SFC Burns, 
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before Ch f Warrant Of cer 2 (CW2) arrived on the scene 

to read appellant his ghts. Id. The military judge found 

that MAJ  had a "real and unquest le urgency to 

determine who was invo in the attack." Id. at . 3 (a) • 

He that MAJ  was act not in a law enforcement or 

disciplinary ity, but simply acting with a view towards his 

"operational respons lities to he protect the brigade combat 

team." Id. military j ruled that, any event, the 

"public safety exception" applied to this case. Id. at para. 

3(b). He further ed that because appellant was not 

streated" or "threatened" with a weapon, that his statement 

"yes" to MAJ  was not involuntary. Id. at ra.3(d). He 

also found that llant's statements to SFC Burns and SFC 

Butler admiss leo Id. at para. 3(c). 

Upon taking the bench in appellant's case, COL Steven 

reconsi the de e motions, but sustained 

previous judge's ruling regarding appellant's statement to MAJ 

 and suppres the statements made to SFC Burns and SFC 

Butler. ( R . at 4 63 , 4 67, 471 , 640 - 41; R . at App . Ex. 121.) 

icable Law and the Standard of ew 

A military judge's decision to admit is reviewed 

an abuse of discretion. United States V. Springer, 58 M.J. 

164, 167 (C.A.A.F. 2003). Findings fact are ewed under a 

clea y erroneous standard and conclusions of law are ewed 
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de novo. Id. (citing United States v. Alameda, 57 M.J. 190, 

198 (C.A.A.F. 2002)). As the military j 's determination 

that a statement is voluntary is a stion of law, it requires 

an independent, de novo review by this Court. United States v. 

Ellis, 57 M.J. 375, 378 (C.A.A.F. 2002) (citing zona v. 

Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 287 (1991)) .59 

Error and Argument 

"A statement is 'involuntary' if it is obtained in 

olation of the self incrimination privile or due process 

clause of the Fifth Amendment to the Constitution of United 

States, Arti e 31, or through the use of coercion, unlawful 

influence, or unlawful inducement. N Mil. R. d. 304 (c) (3). 

The necessary inquiry in determining the voluntariness of a 

statement is "whether the confession is the product of an 

essentially free and unconstrained choice by its maker." United 

States v. Bubonics, 45 M.J. 93, 95 (C.A.A.F. 1996) ting 

ombe v. Connecticut, 367 U.s. 568 (1961)). If, instead, the 

maker's will was overborne and his capacity for self 

determination was critically impaired, use of his confession 

would offend due process." Id. s requires an assessment of 

59 "I do not believe 'abuse of discret I adequately captures 
the full breadth of the legal review required of this Court on 
[suppression-motion Is] . On resolution of the legal 
questions raised in a suppression motion, we do not defer to a 
military judge's scretion." United States v. Payne, 47 M.J. 
37, 44 (C.A.A.F. 1997) (Sull , J., concurring). 
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the "totality of all the surrounding circumstances," a "holistic 


assessment of human interaction." Id. (citing Schneckloth v. 


Bustamante, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973) and United States v. 


Mart ez, 38 M.J. 82, 87 (C.M.A. 1993)). 


The quest of voluntariness is espe lly critical here 

because the "'publ safety exception' does not make admissible 

a statement that was truly involuntary." United States v. 

Jones, 26 M.J. 353, 357 (C.M.A. 1998). However, order for 

that exception to apply, the military judge in appellant's case 

had to find that appellant's statement was voluntary, and there 

is nothing in the record to support such a finding. 

Appellant was tackled with no warning by MAJ  (R. 

at 1688.) While tac ing him, MAJ  had his pistol pointed 

at appellant's back. (R. at Ex. 116, para. l(c).) After 

taking him down, MAJ  orde a nearby Soldier, in a voice 

loud enough that So er to hear, to guard appellant. (R. 

at 1689.) While appellant may not have seen the weapon MAJ 

 po ed at him during the "take-down", he to hear MAJ 

 order another So r to point his weapon at appellant. 

Appellant was forcefully tackled, rced to lay spread-eag at 

gunpoint, told "not to fucking move," suggesting a degree of 

force that would reasonably "overbear" appellant's will and 

capacity for self-determination. Appellant was the oppos e of 
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"unconstrai ," as he was very much constrai with multiple 

weapons poi at him. 

As the Court of Military Is noted in Jones" Hif 

appellant's statements to Sjostrom were 'coerced,' they were 

inadmissible even if Sjostrom coerced them for the laudable 

purpose of s ng the life of someone whom he t was 

severely wounded." Jones, 26 M.J. at 357. This is similar to 

appellant's case. Major  coerced the statement "yes" from 

appellant, even for the laudable purpose of est ishing that 

there were no co-conspirators thus no further t 

Appellant's statement is inadmiss e. 

Major  was acting a capacity which ired him to 

warn appellant his rights r Article 31(b) of t UCMJ. 

Article 31(b) provides: 

No rson subject to this chapter may 
int e, or request any statement from 
an accused or a person suspected of an 
offense without first informing him of 
nature of the accusation and advising him 
t he does not have to make any statement 

ng the offense of which he is accus 
or su ed and that statement made by 
him may used as evi against him in a 
trial by court-martial. 

See also Mil. R. . 305(d). Mil ary Rule of 

305 (b) (2) de nes "interrogation" to include "any or 

informal questioning in which an iminating response either 

is sought or is a reasonable consequence of such questioning." 
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In United States v. Duga, 10 M.J. 206, 210 (C.M.A. 1981), 

t Court of Military Appeals held that: 

[IJn each case, it is necessary to ask 
whether: (1) A questioner subject to the 
Code was acting in an official capacity 
his inquiry or y had a personal 
mot ion; and (2) whether the person 
questioned rceived that inqui 
involved more than a casual conversation. 

Here we have ample that llant was a suspect, 

as demonst by MAJ  actions. Major  was 

informed by the brigade commander that appellant was the only 

So er unaccounted for. (R. at 1678 79.) Major  was 

also told the attack may have been from "one of our own." 

(R. at 1678.) Appellant was a "suspect." After all, MAJ  

immediately tackled appellant upon encountering him. 

Clearly, the question "Did do this," would lead to an 

incriminating response. Major  was acting in of cial 

city and there was ing casual about his conversation 

with llant. This, and the involuntary nature of 

questioning, t red the rights-warning requirement and the 

public sa ty exception is inappli 

Even if this court finds the statement "yes" was 

voluntary, the reasonable purpose of MAJ  question was 

not focused on public safety. Major  considered appellant 

a He knew that the brigade commander identified SGT 

as the so missing Soldier and that the attack may be 
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from "one of our own.n (R. at 1678 79.) Major  was not 

alone in considering appellant a suspect. Sergeant rst Class 

Butler and SFC Burns did as well. Major  testified he was 

thinking of an effect way to disseminate appellant's name 

immediate prior to encountering appellant. (R. at 1680.) 

Upon recognizing appellant, he tackl him, had him gua , and 

asked him "if he did it.n (R. at 1688-90.) He did not ask him 

where the weapons used were, because those were on or near 

him and already secured. He did not ask if anyone else was 

involved because he knew from his brigade commander the 

only suspect was appellant. He did not ask any stions to 

determine if there were other accomplices because he knew there 

were none. 

The burden is on the government to prove that the erroneous 

admission of appellant's statement to MAJ  was harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt. See United States v. Ga ier, 65 

M.J. 60, 67 (C.A.A.F. 2007). The burden remains same if 

this Court finds only a violation of Article 31(b) of the UCMJ. 

United States v. sbane, 63 M.J. 106, 116 (C.A.A.F. 2006) 

ewing Arti e 31{b), UCMJ, error under st rd of harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt) . 

The harm to appellant was clear. Hearing the evidence 

inst appellant certa y was important, but nothing more 

persuas as hearing what amounts to a confession by appellant. 
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Evidence may be contradicted or explained, but a confession is 

often as powerful as all of t rest of the evidence in a case 

combined. Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 u.s. 179, 296 (1991). 

While it is true that the coerced confess to the attacks was 

not the only evidence against appellant, it was the most 

powerful, and thus was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

WHEREFORE, the appellant respectfully requests that this 

Court set aside all findings of guilty and the sentence. 
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Assignment of Error VIII. 

THE PROSECUTION'S MANIPULATION OF TRIAL 
DEFENSE COUNSEL DURING APPELLANT'S COURT­
MARTIAL AMOUNTED TO UNLAWFUL COMMAND 
INFLUENCE THAT IMPACTED THIS CAPITAL CASE. 

Facts 60 

On 9 March 2004, the military judge conducted an Article 

39(a) session in which defense counsel brought a potential 

confl to the attention of the court: 

DC: Sir, I am on 0 to report to Fort 
Drum, New York, no later than 15 July to be 
the of Justice for the loth Mountain 
Division. 

MJ: Okay. How about you, Captain  

ADC: Sir, I'll be ting orders to 
to Fort Eustis as the Deputy Staff Judge 
Advocate on 1 August. 

MJ: 	 Okay. But you're going to be around in 
Army and avail e, right? 

DC: Yes, sir. And, obviously, as these 
situations are handled, Sergeant Akbar has 

opportunity and TDS would support it 
if he wants to continue with our se and 
just the lict, he can do 
And t also offered him, if he wants 
conflict-free counsel, t opport ty to 
appoint someone new, ther at Fort Campbell 
or at Fort Bragg, to replace e her one or 
both of us if that's what wants to do. At 
this point, he's indicated t he would 
pre r to have conflict counsel. 

MJ: 	 What's the conflict? 

60 See also scussion of facts set forth AE II: C. 
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DC: Well, I'll be the Chief of Justice, 
which is, obviously, on the other side of 
the fence. 

MJ: But that's nothing to do with this 
case. 

MJ: I spent 5 years in TDS. It's not a 
con ict to me. 

(R. at 435 36.) The prosecution responded: 

TC: First, Your Honor, to address the PCS 
issue, Captain  was I know t s 
having been former ains Assignment 

ficer - was specifically rred from 
an opportunity to go to the Grad Course to 
be on this case. I would represent to 
court that he will remain on this case as 
long as this case is going, and no PCS will 

rfere [sic] with a conflict. If he's 
released other grounds, it will be not 
because of a PCS. He is not currently on 
orders, and the job that he's going to fill 
is not open until January 2005. re is 
no conflict with him remaining. 

MJ: So when are you PCSing then, Captain 
 

ADC: Well, Colonel  has s that I 
don't have, but I've been told that I'll 
receive rs and be PCSing wi a report 
date of 1 August. 

ADC: Yes, sir. In any event, that's what 
I've been informed; t I would be PCSing 
to go to Fort Eustis for that position. 
Clearly, I have no problem with working and 
remaining on case. 

MJ: And, Major  what's your PCS 
date? 
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DC: My date is 15 y, unless 
Colonel  has some further 
information on that. That's what I 
understand it to be. 

MJ: Let's ask him and find out. 

TC: S , I'm going to some informat 
on that ve quickly. 

MJ: How about finding out and then e-mailing 
all parties to find out, you know, if, in 
fact, what you say is that t position 
Colonel Colonel, perhaps one day I'm sure 
--Captain  is going to is not open 
until 1 ? 

TC: Sir, I can represent to the court now, I 
just got off the phone with the Chief of 
PP&TO 3 es ago. Capta  will 
remain on this case. He will not get orders 
until this case is fini 

(R. at 442-44.) On 24 August 2004, at another Artic 39(a) 

sess , defense counsel discussed issue with a new military 

j 

DC: Sir, i I could, there's one issue I 
wanted to update the reco on. It's 
something we discussed at length during 
last hea . At that t ,I was the 
Defense Counsel at Fort Campbell. I was 
pending a PCS to Fort Drum to be the Chief 
of Justice. I discussed t move and the 
potential lict that might present with 
my client, Sergeant Akbar. He, at that time, 
indicated that he would rat r release me 
and have new counsel appoint if that was 
going to be my assignment. We discussed that 
issue on t record. Colonel Pa sh ruled 
that he did not believe it was a conflict in 
any sense to be the Chief of Justice and 
still sent Sergeant Akbar. I went ahead 
with my move, and I just want to update 
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the court on what has happened since that 
time re rence that issue. When I arrived at 
Fort Drum, I was told by the SJA that I was 
not cted to be at Fort Drum. And he 
indi had been contacted by PP&TO and 
told - Trial Counsel --Colonel 
Mulli had indicated that he d not want 
to create that kind of conflict or have that 
issue. refore, PP&TO 	 told Colonel 
Garrett, my SJA, that I 	 would not be coming 
until a r the trial. For whatever reason, 
that rmation was not pas to my chain 
of command or to me and 	I PCS'd anyway. So 
to reso that issue, they've moved me into 
Administrative Law. So, 	 to extent that 
there was an issue of a 	 potent 1 conflict 
of me being the Chief of Justice, that has 

el ed because I'm not that 
position. 

MJ: So you're essentially physically at Fort 
Drum ­

DC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: - but performing other duties as 
assigned? 

DC: Yes, sir. 

(R. 	 at 567-68.) 
Law and Argument 

Unlawful command influence is "'the mortal enemy of 

military justice.'" United States v. Gore, 60 M.J. 178, 178 

(C.A.A.F. 2004) (quoting United States v. s, 22 M.J. 388, 

393 (C.M.A. 1986)). Article 37(a), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 837(a) 

(2000), prohibits unl 1 command influence by all persons 
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ect to the UCMJ. 61 "Where is found to exist, judi al 

authorities must take those necessary to preserve both t 

actual and apparent fairness of t criminal proceeding." 

United States v. Lewis, 63 M.J. 405, 407 (C.A.A.F. 2006) (c 

United States v. Rivers, 49 M.J. 434, 443 (C.A.A.F. 1998); 

United States v. Sullivan, 26 M.J. 442, 444 (C.A.A.F. 1988)). 

The "appearance of unlawful command fluence is as devastat 

to t military justice system as actual manipulation of 

trial." Id. (internal ions and citations omitted); 

see also United States v. Simpson, 58 M.J. 368, 374 (C.A.A.F. 

2003) (quoting United States v. Stoneman, 57 M.J. 35, 42-43 

(C.A.A.F.2002)). 

61 Article 37(a), UCMJ; 10 U.S.C. § 837(a) (2000), establishes 
ssional prohibitions against unlawfully influencing 

action of a court-martial: 

No authority conveni a general, special, 
or summary court-mart 1, nor any other 
commanding officer, censure, reprimand, 
or admonish the court or any member, 
military judge, or counsel thereof, with 
respect to the findings or sentence adjudged 
by the court, or with re to any other 
exercises of its or his ions in the 
conduct of the proce ngs. No person 
subject to this chapter attempt to 
coerce or, by any unaut ized means, 
influence the action of a court-martial or 
any other military tribunal or any member 
thereof, in reaching the fi ngs or 
sentence in any case, or t action of any 
convening, approving, or authority 
with respect to his j cial acts. 
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On appeal, in address allegations of actual unlawful 

command influence, "The de e must (1) show cts which, if 

true, constitute unlawful command influence; (2) show that the 

proceedings were unfair; and (3) show that t unlawful command 

influence was the cause of unfairness. " Uni t States v. 

Biagese, 50 M.J. 143, 150 (C.A.A.F. 1999). This Court must be 

convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that there was no unlawful 

command fluence or that unlawful command uence did not 

affect ndings and sentence. Id. at 151. 

In s case, the actions of the trial counsel in 

manipulating the assignments of defense counsel during an on­

going court-martial amounted to unlawful command influence. 

Article 37(a) is an unambiguous congressional , broadly 

worded, "clearly appl s to command subordinates." United 

States v. low, 32 M.J. 439, 441 (C.M.A. 1991); see generally 

United States v. Levite, 25 M.J. 334, 339 n.6 (C.M.A.1987); 

United States v. Thomas, 22 M.J. 388, 398 (C.M.A. 1986), cert. 

denied, 479 U.S. 1085 (1987). The trial counsel was a command 

subordinate because it was his duty to carry out command's 

decision to refer court-martial charges against accused. 

See 1 Lewis, 63 M.J. at 407 (finding unlawful command 

influence when the command, through its trial couns and SJA, 

forced t recusal of the mil ry judge.) The Court in Lewis 

cons ide both the speci c unlawful influence, the unseating 
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of the military judge, and the damage to the public perception 

of fairness by the appearance of unlawful command influence 

created by the Government achieving its goal of removing the 

military judge. Lewis, 63 M.J. at 416. 

Here, the government, through the actions of the trial 

counsel, created an appearance of unlawful command influence by 

manipulating the assignments of defense counsel to keep counsel 

on the case and prevent any further continuances in the case. 

Had trial counsel not taken such actions, defense counsel would 

have changed duty assignments and the accused would have 

dismissed him as counsel. 62 This influence over the court-

martial personnel was blatant and went unchecked by the military 

judge. There is a palpable unfairness in any system where the 

trial counsel is able to control and direct the career of 

opposing counsel during trial. 

"Even if there was no actual unlawful command influence, 

there may be a question whether the influence of command placed 

an 'intolerable strain on public perception of the military 

justice system.'" United States v. Stoneman, 57 M.J. 35, 42-43 

(C.A.A.F. 2002) (quoting United States v. Wiesen, 56 M.J. 172, 

175 (C.A.A.F. 2001)). To find that the appearance of command 

62 Defense counsel was originally scheduled to be the chief of 
justice at Fort Drum. This assignment would have created a 
conflict of interest that SGT Akbar was not willing to waive. 
(R. at 435); See also AE II: C. 
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inf was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, "t 

Government must convince [this Court] that the dis rest 

publ would now believe [appellant] received a t from 

the ef s of unlawful command influence." Lewis, M.J. at 

415. Bas on the proven power of the trial counsel over the 

career and assignment process of the defense 

with mil ary judge's complicit actions to soli 

power, a disinterested public would not think that llant had 

a fair t al. 

, a rehearing in this case, "is an iate 

remedy error cannot be rendered harmless" and no 

remedy is available which would "eradicate the 

command influence and ensure the public ion of 

fairness the military justice system." Lewis, M.J. at 

416; see also Gore, 60 M.J. at 189. 

WHEREFORE, appellant requests that this e Court 

di ss findings and sentence. 
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Assignment of Error VIX. 

THE MILITARY JUDGE, BY FAILING TO SUA SPONTE 
DISMISS FIFTEEN DIFFERENT PANEL MEMBERS FOR 
CAUSE, ON VARIOUS GROUNDS, INCLUDING ACTUAL 
BIAS, IMPLIED BIAS, AN INELASTIC OPINION 
AGAINST CONSIDERING MITIGATING EVIDENCE AND 
ON SENTENCING, AND DETAILED KNOWLEDGE OF 
UNCHARGED MISCONDUCT THAT THE JUDGE 
SPECIFICALLY RULED WOULD NOT COME INTO 
EVIDENCE, DENIED APPELLANT A FAIR TRIAL. 

Statement of Facts 63 


Of the s een panel members in t pool, trial defense 


counsel opposed the llenges of only Lieutenant Colonel 

 Major  Command Sergeant Major  

(R. at 1171.) The unopposed challenges were ed by 

military judge, while the opposed challenges were deni (R. 

at 1174.) Trial fense counsel challenged one member, Major 

 on the basis of implied as because he was a witness 

in a r military death penalty case (United States v. 

Kreutzer) and was actually involved capturing Kreutzer a r 

his attacks. (R. at 1174-75.) This challenge was jo by 

government counsel and granted by the litary judge. Id. 

Government counsel challenged Lieutenant Colonel  

Major  Major  Sergeant Major  Command 

Major  and First Se  (R. atSe 

63 Many of the facts applicable to this AE are also applicable to 
AE I: C. However, simplic y's sake and for Court's 
convenience, llant has set forth facts in this AE, 
a it, in some instances with a di gloss. 
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1160.) The government used its ory challenge on 

eutenant Colonel  wh e de e did not use its 

ory challenge. (R. at 1177.) 

icable Law and Standard of Review 

military judge committed error in seating the 

1 in appellant's case. 64 To under a plain error 

analysis, appellant must persuade court that there was an 

error, was plain or obvious, and error materially 

udi an accused's substantial right. United States v. 

1 e , 56 M. J. 209, 21 7 ( C . A. A. F. 2001 ) (cit ing Un ited S tat e s 

v. 	 ster, 51 M.J. 185, 187 (C.A.A.F. 1999)). 

Rule for Courts-Martial 912(f) (1) (N) provides that a court 

member "shall be excused for cause r it appears that the 

[s]hould not sit as a r in the interest of 

the court-martial free substantial doubt as to 

1 1 y, irness, and impartiality." This rule encompasses 

chall s based on both actual ied bias. 

test for actual bias is r any bias "is such t 

it will not yield to the sented and the judge's 

tructions." United States v. olds, 23 M.J. 292, 294 

(C.M.A. 1987). Actual bias is ective, viewed through 

64 Rule for Courts-Martial [here er R.C.M. ] 912 (fl (4), Manual 
r Courts-Martial, United States (2008 ed.); see Unit States 

I' 49 M.J. I, 5 (C.A.A.F. 1998) (holding that a member 
raised for the first t at appeal will be 

y for plain error) . 
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eyes of the judge the panel member. See United States v. 

Napoleon, 46 M.J. 279, 283 (C.A.A.F. 1997). The focus is 

on the efficacy of ilitative efforts in changing the 

subjective position of the panel member to one that will d 

to the evidence pre and the judge's instructions. 

(citing Reynolds r 12 M.J. at 294 (C.M.A. 1987). 

Unlike actual as, "implied bias is reviewed under an 

ective standard, through the eyes of the public." . at 

283. In an impli bias case, "[t]he focus 'is on the 

ion or of fairness of the military just 


tern. '" Id. (quot United States v. Dale, 42 M.J. 384, 386 


(C.A.A.F. 1995) ernal quotation mar omitted}). 

"Implied bias sts when, rega ess of an individual 

member's discl r of bias, most people in the same position 

would be prejudi [i.e., biased]." ted Sta tes v. 

Napolitano, 53 M.J. 162, 167 (C.A.A.F. 2000) (citations 

internal quotation marks omitted). 

Military judges are given less in an impli bias 

case than in a case where actual bias is present because lied 

s is "viewed through the eyes of public." Id. at 166 

(quoting United States v. Warden r 51 M.J. 78, 81 (C.A.A.F. 

1999). This st of review is less ferential than 

of discretion but more deferential than novo. Uni States 

v. Strand, 59 M.J. 455, 458 (C.A.A.F. 2004) (quoting Unit 
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States v. Miles, 58 M.J. 192, 195 (C.A.A.F. 2003). Generally, 

impli bias should rarely used as the reason granting a 

lenge for cause in absence of actual bias. Id. (citing 

Warden, 51 M.J. at 81 82.); but see ted States v. Lavender, 

46 M.J. 485, 489 (C.A.A.F. 1997) (Effron, J., concurring part 

and in resul t) (disagreeing that the doctr of implied 

bias should be "rarely applied" in the military just system) . 

Because of the awesome plena review authority of Article 

66(c) this court "is not constrained from tak notice of 

errors by the princ es of waiver and plain error." See ted 

States v. Powell, 49 M.J. 460, 463 (C.A.A.F. 1998) (citing 

United States v. Claxton, 32 M.J. 159, 162 (C.M.A. 1991)). 

There re, this Court can look anew at such errors without need 

of either a waiver or plain error analysis and shou do so 

in the interest of justice, rticularly in a capital case such 

as this where appellant's life is at sta 

Once a bias member is seated, appellant need not show 

prejudice. Hughes v. United States, 258 F.3d 453, 463 (6th Cir. 

2001); Sanders v. Norris, 529 F. 787, 791 (8th Cir. 2008). 

The impaneling of biased juror is structural in nature, and must 

result in llant receiving a new trial. Hughes, 258 at 463. 

"Trying a defendant be re a biased jury is akin to providing 

him no trial at all. It constitutes a fundamental fect in the 

trial mechanism sel f. " Johnson v. Armontrout, 961 F. 2d 755. 
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In federal district court cases, ain error is ied. 

See United States v. Hill, 552 F.3d 541, 545 (7th Cir. 

2008) (review of deficient voir dire by ral dist court 

judge reviewed for plain error); United States v. Vi naiz, 428 

F.3d 1300, 1313 (10th Cir. 2005) (same); ted Sta tes v. 

rouard, 521 F.3d 110, 115 (1st Cir. 2008) (Batson cl post­

trial reviewed for plain error); United States v. Contreras-

Contreras, 83 F.3d 1103, 1105 (same). 

Sergeant First Class (SFC)  

Sergeant rst Class  stated that had no 

interest in events in llant's Ii leading up to the 

offenses: 

DC: Would you any interest in facts 
Iregarding their Ii and how that person 

to that point, factors that might have 
influenced their cision? Do you think 
those things would be important? 

SFC D: No, sir. Because, if took a 
Ii wouldn't important. 

DC: And what do you think rehabilitation or 
the potential for rehabilitation what do 
you think that means? 

SFC D: Like not letting them out like 
'd be able to live, but 'd spend 

rest their Ii in prison. 

DC: Okay. Well, t's a good lead in to 
the next question. So, in a case where 
you've got the rson, you're convinced 
t rson committed a murder, you're 100 
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percent sure of that, and life without 
parole is also a possible punishment, 
meaning that person will never get out of 
jail, would you consider that? 

SFC 	 D: Yes. I'd consider it. 

DC: What sort of factors would in uence 
your decision as you choose between ath or 
a rson being removed permanently from 
society and sitting in jail for the rest of 
his life? 

SFC D: Okay. Say for instance that that 
person was provoked to do that, then t 
person deserves another chance. 

DC: 	 Any other factors or circumstances that 
d be important? 

SFC 	 D: Unless they had a mental condition or 
r. 

(R. 	 at 1134-35). 

At no point did SFC  change his position and i cate 

that would consider events and influences llant's Ii 

up to the charged offenses. This was not a I 

s g ng low weight to extenuating evidence. In t s case, 

was clear he that he would give no weight to 

llant's Ii prior to the charged offenses because I 

took a Ii military judge later attempted to rehabilitate 

 

MJ: Se ant  if I understand 
correctly, if we get to sentencing, you 
would be able to follow my instructions on 
the full range of punishments whatever they 
may be? 
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SFC D: Yes, sir. 

MJ: fe, life without pa e ---­

SFC D: Yes, sir 


(R. at 1136). 

Although the judge asked if SFC  could consider the 

full range of appropriate punishments, he failed to inquire into 

whether he could consider the full range of mitigat and 

extenuation evidence needed to det ne the appropriate 

punishment. The problem was not whether SFC  cou 

consider the full range of punishments (although s response to 

the question concerning rehabil ion calls that into 

question), but whether or not SFC  would cons r the 

underlying extenuating and mitigating factors in arriving at an 

appropriate punishment. Clari ng SFC  ability to 

consider a 1 range of shments s not address SFC 

 statement mitigation was, in his , unimportant. 

never ssed an ility to eld to the evidence or 

judge's structions concerning extenuation mitigation. 

Sergeant First ass  also misunderstood 

rehabilitation apparently means 

life without parole. Sergeant First Class  only mentioned 

provocation and mental condit as two possible factors he 

would consi in the context of life without parole. Sergeant 

First Class  severely limit underst ng of the 
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concept of litation is never addressed during voir 

s, combined wi t:h his assertion that events in appellant's 

life ading up to the of ses were not important if he took a 

Ii resulted a panel member sitting on llant's I 

with an impermissibly inelastic opinion on sentencing sitting on 

appellant's panel. 

Even if SFC  did not exhibit actual bias, most 

observers would seen SFC  as viewing extenuation and 

mit ing evidence as unimportant, as misunderstanding the 

basis con of rehabilitation, and possessing a I ted view 

regarding mitigation, especially as pertains to death or a 

lesser sentence. A panel member who considers appellant's past 

"unimportant U for sentencing purposes is not a panel member 

would be seen as "keep[ing] an open mind and d[ing] case 

based on dence presented in court and the law as announced by 

the mil ary judge." See Reynolds, 23 M.J. at 294. 

Sergeant rst Class  answers in response to s 

self-report sleepi problem call into question his irness 

and rtiality: 

DC: And you related that that sta about 
t time of the first Gulf War when you came 

ck. What I'd like to know is, is that 
trauma related to trauma or stress from 
participating in that, or you just get 
in t habit 0 not gett a lot sleep? 

SFC D: I don't know what it's from, sir. 
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DC: So you don't feel that you wake up 
because you were under stress or trauma? 

SFC D: Well, being in the military is 
stressful. 

DC: That's very true. So you think it may 
just be related to the day-to-day life 
stress? 

SFC D: Yes, sir. 

DC: But you feel that you're able to 
function and get by on 3 to 4 hours of 
sleep? 

SFC D: Yes, sir. 

(R. at 1132-33). 

Most public observers would believe SFC  sleeping 

problems were related to stress or trauma, and would believe SFC 

 participation on the panel was thus problematic. How 

did this trauma affect him other than severely altering his 

sleep habits? How sympathetic would he be to an accused also 

claiming sleep related problems and the possible mental health 

issues related to them if SFC  has not determined whether 

his own sleep issues are trauma-based? Most people in SFC 

 position would be hard-pressed to be sympathetic to any 

arguments based on severe sleep issues. Most in the public 

would view SFC  as narrowly focused on guilt, provocation, 

and appellant's mental condition, but caring little for any 

other evidence. (See R. at 1135.) In fact, some members of the 

public would question whether SFC  had recovered 
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ychologically from his own combat experiences. te the 

failure of de e counsel to challenge SFC  the military 

j committed plain error by fail to sua sponte to voir 

re and conduct an actual and implied bias analysis and excuse 

from the panel. 

Major (MAJ)  

Major  sentencing "formula" was simple: 

"[I}f one on dies, then that the means that that rson 

should die also." (R. at 991.) or 

sentencing formula in a capital murder t al should have raised 

alarm bells with the military judge. The military judge failed 

to inquire further, thus leaving plain meaning of his wo 

- Major  balances the scales a life for a life. Major 

 had an inelastic attitude regarding sentenc 

Even if no actual bias exi , a member of the public 

observing appellant's court-martial and hearing MAJ  

formula would bel that MAJ  vote for death was 

preordained. Despite MAJ  enunciation of his 

"formula," the mil ary judge failed to make further inquiry_ 

Leaving MAJ  on the panel was pla error. Major 

 was, the event of a conviction, an automat vote 

for death. 

tional ,MAJ  exhibited an excessive level of 

emotion and knowledge about the events of the case: 
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I It pretty upset over what happened. I 
It the family s and soldiers 

that were over there. And I realized 
well, I was over there in 2002. So I kind 
of knew where that area was. And it was 

ssing. 

(R. at 993.) 

The military judge failed to inquire why it was 

"depressing" r MAJ  ask about MAJ  

level of knowledge about the case. The public would presume 

had some personal connection with the case, 

or had been in some way personally impacted by it, thus 

would have an opinion the case. Therefore, it 

was plain error for the military judge to allow MAJ  to 

sit on the panel. 

Sergeant First Class (SFC)  

Sergeant rst Class  indicat both in 

general and individual voir dire he had previously 

expressed an on appellant's guilt: 

MJ: In ral voir dire, d you indicate 
that you had previously ssed an opinion 
on guilt or innocence of Se ant Akbar? 

SFC C: Yes, sir. 


MJ: Can you relate what it was? 


SFC C: Yes, sir. When it was in the news 

and first came out - my fe and I are in 
the military. As weeks went by, from what 
we've known out of the news, I had said, "It 
sounds like guilty.N 
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(R. at 1138, sis added.) 

The military judge attempted to rehabilitate SFC  

MJ: Have you followed case since it made 

the news in 2003? 


SFC C: Yes, sir. Pretty much. 


MJ: Do you still rna that position? 


S FC C: No, sir. 


MJ: Can you set aside anything that you may 
have and dec case only on 

? 

SFC C: Yes, sir. 

(Id. , emphasis . ) 

Later, t al defense counsel made further ry: 

DC: You cated that you initially said 
bas the press s that you saw, 
you said to your wife, "Looks like he must 
be guilty?" 

SFC C: Yes, sir. 

DC: you said your had 

SFC C: My opinion, sir, is based on news 
reports that I do not completely, 100 
percent believe. 

DC: 

SFC C: It was - and I'm saying it now 
because I just want t put out. It was 
bas on what I've seen the input that I'd 
gotten. Has it changed? Well, sir, now I'm 
going to get the facts. This was based on 
that news report that I don't believe is 100 
percent at all times. 

(R. at 1157.) 
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Sergeant First Class  was not saying s opinion 

had changed, but now he will "the facts," which would 

eit nforce his opinion or not. Sergeant First Class 

 was clearly anning on weighing the evi that he 

saw in the media and what he expect to receive at trial. 

Appellant certainly erves a panel member who has not come 

into the case having already rece enough media rmation 

to come to a conclusion about his guilt or innocence. 

Additionally, SFC  an opinion about the 

ate sentence. 

SFC C: If were found ilty, have I 

ever said what he's going to get? No, sir. 


DC: Or what you thought he should get? 


SFC C: lief on that, sir, is it will 

fit I've never said to anybody, 
"This is's going to U No, sir. 
And I said - that's why I use, "I think"; 
"If you ask me"; "My personal opinion." 

(R. at 1158.) 

Thus, SFC  has not stat his own personal opinion 

to ot s, had formed a "personal,ff rat than an "of cial" 

opinion. Only after sentencing would he make that opi on more 

than rsonal." 

In any event, ied bias was icated by SFC  

answers. A member of public voir dire would view 

SFC  as previously asserting t appellant was il ty, 

374 




but also refusing to completely put aside the media accounts 

that that belief. His disclaimer regarding the accuracy 

of news rts would not most in public 

that SFC  could ely and fully those 

reports, but merely would confirmatory in ion to seal 

his verdict. His claim to have only personally expressed an 

opinion the appropriate sentence would r concern 

most viewing the court-martial. 

It was plain error to leave SFC  who previously 

believed llant guilty, on panel. In a tal case, the 

military j must remove, sua sponte, a member who has 

expressed an opinion about guilt or innocence. 

Lieutenant Colonel (LTC)  

Lieutenant Colonel  stated a clear bias 

against mental health professionals during questioning by the 

trial counsel: 

TC: Sir, the fact your father's a 
cticing ps ist, would that cause 

you to have a er lief in that as a 
science, the science of psychotherapy? 

LTC A: Quite poss y the opposite. Growing 
up in that environment was, at times, t ng 
as a kid. We'd have take disturbing phone 
calls from some patients, and I got ti of 

real quick. 

TC: But, as a sc , to - in the event 
say we had expert tnesses testify from the 

tness stand who were psychologists or 
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psychiatrists, would you give that test 
any more weight than any other s? 

LTC A: 	 No, probably not. 

(R. 	 at 971.) 

eutenant Colonel  expressed an ant to 

ychotherapy and thus would give little, if any, to the 

testimony 	of psychologists and psychiatrists. crucial 

, s role of mental health evidence and testimony in 1 

case, LTC  animus toward the very evi llant 

was relying so heavily upon should have resulted in s ing 

removed, sua sponte, by the military judge. 

In any event, implied bias must result in LTC 

removal. In a capital case, mental health testimony and 

evidence is usually the strongest mitigation presented, 

and having a panel member who disregards such as a 

matter of course puts appellant, in the eyes of the public, at a 

clear disadvantage. Is was plain error for LTC  to 

sit. 

Lieutenant Colonel (LTC)  

eutenant Colonel  indicated she had ly s 

th mental health issues, particularly depression: 

TC: Now, ma'am, regarding the area of 
psychiatry, has a relative, a close friend, 
or even yourself ever been examined r a 
psychiatric condition or a mental condit ? 

376 



LTC 	 L: Yes. My step r had depression 
and 	committed suicide. My I think my 
mother no. I'm not sure about my mother. 
My sister I know was diagno with 
depression and is on some kind of medication 
for that. 

TC: Okay. Your stepfat r's suicide, was 
the depression discovered fore or after? 

LTC 	 L: Be 

TC: 	 Be ? 

LTC L: Uhm-hmm [nodding to the 
affirmat J • 

TC: Had been a longstanding depression or 
something of short durat ? 

LTC 	 L: y like 3 to 5 years I think. 

TC: And was he actually r psychiat 
care at time he committ suicide? 

LTC L: Uhm-hmm [nodding to the 
affirmat ] . 

TC: 	 Do you know - the diagnosis, was it 
depression; or was depression a symptom 
another diagnosis? 

LTC L: I'm pretty sure the diagnosis 
was ssion. 

(R. 	 at 952.) 

She then indicat a speciali knowledge of depression: 

DC: And, in the course of having family 
members w h this mental illness, did you 
any resea yourself into 

LTC L: Uhm-hmm [nodding to the 
affirmat ] . 


DC: ---- ression? 
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LTC L: [:; litt bit, yeah. 

DC: In that case, given that you may have 
loped some specialized knowledge, could 

you agree to set that aside this court 
martial and, if there is mental health 
testimony, just listen to what they say and 
evaluate what they say without regard to 
anything you've read in the st? 

LTC L: That would be kind of hard because I 
thought we were supposed to use our own 
values and judgments? 

DC: If you did any specialized 
knowledge or points that you seem to 
remember from something, would you agree to 
not try to in uence the other members with 
that? 

LTC L: I suppose depends on the amount of 
information that we get from - if 

's enough of it, then I can do that. 

(R. at 964, 965.) 

Not y is this of actual as, it can in no way 

remove the taint of impli bias. Lieutenant Colonel 

could not expected to put aside her rsonal mental alth 

knowledge and experience hered as a result of a ly mental 

health t in lieu of mental lth evidence 

testimony submitted at tal. Few could separate out things 

LTC  learned through her family struggle and consider 

only the dence before them. Few would also believe that she 

had no bias concerning mental health, and specifically 

depress Depression was the sanity rd's diagnosis of 
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appellant. (R. at 2493). Thus the mil ary judge plainly 

in allowing LTC  to sit. 

Lieutenant Colonel (LTC)  

Lieutenant Colonel  test if he was appellant's 

deputy brigade cOIT@ander from ely 15 July 2004 until 

17 December 2004. (R. at 882.) Colonel  

testified that had seen "legal briefs" prior to appellant's 

court-mart 1. (R. at 883, 884, 892.) eutenant Colonel  

"could not recall any specific det Is or charges," and the 

legal brie merely contained a rix of pending cases" 

with which cOIT@ander was ly briefed. (R. at 

883. ) However, LTC  could t there was 

information "a hearing, or whatever, motions or 

whatever." .) He also testified t he was informed of an 

"altercation" t occurred between llant and the gua 

(R. at 893.) 

Although rse facts were eli during voir dire, the 

public wou stion what LTC  level of involvement in 

this case as second in cOIT@and of appellant's brigade. He 

sat in on le fings concerning appellant's case. He 

learned of an a ercation involving appellant and the military 

police. He also felt the need to bring to attention of the 

court his " al impartiality" in the case. (R. at 892.) 

To have this r sit on appellant's 1 in a capital case 
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is something t the general public viewing would view 

skeptically. , the military judge plainly sitting 

LTC  

Lieutenant Colonel (LTC)  

This case was tried at Fort , North Carol 

llant was with attac a brigade tact 1 

ration center (TOC) of the 101st Airborne s (Air 

As t), based at Fort Campbell, Kentucky. (R. at Charge 

.) The case was transferred to Fort Bragg on 15 July 2003. 

A panel member, LTC  was the brother of t then 

commander of t 101st Airborne sion. (R. at 910.) 

Lieutenant Colonel  testif that he did not talk with 

his brother about appellant's case or It in any way pressured 

by his familial relationship. Id. However, a member of the 

public watching trial would highly conce that LTC 

 relat with his her, and his concern for the 

men and women under his brother's command, would influence his 

ve cts on both findings and sentence. For members of the 

public already s ical of the and unusual manner in 

the milit selects panels r court-mart , the brother 

of the commander of the 101st Ai rne Division sitting on the 

1 would call into question that panel's freedom from bias 

inst appellant. The military j should sua sponte 
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LTC  from the panel, and it was plain error to 

low h to s as a member. 

Lieutenant Colonel (LTC)  

Colonel  another panel r, 

testif 

DC: Sir, on your questionnaire, you 
cated a view regarding the Muslim 

religion. Can you explain your views of 
Muslim religion in a little more 1 
me? 

LTC G: Well, some things I agree with 
some things I don't agree with it. I'd s 

all I can say - I think I ment 
passionate religions. And with a pass e 
religion, sometimes you can't think clear 

you take certain views that are selfi 
your own selfish pleasures, self-

sire instead of the good of the man. It 
seems to be a male oriented religion. It 
seems to be - like a lot of institutional 
religions. They interpret it the way they 
want to interpret certain things for their 
own self-interests. 

(R. at 944.) 

In ef ct, LTC  was not only very s i 

appellant's mental health defense, but also llant's 

faith Islam "selfish," and "passionate," not a at 

"t of man." Id. No attempt at rehabilitation LTC 

would su ce, and even if it did, most rs of 

public would view LTC  as skeptical t mot s of 

lant's religion; and, most members of the publ would 

assume that LTC  thinks that conscience religious 
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beliefs (other than Islam), would have appellant out of 

trouble, even if appellant suffered from a ser mental 

disease or defect. Keeping LTC  on the panel was plain 

informed military j that he 

would disregard any mental health fense. 

Also, LTC  clea indicated that future 

dangerousness was his ry cons ration in rmining 

whether death or li without parole was the appropriate 

sentence for lant. 

TC: Sir, what would be important to you 
making the sion of whether a person 
should receive the punishment of li in 
prison thout the possibility of parole or 
the death penal ? 

LTC G: I th k it - the f rence may 
danger to society, whet this person is 
still a danger even though he may be in 
prison. He may society may not feel 

there was just punis Maybe 
society believes that he should have the 
death penalty for whatever reason, but maybe 
life without parole is a lesser sentence. 

(R. at 942.) 

Lieutenant Colonel  testified that he was aware of 

a "scuffle" that occurred involving appellant. (R. at 947.) 

This "scuffle" was an incident that occurred on 30 March 2005 

where llant allegedly assault and injured a military 

police officer th scissors. (R. at App. Ex. 179.) De e 

counsel moved the court to rule that the evidence of the alleged 
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assault was uncharged misconduct, and thus inadmissible. Id. 

The military judge granted the motion, finding that t 

probative value the dence was substantially outweighed by the 

danger of unfair prejudice. (R. at 2685.) Yet, having made 

that determination, no one at trial connected the dots between 

that ir prejudice, LTC  views regarding future 

dangerousness, and LTC  knowledge appellant may 

stabbed a military police officer with scissors. Most 

members of the public would question the utility of grant the 

motion in limine and ng a I member who already know 

about the alleged stabbing. 

eutenant Colonel  also testif that his older 

sister had a serious mental illness: 

TC: Now, sir, regarding the area of 
ps atry, I think you indicated 
someone in your family has been diagnosed 

with a disorder? 


LTC G: Yes. 


TC: Sir, could you tell us what that 

diagnosis was? 


LTC G: Yes. I have an older sister - my 

older sister,  she's 49 now. 

About 15 years - well, when she was 13, 

she had a brain tumor. . The doctors call 


Organic Brain Disease, and she'll get 
progress ly worse. She doesn't - she has 
problems doing sometimes simple things, 
focus on things. She sn't - has 
good days and bad days. 's up and down. 
She lives by rself now. She doesn't live 

a home, but people have to watch her so 
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she doesn't do things Ii leave the stove 
on and start a fire; stuff like that. 

TC: Has this illness caus her to run a I 
of the law any way and unable to con 
her conduct? 

LTC G: Not really. She has a strong 
consc knows r and wrong. 
had a - she's taken on religious faith. 
tried to go to college classes to improve 
herself. 

(R. at 936.) 

The fact that LTC  had close, family experience 

with mental health issues should led the milit judge to 

inquire what speciali knowledge LTC  had garnered 

because of his sister's condition, and if he could that 

knowl out of his mind and look y at the the 

case. Regarding 0 ic brain disease, LTC  lieved 

that r strong and religious faith kept s sister 

out trouble. To members of the public watching s trial, 

LTC  response would suggest that LTC 

not consider a mental sease or de as either an excuse or 

as ion for c I conduct. Lieutenant Colonel 

 sister had organic brain disease, but her st 

cons ence, religious th, and knowl of right from wrong 

kept out of trouble. Thus, the public could likely r 

that LTC  would at the very least be highly skeptical of 

any im that appellant was not criminally responsible (in 
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whole or in rt) cause he suffered from serious mental lth 

issues, nor that llant's mental health would in any way 

mitigate s ss e sentence. The military judge committ 

plain error allowing LTC  to sit. 

Command Sergeant Major (CSM)  

Command Major  completely misunderst t 

basic s of beyond reasonable doubt and sentencing t 

follow two s: 

TC: How do you feel about life in prison 
the possibility of parole as a 

an intentional, deliberate, and 
murder? 

CSM H: As opposed to the death penalty, li 
parole, sir, is - it's warrant if 

all of the facts aren't there if 
like what was mentioned yesterday, you've 

pieces of the puzzle and there's some 
eces missing. You know, if you can't 
ace all of the pieces together, then I 

would look at life without parole but you 
can still see the picture. 

(R. at 1066.) 

TC: Major, have you ever had 
discuss the death penalty with 

rs of your family, or friends, or other 
sol rs? 

CSM H: My wife and I have discussed it, sir. 

TC: how did that discussion go? 

CSM H: My wife is opposed to it, and I told 
it in certain circumstances. If 

all s are proven, then, yes, that 
warrant; if the facts are not proven 
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totally, then it wouldn't warrant the death 
penalty, sir. 

(R. at 1067.) 

Thus, CSM  believed that life without parole is 

appropriate when you don't have "all of the pieces" on the 

merits, and death is appropriate when the case is proven beyond 

a reasonable doubt - and not missing any "pieces". Command 

Sergeant Major  did not understand the "beyond reasonable 

doubt" standard. His misunderstanding went unchallenged by the 

military judge. Command Sergeant Major  view of the 

standard could have done nothing but colored his view of the 

evidence during the entire case. While his membership on the 

panel may pass muster in most courts-martial, a capital case 

requires a higher standard of diligence and scrutiny, and the 

military judge had to further question CSM  Thus, it 

was plain error to allow him to sit as a member. 

Multiple Panel Members Were Aware of the Uncharge~ Misconduct 
the Military Judge Ordered Not to be Placed Before the Members 

Several of the panel members were aware that appellant had 

allegedly stabbed a military police officer. Colonel  had 

heard of a "scuffle with an MP." (R. at 868.) Colonel  

knew that an assault had occurred with a pair of scissors. (R. 

at 879.) Lieutenant Colonel  heard of an "altercation." 

(R. at 892.) Lieutenant Colonel  read about a "scuffle." 

(R. at 917.) Lieutenant Colonel  heard "there was a 
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scuffle, some r things." (R. at 947.) Command Sergeant 

Major  ard that there was an inc while appellant 

was being moved "point A to po B" and that "one of 

guards was s in the neck." (R. at 1042.) Command 

Sergeant Major  wife told him "some type of fight 

between Se Akbar and some guards." (Id.) Command 

Sergeant Major  heard that appellant "had overtook one of 

the guards and ured himself and one of guards." (R. at 

1073.) Likewise, Master Sergeant  appellant 

"overpowered a " (R. at 1117.) ly, Sergeant First 

Class  on the radio about "an altercation between 

Sergeant Akbar the MPs. I turned it off, but I heard most 

of it." (R. at 1157.) 

Ten out of fifteen panel members, whether because of 

pretrial publi , "legal briefs," or sip, were informed 

about the ve same uncharged misconduct the military judge had 

ruled inadmiss as unfairly prej al to appellant. After 

making such a ing, it was plain error to seat panel members 

with knowl of that uncharged misconduct. It rendered 

defense couns 's motion in limine ineffectual, and allowed the 

government to have a panel pre-packaged with knowledge of the 

stabbing. Ten rs on the panel were thus ly, or at 

least impl sed on sentencing. Because they were 

informed appel was capable of future ss, the 
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military judge should have conducted more extensive voir dire to 

ascertain the exact nature and extent of each panel member's 

knowledge of the alleged stabbing. Because he did not, the 

military judge should have sua sponte removed those panel 

members so that appellant could have a fair panel. 

Multiple Panel Members Exhibited Personal Reactions to News of 
Appellant's Alleged Acts 

There were several panel members who used intensely 

emotional terms to describe the effect of appellant's alleged 

crime had on them. Upon hearing that a Soldier was involved, 

COL  stated he felt "Shock or disbelief. I could hardly 

conceive of that." (R. at 881.) Lieutenant Colonel  

indicated, "Honestly, I was hurt, and really disappointed, and a 

little embarrassed." (R. at 906.) Lieutenant Colonel  

said that she "was pretty shocked that someone could do that to 

their fellow soldiers." (R. at 966.) Major  found the 

news "depressing." (R. at 993.) Command Sergeant Major  

expressed "shock and disbelief" at the news, which was "a deep 

stab; primarily when it was announced that it was a Sergeant. 

My being a Command Sergeant Major, that took quite a deep stab 

there." (R. at 1031.) 

Members on a death penalty panel cannot have these deeply 

emotional reactions. They have clearly internalized the impact. 

Thus, the public would view them "shocked," "embarrassed," 
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"disappointed," and "stabbed" by what they believe to be 

appellant's crimes, and unable to fairly and dispassionately sit 

in judgment of the attacker. No one viewing the panel would 

believe it to be one removed of bias or personal connection to 

the attack. The military judge did nothing to address this 

inherent bias. 65 The only defense challenge, MAJ  was 

removed for implied bias because he had seen the events in 

United States v. Kreutzer. (R. at 1174.) This was explicitly 

because of his ties to that case. (R. at 1175.) The sitting 

members has similar ties. Thus, these members should have been 

removed by the military judge, and it was plain error not to do 

so. 

With a panel so compromised, appellant could not get a fair 

trial. Even if some of the individual errors do not by 

themselves rise to the magnitude of plain error, the sum total 

of issues of actual and implied bias for these panel members, 

and in accordance with the heightened standard in a capital 

case, the military judge erred in seating this panel. An 

appellant facing a death sentence must have a panel as free of 

bias and from personal knowledge and opinion about the alleged 

acts of appellant. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should remand this case for a new trial. 

See also AE VI, discussing the closely knit XVIII Airborne 
Army community. 
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Part Six: Sentence Appropriateness 

Assignment of Error X. 

UNDER THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS 
CASE THE APPROVED SENTENCE, WHICH INCLUDES A 
SENTENCE TO DEATH, IS INAPPROPRIATELY 
SEVERE. 

Death is y an unusually severe 
punishment, unusual in its pa ,in its 
finality, in its enormity. No other 
existing punishment is compa e to death 
in terms of physical and mental suf ing. 

Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, at 287 (Brennan, J., 

concurring) 

Death is the ult punishment. It ffers, 

quantitatively and qualitatively, from any punishment 

a court-martial can udge. Once carried out, it is absolutely 

An individual who is wrongly execut has no recourse. 

Wrongful or unjust sentences to imprisonment can be somewhat, 

although not entirely, ameliorated through monetary awards or 

rnmental expressions of regret. See/, e. g. /' CAL. PENAL CODE §§ 

4900 et seq. (2001). In contrast, it is ssible to even 

n to meaningfully compensate an i 1 who has been 

wrongly executed. 

Over the last 40 years, the United States has struggled 

with the issue of when capital punishment can justly be 

In Furman v. Georgia, 408 u.S. 238, 240 (1972), the 

Court held that death penalty, as it was then imposed 
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the United States - violated the Eighth Amendment in that it 

constituted "Cruel and Unusual Punishment". The Court did not 

hold that capital punishment was per se cruel, or that it was in 

all circumstances unconstitutional. Rather, the Court ruled 

that the arbitrary and haphazard manner in which death sentences 

were adjudged and carried out violated Constitutional norms. In 

sum, capital punishment is unconstitutional when it is "wantonly 

and freakishly imposed", 408 U.S. at 310 (Stewart, J., 

concurring) . 

Critical to the Supreme Court's analysis in Furman was its 

acknowledgment that the death penalty should be imposed 

sparingly as well as fairly. As Justice Brennan pointed out, 

"what was once a common punishment has become, in the context of 

a continuing moral debate, increasingly rare." According to 

Justice Brennan, the "calculated killing of a human being by the 

State involves, by its very nature, a denial of the executed 

person's humanity". Furman, 408 U.S. at 299, 290 (Brennan, J., 

concurring) . 

In response to Furman, the various state governments began 

to erect statutory capital punishment schemes that attempted to 

eliminate the arbitrariness that the Supreme Court had found to 

be constitutionally prohibited. These sentencing schemes sought 

to direct and limit capital punishment in such a way that its 

imposition would not be arbitrary. The schemes were designed to 
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comply with the Court's requirement that they "genuinely narrow 

the ss persons eligible for the death pena y and must 

reasonably justify the imposition of a more severe sentence on 

the defendant compared to others found guilty of murder." Zant 

v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 877 (1983). "[W]here discretion is 

forded a sentencing body on a matter so grave as the 

determination of whether a human life should be taken or spared, 

that discretion must suitably rected and limited so as to 

nimize the sk of wholly arbitrary and capricious action." 

Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 159 (opinion of Stewart, Powell, 

and Stevens, JJ.). 

In a series of decisions, the Supreme Court he that 

capital punishment sentencing schemes, in general, narrowed the 

class of persons el le for the death penalty by setting forth 

a listing of objective "aggravating circumstances," and 

permitted a defendant to introduce a wide ranging array of 

mitigating factors, were constitutionally permissible because 

they accomplished the scri narrowing of persons for whom 

the death penalty was appropriate punishment. See Lowenfield v. 

Phelps, 484 u.s. 231, 246 (1988). The tern prescribed in 

R.C.M. 1004 of the Manual for Courts-Martial, which is an 

example of a "balancing scheme," was found to 

constitutionally adequate at least with regard to its 
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promulgation by the President by the Supreme Court Unit 

States v. Loving, 517 U.S. 748, 756 (1996) .66 

Article 66(c) of the UCMJ mandates that this Court conduct 

an independent review of the sentence every case referred to 

it. As the statute instructs, this Court "may affirm only such 

findings of guilty and the sentence or such part of amount of 

the sentence, as it finds correct in law and fact and 

determines, on the basis the entire record, should be 

approved". 10 U.S.C. § 866(c} (1988) (emphasis added). 

According to CAAF, requirement to review cases r sentence 

appropriateness is vested in the service courts. See, e.g., 

United States v. Lacy, 50 M.J. 286 (1989). 

In this case, the record is woefully inadequate for this 

Court to meaning ly discharge s duty of sentence review. 

This Court has a statutory duty to disapprove any sentence, 

which, in ew of the ent reco , is not fair and just. 

U.C.M.J., art. 66(c); 10 U.S.C. § 866(c) (1996). The 

appropriateness of a sentence should be judged by 

"'individualized consideration' of the particular accused 'on 

the basis of the nature and seriousness of the offense and the 

character of the 0 r.'" Uni States v. Snell g, 14 M.J. 

267 (quoting Unit States v. Mamaluy, 27 C.M.R. 176, 180-81 

(1959)). Indeed, sentence appropriateness involves the judi 1 

66 See also, AE III: B. 
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function of assur that justice is done that the accused 

gets the punishment he deserves. United States v. Healy, 26 

M.J. 394 (C.M.A. 1988). 

A Soldier "should not rece a more severe sentence than 

otherwise generally warranted by the offense, the 

circumstances surrounding the of set his acceptance or lack of 

acceptance of responsibility for his of , and s prior 

record." United States v. Aurich, 31 M.J. 95, 97 n. (C.M.A. 

1990). Accordingly, the punishment should" the of rand 

not merely t " Unit States v. Wright, 20 M.J. 518, 

519 (A.C.M.R. 198:»; see also United States v. Mack, 9 M.J. 300, 

317 (C.M.A. 1980); Williams v. New York, 337 U.S. 241, 247 

(1949) . Intent, or lack reof, is a significant or in 

assessing circumstances surrounding the offense. 

Even if the application of aggravating factors alleged in 

this case sses const ional muster, appellant asserts 

the approved sentence his case is inappropriately severe. 

G n the host of mental il ss issues involved, this is not a 

case in which the death sentence is appropriate. 

For the last rty years, t Supreme Court has edly 

sized that death sentences should reserved only for the 

most aggravated of s and the offenders who present no 

miti ion, or t least mit ing of rcumstances. tt v. 

67 See generallYr AE III. 
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Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978); Perry v. Lynaugh, 4 U.S. 302 

(1989) . See also Woodson v. North Carol , 428 U.S. 280 

(1976) . 

constitutional mandate that the h 

rese t y aggravated offenses, appellant's case does 

not i for a capital sentence. This is a case in which the 

lant, a junior noncommissioned of cer with no previous 

record 1 conduct but a signi cant s of mental 

illness emotional instability (See DAE LL; DA 413-517)68 

acted out of confusion under the extreme ps c stress of his 

circumstances. Id. 

Though severe punishment lS warranted by t the 

death lty is not. Under R.C.M. 1004, the 

be only when one or more of the ravat factors set 

forth the Rules for Courts-Martial are beyond a 

re le doubt, and determined by the court-martial 1 to 

"substantially outweigh" any mitigating circumstances. R.C.M. 

1004 (a) (4) (C) . 

In s case, although not presented to the court-martial 

because of counsel error,69 there are a of mitigating 

circumstances to balance against the factor. Some 

of the ti ing circumstances were the record, to 

68 See a 1 so, AE IV, V, VII, and VIII. 
69 1See a so, AE I: E. 

be 

may 
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based on c warning si evident to chain of 

command, the failure of the unit to take appropriate steps to 

SGT Akbar from acting or to prevent him from deploying; 

SGT 	 Akbar's history of violent ideations, which was ignored by 

unit; and his rent emotional sturbance at time of 

offenses, as testi ed to by witnesses. 

However, as iled in the Mitigation Report, Dr. Cooley's 

, and Dr. Woods' affidavit, llant suffers from mental 

illness. In Dr. Woods' view, rein by Dr. Coo 's review 

of documents, appellant suffers schizophrenia, has so 

suffe for some t , long before the crimes for which he was 

cted and sentenced to death. Furthermore, t agnosis, 

and a myriad of r mitigation , was not sented to 

the nel that s appellant. Furthermore, Dr. Woods' 

sis impacts not only the appellant's sentence, but raises 

t ssibility that appellant was not mentally re sible at 

time of the of es. 

A sentence of is inappropriate where se 

questions remain mental re ibility of t 

condemned. Furthermore, a death sentence is inappropriate in 

llant's case because he has never afforded 

opportunity to present a meaningful case in mitigation. 

Under Article 66(c), this court s the independent power 

and duty to conduct same balancing of aggravating rs 

396 




and mitigating circumstances that the court-mart 1 panel d. 

Unless t s Court is satis ed that the death sentence is 

"correct in law and fact", this Court cannot not approve the 

sentence. Especially when confined to the inadequate evidence 

of record pres at trial, the balance is clear: this 

of e, and this appellant, do not deserve a death sentence. 

WHEREFORE, llant respectfully requests that the Court 

set aside findings and sentence. 
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Ass of Error XI. 

APPLICATION OF UNITED STATES V. CURTIS, 32 
M.J. 252 (C.M.R. 1991) AND ITS PROGENY TO 
APPELLANT'S CASE MANDATES THAT HIS DEATH 
SENTENCE BE SET ASIDE AS DISPROPORTIONATE TO 
THE SENTENCE IMPOSED IN UNITED STATES V. 
KREUTZER. 

Pursuant to United States v. Curtis, 33 M.J. 252(C.M.A. 

1991), R.C.M. 1004 P s sufficient sa rds to an accus 

at a ital court-martial inst unbridled sentencing, and the 

prohibitions against cruel and unusual puni established in 

the Amendment to United States Const ion and 

Arti e 55, UCMJ are not trammeled. 33 M.J. at 108-109. 

However, recogniz that the military just system is 

not from the ove ing constitutional requirement that 

the death penalty not be executed arbitrarily, the Curtis court 

announced that military llate courts must exercising 

their Article 66(c) ty make the foIl ng 

dete nations prior to af rming an adjudged death sentence: 

(I) One or more valid aggravating factor has been 
unanimously found by the court-martial and that this 
finding is factually and legally suf 

(2) That any correct action taken the military 
appellate court ts in setting aside a factually 
and/or legally insuf ent aggravati factor while 
Ie ng intact at tone aggravat r ­

ther 	the error ring corrective affected 
sition of the sentence; 

(3) The death sentence adjudged is proportionate to 
other death sentences that have been imposed; and, 
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(4) Under all of the facts and circumstances of the 
case, the th sentence is ate. 

Curtis, 32 M.J. 252, 271 (C.M.A. 1991). 

The Court of Military Appeal's guidance for 

undertaking site Article 66, UCMJ proportionality 

review was that such review "need not be limited to death 

sentences from [the] accused's own se ce or even to death 

sentences impos by courts-martial." 32 M.J. at 270. 

Additional respecting the parameters of the Article 66 

proportionality was announced in United States v. Curtis, 

33 M.J. 101 (C.M.A. 1991) (Curtis II), and subsequently in 

United States v. ng, 41 M.J. 213 (C.A.A.F 1994), and Unit 

States v. Curtis, 44 M.J. 106 (C.A.A.F. 1996) (Curtis III). 

Pursuant to Curtis II, the Court of Military Review should: 

dete whether the sentence 
is approp ate for the crimes which 
the accus stands convict whether 
the sentence is generally ional to 
those ed by other 
similar situations. 

33 	M.J. at 109 sis in original) 

In Loving, a proportionality review based on a computer 

search of all cases ewed by the Court since FUrman 

as \\was upheld be rally proport I to those imposed by 

other jurisdictions in similar situat " Loving, 41 M.J. 

213, 290, citing Curtis II, 34 M.J. at 969. The Curtis III 

court re-affirmed t proportionality r ew approved in Loving. 
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44 M.J. at 166, citing Loving, 41 M.J. at 290-91. In so doing, 

the Curtis III court referenced its earlier declination to 

decide whether an appellant's case had to be compared with a 

data base what the appropriate methods and means of 

comparison were, and it expressly decl to require a 

comparison of: 

(1) all cases in which a fendant 
committed an 0 se which wou potentially 

referred ali 
(2) cases discretion at some point in 

proceeding removed death as a possible 
sentence; 

(3) cases a finding of an offense 
less premeditated murder or 
felony murder was reached; and, 

(4) all cases in a life sentence 
instead of a h sentence was adjudged. 

Curtis, 44 M.J. at 166. The Court, in Curtis I, quoted Zant v. 

Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 879, 103 S. Ct. 2733, 2744, 77 L. 2d 

235 (1983) for the proposition that a penalty adjudged by 

a court-mart 1 must ref "an indi lized determination on 

the basis of the character of the individual and the 

circumstances of the ." Curtis I, 32 M.J. at 256, ing 

Zant v. St , 462 U.S. 862, 879, (1983). 

Appellant's Death Sentence is Disproportionate to the Sentence 
Adjudged in the One Similar Military Capital Case Decided Since 
United States v. FUrman 

In r to do justice to the individualized dete ion 

required in Zant and the prohibition t arbitrary 
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imposition of death sentences expressed in Furman, this court 

should itself look at appellant's character and the fic 

circumstances surrounding s offenses. It can readi , if not 

only do that by comparing llant's case to that of United 

States v. Kreuzter, Army Dkt. No. 20080004. In so ng, this 

Court can only conclude llant's sentence must be set 

aside as disproportionate. 

United States v. Kreutzer 

In 1995, SGT Kreutzer, a Caucasian man, was convi of 

one specification of premeditated murder, ghteen 

specificat of attempt premeditat murder, as well as one 

specificat of larceny of government munitions and one 

specification of violating a lawful general regulation. 

Sergeant Kreutzer planned to kill members of his brigade as that 

brigade ass the status as the "division ready bri " 

Sergeant Kreutzer establis a fighting it ion in a woodline 

adjoining t eld where his brigade would be in formation. 

When the t was in formation, SGT Kreutzer opened fire, 

lling one officer and wounding 19 other Soldiers. Upon being 

apprehended, SGT Kreuzter struggled, shot an 0 cer in the 

foot, and t asked that too be kill While SGT Kreuzter 

had an enduri scination th weapons death, his 

background, as reflected during his trial, also suggested a 

mental illness or defect prompted him to commit the of es 
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which he was convicted, although, because s counsel were 

ineffective, y failed to present that evidence. 

United States v. Akbar 

Sergeant Akbar's alleged of ses are detail above, but 

the s larity of his actions SGT Kreutzer's are st king. 

Both Soldiers attacked their units, and both exhibited odd 

behavior and made odd statements ior to their acts. Also, in 

both Kreutzer and appellant's case, although each exhib ed 

characteristics of mental illness, neither could adequately 

present that in rmation to the panel because of their counsel's 

inexperience in capital lit ion and inabil y to present an 

adequate mitigat case. It was hinted at in both cases, but 

not fully developed due to the ineffective assistance of 

counsel. 

Even suspending for the moment the fact that SGT Kreutzer's 

death sentence was set aside because his opportunity putting 

igation dence on at trial was thwart (no doubt an 

appropriate separate basis for setting aside lant's death 

sentence), a comparison between appellant's case and SGT 

Kreuzter's indicates appellant's culpability was markedly 

simi r to SGT Kreutzer's. Coupled with appellant's own 

1 lity to put on mitigat evidence at his sentenc 

hearing, as was also true in SGT Kreutzer's case, is court 

must set asi appel 's death sentence. 
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The Death Sentence is Inappropriate in Appellant's Case 

ication of Curtis' fourth factor mandates that this 

court set as appellant's death sentence as inappropriate. 

The fourth Curtis factor that " r all of the sand 

circumstances of the case, the death sentence is appropriate" ­

cifically embodies this Court's duty under Article 66(c), 

UCMJ to "affirm only such findings of guilty and the sentence of 

such part or amount of the sentence, as it f correct law 

and fact and determines, on the basis the entire record, 

should approved." UCMJ Art. 66 (emphasis added). 

In reviewing the record of trial and considering 

numerous assignments of error in this case, this court cannot 

with confidence affirm appellant's death sentence. The 

following errors during llant's court-martial, to name just 

a few, ace into question the propriety of appellant's death 

sentence: 

(1) Appellant's trial defense counsel had 
unresolved conflicts of interest, which 
negatively acted t ir ability to 
represent him. 

(2) Appellant's ineffect assistance of 
counsel throughout appellant's court­
martial, capped by a thirty-eight minute 
sentencing case. 

(3) Appellant's significant mental health 
issues at the time he committed the offenses 
for which he was convicted, at the time 
his court-martial, and now. 
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(4) The military judge's erroneous and 
prej al re 1 to ruct the panel 
about how to properly balance the 
aggravating and mitigating factors (i.e., 

aggravating factors must outweigh t 
mitigating factors yond a reasonable 
doubt), as reque by t defense 
counsel. 

Finally, the of trial simply s not provide a 

sufficient basis r this court to conduct a meaningful Article 

66 w of llant's case. Indeed, t absence of critical 

ckground tails about appellant's mental health issues as 

mitigating factors to be considered by the 1 in its 

sentencing liberations - runs counter to necessity of a 

sentencing authority to give independent mitigating weight to 

aspects of the fendant's character and reco and to 

circumstances of his offense. result is an unacceptable 

"risk t the penalty will be imposed in te of ors 

whi may call for a less severe lty." Matthews, ting 

Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 605, 98, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 2965, 57 

L.Ed.2d 973 (1978) (plurality opinion). See also United States 

v. Aurich, 31 M.J. 95, 97 (C.M.A. 1990). Based on t s, there 

is no way this Court can ensure appellant's death sentence fits 

both and the offenses r which has been convicted. 

WHEREFORE, appellant respectfully requests that the Court 

set asi findings and sentence. 
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Part Seven: Post Trial Errors 

Assignment of Error XII. 

BECAUSE SGT AKBAR'S TRIAL DEFENSE COUNSEL 
FAILED TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE APPELLANT'S 
CASE, THIS COURT SHOULD ORDER THE GOVERNMENT 
TO FUND THE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED FORENSIC 
PSYCHIATRIST AND PSYCHOLOGIST, DR. RICHARD 
DUDLEY AND DR. JANICE STEVENSON, OR PROVIDE 
AN ADEQUATE SUBSTITUTE. 

Introduction 

"We are not helpless, however, to render justice when due. 

One continuous theme is found throughout death Ity cases 

handed down by the Supreme Court over the last 30 years. That 

theme is reliability of result." United States v. Murphy, 50 

M.J. 4, 14 (C.A.A.F. 1998). 

"We will ensure that fundamental notions of due ss, 

full and fair hearings, competent counsel, and above all, a 

"reliable result," are part of e qu a t ion. In final 

analysis, we have heretofore examined . the record of trial 

in capital cases to satis ourselves that the mil ary member 

has received a fair tal." Murphy, 50 M.J. at 15 (emphasis 

added) . 

Standard of Review 

The standard of review this case for ning whether 

appel should receive rt assistance on appeal is de novo. 

R.C.M. 703 (d). 
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The test for showing the necessity of expert assistance is 

"[F]irst, why expert assistance is needed. Second, what 

would the expert assistance accomplish for accus Third, 

why is the de e counsel unable to gather and present the 

evidence that the expert assistant would be ab to develop.n 

United States v. Gonzalez, 39 M.J. 459, 461 (C.M.A. 1994). 

1 . 	 assistance is needed. 

Appellant has been prevented on appeal, spite the stated 

need: (1) from providing experts reque by the Army Court's 

ed miti ion expert Lori James-Townes; (2) from 

identifying deficiencies in the mental health examination 

process at trial; (3) from reviewing and underst the 

ychological significance of mit ion evidence never 

presented to any mental health expert at trial; (4) from 

understanding how the relevant mitigat evidence could have 

used on merits and sentencing at trial; (5) from ssing 

appel 's compe at the time of t offense, at trial, and 

during appeal. 

Appellate defense counsel could not fully prepare several 

extremely signif assignments of error because of an absence 

of a thorough and professionally conducted mental health 

investi tion and evaluation. fically, appellate fense 

counsel could not fully re a Mot for New Trial or f ly 
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re assignments of error dealing with appellant's mental 

health, specif 11y llant's current abil y to assist 

his own appeal, and past competency either at trial or at the 

t of offense, or those aling with ineffective 

assistance of counsel on me s and sentencing. 

Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel at 

trial. 70 There were severe def iencies in the mental health 

examination of appellant before tr 1. (App. Ex. 140; DAE B, C, 

0, G, I, R, Z, AA, GG; DA 1-27, 92-94, 224-36, 331-41, 413-517.) 

Additionally, Dr. Woods' could not complete his diagnosis 

because mitigation and background dence was never presented 

to him be or during trial. At trial, Dr. Woods 

testified that he was unable to e r rule or out 

Pa d S zophrenia or Schizo-Affect Diso as agnoses 

because required more information, testing, and treatment. 

(R. at 2291 2330.)71 Doctor Woods also test if that he was 

"struggling" to put "an Axis I name on Axis I symptoms". (R. at 

2349. ) Doctor Woods was thus unable to diagnose Schizophrenia 

because of a lack of adequate information is extremely 

concerning. The inadequate mitigation case resulted from a 

70 See AE I: A-G. 

71 While Dr. Woods say he had "everything I needed," this 

statement was focused only to having "everything" that Dr. Woods 

needed from the cted Sanity Board rt and there did 

not require the un-redacted version of the Sanity Board Report, 

not "everything" he needed to accurately diagnose llant. 

(R. at 2319.) 
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dysfunctional de se team and defense counsel who failed to 

properly coordinate and supervise that team's efforts. (App. 

Ex . 140 ; DAE B, C, D, G, I , R, Y, Z, AA, GG; DA 1 27, 92- 9 4 , 

224-36, 331-41, 413 517; See also AE I: B.) 

Additionally, Dr. Clement, a civilian who at time was 

the Chief of Neuropsychology at Brooke Army Medical Center 

reported that "[ psychiatric diagnosis of S zophren 

possibly paranoid t , or secondarily Paranoid Disorder should 

be consi red (DA 98)," and, "[I]f t re is additional cal 

or storical data to support a diagnosis of Schizophrenia, that 

diagnosis would s rsede a diagnosis of Dysthymic sorder." 

(DAE M; DA 49.) Dr. Clement corroborated Dr. Woods' concern 

that Schizophrenia was indicated and urged more test and 

assembling of histo cal data. Id. Lori James-Townes, who has 

much experience in death penalty 1 igation and is this Court's 

appointed mitigation expert, has also outl d the necessity r 

a forensic psychologist and a forensic psychiat st. (DAE J; DA 

2832.) 

Finally, the that Dr. Woods and the rest of the 

defense team were effect ly ignored by trial fense counsel 

during much of the pre-t al process is corroborated by what was 

and was not presented at trial and on sentencing. 72 Doctor Woods 

and mitigation experts were not engaged in effective and 

72 See AE I: B. 
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substantive communication to the extent necessary to allow Dr. 

Woods to make an adequate diagnosis based. (DAE AA; DA 229-36.) 

At trial on the merits, Dr. Woods could identi two serious 

mental health issues as possibly affecting appellant but could 

not definitively diagnose either because of a lack of 

information. (R. at 2291, 2330.) After talking to members of 

the fense miti ion team after t I and learning of the 

quality quantity of the background information ( fically 

family mental health history) not made available to him. Doctor 

Woods now believes that appellant likely has Paranoid 

Schizophrenia and did at the time of the offense and at the time 

of tal. (DAE B, C, AA; DA 1-6, 229-36.) 

During sentencing, trial defense counsel submitted no 

dence and solici no testimony from Dr. Woods, and counsel 

neither submitted evidence nor soli testimony from any 

member of the Defense Mitigation Team. Instead, counsel 

submitted an unfiltered and unexplained diary. (R. at Def. Ex. 

A; AE I: F.) Defense counsel's also submi a memo from 

Deborah Grey (R. at Def. Ex. C), who had ceased being a member 

of the Defense Mitigation Team roughly ten months earlier. (R. 

at 548.) Ms. 's submission was an unedited unfiltered 

running commentary of appellant's diary prepared for counsel. 

(R. at Def. Ex. C.; AE I: F.) 
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Appellant may have had Parano Schizophrenia or Schizo­

fect Disorder at t time of the of ses, t I, and now. 

Doctor Wood's inability to rna either diagnosis at trial was 

because nse counsel iled to exchange within defense 

team, formation as well as trial defense counsel's refusal to 

request further testing of llant. (R. at App. Ex. 140; DAE 

B, G, I, R, GG; DA 1-6, 22-27, 92-93, 331-41.) Bas on 

quality and quantity of the new information, Dr. Woods now 

believes llant had Paranoid Schizophrenia at the time of the 

offense and at the time of trial. (DAE C, AA; DA 5-6, 229-36.) 

Doctor Cooley concurs with this diagnosis. (DAE Z; DA 224-228.) 

With this large volume of evidence, appellant has 

established that expert assistance is necessary. The necessary 

and complete psychological and psychiatric testing that was not 

done be re trial still has not done. The psychologi 

analysis on boxes of unseen background mate al that was not 

done before trial still has not been complet The low-up 

background investigation that was not done before trial has been 

completed, and Ms. James-Townes has stat the ne for 

additional experts and recognized serious defici s in 

both the quality and quantity of social story rmation that 

Dr. Woods had to rely on at tal. (DAE LL; DA 415.) 

More importantly, Ms. James-Townes has indicat that 

miti ion report has hindered and is unable to be 
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completed because of appellant's current mental health 

condition. at DA 447. The testing and background mater Is 

would establish the basis for a proper diagnosis for appellant 

and assist appellant and this Court in determining what the 

impact of such diagnosis (as well as its presentation via expert 

testimony) may have had on either the merits or the sent ng 

case at trial. Without this testing and expert assistance, 

appellant and this Court can only surmise what the diagnosis 

ght have been. When appellant faces death he is entitled to 

the resources necessary to develop the record with expert 

analysis and opinion. He should not have to guess and be forced 

to offer speculation in support of his appeal. 

In short, this Court cannot rely on the result of this 

trial because appellant never received the necessary mental 

health analysis, bas upon an adequate social history 

investigation. 73 

2. What Expert Assistance Would Accomplish. 

A forensic psychiatrist and psychologist would assess 

appellant's psychological and mental health, as well as his 

brain's structure and chemistry. Doctor Woods consulted with 

73 Doctor June Cooley is assisting appellant pro bono. She has 
not had the time or funding to conduct the necessary 
psychological or physical testing of appellant. Doctor Cooley's 
assistance to appellant is neither a substitute for, nor wa 
of, the need for the requested mental health experts in this 
case. 
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47-63. ) 

Dr. ement trial and together they concluded there 

was some issue with the neuroimaging done on appellant and that 

further testing and analysis was required. (DAE C; DA 5 - 6. ) 

That st r more testing was ignored by tr I e 

counsel. Additional testing would reveal whether re is 

structural damage to appellant's brain. It is unli ly that 

brain structure would have significantly changed ( r than to 

poss y worsen) since the time of the offenses. 74 

Doctor Woods, Dr. Clement, and Dr. Cooley all lieve that 

testing is required. (DAE B, C, D, M, Z, AA; DA 1 14, 

47-63, 224 36.) Both also believe further background 

ion and investigation by mitigation s is to 

at r mental health diagnosis for Ilant. 75 

74 That re is a structural component to Schi 
mental lth disorders is supported generally by t agnostic 
and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 
(2000) reinafter DSM-IV-TR). DSM-IV-TR at 
literature on the physiological differences in t 
structure of peop with Schizophrenia versus pe 

IV-Text 
305 (des ng 

in 
thout 

Schiz enia). It is supported more specifi ly by a 
more recent artic from Oxford University Press not 
"extens literature, presented in reviews and meta-anal es, 

schiz 
i 

s consistent morphometric differences tients 
a and healthy people." (DAE W, I E. Gur, 

S. Keshavan, and Stephen M. Lawrie, Deconstructing 
s Human Brain Imaging, in Schizophrenia Bulletin, 

Vol. 33, No.4, 921-931, 922 (2007); DA 198-209). 
75 Doctor C stated, "[I]f there is additional clinical or 
historical data to support a diagnosis of Schiz a, that 

rsede a diagnosis of Dysthmic so "and 
agnosis of Schizophrenia, poss y Paranoid 

ly Paranoid Disorder should considered." 

412 




Id. requested experts would conduct t relevant and 

necessary testing. The new mitigat and extenuation evidence 

uncove by appellant's current mitigation alist would 

also assist the sted rts in making a thorough and 

cient mental health assessment and diagnosis. 

Mental health rts would also assist appellant in two 

other key areas: (1) assessing and addressing the magnitude 

harm cau by trial e counsel's deficient performance in 

conducting the sentencing case; and (2) assessing the for 

an additional R.C.M. 706 S ty Board in this case. While a 

Sanity Board may eventually become necessary, it will not by 

itself solve or remove appellant's need r mental th 

rts, including critically the need to consult confidentially 

with s in the eld. Appellant is still allowed to 

challenge the results of any Sanity Boa , if necessary, and 

should be allowed to do so armed with more than his attorne 

who are only laymen in this ld. 

llate defense counsel are not trained or qualif d in 

psychological or psychiatric testing or analysis. llate 

defense counsel require the speci expertise of the reques 

experts to identi what test should been done, what was 

ssing, and what should have been presented to panel had 
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t appropriate mental stigation been complet The 

s are also required to testing, including the 

testing recommended by Dr. Woods during the course of the trial. 

larations of the mental health professionals and 

ion specialists invo d in the case show that not only 

was t re a tremendous volume of igation information act ly 

i by the trial defense counsel, but that actual test 

was ther not done, or if , was neither properly analy 

nor sented to the panel. 

lant's counsel can certainly identify the vast 

ority of the possible fic rformance of trial fense 

counsel, but appellant's counsel are not qualified to i ify 

or diagnose appellant or to testing to adduce what 

llant's true mental health state is now or as existed at 

ther trial or the time of the of 76 Without it, appel 

11 be left making suppositions inst of being able to 

ent factual information t testing and expert analysis 

of lant's actual mental health status now, at the time of 

tr , and at the time of the offense. This Court will be left, 

76 llate counsel and Lori James-Townes have observed numerous 
t ing behaviors of appellant serious mental 
illness but counsel is not quali termine the exact 
seve y or type of mental il lant suffers from 
currently or at the time of the e or trial and Ms. James 
Townes, while qua~ified to make diagnoses, is still not 

to order or assess the tional testing and analysis 
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much as the 1 was, to y on inadequate mental Ith 

examinations based on inadequate social history information. 

Even if this Court orders a S y Board, appellate counsel 

cannot credibly and competently explore or confirm diagnosis 

of the Sanity Board ent years of advanced training and 

hout expert assistance lieu of that training. llate 

counsel cannot completely assess how appellant's agnosis would 

change given all of the new miti tion information without 

expert assistance. Appel counsel certainly cannot, without 

expert assistance, assess whether llant is currently legally 

insane and there ineligible for the death penalty. See Ford 

v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399 (1986). llate counsel cannot 

dete ne if appel was legally insane at time of the 

of se or t without assistance. Expert assistance 

is necessary for, and impacts upon, every facet of this case. 

This Court's prior precedent in capital cases dealing th 

rts also is compelling in establishing the necessity of 

experts this case. In Murphy, s were not specifically 

sed (in 1 part because the request for post-t 1 

experts was granted); however, the CAAF made clear that "we must 

be satisfied that t adversarial process has worked, and that 

lant has had a fair and complete t al. II Uni ted Sta tes v. 

Murphy, 50 M.J. 4, 14 (C.A.A.F. 1998). Murphy the 

emphasis in a death penalty case where it should be, on getting 
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a "fair and complete trial." Id. See also v. Georgia, 

428 u.s. 153 (1976); Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284 

(1973) i Furman v. Georgia, 408 u.s. 238 (1972). The CAAF in 

Loving also recognized different playing field in h 

penalty 1 igation. See Loving v. Uni States, M.J. 235, 

236 (C.A.A.F. 2005) ("'death is dif , is a fundament 

principle of Eighth Amendment law. This Ie 1 maxim re ects 

the uni severity and irrevocable nature of capit 

punishment, in es the 1 process with spec 1 protections 

to insure a ir and reliable ve ct and capital sentence, and 

mandates a plenary and meaningful judic 1 review fore the 

execution of a c izen"). 

In Kreutzer, aga the defense request for post-trial 

experts was grant ,and t that case did not address t 

necessity for experts. United States v. Kreutzer, 61 M.J. 293 

(C.A.A.F. 2005). While the CAAF in Kreutzer did not establish a 

per se rule for tigation experts in capital cases, in noting 

the American Bar Ass ation Gui lines, the CAAF did establish 

that mitigation experts are "core members" of the fense team. 

Id. at 302. Kreutzer also recogni the c 1 role of the 

mitigation expert "to coordinate an investigation of the 

defendant's life story, tify issues requi ng evaluation 

by psychologists, psychiatrists or other medical professionals, 

and assist attorneys in locating experts and providing 
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documenta material for them to review." (quoting Judicial 

Con rence of the U.S., Subcomm. on Federal Death Penalty Cases, 

Comm. on De nder Services Federal Death Penal Cases: 

Recommendations Concerning the Cost and Quali Defense 

tation 24 (1998)) (emphasis added). This s not mean 

that appellant believes that because Murphy and Kreutzer 

1 ed expert assistance on 1 t they are not 

"on po with appellant's case. In y deal with theU 

same exact issues, lack of a competently mitigation 

investi ion and lack of an adequate mental health examination. 

In appellant's case, Ms. Lori James-Townes, this Court's 

appo mitigation expert, has identif t for experts 

to evaluate appellant and has identif two s as having 

particular skill and experience in ss that need. (DAE 

J; DA 28 32.) To ignore her affidavit is to ignore the critical 

role of a mitigation expert recogniz by this Court's superior 

court Kreutzer and it ignores the expert advice of an expert 

the Army Court appointed. 

In sum, because of the heightened cons tions given to 

death lty jurisprudence, appellant's case cannot afford to 

not ly and completely address t mental health status 

of appellant at the time of the of se or time of trial. 
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In response to appellant's or request for mental health 

rts (United States v. Akbar, No. 20050514 (A. Ct. Crim. . , 

29, 2009), this Court reli upon the three part test in 

Unit States. v. Bresnahan, 62 M.J. 137 (C.A.A.F. 2005). 

CAAF in Bresnahan did refer to three-part standard in 

Gonzalez. 39 M.J. 459, 461 (C.M.A. 1994). In that test, 

fense must show: 

(1) why the expert assistance is needed; (2) 
what the expert assistance would accomplish 
for the accused; (3) why the defense counsel 
were unable to gather ent the 
evidence that the assistance would be 
able to develop. 

39 M.J. at 431. 

However, the essence of s ing in Bresnahan was that 

t litary judge did not e his scretion: 

This was a close call. Just as we hold that 
the military judge did not e his 
discretion by denying t, we would 
also conclude that the I ary judge would 
not have abused his discretion had he 
granted the request. Because military 
judge was not clearly erroneous in his 
findings of fact and he did not base his 
decision on an incorrect ew of the law, we 
conclude that he did not abuse his 
discretion in denying t fense's request 

expert assistance. 

M.J. at 143-44. 

llant's case does not involve a of a military 

trial judge's denial of expert assistance but involves an 
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init 1 request for experts on appeal. Appellant init lly 

moved this Court for experts, but this Court informed appellant 

that requesting the convening autho first was the 

appropriate course of action. Appellant did so, and that 

request was, unsurprisingly, ied. (DAE N, 0; DA 64-75.) A 

request for experts that is denied by a convening authority "may 

be renewed before the military judge who shall determine whether 

the testimony of the expert is relevant and necessary, and, if 

so, whether the Government has provided or will provide an 

adequate subst " R.C.M. 703(d). The purpose of requesting 

experts first from convening authority is simply to give the 

convening authority "the opportunity to make available such 

services as an alternative." See Analysis R.C.M. 703(d). 

Thus, appropriate standa of ew e r at trial, 

or by analogy, on appeal is de novo. This is made even more 

ear by the lack of any case law making a military judge's (or 

in is case appellate panel's) decision on experts in any way 

t to decision by a convening authority. 

It is also important to examine the ssent Bresnahan by 

Judge Erdmann (joined by Judge fran). Judge Erdmann points 

out the "defense counsel dilemma," that is "a defendant sts 

assistance from an rt consultant, rather than an expert 

witness, should not ially be required to show 

conclus ly that evidence favorable to his case sts." Id. 
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at 147 148. As in Bresnahan, llant in this case is not 

seeking an expert witness, but merely expert consultants. 

There , appellant should only requi to make a 

"colorable showing" that the issues of competency and 

mitigation/sente ng are present in this case. Id. 

Additionally, "a colorable showing" is the appropriate 

standard because s is a capital case. Although the Gonzalez 

test is the same, appellant should only be required to make a 

colorable showing. 

This Court Grayn in its Op on but it is unclear to 

what purpose. This Court does not cite to s superior court's 

decision in Uni ted States v. [hereinafter I IJ ; 

however, both cases are completely fferent from appellant's 

case both, ually legally. 

(a) 

The putative diagnosis in was organic brain injury. 

Gray II at 14. The putative agnosis in appellant's case is 

imarily be Parano Schizophrenia. (OAE B, C, 0, Z, AAi OA 1­

14, 224 36.) Gray's diagnosis was address at trial and on 

i tial appeal, and there were no experts, government or 

defense, who found that it was a tical factor ef cting 

guilt, nor did it significantly lower his culpability. Gray II 

United States v. Gray, 32 M.J. 730 (A.C.M.R. 1991), t 
appeal t. Den., 34 M.J. 164 (C.M.A. 1991). 
78 Uni States v. Gray, 51 M.J. 1 (C.A.A.F. 1999). 
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at 14. lant's diagnosis was unable to addressed because 

Dr. Woods, defense expert at trial, did not enough 

information or testing to e it in or out. (R. at 2291 and 

2330. ) 

Gray engaged in "battli experts" by enting to CAAF a 

single who neither int ewed appellant, nor reviewed 

expert testimony but merely looked through t le and 

determi that Gray had orga c brain injury "probably 

impaired his capaci ty to distinguish right from wrong and 

conform his conduct to the w.n Gray II at 13. (emphasis 

original. ) 

In llant's case, the original expert at t al was 

unable to ss Paranoid izophrenia, as well as Schizo-

Affect sorder, because of a k of testing 

information. Doctor Woods was not impeaching his own testimony. 

He stat s before trial. (DAE D; DA 7-14.) He requested 

more testing and doubted his agnosis before trial, and during 

trial. (R. at 2291 and 2330.) He stated this after trial. 

(DAE B, C, D; DA 1-14; See also Def. Ex. H ("I would strongly 

recommend a reexamination of Sa ant [sic] Akbar.") This is 

not a case of a confident rt at trial who has a change 

of heart. Doctor Woods, "struggling" to come up with a 

diagnosis, was not a conf witness at trial. Nor is Dr. 

Woods after the and years later, not even 
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interviewed appellant or reviewed trial testimony. s is the 

defense expert at t al who has repeatedly stat his continuing 

concerns with t case. 

(b) rent 

Appellant aims ineffect assistance of counsel based 

upon the fai of counsel to utilize s, similar to 

Wiggins v. Smith, 539 US 510 (2003), and Richey v. Bradshaw, 498 

F. 344, 362 ( h Cir. 2007) ("the mere hiring of an expert is 

meaningless if counsel s not consult with that expert to make 

an rmed decision about whet r a particular fense is 

able."). Neither case had been decided prior to the decision 

in Gray or Gray II. 

In Gray II, CAAF determined that lower court a 

"sufficient sis in the record for cons ring the mental-state 

issues" fore it. II at 21. In appellant's case, 

appellant has established that there is miss background and 

mitigation evidence, that requests r testing and more 

invest ion were ignored, that experts were both ignored and 

not cornrnun with, and an expert at trial his 

opinion and diagnosis sed on new information he not have 

at tal. This Court, unlike the Court in cannot be 

satisfied that it has a "sufficient basis in the for 

consi ring the ment -state issues" in this case. 
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was is in 1993. Death penalty j sprudence has 

evo consi rably s that time, and this Court should rely 

upon more recent penalty case-law in forming and shaping 

its ision. appears to layout a requirement that, in 

r to get expert assistance, counsel must first try to gather 

the necessary expertise "through consu ation with other 

appellate de e counsel, the Trial Defense Service, or 

government psychiatrists located in the National 1 area. 

Counsel admitted oral argument t he has not availed 

himself of the ample supply of government psychiatrists." Gray, 

32 M.J. at 732. First, this is a requirement not seen in more 

recent death penalty jurisprudence, and ignores the advent of 

igation ialists. Second, appellant, under such a 

requirement would be forced to reveal idential information 

to a host of people without any pr lege. lly, appellant 

cannot force experts (government or pr ) to assist appellant 

pro bono and cannot be required to exhaust all pro bono avenues 

before requesting experts. The entire princ e behind allowing 

adequate rnment substitutes is to allow the government to 

effect ly substitute pro bono (but sufficient) experts to 

assist appellant. 

Kreutzer and Murphy demonstrate the significant evolution 

of penalty jurisprudence since 1993. In Murphy, rt 

assistance was not at issue (in large part cause the request 
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for st-trial experts was granted); however, that Court made 

c that "we must satisfied that the rsarial process 

has wor , and that llant has had a fair complete 

trial." Murphy at 15. Murphy placed the emphasis in a death 

lty case on a "fair complete trial." In Gray, the CAAF 

upon applying t standard rules for s without 

rega to the different pl field of death penalty 

liti ion, but did so without the benefit of Wiggins. This 

Court should look not to Bresnahan and Gray, but to Murphy and 

Kreutzer for guidance in rmining the need mental health 

experts on appeal in this case. 

Before this Court rds the death warrant for appellant, 

this Court must be satis that appellant has had "a full and 

complete trial." This Court cannot be satisf that is true in 

appellant's case. 

WHEREFORE, appellant sts that this Court grant a 

forensic psychiatrist and/or psychologist to llant, or in 

the alternative, set asi t findings and sentence in this 

case. 
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Assignment of Error XIII. 

AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING IS REQUIRED TO 
DETERMINE WHETHER APPELLANT IS LEGALLY 
COMPETENT TO ASSIST IN HIS OWN APPEAL, AND 
WHETHER APPELLANT WAS LEGALLY COMPETENT AT 
THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE AND THE TIME OF 
TRIAL. 

Statement of Facts 

Appellant was not competent at the time of t al because he 

suffered Paranoid Schizophrenia; Major ssive 

Disorder, Recurrent, Severe th Psychotic Features; Post 

Traumatic Stress Disorder; Dysthymia. (DAE C, Z; DA 5-6, 

224-28; see lly HH; DA 342-374.) Appellant likely 

suffered Paranoid Schiz ia, Major ss Disorder, 

Recurrent, Severe with Psychotic Features, Post Traumatic Stress 

Disorder, Dysthymia at time of the offense as well. 

(DAE Z, AA; DA 224-36.) 

llant's behavior calls question his competency to 

assist th his appeal. 79 (See rally DAE Z, II, LL; DA , 

224-28, 375 79, 413-517.) Th s behavior has i 

throughout his entire time confinement. Id. son 

personnel ed and multiple such ances: 

1. Regurgitating onto his hand after a 
meal and then lic the regurgitated 

his hand; 

79 Appellate Counsel have an affidavit scribing the 
various ors observed by counselor reported to counsel by 
prison sonnel and the miti ion expert orde by this 
Court. (DAE II; DA 375-79). 
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2. Repeated instances of laughing and 
smiling for "no apparent reason;" 

3. Loudly singing prayers his 1; 

4. Inappropriate touching of his genitals 
immediately prior to placing his hands in 
the communal ice buc used for all Death 
Row inmates at the United states 

scipl Barracks (USDB); 

5. Requesting to be placed on then 
taken off Zolo ; 

6. Inabil y to orient h elf to time and 
ace, asking when disciplinary boards were 

taking place during the actual conducting of 
the sciplinary board; 

7. Screaming at all hours including phrases 
like "Somebody help me!" Attempt to give 
his prayer rug and Koran to a guard 
commander and asked the guard commander to 
"forgive him." Des by guard commander 
as "frantic;" 

8. Frequent st for long periods of 
time; 

9. Frequently claiming that he changed 
religion from Islam to Christianity back to 
Islam; 

10. Requesting Captain (CPT) Frank Ulmer as 
"his attorney" eight days after meeting with 
CPT Ulmer releasing in writing CPT Ulmer 
as his attorney; 

11. Hiding in the janitorial closet and 
refusing to come out. Tears were on his 
face but guards also noted a "distant look" 
on his and he was non-respons 

12. Standing front of his cell or 
front of the cells of other Death Row 
inmates with his genitals exposed. 
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Id. 

Appellate de e counsel have also observed appellant's 

off behavior and actions, and lieve appellant cannot 

competently assist in his appeal. These observations are from 

vis ions or phone conversations dating back to May 2008. In 

almost every instance, appellant: 

1. exhibits no change in demeanor regardless 
of the ject matter of the conversation. 
Appellant is emotionless, not laughing, 
smil ,frowning, or expressing any emotion 
at all; 

2. often will "zone out" during 
conversations th appellate counsel; 
Appel repeatedly asks appellate counsel 
to repeat statements made to appellant just 
seconds earlier; 

3. is often non responsive to questions 
from appellate couns When appellant is 
responsive, is slow and seems to be 
communicating with great difficulty; 

4. almost always appears ti and counsel 
have difficulty in keeping llant awake; 

5. repeat y informs counsel he is 
being drugged. Appellant asserts that the 
drugging has been taking place since colle 
and has continued on throughout his life. 
Appellant states that when is drugged, he 
finds dif cult to focus and concentrate, 
as if something is holding him back and he 
is in a fog. Appellant states he believes 
it is either put on his hat or poss y in 
his food. Appellant s repeated is 
allegation to the Court ordered tigation 
expert, Lori James-Townes; 
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6. has set-up appointments with late 
counsel, but during t scheduled 
appointment is unaware that he had set up an 
appointment and has nothing to say; 

7. 	 s questions that have been as 
answered and concern fairly 

licated issues. This is inconsistent 
with appellant's high intelligence quotient 
(R. at Pros. Ex. 240); 

8. has told prior counsel that he would eat 
only Ramen noodles because those noodles 
were less likely to poisoned. The 

has in the past restricted his 
to Ramen noodles was confirmed by prison 

rsonnel. 

9. 11 repeatedly his mind on what 
he wants to do in the course of his s. 

llant gives no reason and seems so 
r reasons which are unapparent and 

i licable even to 

Id. 80 

licable Law and the Standard of ew 

This Court must determine whether appellant was competent 

at the time of the offense and time of trial. UCMJ, Art. 

SOa(a); 10 U.S.C.A. § 850a(a). s Court must also assess the 

mental health status of appellant p r to approving a sentence 

of death. v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399 (1986) (The ghth 

Amendment bars the execution of those who were cr lly 

responsible at t al but who later became insane while pending 

80 Appellant requested this Court assign expert assistance to 
assist appellate counsel in det ning the ability of llant 
to assist in s own appeal, as well as his competency at the 
time of the of and at trial. (AE XII, XIII.) support 
has been previously denied by this Court. 
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execution.) A fact-finding hearing must be ordered under United 

States v. DuBay, 37 C.M.R. 411 (1967) to assist this Court in 

determining whet or not appellant is competent to assist in 

his own appeal, and whether or not appellant is 1 lly insane 

and therefore ba from execution. 

Error and Argument 

This Court can only affirm such findings and sentence in 

appellant's case "as it finds correct in law and fact and 

determines, on the basis of the entire record, should be 

approved." UCMJ, Art. 66(c); 10 U.S.C.A. § 866(c). Given 

prohibition by Art. 50(a) against convicting an accused who was 

not legally competent either at the time of of se or at 

trial, and prohibition by Ford inst executing those who 

are found insane pending execution, this Court must be satisfied 

that appellant was legally competent at the time of the offense, 

trial and current on appeal. To determine this, this Court 

must 0 r a DuBay ring. As expla below, an R.C.M. 706 

Sanity Board would be insufficient to determine the competency 

of appellant at t of t of se, trial and on appeal. 

Appellant has request expert mental lth assistance. See AE 

XII. Without this assistance, appellate counsel would not have 

the expertise to digest, completely understand or, if necessary, 

challenge the findings of a Sani Board. See Hall v. 

Quarterman, 534 F.3d 365 (5th r. 2008) (Holding that a death 
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row inmate was entitled to a full and fair hearing where such a 

hearing would bring about facts which, if proven true, support 

habeas relief.) 

There is no guarantee that a Sanity Board would consider 

the vast social history of appellant in determining appellant's 

past and current mental health status. Because no rules govern 

the actual conduct of Sanity Boards, nothing assures that 

appellant will receive a consistent and thorough examination of 

his mental health. The conduct of the Sanity Board, the tests 

selected to examine appellant, and the depth of the overall 

examination are at the sole discretion of the senior member of 

the Sanity Board. Certainly, appellant's previous Sanity Board 

conducted considered almost no social history, and conducted 

only some of the testing necessary to fully evaluate appellant's 

mental health. (DAE Z; DA 22428.) Appellant must receive a 

full fact-finding DuBay hearing, with mental health experts for 

appellant and the government, before this Court can be assured 

that it has appellant's correct mental health assessment and 

determinations of his competency at the time of the offense, 

trial, and on appeal. 

If this Court grants appellant's request, appellant will 

still require expert assistance to serve as a check on the 

accuracy and competency of the Sanity Board's findings. Only 

through the adversarial crucible of a DuBay hearing, with 
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experts both appellant and government, will this Court be 

able to her the necessary facts to determine the mental 

health status of appellant at all three crucial s his 

trial and 1. 

In a with United States v. Ginn, 47 M.J. 236 

(C.A.A.F. 1997), appellant requests that the DuBay 

e (1) whether appellant was suffering from a severe 

mental sease or defect at the time of the offense; (2) 

clinical is of appellant at the time of the of e; (3) 

whether llant was able to appreciate the nature 

ss of his conduct at the time of the offense; (4) 

whether llant was suffering from a severe mental sease or 

ect at the t of tal; (5) the clinical diagnosis of 

lant at time of trial; (6) whether appellant was 

suf a mental disease or defect at tr 1 

him unable to understand the nature of t 

against him or to cooperate intelligently in his own ei 

(7) whether llant is currently suffering from a severe 

mental sease or de ; (8) appellant's current clini 

diagnosis; (9) whether appellant is currently suf ng from a 

mental sease or defect which renders him unable to rstand 

the nature of proceedings against him or to rate 

intell ly s own appeal. 
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For reasons stated above, appellant requests a DuBay 

Hearing. 
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Part Eight: Systemic Errors 

Assignment of Error XIV. 

DENYING APPELLANT THE RIGHT TO OFFER A PLEA 
OF GUILTY IN A CAPITAL TRIAL IMPROPERLY 
LIMITS APPELLANT'S ABILITY TO PRESENT 
POWERFUL MITIGATION EVIDENCE TO THE PANEL. 81 

Statement of Facts 

Appellant pled not guilty to all charges and their 

specifications. (R.at617). 

Applicable Law and the Standard of Review 

"A plea of guilty by the accused may not be rece to any 

charge or speci cation al an offense for which the 

lty may be adjudged." Article 45(b), UCMJ; 10 U.S.C. § 845 

(2005), see also United States v. Matthews, 13 M.J. 501 

(A.C.M.R. 1982). An accused does not an absolute 

Constitutional right to have a plea of guilty automatically 

accept by a military judge, but he s ordinarily have the 

ri to submit an offer to plead lty outs of capital 

trials. United States v. Pennister, 25 M.J. 148, 151 (C.M.A. 

1987). A military judge may reject a plea guilty for various 

reasons but may not do so "a rarily." United States v. Johnson, 12 

M.J. 673 (A.C.M.R. 1981), pet. deni ,13 M.J. 23 (1982). "In courts­

rna al an accused has virtual carte blanche to present whatever he 

desires in extenuation and mitigation." Matthews, 13 M.J. at 527. "A 

81 But see also AE I: C. 
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82 

plea of 1 is a mitigating factor." R.C.M. 1002{f) (1). The 

importance of mitigation evidence as a fundamental right of an accused 

is made clear by this Court's ruling in Uni States v. Callahan, 26 

C.M.R. 	 443, 448 (1958) (holding that mit 

of military due process and 1 of such a right is 

"is an 

1 to the substantial rights of an accused."). The right to 

mitigation evidence also has "meaning -opportunity-to-be­

heard" Constitutional due process concerns. Uni States v. Sumrall, 

45 M.J. 207, 209 (C.A.A.F. 1996) (citing Weiss v. Uni ted 

States, 510 U.S. 163 (1994)). 

s permitting, but not ng, the imposition of 

a ath 	 lty sentence following a gui ea do not violate 

the ted States Constitution82 
, and have adopted by 

statute in thirty-five of the nation's thirty-eight death 

penalty j s ctions . 83 The Const ut lity of pleading 

The framers of the Constitution e tly provided that a 
could be convicted of a ita I of , treason, by 

guilty. See U.S. Const. art. II , 3 ("No Person shall 
of Treason unless on the test of two Witnessesct 

to the same overt Act, or on Confession in Court"); see 
also Ex Parte GaLLand, 71 U.S. 333, 340 (1866) (noting that the 
framers of t Constitution pe accus to enter a 
plea of guilty and could be subject tal punishment); 
Unit States v. ~viltberger, 18 U.S. 76, 79 (1820) (citing a 
1790 ssional statute that same procedure). 
83 See 18 U.S.C. 3593 (1994); Ala. 5-42, -43, -45 
(1994); Ariz. Rev. Stat. 13-703(B) (West 2001); Cal. Penal Code 
190.4 (West 1999); Colo. Rev. Stat. 16 11-103(1) (2000); Conn. 
Gen. Stat. Ann. 53a-46a (West 1958); Del. Ann. tit. 11, 
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1 

guilty in a al trial is clear given the above. 

question then becomes: is the proh ion of senting power 

igation evi by ple guilty in a capital court-

martial by Article 45(b), UCMJ likewise Constitutional? The 

answer must be no. 

Appellant can find no 1 slative story which establishes 

why Congress chose to military members the to plead 

guilty in capital court-marti S.84 However, this Court's 

superior Court in United States v. Mat seemed to state that 

the prohibition aga pleading guilty in capital cases was 

to "special treatment given to capital cases by courts 

legislatures and the irreversible ef of executing a capital 

sentence." Matthews, 16 M.J. 354, 362 (C.M.A. 1983). Whi it 

4209 (1995); a. Stat. Ann. 921.141 (West 2001); Ga. Code Ann. 
17-10-32 (1997); Idaho Code 19-2515 (Michie 1997); 720 Ill. 
Compo Stat. Ann. 5/9-1 (West 1993); Ind. Code Ann. 35-50-2-9(d) 
(1998); Kan. Stat. Ann. 22-3210(a) (Supp. 2000); Ky. Rev. Stat. 

Ann. 532.025(1) (a) (Michie 1999); Md. Code Ann., art. 27, 413 
(1996); Miss. Code Ann. 99-19 101 (West 1999); Mo. Ann. Stat. 
565.006 (West 1999); Mont. Code Ann. 46-18-301 (West 1999); Neb. 
Rev. Stat. 29-2520 (1995); Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann 175.552 (Michie 
2001); N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. 630:5 (Michie 1996); N.M. Stat. Ann. 
31 18-14 (Mi 1978); N.C. Gen. Stat. 15A-2000 (Lexis 1999); 
Ohio Rev. Code Ann. 2929.02 (Anderson 1996); Okla. Stat. Ann. 
tit. 21, 701.10 (West 1983); Or. Rev. Stat. 163.150 (1999); 42 
Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. 9711(b) (West 1998); S.C. Ann. 16-3-20 
(Law. . 1985); S.D. Codified Laws 23A-27A-4 (Michie 1998); 
Tenn. Code Ann. 39 13-205 (1997); Tex. Crim. Proc. Code Ann. 
1.13 1.15 (Vernon Supp. 2001); Utah Code Ann. 76-3-207 (Lexis 
1999); Va. Code Ann. 19.2-257, 19.2-264.4 (Lexis 2000); Wash. 
Rev. Code Ann. 10.95.050 (West 1990); Wyo. Stat. Ann. 6-2-102 
(Lexis 2001). 

84 re is no Federal law proh ting civilians from ple 
gui y in Federal capital cases. 
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is true that special treatment is given to capital cases and 

certainly there is no greater or more permanent punishment than 

death, there are a host of court cases s Matthews that 

provide more than quate ction both on the merits and on 

sent ng that remove fear t pleading guilty a death 

penalty case somehow equates to judicial suicide. See, e.g., 

Ring v. zona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002); Apprendi v. New 

530 U.S. 466 (2000); Wi ns v. th, 539 U.S. 510 (2003); 

Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374 (2005). The protections of 

those cases remOVE? any argument for continuing the practice of 

denying an accused the opportunity to present the powerful 

mitigating evidence of an offer to pI guilty. See Minnick v. 

Mississippi, 498 U.S. 146, 167 (1990) (Scalia, J., 

Rehnquist, C. J., dissenting) ("While eve person is entitl to 

stand si nt, it is more virtuous for the wrongdoer to admit his 

offense and a the punishment he deserves. Not only for 

society, but for wrongdoer himself, 'admiss of guilt 

. if not coe [isJ inherently desirable'" (quoting 

Uni ted Sta tes v. !iva , 431 U.S. 181, 187 (1977))) 

(emphasis added) (alteration original) . 

When the 1 has to make a ision on a sentence in a 

tal court-martial, an accus has an interest in focusing 

panel, in the entirety of the case, on sentencing factors 

and mitigating and extenuating evidence rat r than rst 
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advancing a meritless defense on the merits which only serves to 

anger the panel and arguably renders any post-conviction 

expressions responsibility at best, less in impact, and 

at worst, self-serving. 

An accused's interest in demonstrating that he has taken 

responsibility for his conduct, is remorseful, and is seeking to 

spare the ctim's family and the court s unnecessary time 

and expense is a valid, and arguably c tical or in 

garnering a sentence other than death. See, e.g., ckland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 672 (1984). fendant "pleaded 

guilty to . three capital murder charges [and] . he 

a ed responsibility for the crimes. The trial judge told 

respondent that he had 'a great deal of respect people who 

are lling to step rward and admit their responsibil , at 

sentencing hearing," fense counsel adopted a "reasonable" 

strategy of "arguing that respondent's remorse and acceptance of 

responsibil y justified sparing him from the death Ity." 

Id. at 673); see also Stephen P. Garvey, Aggravation and 

Mitigation in Capital Cases: What Do Jurors Think?, 98 Colum. L. 

Rev. 1538, 1559 (1998) (1 ng out t results of a study of 

what would make respondents more or less likely to vote for the 

death penalty; 21.7% of those intervi answered that a 

fendant's fai to disp remorse would make them much more 

likely to vote r death) . 
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A guilty a in a pena y case would remove need 

a defense counsel to come up with some novel, and often 

meritless, argument that an accused was not guilty of the 

charged offense. This would allow counsel to focus the panel 

solely on remorse and mitigation. More importantly, would 

address the "meaningful rtunit -heard" right of 

llant ired by Constitutional Due Process. Sumrall, 45 

M.J. at 209. 

Certainly, there is no Constitutional to have a 

guilty plea accepted by a mil ry judge. Pennister, 25 M.J. at 

151. However, this is yet another protection in system that 

ameliorates any legit concern against pleading guil in a 

capital case. A mil ry judge can reject a guilty for a 

whole host of reasons (e.g. incompetency or improvidency) so 

long as it is not done arbitrarily. Johnson, 12 M.J. 673. So 

long as t plea of guilty is done knowingly and voluntarily 

an accused is competent to stand tri ,the protections 

system provides are adequate enough that remains no valid 

reason to forcibly remove from an accused the ability to sent 

arguably the strongest igating factor there is; a plea of 

guilty. 

Appellant was denied the use of this strong mitigating 


ctor. Appellant could have as for an ruction that 


could have been telling the panel that appellant was not 
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allowed to ead guilty, it was never given to the 1 in this 

case, and even if it had been, at best reduces the possible 

anger of the panel but does nothing to provide the mit ing 

impact of accepting responsibility at the outset. In this case, 

appellant had no choice but to assert his innocence and leave 

any express s of remorse or taking of responsibil y to the 

end of the trial during sentencing. This unconstitutionally 

robbed him of the chance to present a powerful and consistent 

focus to the panel on miti ing factors in sease. 

WHEREFORE, the appellant respectfully requests that s 

Court set aside the findings sentence in his case. 
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Assignment of Error XV. 

THE LACK OF A SYSTEM TO ENSURE CONSISTENT 
AND EVEN-HANDED APPLICATION OF THE DEATH 
PENALTY IN THE MILITARY VIOLATES BOTH 
APPELLANT'S EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS, AND 
ARTICLE 36, UCMJ. 

Facts 

ss pass the Federal Death Pena y Act in 1994. 18 

U.S.C. § 2245. Less than a year later, federal government 

issued a formal protocol r Uni States (U.S.) Attorneys to 

follow all federal cases which a defendant is with 

an offense subject to the death penalty. Per this protocol, the 

U.S. Attorney Manual (USAM) requires that any U.S. Attorney 

first seek the authorization the Attorney General of the 

Un ed States before pursuing the penalty. United States 

Department of Justice, U.S. Attorney's Manual § 9-10.020 (June 

1998). A U.S. Attorney may not pursue the death Ity without 

getting 1 from this cabinet-level author y. Id. s 

requirement ensures consistent and even-handed national 

lication of the federal capital sentencing scheme across 

more than ty U.S. Attorneys off s . 

Under the USAM, United States Attorneys must immediately 

notify the ita1 Case if intending to obta an 

indictment on a cap 1 offense, regardless of whether U.S. 

Attorney intends to seek the death pena USAM § 10.050. 

r indictment, the U.S. Attorney then has to g the 
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defendant a reasonable opportunity to sent any miti ing 

information for the U.S. Attorney to consider. Id. U.S. 

Attorney must then consult with the ly of the vict USAM 

§ 9-10.070. Within 90 of the indictment, the U.S. Attorney 

must prepare a prosecution memorandum the Assistant Attorney 

General. . at § 9-10.030-.040. That prosecution memorandum 

is very much like a staff judge advocate's pretrial and 

includes U.S. Attorney's recommendation. The Assistant 

Attorney General then forwards the fi to the Capital Case Unit 

for recommendation by a 1 Review ttee. Id. at § 9­

10.050. Attorney General reviews recommendations of the 

committee then makes a ision whe r to seek death 

penalty in t ca~;e . Id. This internal authorizat process 

"is designed to promote consistency and fairness." at § 9­

10.080. , in determin whether or not to seek death 

penalty, the U.S. Attorney, the Attorney General's Committee and 

the Attorney General "must determine r the statutory 

aggravating ctors appli to the of nse and any non-

statutory ing factors sufficiently outweigh the 

mitigating ctors applicable to the of e to justify a 

sentence of ath, or, in absence of tigating factors, 

whether t aggravating rs themselves are sufficient to 

justify a sentenCE? of death." Id. 
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The modern military capital system came about in 1984, 

after the President promulgated R.C.M. 1004 in response to 

United States v. Matthews, 16 M.J. 354 (C.M.A. 1983). Nearly 

twenty-five years have passed and the federal government has not 

issued a formal protocol for convening authorities to follow in 

military cases in which a defendant is facing a capital 

referral. There is no process to ensure consistent and even­

handed national and military-wide application of the military 

capital sentencing scheme across the more than ninety Army 

GCMCAs, let alone the numerous GCMCAs in the sister services. 

In the military, any general courts-martial convening authority 

can refer a case capital. R.C.M. 504. 

Equal Protection Demands that Appellant Receive the Same 

Benefits that 18 U.S.C. § 2245 Provides to Those Accused of 


Capital Crimes in District Courts 


The Fourteenth Amendment requires that states provide 

"equal protection of the laws." This principle is applied to 

the federal government through the Due Process Clause of the 

Fifth Amendment. Vance v. Bradley, 440 u.S. 93 (1979). The 

equal protection component of the Due Process Clause applies to 

servicemembers. United States v. Leonard, 63 M.J. 398, 399 

(C.A.A.F. 2006) citing United States v. Downing, 56 M.J. 419, 

421 (C.A.A.F. 200~~); United States v. Murphy, 30 M.J. 1040, 1055 

(A.C.M.R. 1990) (finding no equal protection violation because 
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was actually no c ssi ion); United States v. Loving, 

34 M.J. 956, 968 (A.C.M.R. 1992). 

If the government sses a law or that s the 

protection or burden of a law on one class of ons but not on 

another, that classification is subject to judicial ew. 

McLaughlin v. Florida, 379 U.S. 184, 191 (1964) ("Judicial 

inquiry under the 1 Protection Clause does not end with a 

showing of equal application among the members of the ass 

de by the legislation. The courts must reach and dete ne 

the question whether the classifications drawn a statute are 

reasonable in light of its purpose.") If those persons subject 

to the classification are part of a ct class, the 

classification receives strict scrutiny. Johnson v. California, 

543 u.s. 499 (2005). If those rsons are part of a semi-

suspect ass (sex, alienage, nationali , ille timacy) or if 

the assificat impacts a fundamental interest (vot 

travel, family relations), the classification rece s a 

heightened level of review. Romer v. Evans, 517 U.S. 620, 628 

(1996). All other classifications receive rational basis 

ew. Id. citing Heller v. Doe 509 u.s. 312, 319-320 (1993). 

cemembers do not 11 into a suspect or semi-suspect 

class. However, the heightened due process that the Supreme 

Court gives to capital cases indicates that classifications that 

invo the death penalty do impact a fundamental interest, or 
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at the least, do invo ew that is heightened. See Jacobs 

v. Scott, 513 U.S. 1067, 1070 (Stevens, dissenting). 1 

protection is at issue in capital cases specifically e 

"serious questions are 'when the sovereign its s 

inconsistent positions in two separate criminal 

against two of its ti zens. ,,, Id. citing Uni ted Sta tes v. 

Powers, 467 F. 2d 1089, 1097 1098 (CA7 1972) (Stevens, J., 

dissenting). This concern is amplified because of the 

"heightened need for reliabil y" in capital cases. see 

Caldwell v. Mi , 4 72 U. S. 320, 323 (1985 ) (int e rna1c' 
~, 

quotation marks omitt ). 

Equal protection was one of the Constitutional norms that 

the pre-1973 capit s s olated. In 1972, the 

Court struck down tal schemes because the th 

penalty was adminis rarily and discriminatorily 

defendants were not rece equal protection of the law: 

"There is increasing tion of the fact that the basic 

theme of equal ection is implicit in 'cruel and unusual' 

punishments. 'A penalty. should be considered 'unusually' 

imposed if it is administe arbitrarily or discriminatorily.'" 

Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 249 (1972) (Douglas, J., 

concurring) (internal at omitted). The Court, in n 

v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12 (1956), how central equal 

protection is to our justice s "[8]oth equal protection 

444 




and process emphasize t central aim of our entire judi al 

system -- all people cha with crime must, so far as t law 

is concerned, 'stand on an equality be the bar of justice in 

every American court.' II Gri , 351 U.S. at 17. central 

aim of our entire justice system is that all people - including 

servicemembers charged with a crime must receive the equal 

ction of the law. 

Since Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), every Supreme 

Court opinion on capital punishment s enfo the proposition 

t because of its sever y and irrevocability, the death 

penalty is qualitatively different than other punishment. 

Mil courts have followed the Supreme Court's Ie ,noting 

"One continuous theme is found throughout the death-penalty 

cases handed down by t Supreme Court over the last 30 years. 

That theme is reliability of result." Murphy, 50 M.J. at 14. 

This Court's superior court has stated in conducting its 

appellate review of ital cases, it "will ensure that 

fundamental notions of due process, full and fair hearings, 

competent counsel, and above all, a 'reliable result,' are part 

of equation." at 15; see also Ford v. Wainright, 477 

U.S. 399, 411 (1986) ("In capital proceedings generally, [the 

Supreme Court] has demanded t fact finding procedures aspire 

to a heightened standard of reliability.") The Court of 

Appeals for the Armed Forces also noted, "The Supreme Court, 
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however, now made clear that the Ei h Amendment requires a 

different treatment of h-penalty cases." United States v. 

Curtis, 32 M.J. 252, 255 (C.M.A. 1991). The Court r 

recogni that Congress "has exhibi a special concern for 

capital cases." Id. at 256. 

Due to this difference, criminal t als involvi 

ultimate sanction of the h penalty must be accompanied by a 

heightened standard of process and reliability with 

commensurate procedural safeguards. See generally Cal 1 v. 

Mississ ,472 U.s. 320, 340 (1985}i Woodson v. North 

Carolina, 428 u.s. 280, 305 (1976). 

"Death is a different kind of punishment" thereby entitling 

a capital fendant to a higher standa of due process. 

Gardner v. Fl da, 430 U. S. 349, 357 - 3 5 8 (1977) . " 

fundamental respect for humanity under1 the Eighth 

Amendment's prohibition inst cruel and unusual punishment 

gives rise to a special' for reliability in the 

determinat that death is the appropriate punishment in any 

capital case.'" Johnson v. Mississippi, 486 U.s. 578, 584 

(l988) . " re is no question that death as punishment is 

unique in its severity and irrevocability. When a de 's 

life is at stake, the court been parti arly sensit to 

insure that every procedural safeguard is observed." v. 

Georgia, 428 U.s. 153, 187 (1979) (inte citations omit ) . 
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"Because of qualitative f rence [between h and any 

other punis J, there is a corresponding dif rence in the 

need for i ility in the nation that is the 

appropriate punishment in a ific case." Woodson v. North 

Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 305 (1976). "Given that the imposition 

of death by public authority is so profoundly f rent from all 

other penalt s, we cannot avo the conclusion an 

individuali cision is essent 1 in capit cases." Lockett 

v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 604 (1978). "(D)eath is a different kind 

of punishment from any other which may be imposed this 

country." v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 637 (1980). 

"(B)ecause t is a qualitat difference death and 

any other permissible form of punishment, there is a 

correspond for reliability in the dete ion that 

death is the appropriate punis in a specific case." Zant 

v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 884 (1983). "(I)n 

proceedings, generally this court has demanded finding 

procedures a re to a heightened standard of reI ility. This 

special concern is a natural cons of the knowl e that 

execution is most irremediable unfathomable of 

penalties." v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399, 410 (1986) "The 

decision to exercise the power of t state to execute a 

defendant is unli any other decision citizens are call upon 

to make. standards of societal decency have sed a 
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correspondingly high requirement of reI ility on 

determination that death is the appropriate penalty a 

particular case." Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S. 367, 383 (1989). 

Further, the death lty is justified only in a narrow 

category of t most serious crimes, those who 

committed icularly crimes where there are no 

compelling tigating factors that lower ir blameworthiness: 

Atkins v. Vi ia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002); Roper v. Simmons, 543 

U.S. 	 551 (2005) 

When in this context, classifications that impact 

s fundamental interest t a capital fendant receive an 

individualized and reliable sentence must receive some rm of 

heightened ew. This should be intermediate level of 

ew (the means must be necessary to ieve a compelling 

government ective, See Kramer v. Union Free School st., 395 

U.S. 	 621 (1969)). 

If this court chooses to apply a rat 1 basis 

that review must be meani ful. Under rat 1 basis rev 

the means must rationally or reasonably related to a 

legitimate rnment interest, see Dandridge v. Williams, 397 

U.S. 471, 487 (1970). However, there are different levels of 

rational basis review. In e field of economic regulation, the 

ew is most deferential the government is not even 

required to produce evidence the c1assi ication actually 
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served the intended purpose, provided a legislature could have 

rationally decided that a classification would serve the 

purpose. See, e.g., Minnesota v. Clover Leaf Creamery Co., 449 

U.S. 456 (1981). However, when we move away from economic 

I slation, the test is meaningful; the court is not willing to 

presume that whatever the government proffers is actually true, 

but rather, the government must produce evidence to support its 

position. See eburne v. Cleburne Living Center, Inc., 473 

U.S. 432, 448 (19(35) (requir that the record support the 

rational sis for the classification); Romer v. Evans, 517 U.S. 

620, 626 (1996) (reject the government's prof r as to what 

the legitimate government purpose was). At a minimum, this 

court must require that the government prove that whatever 

purpose that the government advances its classification of 

al cases is, fact, the purpose of this classification, 

and the government must make the record that the means chosen is 

actually reI to the interest. 

A milita accus is protected by Art Ie 36. Pursuant to 

Article 36, Congress permits the President to promulgate rules, 

but those rules "shall, so far as he considers practicable, 

apply the principles of law the rules of evidence generally 
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recognized in the trial of criminal cases in the United States 

strict courts". Article 36, UCMJ. 

"Shall, so far as he considers practicable" is a high 

standard. 

The implication is that Congress intended 
that, to the extent' icable,' trial by 
court-martial should resemble a criminal 
trial in a federal strict court. Even 
though Article 36 is principally concerned 
with 'procedures' and 'rules of evidence,' 
it can infe that, unless re is a 
reason not to do so, an interpretation of a 
p sion of the Uni rm Code should follow 
a well-established interpretation of a 
federal criminal statute concerning same 
subject. 

Unit States v. \laligura, 54 M.J. 187, 191 (C.A.A.F. 2000). 

This st rd means that if the principles of law that are 

appli in federal courts are capable of bei put into practice 

the military system, then the Pres should promulgate 

rules that match those offe to defendants ing trial in a 

federal court "unless t is a reason not to do so." Id. 

stion is can it be done without jeopardizing t military's 

mission. If it can be done, then he must do it. 

This Court's supe or court s construed Article 36 to 

mean that strict court rules should ly unless contrary to 

the UCMJ. "[W]e comply th the ssional mandate that 

courts-martial 'apply the principles of rally 

recogniz in the trial of criminal cases ln United States 
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district courts, but which may not be contrary to or 

inconsistent with [ UCMJ] . ' " Uni t States v. Loving, 64 

M.J. 132, 140 (C.A.A.F. 2006) (internal cite omitted) (emphasis 

added) . See also Uni t States v. Valigura, 54 M.J. 187, 191 

(C.A.A.F. 2000): 

Arti 36(a), UCMJ, 10 USC § 836(a), 
provides that, in scribing "procedures, 
including modes of proof," before courts­
martial, the President may prescr 
regulations "which shall, so far as he 
cons rs icable, apply the principles 
of law and rules of evidence generally 
recognized in the trial of criminal cases in 
the Unit States strict courts." The 
implication is t Congress int d that, 
to the extent" cti ," trial by court-
mart 1 shou resemble a criminal trial 
a deral strict court. 

Id. at 191. 

standa in Article 36 is a hi r standard than t 

the rat 1 basis test that is found the equal protection 

component of t Due Process Clause. The President must have 

more than just a rat 1 basis for his cision to classi 

servicemembers dif rently than persons subject to fe ral 

juris ction: can only classi against servicemembers if 

principles of law ied in ral courts are incapable of 

being done, or cannot be into ice in the military 

system. This analysis is also fferent than the equal 

protection analysis. Here, Congress has already noted, 
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promulgating Article 36 having the courts-martial process 

approximate federal criminal process is an important government 

interest. (" implication is that Congress intended t t, to 

the extent practicable, t al by court-martial should resemble a 

criminal trial a ral strict court. If Uni ted Sta tes v. 

Vali , 54 M.J. 187, 191 (C.A.A.F. 2000) (internal quotations 

omitted)). The y ana is left is means test, and here, 

Congress set out a rigorous test - if the principle of law can 

be applied courts-martial, then that principle of law must 

applied. Id. 

When viewed in this capital context, Article 36 analysis 

has real meaning. Congress has already stated government 

interest - that courts-martial resemble a criminal tr 1 in a 

federal dist ct court. See Article 36, UCMJ. In the tal 

context, is is crucial. 

military is inexperienced in capital lit ion. Only 

one military death warrant has been signed in the last half­

century. Deb Riechmannl' Military Execu on Gets Bush Approval, 

Chi. Trib., Y 29, 2008, http://www.nysun.com/national/bush­

oks execution-of-army-death-row-prisoner/82755/ st visited 

Jun. 26, 2010. 

lack of capital e ence the litary bar has been 

noted in t few military capital cases that have reached the 

appellate stage. The CAAF noted that the de se counsel in 
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United States v. Murphy "were neither educated nor expe enced 

in defending capital cases, and they either were not provided 

the resources or expertise to enable them to overcome these 

deficiencies, or they did not request same." United States v. 

Murphy, 50 M.J. 4, 9 (1998). The court noted that the counsel 

lacked training and experience "leading us to the ultimate 

conclusion that there are no tactical decisions to second-

guess." Id. at 13. The concerns over lack of capital training 

for military attorneys was similarly noted in United States v. 

Curtis. 48 M.J. 331, 332 (1997) (Cox, C.J., concurring). It 

has s larly been noted in milita cases that the military 

capital de se counsel do not meet ABA standa Loving, 41 

M.J. at 300. In fact, "[MJost of the focus capi 

liti 	 ion since Curtis has been on the lack of tal 

rience among litary defense counsel." Mary M. Forman, 

Military Capital Litigation: Meeting the ghtened Standards of 

United States v. Curtis, 174 Mil. L. Rev. 1, 39 (Dec. 2002) .85 

While the inexperience of mili defense counsel has 

driven the conversation, military judges and military 

prosecutors are all inexperienced in capital liti ion. With 

rare exceptions, ever sitting in front of the bar in a 

capit case will be sitting on their first capital case. If 

Congress meant for courts-martial to resemble federal 

85 See AE I: A. 

453 



practice in any area, it must at least be in this area - where 

the military's federal counterparts have much experience in this 

area the law and the military bar s next to none. 

The government cannot im t the military is different 

from t civil sector to overcome Arti e 36; the government 

must produce some evidence t the President has actually 

considered this issue and made a claration that the military 

is incapable of implementing a national, cabinet-level ew 

potential capital cases. Congress s said that the President 

must consider. Inaction or inattention is not consideration. 

The President needs a cific reason to break from the federal 

court practice as, "unless there is a reason not to do so, an 

interpretation a provision of the Uni Code should llow 

a well-established interpretation of a federal criminal statute 

concerning the sane subject." United States v. Valigura, 54 

M.J. 	 187, 191 (C.lLA.F. 2000). 

No Reason 
then a Federal Accused 

As noted by the Supreme Court, the government interest in 

capital punishment: is moral retribution. Eutzy v. Fl da, 471 

U.S. 1045, 1047 (1985). Moral retribution depends on the 

individual 	accused and his particular circumstances. Id. Thus, 

punishment is appropriate based upon the individual 
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accused's sconduct, rather than overarching concerns of 

the military. 

When speaking of t sentencing de sion, 
the Court has characteriz the jury's 
function as making a retributive assessment 
of the defendant's moral blameworthiness and 
guilt; it has declined to ana ze 
deterrence; and has characte zed 
incapacitation as a secondary consi ration. 
Thus, Justice O'Connor ared in Enmund v. 
Flori that Eighth Amendment concept 
of proportionality a nexus between 
the punishment impos defendant's 
blameworthiness. In Tison v. Arizona, it 
explained that," heart of the 
retribution rationale is that a criminal 
sentence must directly relat to the 
persona~ culpability of the criminal 
offender." Concerning the imacyof 
retributive over incapacitative purposes in 
jury sentencing, in Cali a v. Ramos, 
Justice Marshall challenged incapacitat 
as a justification for imposing a death 
sentence, ng" tal punishment simply 
cannot be justifi as necessary to keep 
criminals off streets." A year later in 
Spaziano v. Florida, Court explicitly 
gave secondary standing to the goal of 
incapacitation, saying "incapacitation has 
never been embraced as a sufficient 
justification for the death penal "and 
that "retribution clearly plays a more 
prominent ro in a tal case." 
Court concluded, "in the context of tal 
felony cases, there ,the stion 

her death sentence is an 
appropriate, non-excessive response to the 
parti ar facts of the case will depend on 
the retribution justification." 

William J. Bowers and Benjamin D. Steiner, Dea by Default: An 

rical Demonstration of False and Forced Choices Capital 

Sentencing, 77 Tex. L. Rev. 605, 623 (February 1999) (footnotes 
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omitt ). The government is, thus, not free to pursue a 

military interest that comes at the expense of the 

individualized erest ified by the Supreme Court. 

The government might argue that the goal of capital 

litigation is to ensure good rand scipline in the 

mil ry and to promote efficiency effect s in 

military est ishment. See Art Ie 30(b); Manual Courts-

Martial, United States, pt. I, , 3. reason, however, is 

insuf cient to justify rging the individuali 

consideration requi for this, most severe, irrevocable, and 

qualitatively dif ent punishment. See Eutzy v. Florida, 471 

U.S. 1045, 1047 (U.S. 1985). 

The United States Attorneys Manual (USAM), Title 9-10.030 

(Purposes of Capital Case Review Process), states (emphasis 

) : 

The review of cases under this Chapter 
culminates in a sion to seek, or not to 
seek, the death penalty against an 
individual defendant. such sion 
must be bas upon the facts and law 
applicable to the case and be set within a 
framework of consistent and even-handed 
na onal application of 1 capital 
sentencing laws. Arbit or impe ssible 

s-such as a defendant's race, 
ethnicity, or reI on-will not inform any 
stage of the decision-making process. The 
overr ng goal of the process is to 
allow proper individualiz cons ration of 
the appropr factors relevant to each 
case. 
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The USAM, tle 9-10.130 (Standards for Determination) (emphasis 

added), further lains this goal: 

The standards governing the determination to 
reached cases under this Chapter 
lude fairness, national consistency, 

adherence to statutory requirements, and 
law- enforcement objectives. 

B. Nat~onal consistency requires treating 
similar cases similarly, the on 
material difference is location of the 
crime. Reviewers in each district are 
understandably most liar with local 
norms or ice in ir st ct and 
State, reviewers must also take care to 
contextualize a ven case within national 
norms OJ: practice. For s reason, the 
m ti tier process used to make 

terminations in this Chapter is ca ly 
gned to provide reviewers with access to 

the national de on- maki context, and 
thereby, to reduce dispa ties across 
dis cts. 

The Executive Office of the Uni States Attorneys 

thus, developed a system that would only serve to benefit the 

military as well. The military has just as much reason to be 

concerned about the consistent and even-handed application of 

capital punishment. The military too would benefit from a 

stem which ensures that similar cases are treat similarly. 

Most importantly, however, it is certa ly 'practicable' r the 

military to implement system used in the federal strict 

courts, and it is essential to ensure the equal ection 

American Soldiers. 
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federal system for capital cases was put place 

ifically to ensure that similar cases are treated when the 

only mate I difference is the location of the crime. USAM, 

Title 9 10.130. Appellant has been cifically judiced by 

lack of such a system for servicemembers. 

Yet, serious and potentially capital cases occur allover 

the litary. In 2006, list Jamaal Lewis was tried and 

convicted at Fort Lewis, WA, Fort s, for a double murder 

that occurred in 2005. Fox News, Fort s Soldier Guilty of 

http://www.foxnews.com/wires/200 18/0,4670,SoldierGuilty,OO.h 

tml. The accus walked up to a car that was pa in the 

rking lot 0 a bar and lIed a male service member and the 

female spouse of a loyed service member who were Id. 

The case was ially referred capital. Id. However, 

ultimately the convening authority referred the case non­

capital. Id. 

In Iraq, Army Soldiers and one civilian, Steven Green 

(he was on active duty at the t of the of e but was later 

discharged), were involved the rape murder of a fourteen­

ar old girl and then the murders of three of family 

members. James Dao, Ex-Soldier Gets Life For Killings In Iraq, 

N.Y. Times, May 22, 2009, Section A; umn 0; National Desk; 
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Pg. 12. Green was the shooter. Id. All of accused 

involved were the death nalty. Id. Green, who was 

tried as a ci lian, was the only accused facing h at the 

time of his tr Id. Green received life wi parole. 

Significantly, Green received benefit of Attorney General 

review before was tried, but t other three s ers, if 

their cases had referred tal, would not have received 

such a review, although the rlying crime was same. 

Thus, Green stature at the time of his arrest and trial resulted 

in him receiving more due process than that aff d Soldiers. 

In Iraq, members of a Marine were accused of murdering 

as many as twenty-four Iraqi lians in the town of Haditha 

llowing a bombing whi killed a US Marine. None of 

the cases will referred capital. 

In 2005, the Fort Riley OSJA tried the case of Uni 

States v. Stanley. Sergeant St ey was involved 

methamphetamines along with three other NCOs. He lieved that 

two of the NCOs were talking him to CID, and one night, he 

and one of the r NCOs lured two NCOs to a solate 

rmhouse. re, Sergeant Stanley and killed two 

NCOs. The Fort ley OSJA refe the case non-capital. 

In March of 2007, GM2 Alfred S , while in Guam, with 

little or no ion, shot to his leading pe 

officer and and wounded a se Sailor. After kill one 
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Sailor and grievously wounding the second Sailor, GM2 Sims then 

laid down his weapon, walked to another office in adjoining 

building, and immediately surrende himself by informing the 

persons therein that had just kill the LPG and wounded the 

second lor. He was t ed on premeditated murder and 

attempted murder charges at NAS Pensacola, FL. The government 

referred his case non- tal in exchange for the defense 

waiving Article 32 investigation. 

However, of the capital cases that have referred 

across entire milita over the st decade, have been 

tried by the XVIII Airborne Corps at Fort Bragg, North Carolina. 

For t Army, this one GCMCA - approximately 1% of all GCMCAs in 

the is respons e for 100% of the capital cases. For 

each of these cases, the XVIII Airborne Corps had to take 

affirmat action to jurisdiction over the cases. 

In 2005, the XVII rborne took jurisdict over 

42 ndUnited States v. Mart ez, a case out of the Infantry 

Division (the New York National Guard). United States v. 

Martinez, 2008 CCA LEXIS 616 (A.C.C.A. Aug. 5, 2008). Staff 

Sergeant Alberto B. Mart z was accused of murdering his 

company commander and another officer in Iraq. Id. at 1. 

Initially, the Multi-National Corps Iraq (MNC-I) took control 

of t case from the 42~ Infantry Di sion. At the t , MNC-I 

was manned by the XVIII rborne Corps and commanded by the 
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XVIII rborne Corps commander. After taking juri ction of 

the case, XVI::: I rborne Corps commander referred case 

capital. 

In 2006, the XVIII Airborne Corps recalled MSG Timothy 

Hennis out of retirement to prosecute him for the rape and 

murder of a woman and the murder of two of her children in 1984. 

MSG Hennis was convi in 1986 in state court and sentenced to 

death. See generally State v. Hennis, 323 N.C. 279 (N.C. 1988). 

That conviction was overturned, and MSG Hennis was later 

acquitted in state court. Id. After new evidence sur , the 

XVIII rborne Co s cal d him out of retirement and has since 

referred his case with a capit instruction. 

In United States v. Kreutzer. er Se Kreutzer's 

case was revers ,his case was returned to the commander of 

Fort Leavenworth, KS. See generally United States v. Kreutzer, 

61 M.J. 293 (C.A.A.F. 2005). The XVIII Airborne Corps took 

juris ction of the case from that commander. 

The fourth is the case at bar. Appellant was a member of 

the 101 st Airborne Divis at Fort Campbell, KY, but the XVIII 

Airborne took jurisdiction over the case. On 28 April 

2005, appellant was sentenced to death by the Fort Bragg panel 

after only seven hours of deliberation. (R. at 3165, 3181.) 

Because no systemic approach was taken, the charges, referral, 
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and trial of appellant were unconstitutional and h 

equal protection the law. 

WHEREFORE, Se Akbar respectfully requests this Court 

set aside the findings and sentence in this capital case, 

order a new tr 1. 

4 




Assignment of Error XVI. 

THE SECRETARY OF THE ARMY'S DECISION TO 
EXEMPT FROM COURT-MARTIAL SERVICE OFFICERS 
OF THE SPECIAL BRANCHES NAMED IN AR 27-10 
WHICH CONTRADICTED ARTICLE 25(d) (2), UCMJ, 
WAS PREJUDICIAL TO APPELLANT 

Law and the Standard of Review 

In Bartlett, C.A.A.F. held that the Secretary of the Army's 

implementation of portions of AR 27 10 contradicted Arti e 25, 

UCMJ, which was a narrowly tailored legis ion by Congress. 

United States v. Bartlett, 66 M.J. 426, 429 (C.A.A.F. 2008). 

"The Army regulations I ing detail of commissioned officers 

to court-martial duty, collected in AR 27 la, directly 

confli with provisions of Article 25, UCMJ, on same 

subject." Id. Thus, the contr ctory portions of AR 27-10 

could not stand. Appellant was court-martial uant to those 

offensive portions of AR 27 10. "The government has the burden 

of showing error was harmless." Id. at 431. 

Argument 

The question before this court is one of prejudice. 

llant's case differs from Bartlett, one monumental way. 

Appellant was tried in a tal case, whereas Bartlett pi 

guilty and submitted only the decision on a proper sentence to a 

1 . Id. The s i cance of each 1 member cannot be 

unders when several unanimous votes are required to reach a 

sentence of h. 

463 



The spec lized skills of the potential individual panel 

members wrongfully excluded by the Se of Army would have 

had a significant impact on the panel in appellant's case. 

Members of the medical corps, doctors, nurses, and 

psycho 1 ists, would have likely been more recept to the 

mit ion evidence regarding appel 's psychological 

condition and personal history presented, a it minimally (see 

AE I), at trial. Furthermore, members of the medical community 

cou have countered the views and input of panel members with 

preconce notions about mental illness. eutenant Colonel 

 expressed s icism rding the fields of 

ychology and psychiatry. (R. at 971.) The ializ skills 

of officers from the medical corps could have counter acted the 

views and opinionE; of the a rem~ntioned officers during 

liberat s and possibly change the outcome of appellant's 

case, rticularly, when a unanimous vote is required. 

The spec lized skills of chaplains could have had much the 

same ef as adding medical officers. Generally, lains 

have a specialized knowledge of all major religions, including 

Islam, and are more religiously tolerant than ordinary Soldiers. 

Specifically, a chaplain could have counte the skeptical and 

misin rmed view of Islam expressed by LTC  (R. at 

944.) A lain's ali zed knowledge of religion and Islam 

could changed the dynamic of the panel and resulted in a 
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different result, particularly when one vote controlled the 

appellant's fate. 

The Secretary of the Army's decision to exclude officers of 

special branches from service on panels was prejudicial to 

appellant and altered the outcome of his case. 

WHEREFORE, Sergeant Akbar respectfully requests this Court 

set aside the findings and sentence in this capital case, and 

order a new trial. 
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Assignment of Error XVII. 

SERGEANT AKBAR WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO THE 
EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, AS 
GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE 
UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, WHEN HIS TRIAL 
DEFENSE COUNSEL FAILED TO REQUEST AN 
INSTRUCTION ON THE INABILITY TO PLEAD GUILTY 
IN THIS CAPITAL COURT-MARTIAL. 86 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imp sonment. 

Assignment of Error XVIII. 

THE ROLE OF THE CONVENING AUTHORITY IN THE 
MILITARY JUSTICE SYSTEM DENIED APPELLANT A 
FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF THE 
FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS AND 
ARTICLE 55, UCMJ, BY ALLOWING THE CONVENING 
AUTHORITY TO ACT AS A GRAND JURY IN 
REFERRING CAPITAL CRIMINAL CASES TO TRIAL, 
PERSONALLY APPOINTING MEMBERS OF HIS CHOICE, 
RATING THE MEMBERS, HOLDING THE ULTIMATE LAW 
ENFORCENENT FUNCTION WITHIN HIS COMMAND, 
RATING HIS LEGAL ADVISOR, AND ACTING AS THE 
FIRST LEVEL OF APPEAL, THUS CREATING AN 
APPEARANCE OF IMPROPRIETY THROUGH A 
PERCEPTION THAT HE ACTS AS PROSECUTOR, 
JUDGE, l'lND JURY. SEE UNITED STATES V. 
JOBSON, 31 N.J. 117 (C.M.A. 1990) (COURTS­
NARTIAL SHOULD BE "FREE FROM SUBSTANTIAL 
DOUBT AS TO LEGALITY, FAIRNESS, AND 
IMPARTIALITY. "); BUT SEE UNITED STATES V. 
LOVING, 41 M.J. 213, 296-97 (C.A.A.F. 1994). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the ath sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

86 See also AE XIV. 
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Assignment of Error XIX. 

THE ROLE OF THE CONVENING AUTHORITY IN THE 
MILITARY JUSTICE SYSTEM IN SELECTING COURT­
MARTIAL MEMBERS DENIED APPELLANT A FAIR AND 
IMPARTIAL TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, 
SIXTH, AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS AND ARTICLE 55, 
UCMJ. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the ath sentence 

and approve a sentence of li isonment. 

Assignment of Error XX. 

APPELLANT WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY 
AN IMPARTIAL JURY COMPOSED OF A FAIR CROSS­
SECTION OF THE COMMUNITY IN VIOLATION OF THE 
SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION. 
BUT SEE CURTIS III, 44 M.J. AT 130-33. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XXI. 

THE CONVENING AUTHORITY DID NOT UNDERSTAND 
THE LAW AND HIS OPTIONS, INCLUDING DETAILING 
AN ALL-ENLISTED PANEL AND RANDOM SELECTION 
OF MEMBERS FOR HIS FURTHER SCREENING, 
REGARDING DETAILING OF ENLISTED MEMBERS 
UNDER AETICLE 25, UCMJ. BUT SEE CURTIS, 44 
M.J. AT 132. 

WHEREFORE, is Court should set aside findings and 

sentence. 
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Assignment of Error XXII. 

THE PANEL'S RECONSIDERATION OF THE SENTENCE 
IN APPELLANT'S CASE VIOLATED THE DOUBLE 
JEOPARDY CLAUSE OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT 
BECAUSE "NO PERSON ... SHALL BE SUBJECT FOR 
THE SAME OFFENSE TO BE TWICE PUT IN JEOPARDY 
OF LIFE.u SEE BURLINGTON V. MISSOURI, 451 
U.S. 430 (1981) (APPLYING THE DOUBLE 
JEOPARDY CLAUSE OF THE CONSTITUTION TO 
CAPITAL SENTENCING); SEE ALSO R.C.M. 
922(B) (2) (ANALYSIS: RULE WAS AMENDED TO 
CONFORM TO R.C.M. 1004(A) REQUIREMENT THAT A 
SENTENCE OF DEATH BE UNANIMOUS. THE RULE 
PRECLUDES THE USE OF RECONSIDERATION UNDER 
R.C.M. 924 TO CHANGE AN INITIAL NONUNANIMOUS 
FINDING OF GUILTY INTO A UNANIMOUS VERDICT 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING A CAPITAL 
SENTENCING PROCEEDING. THE SAME CONCERNS ARE 
PRESENT IN BARRING THE RECONSIDERATION OF A 
NONUNANIMOUS SENTENCE FOR DEATH INTO A 
UNANIMOUS SENTENCE OF DEATH). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set as the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XXIII. 

THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS TO 
THE CONSTITUTION DO NOT PERMIT A CONVENING 
AUTHORITY TO HAND-PICK MILITARY 
SUBORDINATES, WHOSE CAREERS HE CAN DIRECTLY 
AND IMMEDIATELY AFFECT AND CONTROL, AS 
MEMBERS TO DECIDE A CAP TAL CASE. BUT SEE 
CURTIS, 41 M.J. AT 297; LOVING 41 M.J. AT 
297. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of Ii risonment. 
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Assignment of Error XXIV. 

THE DEATH SENTENCE IN THIS CASE VIOLATES THE 
FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS TO THE 
U.S. CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 55, UCMJ, 
BECAUSE THE MEMBERS WERE NOT RANDOMLY 
SELECTED. BUT SEE UNITED STATES V. THOMAS, 
43 M.J. 550, 593 (N.M.CT.CRIM.APP., 1995). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

approve a sentence of life isonment. 

Assi of Error XXV. 

THE SELECTION OF THE PANEL MEMBERS BY THE 
CONVENING AUTHORITY IN A CAPITAL CASE 
DIRECTLY VIOLATES THE APPELLANT'S RIGHTS 
UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHTH 
AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION 
AND ARTICLE 55, UCMJ BY IN EFFECT GIVING THE 
GOVERNMENT UNLIMITED PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life sonment. 

Assignment of Error XXVI. 

THE PRESIDENT EXCEEDED HIS ARTICLE 36 POWERS 
TO ESTABLISH PROCEDURES FOR COURTS-MARTIAL 
WHEN HE GRANTED TRIAL COUNSEL A PEREMPTORY 
CHALLENGE AND THEREBY THE POWER TO NULLIFY 
THE CONVENING AUTHORITY'S ARTICLE 25(0) 
AUTHORITY TO DETAIL MEMBERS OF THE COURT. 
BUT SEE UNITED STATES V. CURTIS, 44 M.J. 
106, 130-33 (C.A.A.F. 1996). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

approve a sentence of li sonment. 
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Assignment of Error XXVII. 

THE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE PROCEDURE IN THE 
MILITARY JUSTICE SYSTEM, WHICH ALLOWS THE 
GOVERNMENT TO REMOVE ANY ONE MEMBER WITHOUT 
CAUSE, IS AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATION OF 
THE FIFTH AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. 
CONSTITUTION IN CAPITAL CASES, WHERE THE 
PROSECUTOR IS FREE TO REMOVE A MEMBER WHOSE 
MORAL BIAS AGAINST THE DEATH PENALTY DOES 
NOT JUSTIFY A CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE. BUT SEE 
UNITED STATES V. CURTIS, 44 M.J. 106, 131-33 
(C.A.A.F. 1996); UNITED STATES V. LOVING, 41 
M.J. 213, 294-95 (C.A.A.F. 1994). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XXVIII. 

THE DESIGNATION OF THE SENIOR MEMBER AS THE 
PRESIDING OFFICER FOR DELIBERATIONS DENIED 
APPELLANT A FAIR TRIAL BEFORE IMPARTIAL 
MEMBERS IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, 
AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. 
CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 55, UCMJ. BUT SEE 
UNITED STATES V. CURTIS, 44, M.J. 106, 150 
(C.A.A. F. 1996); UNITED STATES V. THOMAS, 43 
M.J. 550, 602 (N.M.CT.CRIM.APP., 1995). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XXIX. 

THE DENIAL OF THE RIGHT TO POLL THE MEMBERS 
REGARDING THEIR VERDICT AT EACH STAGE IN THE 
TRIAL DENIED APPELLANT A FAIR TRIAL BEFORE 
IMPARTIAL MEMBERS IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, 
SIXTH, AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. 
CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 55, UCMJ. BUT SEE 
UNITED STATES V. CURTIS, 44 M.J. 106, 150 
(C.A.A.F. 1996); UNITED STATES V. THOMAS, 43 
M.J. 550, 602 (N.M.CT.CRIM.APP., 1995). 
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WHEREFORE, this Court should set as the death sentence 

approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XXX. 

THE MEMBERS ERRED BY RECONSIDERING THEIR 
SENTENCE, A VOTE NOT SUSCEPTIBLE TO 
RECONSIDERATION. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set as death sentence 

approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XXXI. 

THERE IS NO MEANINGFUL DISTINCTION BETWEEN 
PREMEDITATED AND UNPREMEDITATED MURDER 
ALLOWING DIFFERENTIAL TREATMENT AND 
SENTENCING DISPARITY IN VIOLATION OF THE 
FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS TO THE 
U.S. CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 55, UCMJ. BUT 
SEE UNITED STATES V. LOVING, 41 M.J. 213, 
279-80 rC.A.A.F 1994). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set as the death sentence 

approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XXXII. 

SERGEANT AKBAR WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT UNDER 
THE FIFTH AMENDMENT TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION 
TO A GRAND JURY PRESENTMENT OR INDICTMENT. 
BUT SEE UNITED STATES V. CURTIS, 44 M.J. 
106, 130 (C.A.A.F. 1996) (QUOTING JOHNSON V. 
SAYRE, 58 U. S. 109, 115 (18 95) ) . 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set as death sentence 

approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 
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Assignment of Error XXXIII. 

COURT-Ml\RTIAL PROCEDURES DENIED APPELLANT 
HIS ARTICLE III RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL. BUT 
SEE UNITED STATES V. CURTIS, 44 M.J. 106, 
132 (C.lLA.F. 1996) (CITING SOLORIO V. 
UNITED STATES, 483 U.S. 435, 453 54 (1987) 
(MARSHAL J., ssenting) . 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XXXIV. 

DUE PROCESS IRES THAT TRIAL AND 
INTERMEDIATE APPELLATE JUDGES IN A MILITARY 
DEATH PENALTY CASE HAVE THE PROTECTION OF A 
FIXED TERM OF OFFICE. BUT SEE UNITED STATES 
V. LOVING, 41 M.J. 213, 295 (C.A.A.F. 1994). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set asi the death sentence 

and a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XXXV. 

THE SYSTEM WHEREBY THE JUDGE ADVOCATE 
GENERAL OF THE ARMY APPOINTS TRIAL AND 
APPELLATE JUDGES TO SERVE AT HIS PLEASURE IS 
UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS IT VIOLATES THE 
APPOINTMENTS CLAUSE OF THE U.S. 
CONSTITUTION. BUT SEE UNITED STATES V. 
LOVING, 41 M.J. 213, 295 (C.A.A.F. 1994). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and a sentence life imprisonment. 
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Assignment of Error XXXVI. 

APPELLANT'S COURT-MARTIAL LACKED 
JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE JUDGES OF THIS 
COURT ARE "PRINCIPAL OFFICERS" WHOM THE 
PRESIDENT DID NOT APPOINT AS REQUIRED BY THE 
APPOINTMENTS CLAUSE OF THE U. S. 
CONSTITUTION. SEE U.S.CONST., ART. II, § 2, 
CL. 2; BUT SEE UNITED STATES V. GRINDSTAFF, 
45 M.J. 634 (N.M.CT.CRIM.APP. 1997). BUT CF. 
EDMOND V. UNITED STATES, 1520 U.S. 651 
(1997) (CIVILIAN JUDGES OF THE COAST GUARD 

COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS ARE "INFERIOR 
OFFICERS" FOR PURPOSES OF THE APPOINTMENTS 
CLAUSE, AND THUS DO NOT REQUIRE PRESIDENTIAL 
APPOINTMENT) 

WHEREFORE, s Court should set aside findings and 

sentence. 

Assignment of Error XXXVII. 

THIS COURT LACKS THE JURISDICTION AND 
AUTHORITY TO REVIEW THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF 
THE RULES FOR COURTS-MARTIAL AND THE UCMJ 
BECAUSE THIS COURT IS AN ARTICLE I COURT/ 
NOT AN ARTICLE III COURT WHICH HAS THE POWER 
OF CHECKING CONGRESS AND THE EXECUTIVE 
BRANCHES UNDER MARBURY V. MADISON, 5 U.S. (1 
CRANCH) 137 (1803); SEE ALSO COOPER V. 
AARON, 358 U.S. 1 (1958) (THE POWER TO STRIKE 
DOWN UNCONSTITUTIONAL STATUTES OR EXECUTIVE 
ORDERS IS THE EXCLUSIVE CHECK OF THE ARTICLE 
III JUDICIARY); BUT SEE LOVING, 41 M.J. AT 
296. 

WHEREFORE, s Court should set aside findings and 

sentence. 
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Assignment of Error XXXVIII. 

APPELLANT HAS BEEN DENIED EQUAL PROTECTION 
OF THE LAWS IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH 
AMENDMENT IN THAT ALL CIVILIANS IN THE 
UNITED STATES ARE AFFORDED THE OPPORTUNITY 
TO HAVE THEIR CASES REVIEWED BY AN ARTICLE 
I I COURT, BUT MEMBERS OF THE UNITED STATES 
MILITARY BY VIRTUE OF THEIR STATUS AS 
SERVICE MEMBERS ARE NOT. BUT SEE UNITED 
STATES '(1. LOVING, 41 M.J. 213, 295 (C.A.A.F. 
1994). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the h sentence 

and a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XXXIX. 

R.C.M. 1001 UNCONSTITUTIONALLY FORCES AN 
ACCUSED TO FORGO MITIGATION EVIDENCE, WHICH 
IS CONSTITUTIONALLY REQUIRED UNDER THE 
EIGHTH AMENDMENT, BECAUSE THE GOVERNMENT MAY 
RELAX THE RULES OF EVIDENCE FOR REBUTTAL 
UNDER 1001(D) IF THE ACCUSED RELAXES THE 
RULES OF EVIDENCE (1001(C) (3)). SEE UNITED 
STATES V. JACKSON, 390 U. S. 570, 583 
(1968) (THE FACT THAT A STATUTE DETERS A 
DEFENDANT FROM ASSERTING HIS FIFTH AND SIXTH 
AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO PLEAD NOT GUILTY AND 

T A JURY TRIAL BY REMOVING THE SPECTER 
OF A DEATH SENTENCE IS AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL 
CONDITION ON THOSE RIGHTS) . 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set as t ath sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 
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Assignment 0 Error XL. 

APPELLANT HAS BEEN DENIED EQUAL PROTECTION 
OF THE LAW UNDER THE FIFTH AMENDMENT TO THE 
U.S. CONSTITUTION BECAUSE lAW AR 15-130, 
PARA. 3-1(d) (6), HIS APPROVED DEATH SENTENCE 
RENDERS HIM INELIGIBLE FOR CLEMENCY BY THE 
ARMY CLEMENCY AND PAROLE BOARD, WHILE ALL 
OTHER CASES REVIEWED BY THIS COURT ARE 
ELIGIBLE FOR SUCH CONSIDERATION. BUT SEE 
UNITED STATES V. THOMAS, 43 M.J. 550, 607 
(N.M.CT.CRIM.APP., 1995). 

WHEREFORE, s Court should set aside the th sentence 

and approve a sentence of Ii isonment. 

Assignment of Error XLI. 

APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE VIOLATES THE 
EIGHTH AMENDMENT'S PROHIBITION AGAINST CRUEL 
AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT BECAUSE THE CAPITAL 
REFERRAlJ SYSTEM OPERATES IN AN ARBITRARY AND 
CAPRICIOUS MANNER. BUT SEE LOVING, 41 M.J. 
AT 293 94. 

WHEREFORE, s Court should set aside the th sentence 

and approve a sentence of life sonment. 

475 




Assignment of Error XLII. 

THE DEATH PENALTY PROVISION OF ARTICLE 118, 
UCMJ, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS IT RELATES TO 
TRADITIONAL COMMON LAW CRIMES THAT OCCUR IN 
THE UNITED STATES. BUT SEE UNITED STATES V. 
LOVING, 41 M.J. 213, 293 (C.A.A.F. 1994). 
THE COURT RESOLVED THE ISSUE AGAINST PRIVATE 
LOVING, ADOPTING THE REASONING OF THE 
DECISION OF THE ARMY COURT OF MILITARY 
REVIEW. SEE UNITED STATES V. LOVING, 34 
M.J. 956, 967 (A.C.M.R. 1992). HOWEVER, 
PRIVATE LOVING'S ARGUMENT BEFORE THE ARMY 
COURT WAS PREDICATED ON THE TENTH AMENDMENT 
TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND THE NECESSARY 
AND PROPER CLAUSE. ID. APPELLANT'S 
ARGUMENT IS PREDICATED ON THE EIGHTH 
AMENDMENT TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life sonment. 

Assignment of Error XLIII. 

THE DEATH SENTENCE IN THIS CASE VIOLATES THE 
FIFTH AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. 
CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 55, UCMJ, BECAUSE 
THE CONVENING AUTHORITY HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED 
HOW THE DEATH PENALTY WOULD ENHANCE GOOD 
ORDER AND DISCIPLINE IN THE ARMY. 

WHEREFORE, s Court should set aside the h sentence 

and approve a sentence of life isonment. 

Assignment of Error XLIV. 

THE CAPITAL SENTENCING PROCEDURE IN THE 
MILITARY IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE THE 
MILITARY JUDGE DOES NOT HAVE THE POWER TO 
ADJUST OR SUSPEND A SENTENCE OF DEATH THAT 
IS IMPROPERLY IMPOSED. BUT SEE UNITED 
STATES V. LOVING, 41 M.J. 213, 297 (1994). 
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WHEREFORE, this Court should set as the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XLV. 

DUE TO INHERENT FLAWS IN THE MILITARY 
JUSTICE SYSTEM, THE DEATH PENALTY VIOLATES 
THE PROHIBITION AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL 
PUNISHMENT UNDER ALL CIRCUMSTANCES. BUT SEE 
THOMAS, 43 M.J. 550, 606 (N.M.CT.CRIM.APP., 
1995). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XLVI. 

THE DEATH PENALTY IS IN ALL CIRCUMSTANCES 
CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT FORBIDDEN BY 
THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO THE U.S. 
CONSTITUTION. SEE GREGG V. GEORGIA, 428 
U.S. AT 227 (BRENNAN, J., dissenting); BUT 
SEE ID. AT 168 (death penalty is not 
unconst tutiona1 per se) . 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error XLVII. 

THE DEATH PENALTY CANNOT CONSTITUTIONALLY BE 
IMPLEMENTED UNDER CURRENT EIGHTH AMENDMENT 
JURISPRUDENCE. SEE CALLINS V. COLLINS, 510 
U.S. 1141, 1143-1159 (BLACKMUN, J., 
dissenting) (cert. ied). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and rove a sen~ence of life imprisonment. 
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Assignment of Error XLVIII. 

R.C.M. 1209 AND THE MILITARY DEATH PENALTY 
SYSTEM DENIES DUE PROCESS AND CONSTITUTES 
CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT AND IS 
TANTAMOUNT TO FORESEEABLE, STATE-SPONSORED 
EXECUTION OF INNOCENT HUMAN BEINGS BECAUSE 
THERE IS NO EXCEPTION FOR ACTUAL INNOCENCE 
TO THE FINALITY OF COURTS-MARTIAL REVIEW. 
CF. TRIESTMAN V. UNITED STATES, 124 F.3D 
361, 378-79 (20 CIR. 1997). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error LIX. 

THE DEATH SENTENCE IN THIS CASE VIOLATES THE 
FIFTH AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. 
CONSTITUTION AND ART. 55, UCMJ, BECAUSE THE 
CONVENING AUTHORITY HAS UNLIMITED DISCRETION 
TO APPROVE IT. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error L. 

R.C.M. =~001 (b) (4) IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY 
VAGUE AND OVERBROAD AS APPLIED TO THE 
APPELLATE AND CAPITAL SENTENCING PROCEEDINGS 
BECAUSE IT PERMITS THE INTRODUCTION OF 
EVIDENCE BEYOND THAT OF DIRECT FAMILY 
MEMBERS AND THOSE PRESENT AT THE SCENE IN 
VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AND EIGHTH AMENDMENT. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set asi the th sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 
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Assignment of Error LI. 

R.C.M. 1001(b) (4) IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY 
VAGUE AND OVERBROAD AS APPLIED TO THE 
APPELLATE AND CAPITAL SENTENCING PROCEEDINGS 
BECAUSE IT PERMITS THE INTRODUCTION OF 
CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH COULD NOT REASONABLY 
HAVE BEEN KNOWN BY THE APPELLANT AT THE TIME 
OF THE OFFENSE IN VIOLATION OF HIS FIFTH AND 
EIGHTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS. SEE SOUTH CAROLINA 
V. GAITHER, 490 U.S. 805, 811-12 (1985); SEE 
ALSO PEOPLE V. FIERRO, 821 P.2D 1302, 1348­
1350 (Cal. 1991) (Kennard, J., concurring in 
part, dissenting in part); BUT SEE PAYNE V. 
TENNESSEE, 501 U.S. 808, 842 (1991). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of Ii imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error LII. 

THE MILITARY JUDGE ERRED IN ADMITTING VICTIM 
IMPACT EVIDENCE REGARDING THE PERSONAL 
CHARACTERISTICS OF THE VICTIM WHICH COULD 
NOT REASONABLY HAVE BEEN KNOWN BY THE 
APPELLANT AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE IN 
VIOLATION OF HIS FIFTH AND EIGHTH AMENDMENT 
RIGHTS. SEE SOUTH CAROLINA V. GAITHER, 490 
U.S. 805, 811-12 (1985); SEE ALSO PEOPLE V. 
FIERRO, 821 p.2D 1302, 1348 1350 (Cal. 1991) 
(Kennard, J., concurri in part, dissenting 
in part); BUT SEE PAYNE V. TENNESSEE, 501 
U.S. 80(3, 842 (1991). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the th sentence 

and approve a sentence of life isonment. 
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Ass of Error LIII. 

THE STAFF JUDGE ADVOCATE WAS DISQUALIFIED 
FROM ADVISING THE CONVENING AUTHORITY 
REGARDING HIS POST-TRIAL ACTION BECAUSE THE 
STAFF JUDGE ADVOCATE ACTIVELY PARTICIPATED 
IN THE PREPARATION OF THE GOVERNMENT'S CASE. 
SEE UNITED STATES V. GUTIERREZ, 57 M.J. 148 
(C.A.A.F. 2002) 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside Staff Judge 

Advocate's Recommendation Convening Authorities Action 

remand the case to the conveni authority for a new action. 

Ass of Error LIV. 

THE MILITARY JUDGE ERRED IN ADMITTING THE 
GOVERNMENT'S CRIME SCENE PHOTOGRAPHS TO THE 
PREJUDICE OF THE APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS 
RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH AND EIGHTH AMENDMENT. 

WHEREFORE, this Court set aside the findings and 

sentence. 

Assignment of Error LV. 

THE TRIAL COUNSEL COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR 
BY USING THE VOIR DIRE OF THE MEMBERS TO 
IMPERMISSIBLY ADVANCE THE GOVERNMENT'S 
THEORY OF THE CASE. SEE R.C.M. 912(B), 
DISCUSSION. 

WHEREFORE, this Court set aside the death sentence 

approve a sentence of li risonment. 

Assignment of Error LVI. 

THE MILITARY JUDGE FAILED TO ADEQUATELY 
INSTRUCT THE MEMBERS THAT THE DISCRETION NOT 
TO IMPOSE THE DEATH PENALTY WAS INDIVIDUAL. 
RECORD AT 3147. 
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WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the h sentence 

and a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error LVII. 

THE DEATH SENTENCE IN THIS CASE VIOLATES THE 
EX POST FACTO CLAUSE, THE FIFTH AND EIGHT 
AMENDMENTS, THE SEPARATION OF POWERS 
DOCTRINE, THE PREEMPTION DOCTRINE, AND 
ARTICLE 55, UCMJ, BECAUSE WHEN IT WAS 
ADJUDGED NEITHER CONGRESS NOR THE ARMY HAD 
SPECIFIED A MEANS OR PLACE OF EXECUTION. 
SEE AR 190 55 (17 January 2006); BUT SEE 
UNITED STATES V. TIPTON, 90 F.3D 861, 901-03 
(4 CIR. 1996). 

WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

Assignment of Error LVIII. 

THE PANEL'S RECONSIDERATION OF THE SENTENCE 
IN APPELLANT'S CASE VIOLATED THE DOUBLE 
JEOPARDY CLAUSE OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT 
BECAUSE "NO PERSON ... SHALL BE SUBJECT FOR 
THE SAME OFFENSE TO BE TWICE PUT IN JEOPARDY 
OF LIFE." SEE BURLINGTON V. MISSOUR 451 
U.S. 430 (1981) (APPLYING THE DOUBLE 
JEOPARDY CLAUSE OF THE CONSTITUTION TO 
CAPITAL SENTENCING); SEE ALSO R.C.M. 

2(B) (2) (ANALYSIS: RULE WAS AMENDED TO 
CONFORM TO R.C.M. 1004(A) REQUIREMENT THAT A 
SENTENCE OF DEATH BE UNANIMOUS. THE RULE 
PRECLUDES THE USE OF RECONSIDERATION UNDER 
R.C.M. 4 TO CHANGE AN INITIAL NONUNANIMOUS 
FINDING OF GUILTY INTO A UNANIMOUS VERDICT 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING A CAPITAL 
SENTENCING PROCEEDING. THE SAME CONCERNS ARE 
PRESENT IN BARRING THE RECONSIDERATION OF A 
NONUNANIMOUS SENTENCE FOR DEATH INTO A 
UNANIMOUS SENTENCE OF DEATH) . 
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WHEREFORE, this Court should set aside the death sentence 

and approve a sentence of life imprisonment. 

482 




WHEREFORE, Sergeant Akbar respectfully requests this 

Honorable Court grant the requested relief. 

Major, JA 
Appellate Defense Counsel 

Counsel 

c=:~ ~ 

JONATHAN F. PO'r~ 
Lieutenant Colonel, JA 
Senior Appellate Defense Counsel 

Major, J 
Branch Chief, Appellate Defense 
Division 

Colonel, 

----_.-

Chief, Appellate Defense 
Division 

483 




/Attorney 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


UNITED STATES v. 

Army Docket No. ~CO 5 oS I=( 

Assignment of Error 

Motion 

Other 

I certify that a copy of the foregoing was delivered to the 
Court and the Government Appellate Division on 

I Feb fUq~ ~ol () 

Appellate Division 




